## **University of Alberta**

# CYTOMEGALOVIRUS AND VASCULAR FUNCTION DURING PREGNANCY

by

Randi Barbara Gombos

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Physiology

© Randi Barbara Gombos

Spring 2012

Edmonton, Alberta, Canada

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

#### Abstract

Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) is implicated in several vascular diseases through endothelial dysfunction. Most of the research on CMV has focused on either congenital CMV infections or CMV disease in immunocompromised hosts; however, CMV has also been associated with vascular diseases in immunocompetent individuals, including atherosclerosis and the pregnancy-specific disorder preeclampsia. A direct connection between CMV and vascular dysfunction remains unknown. Therefore, in the presence or absence of an active CMV infection, I chose to study the systemic (mesenteric) and uterine vascular responses in intact, isolated arteries from non-pregnant (NP) and late pregnant (LP) mice. Furthermore, I investigated if a maternal CMV infection leads to poor fetal outcomes, independent of a congenital infection. Viral transmission to the fetus does not occur in the mouse, making it a useful model for studying maternal CMV infections. Sensitivity to the  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic receptor agonist, phenylephrine (PE), was decreased, sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P)induced vasodilation was decreased, and cholinergic (methacholine (ME)) vasodilation was increased in mesenteric arteries from CMV-infected NP and LP mice. Nitric oxide (NO) and prostanoid mediation of endothelium-dependent vasodilation were also increased in these arteries. In uterine arteries from CMVinfected NP mice, ME-induced vasodilation was increased with smooth muscle sensitivity to NO, similar to mesenteric arteries from CMV-infected NP mice. In addition, early interactions of CMV with endothelial cells increased sensitivity to ME in the absence of a fully systemic CMV infection. In contrast, PE-induced vasoconstriction was increased and sensitivity to ME and ME-induced vasodilation were decreased in uterine arteries from CMV-infected LP mice. NO and prostanoid mediation were unaltered in the presence of a CMV infection; hence, decreased EDHF likely contributed to the reduced cholinergic sensitivity and vasodilation. Vascular dysfunction observed in these arteries was dependent on a systemic CMV infection. Finally, the pregnancy outcome was largely affected by genotypic susceptibility to CMV. C57Bl/6J mice were able to compensate for a CMV infection (normal fetal growth) whereas CMV-infected Balb/cJ mice (more susceptible) were infertile. Together, my findings provide evidence that an active CMV infection is a risk factor for vascular and fetal complications during pregnancy and potentially other cardiovascular diseases in the general population.

#### Acknowledgements

Wow! What an incredible 4.5 years. It has been an amazing and irreplaceable experience and I have so many people to thank for that. First, I want to thank my supervisor, Denise Hemmings, for everything she has taught me over the last 4.5 years. I am so appreciative to her for giving me the opportunity to work with her on this research project and making me the scientist I am today. All of our meetings trying to explain interesting results, conferences listening to presentations all day and chatting over wine all night, and dinners spent laughing and remembering its so much more than benchwork that helps one thrive in science. I have loved being a part of her team and I am so appreciative to her for her guidance, positivity, and unrelenting support over my PhD. I would also like to thank my committee members, Sandy Davidge, Peter Mitchell, and Venu Jain, for their advisement, encouragement, and support throughout my degree. I thank my other examining committee members, Susan Pyne and Bonita Lee, as well for taking the time to read my thesis and participate in my defense. I am so grateful to all of my mentors for being there and making my PhD experience so rewarding.

I would also like to thank all of the past and present members of the Hemmings, Davidge, Mitchell, and Olson laboratories. They have been so wonderful with great advice, support, and empathy over my PhD studies. I have made some irreplaceable friendships with so many and have gained unforgettable memories I will cherish for a lifetime. I will truly miss all the after-work drinks, venting about frustrations and failed experiments, and laughing about the funny moments in the laboratory and at conferences all over the world. Without any of them, my "brilliant" PhD experience would not be possible!

I also cannot leave out all of my friends and family outside the laboratory that have stuck by me throughout all of my schooling. All the struggles and obstacles in school and research would not be near as manageable without my fastball and inner-tube waterpolo teams to vent with, weekend excursions away from the city with all my loved ones, wine-tasting nights with my girlfriends, and beer and wing nights with my guy friends. In addition, I want thank my wonderful

family for their love and support over my lifetime, including my grandparents, Bill and Flo Howe and Louis and Madeline Samay. All of our family dinners, games, and vacations have made me feel so special and blessed to be a part of. I also really want to send out a special thank you to my sister, Michelle (aka Mickey) Gombos, who has been there for me every step of the way and without whom I would be lost. She has put up with my hardest and toughest times and is not only the best sister I could ever have but my best friend. My boyfriend, Brendan Huber, has spent the last few years with me in my studies (and arguably the most stressful time). He has given me hope, encouragement, and love that has kept my optimisim and happiness at a maximum, and for that I am so thankful. Finally, I cannot thank my parents enough for everything they have done and sacrificed for me. My father, Alan Gombos, has been a huge motivator for me. As my fastball coach, greatest Leaf fan in the world, and best father I could ever imagine he has taught me resilience, determination, leadership, and the ability to talk hockey with anyone in the room (a very important networking skill!). My mom (still avoiding the "mother" label), Barb Gombos, is the reason I am where I am today as the best role model and travel partner I could ever ask for. She has taught me compassion, patience, endurance, confidence, and great "comma" use. It's because of her I have learned the value of my clinically-applicable research and it is beyond words how much her love and support have meant to me. So thank you so much to all my family and friends for everything they have given me on this journey. I love them all with all my heart.

I am also extremely grateful for my full-time scholarships (masters and doctoral level) from Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) throughout my studies, the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR)-funded Maternal-Fetal-Newborn Health Training Grant for financial support in the first two years of my studies, and for a graduate scholarship from Women and Children's Health Research Institute (WCHRI) and Mazankowski Alberta Health Institute for funding during the last part of my degree. The research outlined in this thesis was also supported by CIHR, NSERC, and WCHRI operating grants.

## **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Prologue	1
1.2 Regulation of Vascular Tone	1
1.2.1 Vascular smooth muscle cell contractility	3
1.2.2 Stimulated local vasoactive molecules released from the endothelium	8
1.2.2.1 Nitric Oxide	8
1.2.2.2 Prostanoids	12
1.2.2.3 Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factors	15
1.2.3 Extracellular agonists that affect vascular intracellular signalling pathway	s 17
1.2.3.1 Adrenergic agonists	18
1.2.3.2 Cholinergic agonist	19
1.2.3.3 S1P	20
1.3 Pregnancy-induced Vascular Adaptations	26
1.3.1 Vascular complications during pregnancy	28
1.3.2 Experimental model systems	30
1.4 Cytomegalovirus	33
1.4.1 CMV and vascular diseases	39
1.4.2 CMV and pregnancy	40
1.4.3 CMV and animal models	42
1.4.3.1 Mouse model	43
1.5 Rationale and Hypothesis	45
1.6 References	56
Chapter 2 Material and Methods	89
2.1 General Material and Methods	89
2.1.1 Animal model and tissue collection	89
2.1.2 Pressure myograph studies	92
2.2 Material and Methods Specific for Chapter 3	95
2.2.1 Immunofluorescence	95
2.2.2 LacZ expression	96
2.2.3 Extraluminal pressure myograph experimental design	96
2.2.4 Statistics	100
2.3 Material and Methods Specific for Chapter 4	100

2.3.1 Extraluminal pressure myograph experimental design	
2.3.2 Quantitative RT-qPCR	
2.3.3 Immunofluorescence	
2.3.4 Statistics	
2.4 Material and Methods Specific for Chapter 5	
2.4.1 Extraluminal pressure myograph experimental design	
2.4.2 Intraluminal pressure myograph experimental design	
2.4.3 Statistics	
2.5 Material and Methods Specific for Chapter 6	
2.5.1 Intraluminal pressure myograph experimental design	
2.5.2 Statistics	
2.6 Material and Methods Specific for Chapter 7	
2.6.1 Fetal and placental weights and fetal to placental ratios	
2.6.2 Balb/cJ mouse strain	
2.6.3 Intraluminal pressure myograph experimental design	
2.6.4 Statistics	
2.7 References	
Chapter 3 Vascular Function in Mice with an Active Cytomegalovirus Infe	ection 118
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Results	
3.2.1 LacZ expression in tissues from mCMV-infected and uninfecte	d NP and LP
mice	
3.2.2 Passive lumen diameters of mesenteric and uterine arteries from	n mCMV-
infected and uninfected mice	
3.2.3 PE-induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric and uterine arteries	from mCMV-
infected and uninfected NP and LP mice	
3.2.4 ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric and uterine arteries from	m mCMV-
infected and uninfected NP and LP mice	
3.3 Summary of Results	
3.4 Discussion	
3.5 References	
Chapter 4 Differential Regulation of Endothelium-dependent and Endothe	lium-
independent Vasodilation in Mesenteric and Uterine Arteries from Cytome	egalovirus-
infected Mice	

4.1 Introduction
4.2 Results
4.2.1 Contribution of NO and prostanoids to endothelium-dependent ME-induced
vasodilation responses in mesenteric arteries
4.2.2 Contribution of NO and prostanoids to endothelium-dependent ME-induced
vasodilation responses in uterine arteries
4.2.3 Sensitivity of the vascular smooth muscle to NO in mesenteric and uterine
arteries
4.2.4 Distensibility of mesenteric and uterine arteries
4.2.5 Expression of NOS enzymes in mesenteric and uterine arteries145
4.3 Summary of Results
4.4 Discussion
4.5 References
Chapter 5 Effect of Pregnancy and a Cytomegalovirus Infection on the Regulation of
Vascular Tone by Sphingosine 1-Phosphate
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Results
5.2.1 Vascular responses to extraluminal addition or intraluminal infusion of S1P in
arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice
5.2.2 Role of the endothelium in vasodilation induced by S1P infusion
5.2.3 Effect of an active mCMV infection on vascular responses to intraluminally
infused S1P
5.2.4 Effect of an active mCMV infection on vascular responses to extraluminal
addition of S1P
5.2.5 Role of ROCK in vasoconstriction induced by extraluminally applied S1P in
arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice
5.3 Summary of Results
5.4 Discussion
5.5 References
Chapter 6 Impact of Local Endothelial Challenge with Cytomegalovirus or Glycoprotein
B on Vasodilation in Intact Pressurized Arteries from Non-pregnant and Pregnant Mice
6.1 Introduction
6.2 Results

6.2.1 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric arteries from uninfected
mice (pre-treated with/without gB or infectious mCMV) compared to mesenteric arteries
from mice with an <i>in vivo</i> mCMV infection
6.2.2 Contribution of TxA <sub>2</sub> /PGH <sub>2</sub> to vascular responses induced by infused ME in
mesenteric arteries
6.2.3 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in uterine arteries from uninfected mice
(pre-treated with/without gB or infectious mCMV) compared to uterine arteries from
mice with an <i>in vivo</i> mCMV infection
6.2.4 Vasodilation to bradykinin in uterine arteries
6.3 Summary of Results
6.4 Discussion
6.5 References
Chapter 7 Pregnancy Outcome in Cytomegalovirus-infected Mice
7.1 Introduction
7.2 Results
7.2.1 Fetal and placental weights from mCMV-infected and uninfected LP
C57Bl/6J mice
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice
<ul> <li>7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice</li> <li></li></ul>
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice 239 7.2.3 Pregnancy success rates in mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice       239         7.2.3 Pregnancy success rates in mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J and       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.3 Summary of Results       240         7.4 Discussion       247         7.5 References       250
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57B1/6J and Balb/cJ mice       239         7.2.3 Pregnancy success rates in mCMV-infected and uninfected C57B1/6J and       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.3 Summary of Results       240         7.4 Discussion       247         7.5 References       250         Chapter 8 General Discussion       253
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57B1/6J and Balb/cJ mice       239         7.2.3 Pregnancy success rates in mCMV-infected and uninfected C57B1/6J and       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.3 Summary of Results       239         7.4 Discussion       240         7.5 References       250         Chapter 8 General Discussion       253         8.1 Prologue       253
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice       239         7.2.3 Pregnancy success rates in mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J and       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.3 Summary of Results       240         7.4 Discussion       247         7.5 References       250         Chapter 8 General Discussion       253         8.1 Prologue       253         8.2 Overview and Summary       253
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice       239         7.2.3 Pregnancy success rates in mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J and       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.3 Summary of Results       239         7.4 Discussion       240         7.5 References       250         Chapter 8 General Discussion       253         8.1 Prologue       253         8.2 Overview and Summary       253         8.3 Conclusions and Clinical Relevance       263
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57BI/6J and Balb/cJ mice       239         7.2.3 Pregnancy success rates in mCMV-infected and uninfected C57BI/6J and       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.3 Summary of Results       240         7.4 Discussion       247         7.5 References       250         Chapter 8 General Discussion       253         8.1 Prologue       253         8.2 Overview and Summary       253         8.3 Conclusions and Clinical Relevance       263         8.4 Limitations and Future Directions       264
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice       239         7.2.3 Pregnancy success rates in mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J and       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from       239         7.3 Summary of Results       239         7.4 Discussion       240         7.5 References       250         Chapter 8 General Discussion       253         8.1 Prologue       253         8.2 Overview and Summary       253         8.3 Conclusions and Clinical Relevance       263         8.4 Limitations and Future Directions       264         8.5 References       272
7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice2397.2.3 Pregnancy success rates in mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J and2397.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from2397.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from2397.3 Summary of Results2407.4 Discussion2477.5 References250Chapter 8 General Discussion2538.1 Prologue2538.2 Overview and Summary2538.3 Conclusions and Clinical Relevance2638.4 Limitations and Future Directions2648.5 References272Appendix A Role of NF-κB in Cholinergic Vasodilation in Uterine Arteries from

A1.1 Introduction	281
A1.2 Material and Methods	281
A1.2.1 Intraluminal pressure myograph experimental design	281
A1.2.2 Statistics	282
A1.3 Results	282
A1.3.1 Vasodilation to infused ME and the role of NF- $\kappa$ B in uterine arteries	282
A1.4 Summary of Results	283
A1.5 Discussion	285
A1.6 References	286
Appendix B Placental Structural Differences in Cytomegalovirus-infected Compared to	0
Uninfected Late Pregnant Mice	290
B2.1 Introduction	290
B2.2 Material and Methods	290
B2.2.1 Placenta Structure	290
B2.3 Results	291
B2.3.1 Placenta structural/pathological differences from mCMV-infected and	
uninfected C57Bl/6J mice	291
B2.4 Summary of Results	291
B2.5 References	293
Appendix C Vascular Dysfunction in Young, Mid-aged and Aged Mice with Latent	
Cytomegalovirus Infections	294
C3.1 Introduction	294
C3.2 Material and Methods	296
C3.2.1 Animal model and tissue collection	296
C3.2.2 Immunofluorescence	297
C3.2.3 Extraluminal pressure myograph experimental design	298
C3.2.4 Statistics	299
C3.3 Results	299
C3.3.1 Detection of a reporter of infectious mCMV, $\beta$ -galactosidase, in young, m	nid-
aged, and aged mice	299
C3.3.2 Latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mid-aged pregnancy success rate	300
C3.3.3 PE-induced vasoconstriction in arteries from young, mid-aged, and aged	
latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mice	300

C3.3.4 Endothelium-dependent ME-induced vasodilation in arteries from youn	g,
mid-aged, and aged latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mice	301

C3.3.7 Distensibility of arteries from young, m	nid-aged, and aged latent mCMV-
infected and uninfected mice	
C3 3 8 Vascular responses in arteries from your	ng mid-aged and aged uninfected

C3.5.6 Vasculai responses in arteries from young, find-aged, and	aged uninterted
mice independent of a mCMV infection	
C3.4 Discussion	
C3.5 References	

## List of Tables

Table 1.1 Vascular responses following G protein activation    7
Table 1.2 Vascular responses following stimulation of vascular S1P receptors and G
protein activation
Table 2.1 Preconstriction values and average drug dose used for each vacular bed during
extraluminal pressure myograph experiments98
Table 2.2 Preconstriction values and average drug dose used for each vascular bed after
flow-induced equilibration during intraluminal pressure myograph experiments 108
Table 2.3 Preconstriction values using U46619 versus PE (with SQ29548) and average
drug dose used for each vascular bed after flow-induced equilibration during intraluminal
pressure myograph experiments
Table 7.1 Number of successful pregnancies from mCMV-infected and uninfected
C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice following a vaginal plugs

# List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Local vasoactive substances that regulate vascular tone
Figure 1.2 NO signalling from the endothelial cells across into the vascular smooth
muscle cells in the presence and absence of ROS10
Figure 1.3 Synthesis of prostanoids14
Figure 1.4 EDHF-induced vasorelaxation pathway17
Figure 1.5 Vascular S1P receptors that can stimulate vasorelaxation and/or
vasoconstriction responses
Figure 1.6 Uteri from the non-pregnant human and rodent
Figure 1.7 CMV glycoproteins and cell surface receptors involved in viral attachment and
entry
Figure 1.8 CMV lytic cycle
Figure 1.9 CMV-associated effects on some local vasoactive substances that regulate
vascular tone
Figure 1.10 C57Bl/6 and Balb/c laboratory mice strains
Figure 2.1 The second-order mesenteric and main uterine artery were isolated and used
for the vascular experiments
Figure 2.2 Diagram of a dissected artery free of adipose and connective tissue (tunica
adventitia)93
Figure 2.3 The pressure myograph system94
Figure 2.4 Vasoconstriction of uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP
mice
Figure 2.5 Diagram describing which signalling pathway each inhibitor affects
Figure 2.6 ME (1 $\mu$ M) responses for mesenteric arteries following U46619- or PE-induced
preconstriction
Figure 3.1 Reporter of an active mCMV infection present in tissues isolated from
mCMV-infected mice
Figure 3.2 Reporter of an active mCMV infection present in placentas from mCMV-
infected LP mice
Figure 3.3 Vasoconstriction to PE in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and
uninfected NP and LP mice
Figure 3.4 Vasoconstriction to PE and U46619 in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-
infected and uninfected NP and LP mice128

Figure 3.5 Vasodilation to ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected
and uninfected NP and LP mice
Figure 4.1 Inhibition of ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-
infected and uninfected NP mice
Figure 4.2 NO and TxA <sub>2</sub> /PGH <sub>2</sub> contribution to ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric
arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice
Figure 4.3 Inhibition of ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-
infected and uninfected LP mice
Figure 4.4 Inhibition of ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-
infected and uninfected NP mice
Figure 4.5 Inhibition of ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-
infected and uninfected LP mice
Figure 4.6 NO and TxA <sub>2</sub> /PGH <sub>2</sub> contribution to ME-induced vasodilation in uterine
arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice
Figure 4.7 Endothelium-independent vasodilation to SNP in mesenteric and uterine
arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice
Figure 4.8 Distensibility curves for mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected
and uninfected NP and LP mice
Figure 4.9 NOS-3 mRNA expression in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-
infected and uninfected NP and LP mice
Figure 4.10 NOS-1 and NOS-2 expression in mesenteric and uterine arteries from
mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice
Figure 5.1 Extraluminal S1P dose-response curves for arteries from NP and LP mice 185
Figure 5.2 Intraluminal and extraluminal S1P responses at $0.1 \mu M$ and $1 \mu M$
Figure 5.3 Vascular responses to intraluminally infused S1P at $0.1\mu M$ in arteries with and
without the endothelium from uninfected NP mice
Figure 5.4 Vascular responses to intraluminally infused S1P at $0.1\mu M$ and $1\mu M$ 188
Figure 5.5 Vascular responses to intraluminally infused S1P at $0.1 \mu M$ with and without
pre-treatment with L-NAME (100µM) or VPC23019 (10µM)
Figure 5.6 Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P in arteries from
mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice
Figure 5.7 Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with and without
pre-treatment with L-NAME (100 $\mu$ M) in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected
NP mice

Figure 5.8 Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with and without
pre-treatment with L-NAME (100 $\mu$ M) in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected
LP mice
Figure 5.9 Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with and without
pre-treatment with VPC23019 (10µM) in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected
NP mice
Figure 5.10 Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with and without
pre-treatment with VPC23019 (10µM) in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected
LP mice
Figure 5.11 Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with and without
pre-treatment with meclo $(1\mu M)$ in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP
mice
Figure 5.12 Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with and without
pre-treatment with meclo $(1\mu M)$ in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice
Figure 5.13 Reversal of vasoconstriction induced by extraluminal application of S1P by
pre-treatment with Y27632 (10 $\mu$ M) in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP
and LP mice
Figure 6.1 Vasodilation induced by infusion of ME into preconstricted mesenteric arteries
isolated from mCMV-infected and uninfected mice
Figure 6.2 Vasodilation induced by infusion of $1\mu M$ ME into preconstricted mesenteric
arteries in the presence or absence of meclo $(1\mu M)$ or SQ29548 $(10\mu M)$ for 30 minutes to
1 hour
Figure 6.3 Vasodilation induced by infusion of ME into preconstricted uterine arteries
isolated from mCMV-infected and uninfected mice
Figure 6.4 Vasodilation induced by infusion of $1\mu M$ bradykinin into preconstricted
uterine arteries
Figure 6.5 Schematic representation of a mesenteric artery from a mCMV-infected mouse
Figure 7.1 Fetal weights, placental weights, and fetal to placental ratios from LP (D18.5)
mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J mice
Figure 7.2 Fetal weights, placental weights, and fetal to placental ratios from LP (D18.5)
C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ uninfected mice

Figure 7.3 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in NP Balb/cJ mice246
Figure 8.1: Schematic representation of affected signalling pathways in a mesenteric
artery from a mCMV-infected NP or LP mouse
Figure 8.2: Schematic representation of affected signalling pathways in a uterine artery
from a mCMV-infected NP or LP mouse
Figure A1.1: Vasodilation of uterine arteries induced by infusion of ME (1 $\mu$ M) or ME
(1µM) with JSH-23 (20µM)
Figure B2.1: Hematoxylin and eosin staining of placental sections from mCMV-infected
and uninfected C57Bl/6J mice
Figure C3.1: Immunofluorescence staining for $\beta$ -galactosidase protein expression in
tissues from mCMV-infected and uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice
Figure C3.2: Responses to PE by mesenteric and uterine arteries from latent mCMV-
infected and uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice
Figure C3.3: Responses to ME by mesenteric and uterine arteries from latent mCMV-
infected and uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice
Figure C3.4: NO and prostanoid contribution to ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric
arteries from latent mCMV-infected and uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice . 309
Figure C3.5: Responses to SNP by mesenteric and uterine arteries from latent mCMV-
infected and uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice
Figure C3.6: Distensibility curves for mesenteric and uterine arteries from latent mCMV-
infected and uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice
Figure C3.7: Comparison of vascular responses in mesenteric and uterine arteries from
uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice

## Abbreviations

BSA	Bovine albumin serum
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
cPLA <sub>2</sub>	Cytosolic phospholipase A <sub>2</sub>
D18.5	Day 18.5
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
ddH <sub>2</sub> O	Double-distilled water
E	Early viral gene
EDHF	Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor
G protein	Guanine nucleotide-binding protein
gB	Glycoprotein B
gH	Glycoprotein H
gL	Glycoprotein L
gM	Glycoprotein M
gN	Glycoprotein N
gO	Glycoprotein O
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
HCMV	Human Cytomegalovirus
ICAM	Intercellular adhesion molecule
IE	Immediate early viral gene
IFN-γ	Interferon-gamma
IP <sub>3</sub>	Inositol triphosphate
IUGR	Intrauterine growth restriction
L	Late viral gene
L-NAME	N <sup>G</sup> -nitro-L-arginine
LP	Late pregnant
LPP	Lipid phosphatase

MAP	Mitogen-activated serine/threonine protein
mCMV	Mouse Cytomegalovirus
ME	Methacholine
Meclo	Meclofenamate
MLC	Myosin light chain
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
NADPH	Reduced form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
NGS	Normal goat serum
NO	Nitric oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
NOS-1	Neuronal nitric oxide synthase
NOS-2	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
NOS-3	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
NP	Non-pregnant
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PE	Phenylephrine
PFU	Plaque-forming units
PGH <sub>2</sub>	Prostaglandin H <sub>2</sub>
PGHS	Prostaglandin H synthase
PGI <sub>2</sub>	Prostacyclin
РКА	cAMP-dependent protein kinase
РКС	Protein kinase C
PKG	cGMP-dependent protein kinase
PMCA	Plasma membrane calcium ATPase
PSS	Physiological saline solution
ROCK	Rho kinase
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RT-qPCR	Reverse transcriptase real-time polymerase chain reaction
S1P	Sphingosine 1-phosphate
SERCA	Sarcoplasmic reticulum calcium ATPase

SK	Sphingosine kinase
SNP	Sodium nitroprusside
SPP	Sphingosine phosphatase
SR	Sarcoplasmic reticulum
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor-alpha
$TxA_2$	Thromboxane
VCAM	Vascular cell adhesion molecule
VEGF	Vascular endothelium growth factor

## Chapter 1 Introduction

#### **1.1 PROLOGUE**

Cardiovascular diseases are the main cause of death in developed countries (Mendez *et al.*, 2001) and are associated with several factors such as obesity, diabetes, and viral infections (Danesh *et al.*, 1997; Eckel *et al.*, 1998; Kannel *et al.*, 1979). Human Cytomegalovirus (HCMV) infections have been implicated in cardiovascular disorders including atherosclerosis, coronary heart disease, and cardiac transplant arteriopathy (Espinola-Klein *et al.*, 2002; Grahame-Clarke, 2005; Petrakopoulou *et al.*, 2004). In addition, HCMV has been associated with pregnancy-specific vascular complications, such as preeclampsia and intrauterine growth restriction (IUGR) (Grahame-Clarke, 2005; Ornoy *et al.*, 2006).

HCMV is the most common congenital viral infection of neonates (Stagno *et al.*, 1977). Consequently, fetal and neonatal complications associated with a congenital HCMV infection have been widely studied (Yinon *et al.*, 2010); however, few studies have investigated the maternal and fetal effects of a CMV infection in the absence of a congenital infection. Hence, I chose to investigate how an active CMV infection affects maternal vascular function during gestation in the absence of viral transmission to the fetus.

In this chapter I will first discuss vascular regulation in normal and pregnant states. I will also describe the differences in experimental model systems used for pregnancy-specific vascular studies. Finally, I will describe CMV infections in general and in relation to vascular disorders and pregnancy.

## **1.2 REGULATION OF VASCULAR TONE**

The cardiovascular system is part of the circulatory system and is comprised of the heart, blood, and a network of blood vessels, including capillaries and different orders of arteries and veins. It is critical for removing waste and transporting nutrients, gases, and hormones to all the organs in the body (West et al., 1997). Both arteries and veins are composed of the tunica intima, tunica media, and tunica adventitia. The tunica intima is the inner lining of the vessel wall which includes the endothelial cells, basement membrane, and a thin layer of elastic tissue. The tunica media is composed of smooth muscle cells, elastic and collagen fibres, and proteoglycans. Connective tissue consisting of collagen and elastic fibres, fibroblasts, and some macrophages make up the tunica adventitia on the outside of the vessel wall (Cleaver et al., 2003). Vascular tone, defined as the amount of constriction a blood vessel undergoes compared to its maximal dilated diameter (Orshal et al., 2004), is induced by the vascular smooth muscle cells within the tunica media. Arteries have a thicker layer of smooth muscle cells than veins and are therefore capable of greater vascular tone than veins (Rhodin, 1980). In addition, arteries with a thick medial layer and a significant amount of elastic tissue have increased arterial distensibility or elasticity (Kaushal et al., 2002).

Vascular tone is a major determinant of vascular resistance, or the resistance to blood flow within the cardiovascular system (Lautt, 1989). Constricted arteries with increased vascular tone (and vascular resistance) decrease blood flow whereas dilated or relaxed arteries with decreased vascular resistance increase blood flow. Changes in blood flow, regulated by arterial vascular tone/resistance, may cause subsequent changes in blood pressure to maintain homeostasis (Johnson, 1986). Small blood vessels that significantly contribute to peripheral and precapillary resistance and blood flow regulation are known as resistance arteries. They are defined as those arteries with diameters less than 500µm (Christensen *et al.*, 2001; Mulvany *et al.*, 1990).

Vascular tone is controlled by extrinsic and local (intrinsic) factors (Orshal *et al.*, 2004). Extrinsic factors include sympathetic and parasympathetic innervation of the vascular smooth muscle cells (Bevan, 1979; Hamel, 2006) and vasoactive hormones such as angiotensin II, vasopressin, and catecholamines

(Orshal *et al.*, 2004). Local factors that affect vascular tone include metabolic and temperature changes (Burton *et al.*, 1940; Wassink *et al.*, 2007), shear stress on the vessel wall (Dekker *et al.*, 2005), myogenic responses (Davis *et al.*, 1999), and vasoactive molecules released directly from the vasculature (Cardillo *et al.*, 2000). The importance of extrinsic and intrinsic factors to overall vascular tone varies among tissues and different types of climatic and/or physiological (ie. exercise and pregnancy) stimuli. Generally, extrinsic regulation ensures blood pressure is maintained throughout the body and that enough blood reaches the brain; therefore, extrinsic regulation can override local control of vascular tone. However, blood vessels in certain tissues, such as the brain, are less controlled by extrinsic factors and more responsive to local factors compared to other tissues, such as the skin and digestive tract (Brown *et al.*, 2006).

#### **1.2.1 Vascular smooth muscle cell contractility**

Vascular tone induced by the vascular smooth muscle cells is modulated by several intracellular signalling pathways. Smooth muscle cell contraction is caused by contractile filaments linked to a phosphorylated myosin light chain (MLC) complex. Intracellular calcium concentration and calcium sensitization in vascular smooth muscle cells are the principal mechanisms that mediate smooth muscle contraction. Increased intracellular calcium binds to the regulatory protein, calmodulin, which then associates with the catalytic subunit of MLC kinase to activate it (Adelstein et al., 1981). Activated MLC kinase then phosphorylates the regulatory light chain of myosin. This allows myosin to interact with actin, thereby stimulating ATP hydrolysis via the myosin ATPase and causing the smooth muscle cell to contract (Sweeney et al., 1994). Cytosolic calcium levels are increased due to an influx of extracellular calcium and/or release of intracellular stores of calcium from the sarcoplasmic reticulum (SR) (Nixon et al., 1995; Somlyo et al., 1991). There are several channels that span the smooth muscle cell plasma membrane which increase calcium influx when stimulated, including voltage-gated calcium channels (L-type and T-type) (Ertel et al., 2000;

Friel *et al.*, 1989), ligand-gated non-selective cation channels (Loirand *et al.*, 1991), and store-operated calcium channels (Xu *et al.*, 2001). In addition, there are other channels or transporters on the plasma membrane that decrease intracellular calcium levels and/or induce hyperpolarization, such as the plasma membrane calcium ATPase (PMCA) (Gonzalez *et al.*, 1996), the sodium/calcium exchanger (dependent on a high extracellular sodium concentration) (Ashida *et al.*, 1987), and potassium channels (Nelson *et al.*, 1995). Channels on the SR that release calcium into the cytoplasm when stimulated include inositol triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>)-sensitive calcium channels (Malysz *et al.*, 2001) and ryanodine receptors/calcium-release channels (Meissner, 1994); whereas, the SR calcium ATPase (SERCA) promotes calcium influx back into the SR (Martonosi, 1996) and the calcium-binding proteins calsequestrin and calreticulin prevent calcium release from the SR (Laporte *et al.*, 2004; MacLennan *et al.*, 1971; Milner *et al.*, 1991). Together, all of these plasma membrane and SR channels contribute to the regulation of smooth muscle cell contractility.

In addition to intracellular calcium concentration, smooth muscle cell contractility is also regulated by calcium sensitization. In contrast to MLC kinase, which phosphorylates MLC to induce smooth muscle contraction, the enzyme known as MLC phosphatase dephosphorylates MLC and inhibits smooth muscle contraction, even when calcium levels are maintained (Himpens *et al.*, 1989). This mechanism opposes MLC kinase activity and reduces the concentration of phosphorylated MLC (Gong *et al.*, 1992). Besides intracellular calcium levels, the activity of MLC phosphatase and MLC kinase are also controlled by several effector proteins in response to certain stimuli, such as agonists described in section 1.2.3 (Aburto *et al.*, 1993; Sward *et al.*, 2003). The guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-binding protein RhoA/Rho kinase (ROCK) signalling pathway plays a major role in calcium sensitization. RhoA GTPase activation stimulates ROCK which phosphorylates the myosin-binding subunit of MLC phosphatase, thereby inhibiting its activity and increasing calcium sensitization (Kawano *et al.*, 1999; Sakurada *et al.*, 2003). In addition, protein kinase C (PKC), a kinase stimulated by

increased intracellular calcium and diacylglycerol (DAG), phosphorylates an inhibitory protein of MLC phosphatase, CPI-17, which binds to the catalytic subunit of MLC phosphatase (Ito et al., 2004; Niiro et al., 2003; Toth et al., 2000). Other protein kinases that lead to a reduction in calcium sensitization and intracellular calcium levels include cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP)dependent protein kinase (PKG) and cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP)dependent protein kinase A (PKA). Interestingly, in smooth muscle, basal intracellular cAMP levels are higher than cGMP levels. At increased cAMP levels (approximately ten-fold higher than cGMP), cAMP can also activate PKG (Rembold, 1992). PKG and/or PKA phosphorylate and inhibit IP<sub>3</sub>-sensitive calcium channels (Komalavilas et al., 1996), RhoA binding to ROCK (Sauzeau et al., 2000), and the phospholamban protein antagonist of SERCA (Cornwell et al., 1991; Lincoln et al., 1991). In addition, PKG and/or PKA have also been shown to phosphorylate and activate the PMCA pump (Gonzalez et al., 1996; Marin et al., 1999), potassium channels (Aiello et al., 1998; Schubert et al., 1996; Standen et al., 1998; Taniguchi et al., 1993; Wu et al., 2007), and MLC phosphatase (Wooldridge et al., 2004).

Different guanine nucleotide-binding heterotrimeric proteins (G proteins) are activated via G protein-coupled receptor stimulation. The  $\alpha$  subunit of the G protein, bound to GTP, dissociates from the  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  subunits at the plasma membrane and activates/deactivates specific downstream cytosolic proteins, enzymes, and molecules (depending on the  $\alpha$  subunit type) that regulate cell function. There are four families of G $\alpha$  proteins: G $\alpha_{i/o}$ , G $\alpha_s$ , G $\alpha_{q/11}$ , and G $\alpha_{12/13}$  (Wettschureck *et al.*, 2005). Activated G $\alpha$  proteins stimulate intracellular signal transduction pathways that regulate intracellular calcium concentrations and/or calcium sensitization in vascular smooth muscle. The GTP-bound G $\alpha_{i/o}$  protein interacts with and inhibits adenylyl cyclase activity, thereby reducing cAMP production and PKA stimulation and increasing intracellular calcium levels and calcium sensitization (constriction) (Aburto *et al.*, 1993; Heck *et al.*, 1998; Lee *et al.*, 1990; Morgado *et al.*, 2011). Conversely, the activated G $\alpha_s$  protein interacts

with and activates adenylyl cyclase which increases cAMP production, leading to a decrease in cytosolic calcium concentrations and calcium sensitization (relaxation) (McDaniel *et al.*, 1994). The activated  $G\alpha_{a/11}$  stimulates phospholipase C which cleaves phosphatidylinositol 4,5-bisphosphate to IP<sub>3</sub> and DAG (Graham et al., 1996; Smrcka et al., 1991). IP<sub>3</sub> stimulates calcium release from the SR through IP<sub>3</sub>-sensitive calcium channels, as previously mentioned (Malysz et al., 2001). DAG, along with cytosolic calcium, activates PKC. PKC phosphorylates several downstream targets including CPI-17, resulting in the inhibition of MLC phosphatase (Niiro et al., 2003; Toth et al., 2000). As such,  $G\alpha_{\alpha/11}$  in the vascular smooth muscle is associated with constriction.  $G\alpha_{12/13}$  in addition to  $G\alpha_{a/11}$  can activate RhoA which stimulates ROCK. ROCK inhibits the MLC phosphatase thus increasing calcium sensitization in vascular smooth muscle cells (Table 1.1A) (Chikumi et al., 2002; Sakurada et al., 2003; Sward et al., 2003; Zeng et al., 2002). It is also worth mentioning that the  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  subunits of G proteins can also interact with and regulate various ion channels (ie. potassium and calcium channels) (Kleuss et al., 1993; Logothetis et al., 1987) and certain isoforms of effector enzymes, such as adenylyl cyclase (Tang et al., 1991) and phospholipase C (Camps et al., 1992; Katz et al., 1992; Murthy et al., 1996; Wettschureck et al., 2005); however, less research has been performed on these G protein subunits in association with vascular smooth muscle contractility regulation. G proteins stimulated in the vascular endothelium can also induce changes in vascular tone (Table 1.1B) which will be further described in section 1.2.2.

## Α

Gα protein in VSMC	Intracellular calcium response	Vascular response
Gα <sub>i/o</sub>	↑Ca <sup>2+</sup> ↑Ca <sup>2+</sup> sensitization	Constriction
Gα <sub>s</sub>	↓Ca <sup>2+</sup> ↓Ca2+ sensitization	Relaxation
Gα <sub>q/11</sub>	↑Ca <sup>2+</sup> ↑Ca <sup>2+</sup> sensitization	Constriction
Gα <sub>12/13</sub>	↑Ca <sup>2+</sup> sensitization	Constriction

В

Gα protein in EC	Intracellular calcium response	Vascular response
Gα <sub>i/o</sub>	<ul> <li>Akt-mediated NOS-</li> <li>3 phosphorylation</li> <li>(Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent)</li> </ul>	Relaxation
Gα <sub>s</sub>	No effect	No effect
<b>G</b> α <sub>q/11</sub>	<b>↑C</b> a <sup>2+</sup>	Relaxation
Gα <sub>12/13</sub>	No effect	No effect

Table 1.1: Vascular responses following guanine nucleotide-binding protein (G protein) activation. G $\alpha$  proteins in vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) lead to an increase or decrease calcium levels and/or calcium sensitization to stimulate vasoconstriction or vasorelaxation, respectively (A). The G $\alpha_{q/11}$  and G $\alpha_{i/o}$  proteins in endothelial cells (EC) induce vasorelaxation in either a calcium-dependent or -independent manner, respectively (NOS activation) (B).

#### 1.2.2 Stimulated local vasoactive molecules released from the endothelium

Although there are several extrinsic and local factors that regulate vascular smooth muscle cell contractility and play an important role in blood flow regulation, I have focused on describing how certain intrinsic vasoactive substances affect vascular tone in isolated arteries. These include nitric oxide (NO), prostanoids, and endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factors (EDHF) (Figure 1.1) (Cardillo *et al.*, 2000; Orshal *et al.*, 2004).



Figure 1.1: Local vasoactive substances that regulate vascular tone. Vasodilation is induced by nitric oxide (NO), vasodilatory prostanoids such as prostacyclin (PGI<sub>2</sub>), and other endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factors (EDHF). Vasoconstriction is induced by vasoconstrictory prostanoids, such as thromboxane (TxA<sub>2</sub>), and other endothelium-derived contracting factors (EDCF), such as endothelins.

#### 1.2.2.1 Nitric oxide

NO is primarily recognized as an endothelium-derived vasodilator but also functions as a neurotransmitter (Schuman *et al.*, 1991). In the vascular smooth muscle cells, NO interacts with soluble guanylyl cyclase (Davignon *et al.*, 2004).

As described previously, this enzyme converts GTP to cGMP (Potter, 2011), which activates PKG. Activated PKG leads to a decrease of intracellular calcium levels and calcium sensitization (Figure 1.2A) (Morgado *et al.*, 2011). Potential mechanisms affected by PKG-induced phosphorylation include increased calcium sequestration (Cornwell *et al.*, 1991; Komalavilas *et al.*, 1996; Schlossmann *et al.*, 2000), calcium efflux (Gonzalez *et al.*, 1996; Marin *et al.*, 1999; Rashatwar *et al.*, 1987), and MLC phosphatase activity (Lee *et al.*, 1997; Nakamura *et al.*, 2007), decreased calcium influx (Liu *et al.*, 1997; Taguchi *et al.*, 1997), and inhibition of RhoA-induced calcium sensitization (Morgado *et al.*, 2011; Sauzeau *et al.*, 2000).

In addition to vasodilation, NO also increases vascular permeability and angiogenesis (Fukumura *et al.*, 2001; Murohara *et al.*, 1998; Ziche *et al.*, 1997) and reduces endothelial leukocyte adhesion (Khan *et al.*, 1996; Kubes *et al.*, 1991) and platelet aggregation (Radomski *et al.*, 1990). As such, NO is extremely important for proper vascular endothelial function, control of vascular tone, and ultimately blood pressure regulation. Under pathological conditions, such as inflammatory vascular diseases, endothelial dysfunction occurs with increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) and subsequent oxidative stress and reduced NO bioavailability (Montezano *et al.*, 2011). NO formation may be reduced due to NO synthase (NOS) uncoupling, leading to further ROS production (Montezano *et al.*, 2011). In addition, excessive ROS production and oxidative stress may couple NO with superoxide to produce peroxynitrite, a cytotoxic ROS that can damage intracellular DNA and proteins (Griendling *et al.*, 2003; Szabo, 1996).



Figure 1.2: NO signalling from the endothelial cells across into the vascular smooth muscle cells in the presence or absence of reactive oxygen species (ROS). Vasorelaxation results from a decrease in both vascular smooth muscle cell calcium levels and calcium sensitization (A). NO bioavailability is reduced with increased ROS (B). L-arg: L-arginine; L-cit: L-citrulline; NOS: nitric oxide synthase; GTP: guanosine triphosphate; cGMP: cyclic guanosine; PKG: cGMP-dependent protein kinase; MLCK: myosin light chain kinase; MLCP: myosin light chain;  $O_2^-$ : superoxide; ONOO<sup>-</sup>: peroxynitrite; EC: endothelial cell; VSMC: vascular smooth muscle cell.

NO and L-citrulline are produced from L-arginine and oxygen by three NOS enzymes (NOS-1/2/3) in the presence of several cofactors (ie. tetrahydrobiopterin and reduced nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH)) (Korhonen et al., 2005; Michel et al., 1997; Palmer et al., 1988). NOS-1 was first discovered in neuronal tissue whereas NOS-2 was originally purified from macrophages. NOS-3, the last to be identified, was initially isolated from vascular endothelial cells. Generally, NO-induced vasodilatory effects on the vascular smooth muscle are believed to come from rapidly diffusible endothelium-derived NO produced from NOS-3 (Furchgott et al., 1980; Luscher et al., 1997). However, in addition to NOS-3, NOS-1 and NOS-2 have also been identified in vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells from specific arteries. The expression levels of each NOS enzyme depends on the origin of the blood vessel (Brophy et al., 2000; Buchwalow et al., 2002; Michel et al., 1997). NOS-1 has been found in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (Lekontseva et al., 2011) and endothelial and smooth muscle cells from large human renal, pancreatic, and coronary arteries (Brophy et al., 2000; Buchwalow et al., 2002). In addition, NOS-1/3 have been identified in endothelial and smooth muscle cells from rat mesenteric and uterine microvascular arteries (Scott et al., 2007). NOS-2/3 have been identified in endothelial and smooth muscle cells from porcine carotid arteries and human pancreatic arteries (Buchwalow et al., 2002). NO

produced in the vascular smooth muscle cells may interact directly with soluble guanylyl cyclase to activate PKG and induce smooth muscle cell relaxation. Nevertheless, it remains controversial if vascular smooth muscle cell-generated NO is sufficient to induce vasorelaxation independent of endothelium-provided NO (Brophy *et al.*, 2000; Buchwalow *et al.*, 2002; Schwarz *et al.*, 1999; Zehetgruber *et al.*, 1993).

All three NOS enzymes are activated when calcium-activated calmodulin binds to its specific domain on the NOS enzyme. NOS-3 can also be activated in a calcium-independent manner upon serine phosphorylation (Butt *et al.*, 2000; Ferro *et al.*, 2004; Fleming *et al.*, 1997). NOS-2 has a higher affinity for calmodulin than NOS-1/3 and as such, may not require increased intracellular calcium to bind calmodulin (Michel *et al.*, 1997; Stuehr, 1999). During inflammation, activated leukocytes (ie. macrophages) have increased NOS-2 activity and NO release (Coleman, 2001). Although NO is an important player in the immune system (decreases leukocyte adhesion and accumulation), increased NOS-2 activity and NO formation during inflammation also leads to an increase in peroxynitrite formation (Figure 1.2B) (Kubes *et al.*, 1991; Liu *et al.*, 1998). Therefore, NOS-2 activity may be beneficial or hazardous, depending on the types of cells it interacts with (infected versus normal) (Poon *et al.*, 2003).

#### 1.2.2.2 Prostanoids

Eicosanoids include prostaglandins, prostacyclin (PGI<sub>2</sub>), thromboxanes, and leukotrienes. They have several different physiological functions that include decreasing platelet aggregation (Moncada *et al.*, 1977), mediating inflammatory cytokine production (Williams *et al.*, 1997), and regulating vascular tone (Markwald *et al.*, 2011). The diverse roles of eicosanoids are mediated by a wide range of receptors (Halushka *et al.*, 1989). Prostaglandins, PGI<sub>2</sub>, and thromboxanes fall into the subclass of eicosanoids known as prostanoids. Prostanoids are synthesized by prostaglandin H synthase (PGHS)-1/2 (Figure 1.3) (FitzGerald, 2002; Smith *et al.*, 1996). PGHS-1 is known as the constitutive

isoform whereas PGHS-2 expression is induced by the ubiquitous transcription factor NF-κB (nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells) (Smith et al., 1996; Sugino et al., 2004). NF-KB is a heterodimer composed of two subunits: p50 and p65. In its inactive form, NF-KB is bound to IKB and is localized to the cytoplasm. Phosphorylation of  $I\kappa B$  leads to its release of NF- $\kappa B$ and subsequent IkB proteasomal degradation. This allows nuclear translocation and activation of NF- $\kappa$ B via the nuclear localization signal on the p65 subunit. NF-kB has a rapid response time since it does not require de novo protein synthesis to become functional (Baeuerle et al., 1994; Janssen et al., 1997; Kim et al., 2004a). It is primarily stimulated in response to stress or pathogens (Schreck et al., 1991; Tak et al., 2001). Some examples of stimuli that activate NF-KB and induce PGHS-2 expression include inflammatory cytokines (ie. tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- $\alpha$ ), lipoproteins, and hypoxia (Davidge, 2001; Ji *et al.*, 1998; Kniss et al., 2001). Although both vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells express PGHS-1/2, levels are much higher in endothelial cells (Armstrong et al., 2004; DeWitt et al., 1983; Schildknecht et al., 2005).

Following an increase in intracellular calcium, phosphorylated cytosolic phospholipase  $A_2$  (cPLA<sub>2</sub>) is translocated to the perinuclear and/or endoplasmic reticular membrane where it breaks down glycerophospholipids into arachidonic acid and lysophospholipids (Bonventre, 1992; Chen *et al.*, 2008; Murakami *et al.*, 1998; Peters-Golden *et al.*, 1996; Schievella *et al.*, 1995; Smith *et al.*, 1991). Released arachidonic acid is converted to prostaglandin H<sub>2</sub> (PGH<sub>2</sub>) by PGHS-1/2 at the perinuclear membrane and endoplasmic reticulum. PGH<sub>2</sub> can then be further converted by specific synthases into different prostaglandins as well as the vasodilator PGI<sub>2</sub> and the vasoconstrictor thromboxane (TxA<sub>2</sub>) (Figure 1.3) (Davidge, 2001; Funk, 2001). Although several prostanoids can affect vascular tone, PGI<sub>2</sub> and TxA<sub>2</sub> have been thoroughly studied due to their association with cardiovascular diseases (Belton *et al.*, 2000; FitzGerald *et al.*, 1984; Tan *et al.*, 2007). PGI<sub>2</sub> synthase and TxA<sub>2</sub> are released from the endothelium via facilitated transport to interact with specific smooth muscle cell receptors. Therefore, the vascular response depends on the balance between their production and receptor activation (Camacho *et al.*, 2000; Funk, 2001; Tazawa *et al.*, 1996). In addition to endothelium-derived TxA<sub>2</sub>, platelets and macrophages are other major sources of circulating TxA<sub>2</sub>, which leads to an increase in vasoconstriction during an inflammatory response (Collins *et al.*, 2001; Kabashima *et al.*, 2003).



**Figure 1.3: Synthesis of prostanoids.** PLA<sub>2</sub>: phospholipase A<sub>2</sub>; AA: arachidonic acid; PGHS-1/2: prostaglandin H synthase-1/2; PGH<sub>2</sub>: prostaglandin H<sub>2</sub>; PGI<sub>2</sub>: prostaglandin D<sub>2</sub>; PGE<sub>2</sub>: prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>; TxA<sub>2</sub>: thromboxane; PGF<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub>: prostaglandin F<sub>2 $\alpha$ </sub>.

The PGI<sub>2</sub> receptor is a G protein-coupled receptor predominantly associated with the G protein  $\alpha$  subunit, G $\alpha_s$  (Nobles *et al.*, 2005). Stimulation of the PGI<sub>2</sub> receptor and the G $\alpha_s$  protein leads to the activation of adenylyl cyclase

which forms cAMP. cAMP activates PKA and PKG (at ten-fold-higher cAMP concentrations), which leads to a decrease in intracellular calcium levels and calcium sensitization in vascular smooth muscle cells (relaxation), as described previously (Table 1.1A) (McDaniel et al., 1994; Morgado et al., 2011; Rembold, 1992). The TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor is coupled to the G protein  $\alpha$  subunits, G $\alpha_{\alpha/11}$  and  $G\alpha_{12/13}$ . Activated  $G\alpha_{q/11}$  stimulates phospholipase C which leads to downstream events including an increase in intracellular calcium release, calcium influx, and calcium sensitization (Graham et al., 1996; Himpens et al., 1990; Zelis et al., 1989). G $\alpha_{a/11}$  and G $\alpha_{12/13}$  can also activate the GTP-binding protein RhoA which stimulates ROCK. As previously mentioned, ROCK inhibits the MLC phosphatase thus increasing calcium sensitization and maintaining calciuminduced vasoconstriction in vascular smooth muscle cells (Chikumi et al., 2002; Sakurada et al., 2003; Sward et al., 2003; Zeng et al., 2002). Consequently, TxA<sub>2</sub> acts as a potent vasoconstrictor (Table 1.1A) (Hanasaki et al., 1990; Narumiya et al., 1999; Sward et al., 2003; Wilson et al., 2005). Interestingly, TxA<sub>2</sub> binds to the same receptor as its precursor, PGH<sub>2</sub> (a vasoconstrictor also released from endothelial cells), and it is therefore difficult to differentiate between their vascular effects (Davidge, 2001; Gresele et al., 1991; Hanasaki et al., 1990; Karim et al., 1996; Vezza et al., 2002).

#### 1.2.2.3 Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factors

Aside from NO and vasodilatory prostanoids (ie. PGI<sub>2</sub>), other components of endothelium-derived relaxation include EDHF. EDHF are substances and/or electrical ions that are produced and released from the hyperpolarized endothelium to induce hyperpolarization of the underlying vascular smooth muscle cells. EDHF-mediated responses involve an increase in endothelial calcium levels and subsequent activation of calcium-dependent potassium channels. As such, EDHF is regulated by the intracellular calcium concentration. Endothelial hyperpolarization is electrically coupled to vascular smooth muscle cells via myoendothelial gap junctions (endothelial to smooth muscle cell gap junctions) (Feletou, 2011; Feletou *et al.*, 2006; Fleming, 2000). Potassium channels are opened, the sodium/potassium-ATPase is activated, and voltage-gated calcium channels are closed in the vascular smooth muscle cells leading to vasorelaxation (Nagao *et al.*, 1993; Weston *et al.*, 2002).

In addition to NO, EDHF is largely involved in shear stress-induced vasodilation, particularly in smaller, resistance-sized arteries (Li *et al.*, 2003; Takamura *et al.*, 1999; Zhao *et al.*, 2005). Shear stress is the frictional or parallel force applied on the vascular wall, such as that induced by laminar blood flow (Li *et al.*, 2003; Traub *et al.*, 1998). Examples of EDHF include potassium ions (Beny *et al.*, 2000), hydrogen peroxide (Stankevicius *et al.*, 2003), and hydrogen sulphide (Li *et al.*, 2009), but there are several other potential candidates (Figure 1.4) (Mombouli *et al.*, 1997).



**Figure 1.4: Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF)-induced vasorelaxation pathway.** Endothelial hyperpolarization spreads to the vascular smooth muscle cells by activating sodium/potassium-ATPases, opening potassium channels, and closing VGCC (voltage-gated calcium channels).

# **1.2.3** Extracellular agonists that affect vascular intracellular signalling pathways

There are several vascular agonists that activate different signalling pathways via specific receptors on the vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells. These include neurotransmitters such as adrenergic agonists (norepinephrine and epinephrine) and the cholinergic agonist acetylcholine, peptides, and bioactive phospholipids (sphingosine 1-phosphate; S1P). Some of these agonists,
such as acetylcholine and S1P, interact with functionally different receptors on the endothelial and/or smooth muscle cells which can have dual effects on vascular responses (Igarashi *et al.*, 2009).

### 1.2.3.1 Adrenergic agonists

The catecholamines, norepinephrine and epinephrine, are primarily secreted from the adrenal glands (Zhou *et al.*, 1995), postganglionic fibres throughout the sympathetic nervous system (Levy, 1971), and neurons within the brainstem (Talman *et al.*, 1980). They may act as neurotransmitters or as hormones in the circulation (Elenkov *et al.*, 2002; Roth *et al.*, 1982). Psychological or environmental stressors, such as the 'fight or flight' response, bright lights, or loud sounds, increase the production of catecholamines (Dimsdale *et al.*, 1980). This causes physiological changes including an increase in blood pressure and heart rate (Knight *et al.*, 2001). Norepinephrine and epinephrine have relatively short half-lives (few minutes) in circulation and are degraded by the catechol-O-methyltransferase and monoamine oxidase enzymes (Kvetnansky *et al.*, 1975; Mathew *et al.*, 1980; Roberts *et al.*, 1979).

Norepinephrine and epinephrine interact with  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors on vascular smooth muscle cells. Norepinephrine primarily binds to  $\alpha$ -adrenergic receptors, particularly the  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic receptors, to induce vasoconstriction. The  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic receptors are predominantly coupled to the G protein  $\alpha$  subunits,  $G\alpha_{q/11}$  and  $G\alpha_{12/13}$  (Graham *et al.*, 1996; Sward *et al.*, 2003). As mentioned previously, activated  $G\alpha_{q/11}$  and  $G\alpha_{12/13}$  increase intracellular calcium release, calcium influx, and calcium sensitization (Graham *et al.*, 1996; Himpens *et al.*, 1990; Sward *et al.*, 2003; Zelis *et al.*, 1989; Zeng *et al.*, 2002). The  $\alpha_2$ -adrenergic receptors are coupled to the  $G\alpha_{i/0}$  protein which inhibits adenylyl cyclase activity and increases calcium influx and calcium sensitization (Aburto *et al.*, 1993; Heck *et al.*, 1998; Lee *et al.*, 1990; Morgado *et al.*, 2011). Although epinephrine also binds  $\alpha$ -adrenergic receptors, it binds  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors with greater affinity (Graham *et al.*, 1996; Hoffmann *et al.*, 2004). Activation of the  $\beta$ -

adrenergic receptor and  $G\alpha_s$  stimulates adenylyl cyclase activity and cAMP production, activates PKA and PKG, and leads to a decrease in intracellular calcium levels and calcium sensitization in vascular smooth muscle cells (Table 1.1A) (Benovic *et al.*, 1988; McDaniel *et al.*, 1994; Rembold, 1992). Therefore, norepinephrine acts as a vasoconstrictor whereas epinephrine acts more as a vasodilator.

### 1.2.3.2 Cholinergic agonist

The neurotransmitter, acetylcholine, is produced in neurons from choline and acetyl-CoA via choline acetyltransferase and acts on the central, sympathetic, and parasympathetic nervous system (Arvidsson *et al.*, 1997; Blusztajn *et al.*, 1983; Hebb, 1972). In addition, acetylcholine and/or its synthesizing enzyme choline acetyltransferase are also found in non-neuronal cells including blood lymphocytes and leukocytes, epithelial cells (skin and airway), and vascular endothelial cells (Hecker *et al.*, 2009; Rinner *et al.*, 1998; Wessler *et al.*, 2003a; Wessler *et al.*, 1998; Wessler *et al.*, 2003b). Acetylcholine has a very short halflife (seconds) due to the efficiency of its ubiquitous degrading enzyme acetylcholinesterase (Hecker *et al.*, 2009; Wessler *et al.*, 1999). During inflammatory conditions, acetylcholine (released from the parasympathetic efferent vagus nerve and immune cells) has been implicated as an antiinflammatory mediator that reduces pro-inflammatory cytokine production (Davis *et al.*, 1998; de Jonge *et al.*, 2007; Hecker *et al.*, 2009; Pavlov *et al.*, 2006; Pavlov *et al.*, 2003; Wessler *et al.*, 2003b).

Acetylcholine interacts with two different types of cholinergic receptors: nicotinic and muscarinic (M) receptors. Nicotinic receptors are ligand-gated ion channels that, in response to acetylcholine binding, become permeable to sodium, potassium, chloride and calcium ions (Bertrand *et al.*, 1993; Stroud *et al.*, 1990; Vernino *et al.*, 1992). These receptors are primarily present on neuronal cells, the postsynaptic end of the neuromuscular junctions, some epithelial cells, and leukocytes where they have been linked to reduced inflammatory cytokine

production as part of the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway (Borovikova *et al.*, 2000; de Jonge *et al.*, 2007; Elhusseiny *et al.*, 2000; Maus *et al.*, 1998; Razani-Boroujerdi *et al.*, 2008).

M receptors are G protein-coupled receptors. They are highly expressed at the neuromuscular junction in the parasympathetic and some sympathetic neuronal pathways but are also found on leukocytes and vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells (McCorry, 2007; Razani-Boroujerdi *et al.*, 2008; Walch *et al.*, 2001). In vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells, acetylcholine binds to specific G protein-coupled M receptors to regulate vascular tone which is not observed with nicotinic receptor stimulation (Elhusseiny *et al.*, 2000). There are five types of M receptors (M<sub>1-5</sub>). M<sub>1/3/5</sub> signal through  $Ga_{q/11}$  whereas M<sub>2/4</sub> signal through  $Ga_{i/o}$ . Of the five types of M receptors, M<sub>3</sub> is the main receptor expressed on vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells (Walch *et al.*, 2001). Recently it has been shown that the ubiquitous transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B regulates the transcription of the  $M_3$  gene through NF- $\kappa$ B-specific DNA-binding sites (Forsythe *et al.*, 2002; Paula *et al.*, 2010).

Ligand activation of  $M_3$  releases  $G\alpha_{q/11}$  and leads to increased intracellular calcium levels, similar to the  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic receptors (Caulfield *et al.*, 1998). At high acetylcholine concentrations,  $M_3$  and  $G\alpha_{q/11}$  on the vascular smooth muscle cells are stimulated leading to vasoconstriction. However, at lower physiological concentrations acetylcholine acts as a vasodilator. In contrast to smooth muscle cells, increased endothelial calcium levels following  $M_3$  activation can increase the production and release of vasodilatory substances including NO, PGI<sub>2</sub>, and/or EDHF (Table 1.1A,B) (Caulfield, 1993; Hammarstrom *et al.*, 1995; Norel *et al.*, 1996; Pesic *et al.*, 2009; Toda, 1983).

#### 1.2.3.3 S1P

S1P, bound to lipoproteins and albumin in circulation, is a vasoactive sphingolipid that signals through five G protein-coupled receptors (S1P<sub>1</sub>-S1P<sub>5</sub>) (Kimura *et al.*, 2001; Murata *et al.*, 2000; Sanchez *et al.*, 2004). It regulates cell

proliferation and migration, angiogenesis, immune function, permeability, and vascular tone, depending on which S1P receptors circulating S1P interacts with (Hudson et al., 2007; Igarashi et al., 2009; Payne et al., 2004; Saba et al., 2004; Spiegel et al., 2002). S1P is also suggested to act as an anti-apoptotic intracellular messenger (although many intracellular S1P targets have not been clearly defined) (Olivera et al., 1999; Pyne et al., 2010; Spiegel et al., 2003a). Sphingosine is produced from ceramide and is phosphorylated by sphingosine kinase (SK) to form S1P. Two isoforms of SK exist which differ in tissue distribution, expression during development, and substrate affinity: SK-1 and SK-2. Regulation and function of SK-1 is better understood than SK-2 (Alemany et al., 2007; Maceyka et al., 2005; Melendez et al., 2000). SK-1 localizes to subcellular domains including the plasma membrane, endoplasmic reticulum, and nucleus or may be excreted from the cell to produce extracellular S1P from circulating substrates. SK-2, on the other hand, localizes to the nucleus or cytosol, which varies among cell types. Most sphingosine is found within the membrane compartments and therefore this is where most of the SK-induced production of S1P occurs (Alemany et al., 2007; Pyne et al., 2009). S1P levels (and SK-1 activity) are increased by several stimuli including growth factors (ie. platelet-derived growth factor and nerve growth factor), other G protein-coupled receptor agonists (acetylcholine, bradykinin, and S1P), and inflammatory cytokines (ie. TNF-α and interleukins) (Alemany et al., 2007; Meyer zu Heringdorf et al., 1999; Pettus et al., 2003; Pyne et al., 1996; Rius et al., 1997; Xia et al., 1999). Pitson et al. showed that following stimulatory agonist exposure, SK-1 activity is increased due to mitogen-activated serine/threonine protein (MAP) kinase-mediated phosphorylation of SK-1 at a site-specific serine residue. This specific serine residue was determined using site-directed mutagenesis in human embryonic kidney cells in vitro. Pitson et al. further demonstrated that translocation of SK-1 to the cell membrane compartments is dependent on this site-specific phosphorylation of SK-1 (Pitson et al., 2003).

Lipid phosphatases (LPP1, LPP2, and LPP3), S1P phosphatases (S1PP1 and S1PP2), and S1P lyase break down S1P and regulate its levels (Pyne *et al.*, 2000). LPPs are membrane proteins that act intracellularly or as ectoenzymes to dephosphorylate intracellular or circulating S1P, respectively (Brindley *et al.*, 2009; Jia *et al.*, 2003). S1PPs and S1P lyase are localized to the endoplasmic reticulum (Pyne *et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, platelets do not express S1P lyase and erythrocytes lack both S1P lyase and S1PPs. Hence, these cells are sources of high amounts of circulating S1P (Ito *et al.*, 2007; Tani *et al.*, 2005). It has also been recently indicated that vascular endothelial cells contribute to plasma S1P levels. Furthermore, in mouse embryonic endothelial cells, laminar shear stress decreased S1P lyase and S1PP1 mRNA expression (Venkataraman *et al.*, 2008).

S1P excreted from the cell (likely through ATP-binding cassette transporters) can interact with its receptors in an autocrine/paracrine fashion (Kim *et al.*, 2009; Pyne *et al.*, 2000; Spiegel *et al.*, 2003b; Venkataraman *et al.*, 2008). Circulating S1P in plasma measured using high-performance liquid chromatography in mice was shown to have a half-life of approximately 15 minutes (Igarashi *et al.*, 2008; Venkataraman *et al.*, 2008). Primary cellular sources of circulating S1P include platelets, erythrocytes, and vascular endothelial cells, as mentioned previously (Ito *et al.*, 2007; Tani *et al.*, 2005; Venkataraman *et al.*, 2008). The normal S1P plasma concentration is 0.1-1.2 $\mu$ M; however, with an activated immune response (platelet-stimulation) and/or increased vascular shear stress (endothelium-stimulation) this concentration can rise up to and above 5 $\mu$ M (Graeler *et al.*, 2002; Shikata *et al.*, 2003; Venkataraman *et al.*, 2008).

In the microvasculature,  $S1P_1$  and  $S1P_3$  are expressed on the vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells whereas  $S1P_2$  is found mainly on the smooth muscle cells (Peters *et al.*, 2007).  $S1P_2$  expression is also present on endothelial cells from large, conduit arteries such as the aorta (Rizza *et al.*, 1999).  $S1P_4$  and  $S1P_5$  are generally not detectable in the vasculature (Peters *et al.*, 2007); however,  $S1P_4$  mRNA has recently been found in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (Heo *et al.*, 2009).  $S1P_2$  and  $S1P_3$  are expressed on the vascular smooth muscle cells, and interestingly, it has been demonstrated that both receptors couple to the  $G\alpha_{i/o}$ ,  $G\alpha_{q/11}$ , and  $G\alpha_{12/13}$  proteins (Table 1.2A) (Ancellin *et al.*, 1999; Sanchez *et* al., 2004; Van Brocklyn et al., 2002). Therefore, stimulation of these receptors increases intracellular calcium levels and activates ROCK (increases calcium sensitization) in smooth muscle cells (Murakami et al., 2010; Sanchez et al., 2004; Watterson *et al.*, 2005). S1P<sub>2</sub> is coupled more efficiently to  $G\alpha_{12/13}$  whereas S1P<sub>3</sub> is coupled more efficiently to  $G\alpha_{a/11}$  (Ancellin *et al.*, 1999; Okamoto *et al.*, 2000; Okamoto et al., 2011; Sanchez et al., 2007; Sugimoto et al., 2003). On the vascular endothelium, stimulation of  $S1P_1$  and  $S1P_3$ , coupled to the  $Ga_{i/0}$  protein, activates NOS-3 via Akt kinase-mediated phosphorylation. Stimulation of S1P<sub>3</sub>, coupled to  $G\alpha_{\alpha/11}$  on the endothelium, also increases intracellular calcium levels and NOS activity (Table 1.2B) (Datar et al., 2010; Hemmings, 2006; Hemmings et al., 2006; Hudson et al., 2007; Kim et al., 2004b; Kouretas et al., 1998; Michell et al., 1999). It has been suggested that in intact arteries, S1P induces vasoconstriction when interacting primarily with smooth muscle cells and vasodilation when it interacts mainly with the endothelium (Hemmings, 2006; Igarashi et al., 2009); however, this has not been clearly shown (Figure 1.5). Furthermore, S1P-induced vascular responses differ among vascular beds which is likely attributed to differences in S1P receptor expression (Igarashi et al., 2009).

S1P receptor on VSMC	Gα protein coupled to S1P receptor	Vascular response
S1P <sub>1</sub>	Gα <sub>i/o</sub>	Constriction
S1P <sub>2</sub>	Gα <sub>i/o</sub> Gα <sub>q/11</sub> Gα <sub>12/13</sub>	Constriction
S1P <sub>3</sub>	Gα <sub>i/o</sub> Gα <sub>q/11</sub> Gα <sub>12/13</sub>	Constriction

# В

Α

S1P receptor on EC	Gα protein coupled to S1P receptor	Vascular response
S1P <sub>1</sub>	Gα <sub>i/o</sub>	Relaxation
S1P <sub>3</sub>	Gα <sub>i/o</sub> Gα <sub>q/11</sub> Gα <sub>12/13</sub>	Relaxation

Table 1.2: Vascular responses following stimulation of vascular S1P receptors and G protein activation. G $\alpha$  proteins associated with S1P<sub>1-3</sub> on the vascular smooth muscle cells stimulate vasoconstriction (**A**). S1P<sub>1/3</sub> expressed on the vascular endothelial cells induce vasorelaxation primarily via the G $\alpha_{i/o}$  and G $\alpha_{q/11}$  proteins (**B**).



Figure 1.5: Vascular S1P receptors that can stimulate vasorelaxation and/or vasoconstriction responses. Vasoconstriction can be stimulated by  $S1P_{2/3}$  on the vascular smooth muscle cells with increased calcium and calcium sensitization; whereas, vasorelaxation can be stimulated by  $S1P_{1/3}$  on the endothelial cells with increased NO production.

At normal circulating S1P concentrations (0.1-1.2 $\mu$ M) (Graeler *et al.*, 2002; Venkataraman *et al.*, 2008), S1P<sub>1</sub> activation stimulates the endothelial barrier pathway (Wang *et al.*, 2009; Zhang *et al.*, 2010). Following S1P<sub>1</sub> stimulation, the small GTP-binding protein Rac1 is activated in a Ga<sub>i/o</sub>-dependent manner leading to several events that reduce endothelial permeability, including endothelial junction and focal adhesion assembly and cortical actin formation (Lucke *et al.*, 2010; Wang *et al.*, 2009). In contrast, stimulation of S1P<sub>2</sub> and S1P<sub>3</sub> increases endothelial permeability by activating the RhoA/ROCK pathway and reducing Rac1 activity, thereby disrupting junction formation (Lucke *et al.*, 2007; Singleton *et al.*, 2006). This increase in permeability occurs when circulating S1P levels approach or rise above 5 $\mu$ M, such as in times of inflammation and platelet activation (McVerry *et al.*, 2005; Shikata *et al.*, 2003).

### **1.3 PREGNANCY-INDUCED VASCULAR ADAPTATIONS**

Extrinsic and intrinsic factors that regulate vascular tone as described previously also play a role in vascular adaptations that occur during pregnancy. These adaptations include vascular remodelling, increased capacity for vasodilation, and decreased sensitivity to vasoconstrictors. Pregnancy is associated with increased plasma volume and cardiac output and decreased systemic and uterine vascular resistance. Blood flow to the uterine vascular bed in human pregnancy increases 50- to 70-fold (Palmer *et al.*, 1992; Thornburg *et al.*, 2000; Zamudio *et al.*, 1995). Uterine vascular remodelling occurs in association with this increase in blood flow (Palmer *et al.*, 1992). Tissue cell culture and animal models (ie. sheep, guinea pigs, rats, mice) have been extensively used to delineate physiological changes that underlie vascular remodelling during pregnancy. Due to increased hypertrophy and hyperplasia of cells within the vascular wall illustrated with immunohistochemistry (Cipolla *et al.*, 1994; Hees *et al.*, 1987) and increased protein content (Annibale *et al.*, 1997; Keyes *et al.*, 1996), or DNA synthesis (Keyes *et al.*, 1997; Keyes *et al.*, 1996).

the lumen diameter and cross-sectional area of the main uterine artery and smaller arcuate and radial arteries are significantly increased (Osol et al., 2009). During early pregnancy, fetal trophoblast cells migrate into resistance spiral arteries within the uterine wall proximal to the placenta where they replace much of the endothelium and smooth muscle to further reduce vascular resistance and increase blood flow (Adamson et al., 2002; Blechner et al., 1974; Caluwaerts et al., 2005; Hees et al., 1987). In addition, increased expression of growth factors within the uteroplacental unit (ie. vascular endothelium growth factor (VEGF)) (Cheung et al., 1995; Reynolds et al., 1995) and increased uterine arterial vasodilation mediated by NO and PGI<sub>2</sub> have been shown in pregnancy (Cooke *et al.*, 2003; Jovanovic et al., 1997; Magness, 1991; Sladek et al., 1997; Weiner et al., 1989). In contrast, the sensivitity to several vasoconstrictors, including angiotensin II, norepinephrine, and neuropeptide Y, is decreased in uteroplacental arteries isolated from humans and animal models during pregnancy (Jovanovic et al., 2000; Magness et al., 1992; Paller et al., 1989; Thaler et al., 2005; Weiner et al., 1991). Together, these changes either help accommodate increased uterine blood flow or contribute to it.

Along with these uterine vascular adaptations, the systemic vasculature also has to compensate for the increase in cardiac output and blood flow during pregnancy. Decreased systemic vascular resistance and increased systemic vasodilation occur in relation to reduced responsiveness to vasoconstrictors, such as angiotensin II, norepinephrine, and vasopressin (Harrison *et al.*, 1989; Landau *et al.*, 2002; Magness, 1998; Magness *et al.*, 1986; McLaughlin *et al.*, 1989; Paller, 1984; Thaler *et al.*, 2005), and increased endothelium-dependent vasodilation to vascular agonists including acetylcholine and bradykinin (Dantas *et al.*, 1999; Knock *et al.*, 1996). This change in vascular reactivity may be due to pregnancy-dependent changes in receptor expression, such as an increase in receptors that signal vasodilation responses and a decrease in receptors that cause vasoconstriction (Chanrachakul *et al.*, 2003; Ferreira *et al.*, 2009; Stennett *et al.*, 2009). However, blood pressure is only minimally reduced during pregnancy due

to sympathetic innervation of the systemic vascular smooth muscle cells and increased angiotensin II plasma levels (Conrad *et al.*, 1992; Pan *et al.*, 1990; Thaler *et al.*, 2005). These systemic and uterine vascular adaptations act together to maintain cardiovascular homeostasis during pregnancy.

# **1.3.1 Vascular complications during pregnancy**

Failure of the uterine and systemic vasculature to adapt during pregnancy contributes to complications such as preeclampsia (Magness *et al.*, 1994; Ong *et al.*, 2005; Roberts *et al.*, 2005) and IUGR (Carbillon *et al.*, 2000; Ng *et al.*, 1992). Preeclampsia is diagnosed as the *de novo* onset of hypertension (blood pressure >140/90 mmHg) with proteinuria after 20 weeks gestation; however, other characteristics include an enhanced inflammatory state, platelet activation, generalized vasoconstriction, and reduced organ perfusion (Buhimschi *et al.*, 1995; Friedman *et al.*, 1991). IUGR occurs when fetuses do not reach their full growth potential (Danielian *et al.*, 1992). It is a major complication of pregnancy with both short-term and long-term consequences (Pallotto *et al.*, 2006). Reduced uterine blood flow can lead to IUGR in animal models (Anderson *et al.*, 2005; Sholook *et al.*, 2007) and in humans (Lang *et al.*, 2003). For example, even modest reductions of uterine blood flow in a sheep model (<25%) leads to IUGR (Lang *et al.*, 2003). These data underline the importance for normal vascular adaptations in both uterine and systemic arteries during pregnancy.

Infusion of the NOS inhibitor L-nitro-arginine methyl ester into pregnant rats increased mean arterial blood pressure and decreased pup weight, which also occur during preeclampsia and IUGR, respectively (Edwards *et al.*, 1996; Yallampalli *et al.*, 1993). Furthermore, Roggensack et al. illustrated that immunohistochemistry staining of nitrotyrosine (a marker for peroxynitrite activity) and NOS-3 is increased and the superoxide dismutase antioxidant enzyme is decreased in subcutaneous vessels obtained during a caesarean section from women with preeclampsia compared to normal pregnant women (Roggensack *et al.*, 1999). These results suggest that peroxynitrite formation is increased and the bioavailability of NO is decreased in the systemic vasculature of women with preeclampsia. Further evidence of increased ROS during preeclampsia includes increased lipid peroxidation products (ie. malondialdehyde) in plasma taken from women with preeclampsia (Hubel, 1999; Hubel *et al.*, 1989; Walsh, 1994). In addition to preeclampsia, IUGR in the presence and absence of preeclampsia has also been associated with increased oxidative stress. Markers of lipid peroxidation and DNA damage caused by oxidative stress are increased in placental tissue from women with IUGR and/or IUGR with preeclampsia compared to normal pregnancies (Takagi *et al.*, 2004). It has previously been reported that increased oxidative stress causes vascular dysfunction in the placenta, such as with preeclampsia, and may reduce uteroplacental blood flow enough to significantly compromise fetal growth (Lang *et al.*, 2003; Myatt *et al.*, 2000; Trudinger *et al.*, 1985).

Imbalanced prostanoid production has also been linked to preeclampsia and IUGR. The ratio of  $TxB_2$  (stable metabolite of  $TxA_2$ ) to 6-keto-prostaglandin  $F_{1\alpha}$  (stable metabolite of PGI<sub>2</sub>) is increased in urine from women with preeclampsia (Kraayenbrink et al., 1993; Mills et al., 1999). A transgenic rat model of preeclampsia with an activated renin-angiotensin system and IUGR demonstrated an increased  $TxB_2$  to 6-keto-prostaglandin  $F_{1\alpha}$  ratio in the serum, increased vasoconstriction to an  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic agonist, and impaired acetylcholine-induced vasodilation compared to normal pregnant and nonpregnant rats (Verlohren et al., 2008). Moreover, a rodent model of IUGR has been developed by infusing a synthetic TxA<sub>2</sub> analogue throughout the last half of pregnancy, suggesting that increased TxA<sub>2</sub> also has the ability to reduce uteroplacental blood flow and fetal growth (Hayakawa et al., 2006). Decreased endothelium-dependent vasodilation to bradykinin (Knock et al., 1996) and acetylcholine (McCarthy et al., 1993) and increased angiotensin II-induced vasoconstriction (AbdAlla et al., 2001) have also been shown in systemic arteries from women with preeclampsia (Zahumensky, 2009). This is likely due to impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation mechanisms and/or increased

vascular smooth muscle vasoconstriction mechanisms (Khalil *et al.*, 2002; Roberts *et al.*, 2002). In addition, although little is known about how S1P mediates maternal vascular adaptations during pregnancy, increased S1P in plasma samples obtained in early human pregnancy has been identified as one of several biomarkers in a multivariate predictive model for preeclampsia and for babies born small for gestational age (Horgan *et al.*, 2011; Kenny *et al.*, 2010).

#### **1.3.2 Experimental model systems**

Many studies investigating vascular function, as mentioned above, use in vivo and/or ex vivo techniques in different experimental model systems. Common in vivo techniques include blood pressure (ie. the tail cuff method and implanted telemetry monitoring systems) or blood flow (ie. ultrasonic flow sensors) measurements alone or in combination with intra-arterial and intravenous injections of different vasoactive drugs (Bischoff et al., 2000; Kurtz et al., 2005; Salomone et al., 2003). The two most common ex vivo methods used to measure vascular function are wire and pressure myography. The wire myograph system involves mounting a blood vessel ring segment onto wire hooks in an organ bath chamber and recording the tension of the blood vessel under isometric conditions in response to vasoactive drugs. Drugs being tested are administered directly to the bath where they interact with the vascular endothelium and smooth muscle cells simultaneously. The pressure myograph system, on the other hand, involves mounting a blood vessel onto glass cannulas in an organ bath chamber and measuring changes in lumen diameter under isobaric conditions in response to vasoactive drugs. It is a closed system and therefore drugs added to the bath directly interact only with the vascular smooth muscle cells initially. Drugs may also be infused into the vessel to interact directly with the endothelium using this system (Angus et al., 2000; Halpern et al., 1984).

Several different animal models have been used for pregnancy-specific vascular studies to help solve human physiological questions including non-human primates, sheep, guinea pigs, rats, and mice (Cooke *et al.*, 2003; Hennessy

et al., 1999; Magness et al., 1986; Osol et al., 1993; Weiner et al., 1991). Each model has advantages and disadvantages for pregnancy research. Non-human primates, such as the baboon, have similar uterine biology, placentation, and gestational development compared to humans. At the same time, they have long gestational periods (184 days) and are very expensive to maintain (Carter, 2007; Powers et al., 2008). Sheep, although genetically distinct from primates, are tolerant to invasive surgery during pregnancy and their fetuses have similar weights to humans. However, their gestational period is also long (144-150 days), their placentation is different from primates, and they are expensive to keep (Carter, 2007; Thatcher et al., 1986). Of all the rodent models, guinea pigs share the most commonalities with human pregnancy. Their gestational period has three trimesters (66 days) and fetal and placental development undergo similar events to humans (Carter, 2007). In addition, guinea pigs normally deliver only 2-4 pups per litter, which is much closer to the human situation than the 6-12 pups delivered per litter by rats and mice (Eckstein et al., 1955; Fraser et al., 1951). Nevertheless, the guinea pig is very sensitive to stress and handling during pregnancy and since they take up more space, the costs to house guinea pigs versus other rodents is higher (Carter, 2007). Mice and rats both have short gestations (19-22 days) and can give birth to over 10 pups per litter (Fraser et al., 1951; Kwong et al., 2000). Similar to the guinea pig and primates, the mouse and rat share with humans what is known as hemochorial placentation, whereby maternal and fetal blood are separated by a single trophoblast cell layer at late gestation. Unlike the sheep with an epitheliochorial placenta (separation of maternal and fetal blood by several cell layers), hemochorial placentation supports a more efficient gas and nutrient exchange during pregnancy (Moll *et al.*, 1975; Osol et al., 2009). The rodent uterus, although morphologically different from the human uterus, contains many of the same arteries (main uterine, arcuate, and radial arteries) present in the human uterus and also undergo similar vascular adaptations during pregnancy to support the significant increase in blood volume (Figure 1.6) (Osol et al., 2009). The greatest gain in fetal weight in mice and rats

occurs in late pregnancy (within the 3-4 days prior to term) (Eisen, 1976). Placental development, however, differs between the mouse and rat model. Trophoblast invasion in the mouse is shallow and vascular remodelling is less extensive compared to both rats and humans (Carter, 2007; Georgiades *et al.*, 2002; Osol *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, vascular remodelling and trophoblast invasion studies are not favourable in the mouse model. Nevertheless, mice have a fast generation time, are small, easy to handle, and relatively inexpensive to house. In addition, the mouse genome contains many genes that are analogous to humans, such as those involved in placental development (Rossant *et al.*, 2001), and until recently, transgenic and knockout mice were much more readily available than knockout rat models (Zan *et al.*, 2003). In this way, the choice of animal model depends on what aspect of pregnancy one is interested in and the cost to do the study.



**Figure 1.6: Uteri from the non-pregnant human and rodent.** Both the human **(A)** and rodent **(B)** uterus contain uterine arteries, arcuate arteries, and radial arteries that supply blood to the uterus and undergo vascular adaptations to permit increased blood flow during pregnancy. Figure adapted from Osol *et al.*, 2009.

# **1.4 CYTOMEGALOVIRUS**

Vascular diseases in both the non-pregnant and pregnant population have

been associated with specific bacterial and viral infections, including HCMV (Danesh *et al.*, 1997; Grahame-Clarke, 2005; Weis *et al.*, 2003). CMV is a genomically large, double-stranded DNA virus that belongs to the *Herpesviridae* family. It is species-specific and has been found in several mammals including mice, chimpanzees, and humans (Davison *et al.*, 2009). HCMV is widespread, infecting 40 to 80 percent of the human population. CMV attaches to, infects, and replicates within a wide range of cell types including epithelial, endothelial, and smooth muscle cells (Billstrom Schroeder *et al.*, 2002; Speir *et al.*, 1996). Although lymphocytes and neutrophils do not support full CMV replication, they may traffic CMV through the circulation (Pancholi *et al.*, 2004).

There are up to 12 different CMV envelope glycoproteins, six of which have been definitively implicated in CMV attachment to the cell surface and/or entry into the cell (Compton, 2004; Lopper et al., 2002). Heparan sulfate proteoglycans are ubiquitously expressed on the cell surface and function in tethering the virus to the cell. They are required but not sufficient for CMV infection. All of the receptors expressed on the host cell surface that are required for CMV attachment and entry are still being established; however, epidermal growth factor receptor, toll-like receptors, and integrins are other potential cellspecific candidates (Compton, 2004; Isaacson et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2003). Heparan sulphate proteoglycans form a complex with the glycoprotein M/N (gM/gN) heterodimer (Compton, 2004; Compton *et al.*, 1993). Membrane fusion/entry of CMV into the cell requires the gH/gL/gO heterotrimer (Compton, 2004). In addition, gB is also involved in viral attachment (Compton, 2004; Lopper et al., 2002) and is required for entry of the virus into the cell (Bender et al., 2005; Isaacson et al., 2009; Laquerre et al., 1998; Lopper et al., 2002). By binding to cell surface receptors (ie. toll-like receptors), gB stimulates intracellular signalling pathways that prepare the cell for infection and activate the host early immune response (Boehme et al., 2004; Simmen et al., 2001). This includes the stimulation of kinases and transcription factors (ie. NF-KB), inflammatory cytokine secretion (ie. interferon (IFN)- $\gamma$  and interleukin),

eicosanoid synthesis, and ROS production (Figure 1.7) (Akira, 2003; Boehme *et al.*, 2004; Boyle *et al.*, 1999; Compton *et al.*, 2003; Fortunato *et al.*, 2000; Lee *et al.*, 2011; Murayama *et al.*, 1998; Speir *et al.*, 1996; Speir *et al.*, 1998; Yurochko *et al.*, 1997).



**Figure 1.7: CMV glycoproteins and cell surface receptors involved in viral attachment and entry.** The virus tethers to the cell surface via the gM/gN heterodimer binding to heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPGs) followed by secure viral attachment via gB and other cell receptors such as integrins, epidermal growth factor receptors (EGFRs), and toll-like receptors (TLRs). Viral fusion and entry into the cell requires gB and the gH/gL/gO heterotrimer.

Like other Herpes viruses, HCMV establishes a lifelong infection that cycles between periods of dormancy (latency) and reactivation (Sweet, 1999).

Viral latency is defined as the absence of infectious, replicating virus with the maintenance of the viral genome. Latent HCMV is primarily maintained in proliferative myeloid cells. Myeloid differentiation, as may occur with inflammatory stimuli, associated with HCMV reactivation. is In immunocompetent individuals, latency is established by the host's innate and adaptive immune response. The expression of antiviral cytokines and intracellular effector proteins are triggered, leading to the termination of viral gene expression by repressing the viral major immediate early promoter (Reddehase *et al.*, 2008; Reeves et al., 2008). Hence, the immediate early (IE) viral genes are not expressed, preventing the expression of the early (E) and late (L) viral genes and egress of the virus that occur with an active/reactivated CMV infection (Figure 1.8) (Hummel et al., 2002; Mocarski, 1996; Presti et al., 1998). T lymphocytes help ensure that latency is generally maintained in the host (Reddehase et al., 2008). There are two IE gene products that are required for activation of the CMV lytic cycle and viral replication. In HCMV they are known as IE1 and IE2, which correspond to IE1 and IE3 in mouse CMV (mCMV). Providing expression of these IE genes is inhibited, latency is sustained (Angulo et al., 2000).



**Figure 1.8: CMV lytic cycle.** During an active CMV infection, immediate early (IE), early (E), and late (L) genes are expressed followed by egress of infectious enveloped viral capsids from the cell.

Most organs in the body can be sites of both active and latent CMV, where only lymphocytes and neutrophils do not support CMV replication (Pancholi *et al.*, 2004). During a lifelong, chronic CMV infection, periods of latency where infectious virus is undetectable is intermittent with periods of reactivation (Presti

*et al.*, 1998). Reactivation of a CMV infection and thus production of infectious, replicating virus may occur in one organ or cell type, while latency is sustained in another organ or cell type within the same host (Balthesen *et al.*, 1993). In the human, the salivary gland is the main site where the viral genome load is high and reactivation is frequent whereas in the murine model, the lung is the predominant site (Balthesen *et al.*, 1993; Harari *et al.*, 2004; Landolfo *et al.*, 2003). Reactivation can occur in response to several different stimuli including stress, drug treatments, and pregnancy (Cheung *et al.*, 2007; Gould *et al.*, 1980; Prosch *et al.*, 2000; Tanaka *et al.*, 1983). Because there are many stimuli that likely contribute to viral reactivation in different tissues, the number of reactivation cycles an individual undergoes in a lifetime is difficult to estimate (Morita-Hoshi *et al.*, 2008). Viral replication and the subsequent immune response are likely necessary for the acceleration and/or establishment of vasculopathy (Lemstrom *et al.*, 1997; Tu *et al.*, 2006) and atherosclerosis (Grahame-Clarke, 2005). Whether or not vascular dysfunction persists when viral latency is established is unknown.

Components of the immune system, particularly CMV-specific T-cells, are important for establishing and also for maintaining a latent infection following an active CMV infection (Steffens *et al.*, 1998). Effectively resolving an active CMV infection, as occurs in fully immunocompetent hosts, reduces the copy number of viral genomes in tissues and particular organs within the host and reduces the incidence of reactivation (Reddehase *et al.*, 1994). Therefore, HCMV infections are generally asymptomatic in these individuals (Ahlfors *et al.*, 1978; Zanghellini *et al.*, 1999). In contrast, immunosuppressed or immunocompromised individuals who have reduced immune function (ie. transplant recipients and those with acquired immune deficiency syndrome) or an immature immune system (ie. developing fetuses) are more susceptible to the pathogenicity of HCMV (Einsele *et al.*, 2008; Freeman, 2009; Sweet, 1999). As such, HCMV vaccine development for those individuals at high risk of HCMV disease is a major focus for several research groups (Berencsi *et al.*, 2001; Bernstein *et al.*, 2002; Endresz *et al.*, 2001; Endresz *et al.*, 1999; Zhang *et al.*, 2006). Interestingly, the humoral immune response to HCMV predominantly recognizes glycoproteins located on the outside of the virus and up to 70% of the antibodies from HCMV-seropositive individuals are gB-specific (Britt *et al.*, 1990). As such, gB is a prime candidate for HCMV vaccine development (Bernstein *et al.*, 2002; Endresz *et al.*, 1999; Zhang *et al.*, 2006).

#### 1.4.1 CMV and vascular diseases

Although the general HCMV-infected population is thought to be asymptomatic, HCMV infections have been associated with tumourigenesis, vascular diseases including atherosclerosis and restenosis, and increased mortality (Abgueguen et al., 2003; Cobbs et al., 2002; Hirabayashi et al., 2003; Kalil et al., 2009; Maussang et al., 2006; Melnychuk et al., 2005). The initial cell binding and entry of CMV induces intracellular signals that lead to the activation of transcription factors and kinases and increase inflammatory cytokine gene expression, prostanoid synthesis, and reactive oxygen intermediates (Evers *et al.*, 2004; Fortunato et al., 2000; Speir et al., 1998). Production of these factors can be further amplified when a fully systemic, replicating, active HCMV infection develops (Compton et al., 2003; Speir et al., 1996; Zhu et al., 1997). Viralassociated production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , and interleukins (Compton et al., 2003; Koskinen et al., 1999; Rubin, 2001; Tang-Feldman et al., 2006), release of catecholamines (Rubin, 2001), and increased expression of adhesion molecules on the surface of infected endothelial cells, such as vascular cell adhesion molecule (VCAM)-1 (Rahbar et al., 2005), implicate HCMV and the stimulation of pro-inflammatory mediators in endothelial dysfunction and vascular diseases (Blankenberg et al., 2001; Grahame-Clarke, 2005).

Furthermore, in a number of animal and human cell culture studies, an acute CMV infection has been associated with increased SK activity in vascular endothelial and fibroblast cells (Machesky *et al.*, 2008), increased angiotensin II levels in serum and arterial tissue (Cheng *et al.*, 2009), and both increased NOS-2

expression and serum nitrite and nitrate levels (Tanaka *et al.*, 1997; Tanaka *et al.*, 2001) and decreased NOS-3 activity in vascular endothelial and epithelial cells from different tissues (Shen *et al.*, 2006; Weis *et al.*, 2004). To facilitate CMV replication, PGHS-2 expression is also increased in fibroblasts and retinal epithelial cells (Hooks *et al.*, 2006; Zhu *et al.*, 2002). Together, this evidence indicates that an active CMV infection affects several vascular mediators that may have an effect on vascular function (Figure 1.9) (Cheng *et al.*, 2009; Eerdmans *et al.*, 1996; Hirabayashi *et al.*, 2003; Persoons *et al.*, 1998); however, direct links between HCMV, endothelial dysfunction, and vascular diseases remain undefined.



Figure 1.9: CMV-associated effects on some local vasoactive substances that regulate vascular tone.

# **1.4.2 CMV and pregnancy**

In addition to the association between HCMV and vascular dysfunction in the non-pregnant adult population, HCMV can also cause severe fetal complications during pregnancy. It is the most common viral congenital infection and occurs in 0.2%-2.2% of all live births (Adler, 1992; Demmler, 1991; Hanshaw, 1995; Yinon et al., 2010). Congenital infections arise when HCMV crosses the placenta to infect the fetus (Hanshaw, 1995). Congenital CMV disease can cause intrauterine fetal death or symptoms including IUGR, jaundice, microcephaly, hepatosplenomegaly, sensorineural hearing loss, visual impairment, and cognitive delays (Lazzarotto et al., 2000; Yinon et al., 2010). Both primary and secondary maternal infections can lead to congenital infections. A primary or newly acquired (active) HCMV infection occurs in up to 4% of all pregnancies (Hanshaw, 1995; Yinon et al., 2010). The likelihood of intrauterine transmission from a primary maternal infection during pregnancy is approximately 40% (Raynor, 1993; Stagno et al., 1986; Yinon et al., 2010). Secondary infections result from either reinfection with another strain of HCMV or reactivation of HCMV from latency (Ornoy et al., 2006). Although the rate of transmission to the fetus during a secondary HCMV infection is only 1% (Raynor, 1993; Yinon et al., 2010), more congenital infections arise from secondary infections because they are more frequent than primary infections during pregnancy (Ornoy et al., 2006). It is generally accepted that primary maternal CMV infections cause more severe sequelae in congenitally-infected fetuses than secondary maternal infections; however, there is a significant amount of evidence demonstrating that secondary maternal CMV infections can also cause severe symptoms in the fetus and even intrauterine fetal death (Ahlfors et al., 2001; Benshushan et al., 1998; Boppana et al., 1999; Ornoy et al., 2006; Rousseau et al., 2000).

Maternal HCMV screening is very controversial largely due to the lack of effective, well-established treatments for fetal HCMV infections (Nyholm *et al.*, 2010; Revello *et al.*, 2002). Nevertheless, the morbidity of congenital CMV disease is very severe and with effective treatment options HCMV screening is suggested to be cost effective (Cahill *et al.*, 2009). There are ongoing studies testing maternal therapies that may help reduce the potentially severe effects of a primary maternal HCMV infection. These include specific vaccines and passive

immunoglobulin therapy to reduce the likelihood of a maternal HCMV infection and/or prevent HCMV transmission to the fetus (Nigro *et al.*, 2005; Pass *et al.*, 2009; Schleiss, 2008; Schleiss *et al.*, 2003; Schleiss *et al.*, 2004).

Potential CMV transplacental transmission makes it difficult to determine if HCMV-induced fetal effects, such as IUGR, result solely from direct fetal infections or indirectly from maternal or placental vascular complications. Furthermore, HCMV is not regularly screened for in pregnant women in the absence of a congenital infection (Revello et al., 2002); consequently, most studies investigating the gestational effects of a CMV infection have focused on congenital infections (Adler et al., 2007; Yinon et al., 2010). There are currently no studies aimed at investigating how an active maternal CMV infection affects pregnancy independent of a congenital infection. Although maternal HCMV seropositivity has been associated with maternal pregnancy-specific vascular complications (ie. preeclampsia) in several epidemiological studies, this association is somewhat controversial depending on the sample size and inclusion criteria used in each study (Conde-Agudelo et al., 2008; Grahame-Clarke, 2005; Rustveld et al., 2008; von Dadelszen et al., 2003; Xie et al., 2010). For example, two systematic reviews that examined the association between maternal infections and preeclampsia (Conde-Agudelo et al., 2008; Rustveld et al., 2008) and included the same three clinical CMV studies (Carreiras et al., 2002; Trogstad et al., 2001; von Dadelszen et al., 2003) came to opposite conclusions regarding the association between CMV and preeclampsia based on the inclusion criteria of data sets collected from each of the studies.

### 1.4.3 CMV and animal models

Several confounding variables in the human population, such as socioeconomic status, make it difficult to study the direct pathogenesis caused by HCMV. Therefore, the use of animal models to study the effects of a CMV infection is necessary. Despite the fact that CMV is a species-specific virus, many viral genes are homologous among species. The choice of model largely depends on what is being investigated. For instance, neonatal and placental effects of a congenital CMV infection and potential vaccines for congenital CMV infections are often studied in the guinea pig as transplacental transmission occurs in this rodent model (Bratcher *et al.*, 1995; Choi *et al.*, 1978; Griffith *et al.*, 1985; Schleiss *et al.*, 2004). In comparison, the rhesus monkey has been used more recently for vaccine and drug development and neurological developmental problems associated with CMV because its genetics and reproductive processes are more similar to humans. However, due to its high maintenance costs it is used less often than rodent models (Powers *et al.*, 2008; Tarantal *et al.*, 1998).

## 1.4.3.1 Mouse model

The mouse model is a popular experimental system for studying CMV pathogenesis (Hudson, 1979). This is due, in part, to the availability of mCMV for research purposes compared to other species-specific CMV, such as rat CMV. Although there are definite genetic differences between mCMV and HCMV, there is also significant homology (Rawlinson et al., 1996). In addition, there are several biological characteristics both mCMV and HCMV infections share. For example, both have similar effects in immunocompromised hosts (Lenzo et al., 2002), are susceptible to anti-viral drugs (Shanley et al., 1985), and induce vascular diseases (Dal Canto et al., 2000). One major distinction between mCMV and HCMV is that a maternal mCMV infection does not cross the placenta (Johnson, 1969). Hence, the fetus must be infected directly to study congenital mCMV infections (Kashiwai et al., 1992). However, this lack of transplacental mCMV transmission makes the mouse model useful for studying how a maternal CMV infection affects vascular function during pregnancy, independent of a congenital infection. Moreover, the effects of an active maternal CMV infection on fetal growth/mortality can also be clearly assessed in the mouse (Gharavi et al., 2004).

Different mouse strains have demonstrated different susceptibilities to CMV based on variations in immune response genes; specifically the Balb/c and

C57Bl/6 strains (Figure 1.10) (Chiodini et al., 1993; Geist et al., 2001; Mercer et al., 1986). For example, the IL-10 anti-inflammatory cytokine that prevents the immune response from clearing an active CMV infection is significantly increased in Balb/c mice versus C57Bl/6 mCMV-infected mice (Geist et al., 2001). Moreover, differences in the major histocompatibility complex loci on antigen-presenting cells (macrophages, dendritic cells, B cells) have also been linked to increased Balb/c susceptibility to mCMV compared to C57Bl/6 mice (Mercer et al., 1986). Finally, C57Bl/6 mice express the CMV replication resistant allele  $Cmvl^r$  whereas Balb/c strains express the CMV replication susceptibility allele Cmv1<sup>s</sup> (Lathbury et al., 1996; Lee et al., 2001; Scalzo et al., 1990). The Cmv1 gene regulates the natural killer cell-mediated control of CMV replication as part of the innate immune response. C57Bl/6 mice therefore use both the innate and adaptive (T lymphocytes) immune response to clear an active mCMV infection efficiently (Lathbury et al., 1996; Lee et al., 2001; Scalzo et al., 1990; Scalzo et al., 2005). Balb/c mice, with the Cmv1<sup>s</sup> allele, rely primarily on the slower adaptive immune response and are therefore much less effective at clearing CMV before it becomes fully established (Craighead et al., 1992; Lathbury et al., 1996). Together, this evidence suggests that the C57Bl/6 mouse strain is more representative of the immunocompetent human population than the Balb/c strain.



http://jaxmice.jax.org/strain/001927.html

Β

Α



http://www.sageresearchmodels.com/research-models/inbred-mice/balbc

**Figure 1.10: C57Bl/6 and Balb/c laboratory mice strains.** C57Bl/6 mice (**A**) are more resistant to mCMV infections than Balb/c mice (**B**).

# **1.5 RATIONALE AND HYPOTHESIS**

HCMV has been associated with several vascular diseases in the general population (Blankenberg *et al.*, 2001; Grahame-Clarke, 2005) including the

pregnancy-specific disorders preeclampsia (von Dadelszen *et al.*, 2003) and IUGR (Yinon *et al.*, 2010). Identifying if an active CMV infection is a true risk factor for vascular diseases and, if so, identifying potential therapies for CMV infections is critical for the cardiovascular health of both the pregnant and general population. However, it remains largely unknown how vascular function is affected by an active CMV infection.

In my project, I chose to use the mouse model to study the effect of an active CMV infection on vascular responses for a number of reasons. First, HCMV and mCMV have similar effects on vascular function (Dal Canto *et al.*, 2000). This makes it an appropriate model to study vascular mechanistic effects of a CMV infection under normal conditions. Secondly, mCMV does not cross the placenta in mice (Johnson, 1969). Therefore, the maternal consequences of a CMV infection can be elucidated in the absence of a congenital CMV infection. Lastly, the genotype variation among different mouse strains is advantageous to determine the vascular effects of CMV in genotypically resistant versus more susceptible hosts.

My general focus is to investigate the systemic (mesenteric) and uterine vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cell responses in intact, isolated arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected non-pregnant (NP) and late pregnant (LP) mice. LP mice are also used to determine if a CMV infection significantly affects fetal growth, which primarily occurs near the end of mouse gestation (Eisen, 1976). I hypothesize that an active CMV infection will cause systemic and uterine vascular dysfunction in NP mice that will be exacerbated in LP mice leading to poor fetal outcomes.

### **1.6 REFERENCES**

AbdAlla, S, Lother, H, el Massiery, A, Quitterer, U (2001) Increased AT(1) receptor heterodimers in preeclampsia mediate enhanced angiotensin II responsiveness. *Nat Med* **7**(9): 1003-1009.

Abgueguen, P, Delbos, V, Chennebault, JM, Payan, C, Pichard, E (2003) Vascular thrombosis and acute cytomegalovirus infection in immunocompetent patients: report of 2 cases and literature review. *Clin Infect Dis* **36**(11): E134-139.

Aburto, TK, Lajoie, C, Morgan, KG (1993) Mechanisms of signal transduction during alpha 2-adrenergic receptor-mediated contraction of vascular smooth muscle. *Circ Res* **72**(4): 778-785.

Adamson, SL, Lu, Y, Whiteley, KJ, Holmyard, D, Hemberger, M, Pfarrer, C, Cross, JC (2002) Interactions between trophoblast cells and the maternal and fetal circulation in the mouse placenta. *Dev Biol* **250**(2): 358-373.

Adelstein, RS, Klee, CB (1981) Purification and characterization of smooth muscle myosin light chain kinase. *J Biol Chem* **256**(14): 7501-7509.

Adler, SP (1992) Cytomegalovirus and pregnancy. *Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol* **4**(5): 670-675.

Adler, SP, Marshall, B (2007) Cytomegalovirus infections. *Pediatr Rev* 28(3): 92-100.

Ahlfors, K, Ivarsson, SA, Harris, S (2001) Secondary maternal cytomegalovirus infection--A significant cause of congenital disease. *Pediatrics* **107**(5): 1227-1228.

Ahlfors, K, Ivarsson, SA, Johnsson, T, Svensson, I (1978) Congenital and acquired cytomegalovirus infections. Virological and clinical studies on a Swedish infant population. *Acta Paediatr Scand* **67**(3): 321-328.

Aiello, EA, Malcolm, AT, Walsh, MP, Cole, WC (1998) Beta-adrenoceptor activation and PKA regulate delayed rectifier K+ channels of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol* **275**(2 Pt 2): H448-459.

Akira, S (2003) Toll-like receptor signaling. J Biol Chem 278(40): 38105-38108.

Alemany, R, van Koppen, CJ, Danneberg, K, Ter Braak, M, Meyer Zu Heringdorf, D (2007) Regulation and functional roles of sphingosine kinases. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **374**(5-6): 413-428.

Ancellin, N, Hla, T (1999) Differential pharmacological properties and signal transduction of the sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors EDG-1, EDG-3, and EDG-5. *J Biol Chem* **274**(27): 18997-19002.

Anderson, CM, Lopez, F, Zhang, HY, Pavlish, K, Benoit, JN (2005) Reduced uteroplacental perfusion alters uterine arcuate artery function in the pregnant Sprague-Dawley rat. *Biol Reprod* **72**(3): 762-766.

Angulo, A, Ghazal, P, Messerle, M (2000) The major immediate-early gene ie3 of mouse cytomegalovirus is essential for viral growth. J Virol **74**(23): 11129-11136.

Angus, JA, Wright, CE (2000) Techniques to study the pharmacodynamics of isolated large and small blood vessels. *J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods* **44**(2): 395-407.

Annibale, DJ, Rosenfeld, CR, Stull, JT, Kamm, KE (1990) Protein content and myosin light chain phosphorylation in uterine arteries during pregnancy. *Am J Physiol* **259**(3 Pt 1): C484-489.

Armstrong, SJ, Xu, Y, Davidge, ST (2004) Effects of chronic PGHS-2 inhibition on PGHS-dependent vasoconstriction in the aged female rat. *Cardiovasc Res* **61**(2): 333-338.

Arvidsson, U, Riedl, M, Elde, R, Meister, B (1997) Vesicular acetylcholine transporter (VAChT) protein: a novel and unique marker for cholinergic neurons in the central and peripheral nervous systems. *J Comp Neurol* **378**(4): 454-467.

Ashida, T, Blaustein, MP (1987) Regulation of cell calcium and contractility in mammalian arterial smooth muscle: the role of sodium-calcium exchange. *J Physiol* **392:** 617-635.

Baeuerle, PA, Henkel, T (1994) Function and activation of NF-kappa B in the immune system. *Annu Rev Immunol* **12:** 141-179.

Balthesen, M, Messerle, M, Reddehase, MJ (1993) Lungs are a major organ site of cytomegalovirus latency and recurrence. *J Virol* **67**(9): 5360-5366.

Belton, O, Byrne, D, Kearney, D, Leahy, A, Fitzgerald, DJ (2000) Cyclooxygenase-1 and -2-dependent prostacyclin formation in patients with atherosclerosis. *Circulation* **102**(8): 840-845.

Bender, FC, Whitbeck, JC, Lou, H, Cohen, GH, Eisenberg, RJ (2005) Herpes simplex virus glycoprotein B binds to cell surfaces independently of heparan sulfate and blocks virus entry. *J Virol* **79**(18): 11588-11597.

Benovic, JL, Bouvier, M, Caron, MG, Lefkowitz, RJ (1988) Regulation of adenylyl cyclase-coupled beta-adrenergic receptors. *Annu Rev Cell Biol* **4**: 405-428.

Benshushan, A, Brzezinski, A, Ben-David, A, Nadjari, M (1998) Early recurrent CMV infection with severe outcome to the fetus. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* **77**(6): 694-695.

Beny, JL, Schaad, O (2000) An evaluation of potassium ions as endotheliumderived hyperpolarizing factor in porcine coronary arteries. *Br J Pharmacol* **131**(5): 965-973.

Berencsi, K, Gyulai, Z, Gonczol, E, Pincus, S, Cox, WI, Michelson, S, Kari, L, Meric, C, Cadoz, M, Zahradnik, J, Starr, S, Plotkin, S (2001) A canarypox vectorexpressing cytomegalovirus (CMV) phosphoprotein 65 induces long-lasting cytotoxic T cell responses in human CMV-seronegative subjects. *J Infect Dis* **183**(8): 1171-1179.

Bernstein, DI, Schleiss, MR, Berencsi, K, Gonczol, E, Dickey, M, Khoury, P, Cadoz, M, Meric, C, Zahradnik, J, Duliege, AM, Plotkin, S (2002) Effect of previous or simultaneous immunization with canarypox expressing cytomegalovirus (CMV) glycoprotein B (gB) on response to subunit gB vaccine plus MF59 in healthy CMV-seronegative adults. *J Infect Dis* **185**(5): 686-690.

Bertrand, D, Galzi, JL, Devillers-Thiery, A, Bertrand, S, Changeux, JP (1993) Mutations at two distinct sites within the channel domain M2 alter calcium permeability of neuronal alpha 7 nicotinic receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **90**(15): 6971-6975.

Bevan, JA (1979) Some bases of differences in vascular response to sympathetic activity. *Circ Res* **45**(2): 161-171.

Billstrom Schroeder, M, Christensen, R, Worthen, GS (2002) Human cytomegalovirus protects endothelial cells from apoptosis induced by growth factor withdrawal. *J Clin Virol* **25 Suppl 2:** S149-157.

Bischoff, A, Czyborra, P, Meyer Zu Heringdorf, D, Jakobs, KH, Michel, MC (2000) Sphingosine-1-phosphate reduces rat renal and mesenteric blood flow in vivo in a pertussis toxin-sensitive manner. *Br J Pharmacol* **130**(8): 1878-1883.

Blankenberg, S, Rupprecht, HJ, Bickel, C, Espinola-Klein, C, Rippin, G, Hafner, G, Ossendorf, M, Steinhagen, K, Meyer, J (2001) Cytomegalovirus infection with interleukin-6 response predicts cardiac mortality in patients with coronary artery disease. *Circulation* **103**(24): 2915-2921.

Blechner, JN, Stenger, VG, Prystowsky, H (1974) Uterine blood flow in women at term. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **120**(5): 633-640.

Blusztajn, JK, Wurtman, RJ (1983) Choline and cholinergic neurons. *Science* **221**(4611): 614-620.

Boehme, KW, Compton, T (2004) Innate sensing of viruses by toll-like receptors. *J Virol* **78**(15): 7867-7873.

Bonventre, JV (1992) Phospholipase A2 and signal transduction. J Am Soc Nephrol 3(2): 128-150.

Boppana, SB, Fowler, KB, Britt, WJ, Stagno, S, Pass, RF (1999) Symptomatic congenital cytomegalovirus infection in infants born to mothers with preexisting immunity to cytomegalovirus. *Pediatrics* **104**(1 Pt 1): 55-60.

Borovikova, LV, Ivanova, S, Zhang, M, Yang, H, Botchkina, GI, Watkins, LR, Wang, H, Abumrad, N, Eaton, JW, Tracey, KJ (2000) Vagus nerve stimulation attenuates the systemic inflammatory response to endotoxin. *Nature* **405**(6785): 458-462.

Boyle, KA, Pietropaolo, RL, Compton, T (1999) Engagement of the cellular receptor for glycoprotein B of human cytomegalovirus activates the interferon-responsive pathway. *Mol Cell Biol* **19**(5): 3607-3613.

Bratcher, DF, Bourne, N, Bravo, FJ, Schleiss, MR, Slaoui, M, Myers, MG, Bernstein, DI (1995) Effect of passive antibody on congenital cytomegalovirus infection in guinea pigs. *J Infect Dis* **172**(4): 944-950.

Brindley, DN, Pilquil, C (2009) Lipid phosphate phosphatases and signaling. *J Lipid Res* **50 Suppl:** S225-230.

Britt, WJ, Vugler, L, Butfiloski, EJ, Stephens, EB (1990) Cell surface expression of human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) gp55-116 (gB): use of HCMV-recombinant vaccinia virus-infected cells in analysis of the human neutralizing antibody response. *J Virol* **64**(3): 1079-1085.

Brophy, CM, Knoepp, L, Xin, J, Pollock, JS (2000) Functional expression of NOS 1 in vascular smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **278**(3): H991-997.

Brown, SP, Miller, WC, Eason, JM (2006) Cardiovascular Exercise Physiology. In: *Exercise Physiology: Basis of Human Movement in Health and Disease*, Lupash, E, Napora, L, Johnson, K (eds), pp 161-194. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.

Buchwalow, IB, Podzuweit, T, Bocker, W, Samoilova, VE, Thomas, S, Wellner, M, Baba, HA, Robenek, H, Schnekenburger, J, Lerch, MM (2002) Vascular smooth muscle and nitric oxide synthase. *FASEB J* **16**(6): 500-508.

Buhimschi, I, Yallampalli, C, Chwalisz, K, Garfield, RE (1995) Pre-eclampsialike conditions produced by nitric oxide inhibition: effects of L-arginine, Darginine and steroid hormones. *Hum Reprod* **10**(10): 2723-2730.

Burton, AC, Taylor, RM (1940) A study of the adjustment of peripheral vascular tone to the requirements of the regulation of body temperature. *Am J Physiol*: 565-577.

Butt, E, Bernhardt, M, Smolenski, A, Kotsonis, P, Frohlich, LG, Sickmann, A, Meyer, HE, Lohmann, SM, Schmidt, HH (2000) Endothelial nitric-oxide synthase (type III) is activated and becomes calcium independent upon phosphorylation by cyclic nucleotide-dependent protein kinases. *J Biol Chem* **275**(7): 5179-5187.

Cahill, AG, Odibo, AO, Stamilio, DM, Macones, GA (2009) Screening and treating for primary cytomegalovirus infection in pregnancy: where do we stand? A decision-analytic and economic analysis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **201**(5): 466 e461-467.

Caluwaerts, S, Vercruysse, L, Luyten, C, Pijnenborg, R (2005) Endovascular trophoblast invasion and associated structural changes in uterine spiral arteries of the pregnant rat. *Placenta* **26**(7): 574-584.

Camacho, M, Vila, L (2000) Transcellular formation of thromboxane A(2) in mixed incubations of endothelial cells and aspirin-treated platelets strongly depends on the prostaglandin I-synthase activity. *Thromb Res* **99**(2): 155-164.

Camps, M, Carozzi, A, Schnabel, P, Scheer, A, Parker, PJ, Gierschik, P (1992) Isozyme-selective stimulation of phospholipase C-beta 2 by G protein beta gamma-subunits. *Nature* **360**(6405): 684-686.

Carbillon, L, Uzan, M, Uzan, S (2000) Pregnancy, vascular tone, and maternal hemodynamics: a crucial adaptation. *Obstet Gynecol Surv* **55**(9): 574-581.

Cardillo, C, Kilcoyne, CM, Cannon, RO, 3rd, Panza, JA (2000) Interactions between nitric oxide and endothelin in the regulation of vascular tone of human resistance vessels in vivo. *Hypertension* **35**(6): 1237-1241.

Carreiras, M, Montagnani, S, Layrisse, Z (2002) Preeclampsia: a multifactorial disease resulting from the interaction of the feto-maternal HLA genotype and HCMV infection. *Am J Reprod Immunol* **48**(3): 176-183.

Carter, AM (2007) Animal models of human placentation--a review. *Placenta* **28 Suppl A:** S41-47.

Caulfield, MP (1993) Muscarinic receptors--characterization, coupling and function. *Pharmacol Ther* **58**(3): 319-379.

Caulfield, MP, Birdsall, NJ (1998) International Union of Pharmacology. XVII. Classification of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. *Pharmacol Rev* **50**(2): 279-290.

Chanrachakul, B, Matharoo-Ball, B, Turner, A, Robinson, G, Broughton-Pipkin, F, Arulkumaran, S, Khan, RN (2003) Reduced expression of immunoreactive beta2-adrenergic receptor protein in human myometrium with labor. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **88**(10): 4997-5001.

Chen, LY, Woszczek, G, Nagineni, S, Logun, C, Shelhamer, JH (2008) Cytosolic phospholipase A2alpha activation induced by S1P is mediated by the S1P3 receptor in lung epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* **295**(2): L326-335.

Cheng, J, Ke, Q, Jin, Z, Wang, H, Kocher, O, Morgan, JP, Zhang, J, Crumpacker, CS (2009) Cytomegalovirus infection causes an increase of arterial blood pressure. *PLoS Pathog* **5**(5): e1000427.

Cheung, CY, Singh, M, Ebaugh, MJ, Brace, RA (1995) Vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression in ovine placenta and fetal membranes. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **173**(3 Pt 1): 753-759.

Cheung, WW, Tse, E, Leung, AY, Yuen, KY, Kwong, YL (2007) Regular virologic surveillance showed very frequent cytomegalovirus reactivation in patients treated with alemtuzumab. *Am J Hematol* **82**(2): 108-111.

Chikumi, H, Vazquez-Prado, J, Servitja, JM, Miyazaki, H, Gutkind, JS (2002) Potent activation of RhoA by Galpha q and Gq-coupled receptors. *J Biol Chem* **277**(30): 27130-27134.

Chiodini, RJ, Buergelt, CD (1993) Susceptibility of Balb/c, C57/B6 and C57/B10 mice to infection with Mycobacterium paratuberculosis. *J Comp Pathol* **109**(4): 309-319.

Choi, YC, Hsiung, GD (1978) Cytomegalovirus infection in guinea pigs. II. Transplacental and horizontal transmission. *J Infect Dis* **138**(2): 197-202.

Christensen, KL, Mulvany, MJ (2001) Location of resistance arteries. *J Vasc Res* **38**(1): 1-12.

Cipolla, M, Osol, G (1994) Hypertrophic and hyperplastic effects of pregnancy on the rat uterine arterial wall. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **171**(3): 805-811.

Cleaver, O, Melton, DA (2003) Endothelial signaling during development. *Nat Med* **9**(6): 661-668.

Cobbs, CS, Harkins, L, Samanta, M, Gillespie, GY, Bharara, S, King, PH, Nabors, LB, Cobbs, CG, Britt, WJ (2002) Human cytomegalovirus infection and expression in human malignant glioma. *Cancer Res* **62**(12): 3347-3350.

Coleman, JW (2001) Nitric oxide in immunity and inflammation. *Int Immunopharmacol* **1**(8): 1397-1406.

Collins, BJ, Blum, MG, Parker, RE, Chang, AC, Blair, KS, Zorn, GL, 3rd, Christman, BW, Pierson, RN, 3rd (2001) Thromboxane mediates pulmonary hypertension and lung inflammation during hyperacute lung rejection. *J Appl Physiol* **90**(6): 2257-2268.

Compton, T (2004) Receptors and immune sensors: the complex entry path of human cytomegalovirus. *Trends Cell Biol* **14**(1): 5-8.

Compton, T, Kurt-Jones, EA, Boehme, KW, Belko, J, Latz, E, Golenbock, DT, Finberg, RW (2003) Human cytomegalovirus activates inflammatory cytokine responses via CD14 and Toll-like receptor 2. *J Virol* **77**(8): 4588-4596.

Compton, T, Nowlin, DM, Cooper, NR (1993) Initiation of human cytomegalovirus infection requires initial interaction with cell surface heparan sulfate. *Virology* **193**(2): 834-841.

Conde-Agudelo, A, Villar, J, Lindheimer, M (2008) Maternal infection and risk of preeclampsia: systematic review and metaanalysis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **198**(1): 7-22.

Conrad, KP, Russ, RD (1992) Augmentation of baroreflex-mediated bradycardia in conscious pregnant rats. *Am J Physiol* **262**(3 Pt 2): R472-477.

Cooke, CL, Davidge, ST (2003) Pregnancy-induced alterations of vascular function in mouse mesenteric and uterine arteries. *Biol Reprod* **68**(3): 1072-1077.

Cornwell, TL, Pryzwansky, KB, Wyatt, TA, Lincoln, TM (1991) Regulation of sarcoplasmic reticulum protein phosphorylation by localized cyclic GMP-dependent protein kinase in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Mol Pharmacol* **40**(6): 923-931.

Craighead, JE, Martin, WB, Huber, SA (1992) Role of CD4+ (helper) T cells in the pathogenesis of murine cytomegalovirus myocarditis. *Lab Invest* **66**(6): 755-761.
Dal Canto, AJ, Virgin, HWt (2000) Animal models of infection-mediated vasculitis: implications for human disease. *Int J Cardiol* **75 Suppl 1:** S37-45; discussion S47-52.

Danesh, J, Collins, R, Peto, R (1997) Chronic infections and coronary heart disease: is there a link? *Lancet* **350**(9075): 430-436.

Danielian, PJ, Allman, AC, Steer, PJ (1992) Is obstetric and neonatal outcome worse in fetuses who fail to reach their own growth potential? *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* **99**(6): 452-454.

Dantas, MF, Urban, M, Spray, D, Catelli De Carvalho, MH, Passaglia, RD (1999) Increased acetylcholine-induced vasodilation in pregnant rats: A role for gap junctional communication. *Hypertension* **34**(4 Pt 2): 937-942.

Datar, R, Kaesemeyer, WH, Chandra, S, Fulton, DJ, Caldwell, RW (2010) Acute activation of eNOS by statins involves scavenger receptor-B1, G protein subunit Gi, phospholipase C and calcium influx. *Br J Pharmacol* **160**(7): 1765-1772.

Davidge, ST (2001) Prostaglandin H synthase and vascular function. *Circ Res* **89**(8): 650-660.

Davignon, J, Ganz, P (2004) Role of endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. *Circulation* **109**(23 Suppl 1): III27-32.

Davis, KA, Masella, J, Blennerhassett, MG (1998) Acetylcholine metabolism in the inflamed rat intestine. *Exp Neurol* **152**(2): 251-258.

Davis, MJ, Hill, MA (1999) Signaling mechanisms underlying the vascular myogenic response. *Physiol Rev* **79**(2): 387-423.

Davison, AJ, Eberle, R, Ehlers, B, Hayward, GS, McGeoch, DJ, Minson, AC, Pellett, PE, Roizman, B, Studdert, MJ, Thiry, E (2009) The order Herpesvirales. *Arch Virol* **154**(1): 171-177.

de Jonge, WJ, Ulloa, L (2007) The alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor as a pharmacological target for inflammation. *Br J Pharmacol* **151**(7): 915-929.

Dekker, RJ, van Thienen, JV, Rohlena, J, de Jager, SC, Elderkamp, YW, Seppen, J, de Vries, CJ, Biessen, EA, van Berkel, TJ, Pannekoek, H, Horrevoets, AJ (2005) Endothelial KLF2 links local arterial shear stress levels to the expression of vascular tone-regulating genes. *Am J Pathol* **167**(2): 609-618.

Demmler, GJ (1991) Infectious Diseases Society of America and Centers for Disease Control. Summary of a workshop on surveillance for congenital cytomegalovirus disease. *Rev Infect Dis* **13**(2): 315-329.

DeWitt, DL, Day, JS, Sonnenburg, WK, Smith, WL (1983) Concentrations of prostaglandin endoperoxide synthase and prostaglandin I2 synthase in the endothelium and smooth muscle of bovine aorta. *J Clin Invest* **72**(6): 1882-1888.

Dimsdale, JE, Moss, J (1980) Plasma catecholamines in stress and exercise. *JAMA* **243**(4): 340-342.

Eckstein, P, Mc, KT (1955) The influence of maternal age, parity and weight on litter size in the guinea-pig. *J Endocrinol* **12**(2): 115-119.

Edwards, DL, Arora, CP, Bui, DT, Castro, LC (1996) Long-term nitric oxide blockade in the pregnant rat: effects on blood pressure and plasma levels of endothelin-1. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **175**(2): 484-488.

Eerdmans, PH, Persoons, MC, Debets, SJ, Struijker Boudier, HA, Smits, JF, Bruggeman, CA, De Mey, JG (1996) Impaired arterial reactivity following cytomegalovirus infection in the immunosuppressed rat. *Br J Pharmacol* **119**(4): 637-646.

Einsele, H, Kapp, M, Grigoleit, GU (2008) CMV-specific T cell therapy. *Blood Cells Mol Dis* **40**(1): 71-75.

Eisen, EJ (1976) Results of growth curve analyses in mice and rats. *J Anim Sci* **42**(4): 1008-1023.

Elenkov, IJ, Chrousos, GP (2002) Stress hormones, proinflammatory and antiinflammatory cytokines, and autoimmunity. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **966**: 290-303.

Elhusseiny, A, Hamel, E (2000) Muscarinic--but not nicotinic--acetylcholine receptors mediate a nitric oxide-dependent dilation in brain cortical arterioles: a possible role for the M5 receptor subtype. *J Cereb Blood Flow Metab* **20**(2): 298-305.

Endresz, V, Burian, K, Berencsi, K, Gyulai, Z, Kari, L, Horton, H, Virok, D, Meric, C, Plotkin, SA, Gonczol, E (2001) Optimization of DNA immunization against human cytomegalovirus. *Vaccine* **19**(28-29): 3972-3980.

Endresz, V, Kari, L, Berencsi, K, Kari, C, Gyulai, Z, Jeney, C, Pincus, S, Rodeck, U, Meric, C, Plotkin, SA, Gonczol, E (1999) Induction of human cytomegalovirus (HCMV)-glycoprotein B (gB)-specific neutralizing antibody and phosphoprotein

65 (pp65)-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses by naked DNA immunization. *Vaccine* **17**(1): 50-58.

Ertel, EA, Campbell, KP, Harpold, MM, Hofmann, F, Mori, Y, Perez-Reyes, E, Schwartz, A, Snutch, TP, Tanabe, T, Birnbaumer, L, Tsien, RW, Catterall, WA (2000) Nomenclature of voltage-gated calcium channels. *Neuron* **25**(3): 533-535.

Espinola-Klein, C, Rupprecht, HJ, Blankenberg, S, Bickel, C, Kopp, H, Rippin, G, Victor, A, Hafner, G, Schlumberger, W, Meyer, J (2002) Impact of infectious burden on extent and long-term prognosis of atherosclerosis. *Circulation* **105**(1): 15-21.

Evers, DL, Wang, X, Huang, ES (2004) Cellular stress and signal transduction responses to human cytomegalovirus infection. *Microbes Infect* **6**(12): 1084-1093.

Feletou, M (2011) The Endothelium: Part 2: EDHF-Mediated Responses "The Classical Pathway". In: *Integrated Systems Physiology: from Molecule to Function to Disease*, pp 1-208. San Rafael (CA): Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences Publisher.

Feletou, M, Vanhoutte, PM (2006) Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor: where are we now? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **26**(6): 1215-1225.

Ferreira, VM, Gomes, TS, Reis, LA, Ferreira, AT, Razvickas, CV, Schor, N, Boim, MA (2009) Receptor-induced dilatation in the systemic and intrarenal adaptation to pregnancy in rats. *PLoS One* 4(3): e4845.

Ferro, A, Coash, M, Yamamoto, T, Rob, J, Ji, Y, Queen, L (2004) Nitric oxidedependent beta2-adrenergic dilatation of rat aorta is mediated through activation of both protein kinase A and Akt. *Br J Pharmacol* **143**(3): 397-403.

FitzGerald, GA (2002) Cardiovascular pharmacology of nonselective nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and coxibs: clinical considerations. *Am J Cardiol* **89**(6A): 26D-32D.

FitzGerald, GA, Smith, B, Pedersen, AK, Brash, AR (1984) Increased prostacyclin biosynthesis in patients with severe atherosclerosis and platelet activation. *N Engl J Med* **310**(17): 1065-1068.

Fleming, I (2000) Myoendothelial gap junctions: the gap is there, but does EDHF go through it? *Circ Res* **86**(3): 249-250.

Fleming, I, Bauersachs, J, Busse, R (1997) Calcium-dependent and calciumindependent activation of the endothelial NO synthase. *J Vasc Res* **34**(3): 165-174. Forsythe, SM, Kogut, PC, McConville, JF, Fu, Y, McCauley, JA, Halayko, AJ, Liu, HW, Kao, A, Fernandes, DJ, Bellam, S, Fuchs, E, Sinha, S, Bell, GI, Camoretti-Mercado, B, Solway, J (2002) Structure and transcription of the human m3 muscarinic receptor gene. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **26**(3): 298-305.

Fortunato, EA, McElroy, AK, Sanchez, I, Spector, DH (2000) Exploitation of cellular signaling and regulatory pathways by human cytomegalovirus. *Trends Microbiol* **8**(3): 111-119.

Fraser, FC, Fainstat, TD (1951) Production of congenital defects in the off-spring of pregnant mice treated with cortisone; progress report. *Pediatrics* **8**(4): 527-533.

Freeman, RB, Jr. (2009) The 'indirect' effects of cytomegalovirus infection. *Am J Transplant* **9**(11): 2453-2458.

Friedman, SA, Taylor, RN, Roberts, JM (1991) Pathophysiology of preeclampsia. *Clin Perinatol* **18**(4): 661-682.

Friel, DD, Tsien, RW (1989) Voltage-gated calcium channels: direct observation of the anomalous mole fraction effect at the single-channel level. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **86**(13): 5207-5211.

Fukumura, D, Gohongi, T, Kadambi, A, Izumi, Y, Ang, J, Yun, CO, Buerk, DG, Huang, PL, Jain, RK (2001) Predominant role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in vascular endothelial growth factor-induced angiogenesis and vascular permeability. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **98**(5): 2604-2609.

Funk, CD (2001) Prostaglandins and leukotrienes: advances in eicosanoid biology. *Science* **294**(5548): 1871-1875.

Furchgott, RF, Zawadzki, JV (1980) The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. *Nature* **288**(5789): 373-376.

Geist, LJ, Hinde, SL (2001) Susceptibility to cytomegalovirus infection may be dependent on the cytokine response to the virus. *J Investig Med* **49**(5): 434-441.

Georgiades, P, Ferguson-Smith, AC, Burton, GJ (2002) Comparative developmental anatomy of the murine and human definitive placentae. *Placenta* **23**(1): 3-19.

Gharavi, AE, Vega-Ostertag, M, Espinola, RG, Liu, X, Cole, L, Cox, NT, Romagnoli, P, Labat, K, Pierangeli, SS (2004) Intrauterine fetal death in mice

caused by cytomegalovirus-derived peptide induced aPL antibodies. *Lupus* **13**(1): 17-23.

Gong, MC, Cohen, P, Kitazawa, T, Ikebe, M, Masuo, M, Somlyo, AP, Somlyo, AV (1992) Myosin light chain phosphatase activities and the effects of phosphatase inhibitors in tonic and phasic smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* **267**(21): 14662-14668.

Gonzalez, JM, Jost, LJ, Rouse, D, Suki, WN (1996) Plasma membrane and sarcoplasmic reticulum Ca-ATPase and smooth muscle. *Miner Electrolyte Metab* **22**(5-6): 345-348.

Gould, JJ, Mims, CA (1980) Murine cytomegalovirus: reactivation in pregnancy. *J Gen Virol* **51**(Pt 2): 397-400.

Graeler, M, Shankar, G, Goetzl, EJ (2002) Cutting edge: suppression of T cell chemotaxis by sphingosine 1-phosphate. *J Immunol* **169**(8): 4084-4087.

Graham, RM, Perez, DM, Hwa, J, Piascik, MT (1996) alpha 1-adrenergic receptor subtypes. Molecular structure, function, and signaling. *Circ Res* **78**(5): 737-749.

Grahame-Clarke, C (2005) Human cytomegalovirus, endothelial function and atherosclerosis. *Herpes* **12**(2): 42-45.

Gresele, P, Deckmyn, H, Nenci, GG, Vermylen, J (1991) Thromboxane synthase inhibitors, thromboxane receptor antagonists and dual blockers in thrombotic disorders. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **12**(4): 158-163.

Griendling, KK, FitzGerald, GA (2003) Oxidative stress and cardiovascular injury: Part I: basic mechanisms and in vivo monitoring of ROS. *Circulation* **108**(16): 1912-1916.

Griffith, BP, McCormick, SR, Fong, CK, Lavallee, JT, Lucia, HL, Goff, E (1985) The placenta as a site of cytomegalovirus infection in guinea pigs. *J Virol* **55**(2): 402-409.

Halpern, W, Osol, G, Coy, GS (1984) Mechanical behavior of pressurized in vitro prearteriolar vessels determined with a video system. *Ann Biomed Eng* **12**(5): 463-479.

Halushka, PV, Mais, DE, Mayeux, PR, Morinelli, TA (1989) Thromboxane, prostaglandin and leukotriene receptors. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **29:** 213-239.

Hamel, E (2006) Perivascular nerves and the regulation of cerebrovascular tone. *J Appl Physiol* **100**(3): 1059-1064.

Hammarstrom, AK, Parkington, HC, Coleman, HA (1995) Release of endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor (EDHF) by M3 receptor stimulation in guinea-pig coronary artery. *Br J Pharmacol* **115**(5): 717-722.

Hanasaki, K, Nakano, T, Arita, H (1990) Receptor-mediated mitogenic effect of thromboxane A2 in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Biochem Pharmacol* **40**(11): 2535-2542.

Hanshaw, JB (1995) Cytomegalovirus infections. *Pediatr Rev* **16**(2): 43-48; quiz 49.

Harari, A, Zimmerli, SC, Pantaleo, G (2004) Cytomegalovirus (CMV)-specific cellular immune responses. *Hum Immunol* **65**(5): 500-506.

Harrison, GL, Moore, LG (1989) Blunted vasoreactivity in pregnant guinea pigs is not restored by meclofenamate. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **160**(1): 258-264.

Hayakawa, M, Takemoto, K, Nakayama, A, Saito, A, Sato, Y, Hasegawa, M, Ieda, K, Mimura, S (2006) An animal model of intrauterine growth retardation induced by synthetic thromboxane a(2). *J Soc Gynecol Investig* **13**(8): 566-572.

Hebb, C (1972) Biosynthesis of acetylcholine in nervous tissue. *Physiol Rev* **52**(4): 918-957.

Heck, DA, Bylund, DB (1998) Differential down-regulation of alpha-2 adrenergic receptor subtypes. *Life Sci* **62**(17-18): 1467-1472.

Hecker, A, Mikulski, Z, Lips, KS, Pfeil, U, Zakrzewicz, A, Wilker, S, Hartmann, P, Padberg, W, Wessler, I, Kummer, W, Grau, V (2009) Pivotal Advance: Upregulation of acetylcholine synthesis and paracrine cholinergic signaling in intravascular transplant leukocytes during rejection of rat renal allografts. *J Leukoc Biol* **86**(1): 13-22.

Hees, H, Moll, W, Wrobel, KH, Hees, I (1987) Pregnancy-induced structural changes and trophoblastic invasion in the segmental mesometrial arteries of the guinea pig (Cavia porcellus L.). *Placenta* 8(6): 609-626.

Hemmings, DG (2006) Signal transduction underlying the vascular effects of sphingosine 1-phosphate and sphingosylphosphorylcholine. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **373**(1): 18-29.

Hemmings, DG, Hudson, NK, Halliday, D, O'Hara, M, Baker, PN, Davidge, ST, Taggart, MJ (2006) Sphingosine-1-phosphate acts via rho-associated kinase and nitric oxide to regulate human placental vascular tone. *Biol Reprod* **74**(1): 88-94.

Hennessy, A, Gillin, AG, Duggin, GG, Horvath, JS, Tiller, DJ (1999) Low-dose nitro-L-arginine administration in baboon (Papio hamadryas) pregnancy. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **26**(11): 849-852.

Heo, K, Park, KA, Kim, YH, Kim, SH, Oh, YS, Kim, IH, Ryu, SH, Suh, PG (2009) Sphingosine 1-phosphate induces vascular endothelial growth factor expression in endothelial cells. *BMB Rep* **42**(10): 685-690.

Himpens, B, Kitazawa, T, Somlyo, AP (1990) Agonist-dependent modulation of Ca2+ sensitivity in rabbit pulmonary artery smooth muscle. *Pflugers Arch* **417**(1): 21-28.

Himpens, B, Matthijs, G, Somlyo, AP (1989) Desensitization to cytoplasmic Ca2+ and Ca2+ sensitivities of guinea-pig ileum and rabbit pulmonary artery smooth muscle. *J Physiol* **413**: 489-503.

Hirabayashi, Y, Ishii, T, Kodera, T, Fujii, H, Munakata, Y, Sasaki, T (2003) Acute cytomegalovirus infection and transient carotid intimal-medial thickening in a young, otherwise healthy woman. *J Clin Microbiol* **41**(8): 3978-3980.

Hoffmann, C, Leitz, MR, Oberdorf-Maass, S, Lohse, MJ, Klotz, KN (2004) Comparative pharmacology of human beta-adrenergic receptor subtypes-characterization of stably transfected receptors in CHO cells. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **369**(2): 151-159.

Hooks, JJ, Chin, MS, Srinivasan, K, Momma, Y, Hooper, LC, Nagineni, CN, Chan, CC, Detrick, B (2006) Human cytomegalovirus induced cyclooxygenase-2 in human retinal pigment epithelial cells augments viral replication through a prostaglandin pathway. *Microbes Infect* **8**(8): 2236-2244.

Horgan, RP, Broadhurst, DI, Walsh, SK, Dunn, WB, Brown, M, Roberts, CT, North, RA, McCowan, LM, Kell, DB, Baker, PN, Kenny, LC (2011) Metabolic profiling uncovers a phenotypic signature of small for gestational age in early pregnancy. *J Proteome Res* **10**(8): 3660-3673.

Hubel, CA (1999) Oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* **222**(3): 222-235.

Hubel, CA, Roberts, JM, Taylor, RN, Musci, TJ, Rogers, GM, McLaughlin, MK (1989) Lipid peroxidation in pregnancy: new perspectives on preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **161**(4): 1025-1034.

Hudson, JB (1979) The murine cytomegalovirus as a model for the study of viral pathogenesis and persistent infections. *Arch Virol* **62**(1): 1-29.

Hudson, NK, O'Hara, M, Lacey, HA, Corcoran, J, Hemmings, DG, Wareing, M, Baker, P, Taggart, MJ (2007) Modulation of human arterial tone during pregnancy: the effect of the bioactive metabolite sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Biol Reprod* **77**(1): 45-52.

Hummel, M, Abecassis, MM (2002) A model for reactivation of CMV from latency. *J Clin Virol* **25 Suppl 2:** S123-136.

Igarashi, J, Michel, T (2008) The enigma of sphingosine 1-phosphate synthesis: a novel role for endothelial sphingosine kinases. *Circ Res* **102**(6): 630-632.

Igarashi, J, Michel, T (2009) Sphingosine-1-phosphate and modulation of vascular tone. *Cardiovasc Res* **82**(2): 212-220.

Isaacson, MK, Compton, T (2009) Human cytomegalovirus glycoprotein B is required for virus entry and cell-to-cell spread but not for virion attachment, assembly, or egress. *J Virol* **83**(8): 3891-3903.

Isaacson, MK, Feire, AL, Compton, T (2007) Epidermal growth factor receptor is not required for human cytomegalovirus entry or signaling. *J Virol* **81**(12): 6241-6247.

Ito, K, Anada, Y, Tani, M, Ikeda, M, Sano, T, Kihara, A, Igarashi, Y (2007) Lack of sphingosine 1-phosphate-degrading enzymes in erythrocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **357**(1): 212-217.

Ito, M, Nakano, T, Erdodi, F, Hartshorne, DJ (2004) Myosin phosphatase: structure, regulation and function. *Mol Cell Biochem* **259**(1-2): 197-209.

Janssen, YM, Driscoll, KE, Howard, B, Quinlan, TR, Treadwell, M, Barchowsky, A, Mossman, BT (1997) Asbestos causes translocation of p65 protein and increases NF-kappa B DNA binding activity in rat lung epithelial and pleural mesothelial cells. *Am J Pathol* **151**(2): 389-401.

Ji, YS, Xu, Q, Schmedtje, JF, Jr. (1998) Hypoxia induces high-mobility-group protein I(Y) and transcription of the cyclooxygenase-2 gene in human vascular endothelium. *Circ Res* **83**(3): 295-304.

Jia, YJ, Kai, M, Wada, I, Sakane, F, Kanoh, H (2003) Differential localization of lipid phosphate phosphatases 1 and 3 to cell surface subdomains in polarized MDCK cells. *FEBS Lett* **552**(2-3): 240-246.

Johnson, KP (1969) Mouse cytomegalovirus: placental infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases* **120**(4): 445-450.

Johnson, PC (1986) Autoregulation of blood flow. Circ Res 59(5): 483-495.

Jovanovic, A, Jovanovic, S, Grbovic, L (1997) Endothelium-dependent relaxation in response to acetylcholine in pregnant guinea-pig uterine artery. *Hum Reprod* **12**(8): 1805-1809.

Jovanovic, S, Grbovic, L, Jovanovic, A (2000) Pregnancy is associated with altered response to neuropeptide Y in uterine artery. *Mol Hum Reprod* 6(4): 352-360.

Kabashima, K, Murata, T, Tanaka, H, Matsuoka, T, Sakata, D, Yoshida, N, Katagiri, K, Kinashi, T, Tanaka, T, Miyasaka, M, Nagai, H, Ushikubi, F, Narumiya, S (2003) Thromboxane A2 modulates interaction of dendritic cells and T cells and regulates acquired immunity. *Nat Immunol* **4**(7): 694-701.

Kalil, AC, Florescu, DF (2009) Prevalence and mortality associated with cytomegalovirus infection in nonimmunosuppressed patients in the intensive care unit. *Crit Care Med* **37**(8): 2350-2358.

Karim, S, Habib, A, Levy-Toledano, S, Maclouf, J (1996) Cyclooxygenase-1 and -2 of endothelial cells utilize exogenous or endogenous arachidonic acid for transcellular production of thromboxane. *J Biol Chem* **271**(20): 12042-12048.

Kashiwai, A, Kawamura, N, Kadota, C, Tsutsui, Y (1992) Susceptibility of mouse embryo to murine cytomegalovirus infection in early and mid-gestation stages. *Arch Virol* **127**(1-4): 37-48.

Katz, A, Wu, D, Simon, MI (1992) Subunits beta gamma of heterotrimeric G protein activate beta 2 isoform of phospholipase C. *Nature* **360**(6405): 686-689.

Kaushal, P, Taylor, JA (2002) Inter-relations among declines in arterial distensibility, baroreflex function and respiratory sinus arrhythmia. *J Am Coll Cardiol* **39**(9): 1524-1530.

Kawano, Y, Fukata, Y, Oshiro, N, Amano, M, Nakamura, T, Ito, M, Matsumura, F, Inagaki, M, Kaibuchi, K (1999) Phosphorylation of myosin-binding subunit (MBS) of myosin phosphatase by Rho-kinase in vivo. *J Cell Biol* **147**(5): 1023-1038.

Kenny, LC, Broadhurst, DI, Dunn, W, Brown, M, North, RA, McCowan, L, Roberts, C, Cooper, GJ, Kell, DB, Baker, PN (2010) Robust early pregnancy

prediction of later preeclampsia using metabolomic biomarkers. *Hypertension* **56**(4): 741-749.

Keyes, LE, Majack, R, Dempsey, EC, Moore, LG (1997) Pregnancy stimulation of DNA synthesis and uterine blood flow in the guinea pig. *Pediatr Res* **41**(5): 708-715.

Keyes, LE, Moore, LG, Walchak, SJ, Dempsey, EC (1996) Pregnancy-stimulated growth of vascular smooth muscle cells: importance of protein kinase C-dependent synergy between estrogen and platelet-derived growth factor. *J Cell Physiol* **166**(1): 22-32.

Khalil, RA, Granger, JP (2002) Vascular mechanisms of increased arterial pressure in preeclampsia: lessons from animal models. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **283**(1): R29-45.

Khan, BV, Harrison, DG, Olbrych, MT, Alexander, RW, Medford, RM (1996) Nitric oxide regulates vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 gene expression and redox-sensitive transcriptional events in human vascular endothelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(17): 9114-9119.

Kim, KM, Zhang, Y, Kim, BY, Jeong, SJ, Lee, SA, Kim, GD, Dritschilo, A, Jung, M (2004a) The p65 subunit of nuclear factor-kappaB is a molecular target for radiation sensitization of human squamous carcinoma cells. *Mol Cancer Ther* **3**(6): 693-698.

Kim, RH, Takabe, K, Milstien, S, Spiegel, S (2009) Export and functions of sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1791**(7): 692-696.

Kim, S, Jin, J, Kunapuli, SP (2004b) Akt activation in platelets depends on Gi signaling pathways. *J Biol Chem* **279**(6): 4186-4195.

Kimura, T, Sato, K, Kuwabara, A, Tomura, H, Ishiwara, M, Kobayashi, I, Ui, M, Okajima, F (2001) Sphingosine 1-phosphate may be a major component of plasma lipoproteins responsible for the cytoprotective actions in human umbilical vein endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* **276**(34): 31780-31785.

Kleuss, C, Scherubl, H, Hescheler, J, Schultz, G, Wittig, B (1993) Selectivity in signal transduction determined by gamma subunits of heterotrimeric G proteins. *Science* **259**(5096): 832-834.

Knight, WE, Rickard Ph, DN (2001) Relaxing music prevents stress-induced increases in subjective anxiety, systolic blood pressure, and heart rate in healthy males and females. *J Music Ther* **38**(4): 254-272.

Kniss, DA, Rovin, B, Fertel, RH, Zimmerman, PD (2001) Blockade NF-kappaB activation prohibits TNF-alpha-induced cyclooxygenase-2 gene expression in ED27 trophoblast-like cells. *Placenta* **22**(1): 80-89.

Knock, GA, Poston, L (1996) Bradykinin-mediated relaxation of isolated maternal resistance arteries in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **175**(6): 1668-1674.

Komalavilas, P, Lincoln, TM (1996) Phosphorylation of the inositol 1,4,5trisphosphate receptor. Cyclic GMP-dependent protein kinase mediates cAMP and cGMP dependent phosphorylation in the intact rat aorta. *J Biol Chem* **271**(36): 21933-21938.

Korhonen, R, Lahti, A, Kankaanranta, H, Moilanen, E (2005) Nitric oxide production and signaling in inflammation. *Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy* **4**(4): 471-479.

Koskinen, PK, Kallio, EA, Tikkanen, JM, Sihvola, RK, Hayry, PJ, Lemstrom, KB (1999) Cytomegalovirus infection and cardiac allograft vasculopathy. *Transpl Infect Dis* **1**(2): 115-126.

Kouretas, PC, Hannan, RL, Kapur, NK, Hendrickson, R, Redmond, EM, Myers, AK, Kim, YD, Cahill, PA, Sitzmann, JV (1998) Non-anticoagulant heparin increases endothelial nitric oxide synthase activity: role of inhibitory guanine nucleotide proteins. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **30**(12): 2669-2682.

Kraayenbrink, AA, Dekker, GA, van Kamp, GJ, van Geijn, HP (1993) Endothelial vasoactive mediators in preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **169**(1): 160-165.

Kubes, P, Suzuki, M, Granger, DN (1991) Nitric oxide: an endogenous modulator of leukocyte adhesion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **88**(11): 4651-4655.

Kurtz, TW, Griffin, KA, Bidani, AK, Davisson, RL, Hall, JE (2005) Recommendations for blood pressure measurement in humans and experimental animals. Part 2: Blood pressure measurement in experimental animals: a statement for professionals from the subcommittee of professional and public education of the American Heart Association council on high blood pressure research. *Hypertension* **45**(2): 299-310.

Kvetnansky, R, Torda, T, Jahnova, E, Saleh, N (1975) Activity of catecholamine degrading enzymes in rat adrenal medulla and cortex after acute and repeated stress. *Endocrinol Exp* **9**(2): 79-86.

Kwong, WY, Wild, AE, Roberts, P, Willis, AC, Fleming, TP (2000) Maternal undernutrition during the preimplantation period of rat development causes blastocyst abnormalities and programming of postnatal hypertension. *Development* **127**(19): 4195-4202.

Landau, R, Dishy, V, Wood, AJ, Stein, CM, Smiley, RM (2002) Disproportionate decrease in alpha- compared with beta-adrenergic sensitivity in the dorsal hand vein in pregnancy favors vasodilation. *Circulation* **106**(9): 1116-1120.

Landolfo, S, Gariglio, M, Gribaudo, G, Lembo, D (2003) The human cytomegalovirus. *Pharmacol Ther* **98**(3): 269-297.

Lang, U, Baker, RS, Braems, G, Zygmunt, M, Kunzel, W, Clark, KE (2003) Uterine blood flow--a determinant of fetal growth. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* **110 Suppl 1:** S55-61.

Laporte, R, Hui, A, Laher, I (2004) Pharmacological modulation of sarcoplasmic reticulum function in smooth muscle. *Pharmacol Rev* **56**(4): 439-513.

Laquerre, S, Argnani, R, Anderson, DB, Zucchini, S, Manservigi, R, Glorioso, JC (1998) Heparan sulfate proteoglycan binding by herpes simplex virus type 1 glycoproteins B and C, which differ in their contributions to virus attachment, penetration, and cell-to-cell spread. *J Virol* **72**(7): 6119-6130.

Lathbury, LJ, Allan, JE, Shellam, GR, Scalzo, AA (1996) Effect of host genotype in determining the relative roles of natural killer cells and T cells in mediating protection against murine cytomegalovirus infection. *J Gen Virol* **77** ( **Pt 10**): 2605-2613.

Lautt, WW (1989) Resistance or conductance for expression of arterial vascular tone. *Microvasc Res* **37**(2): 230-236.

Lazzarotto, T, Varani, S, Guerra, B, Nicolosi, A, Lanari, M, Landini, MP (2000) Prenatal indicators of congenital cytomegalovirus infection. *J Pediatr* **137**(1): 90-95.

Lee, CW, Lin, CC, Lee, IT, Lee, HC, Yang, CM (2011) Activation and induction of cytosolic phospholipase A2 by TNF-alpha mediated through Nox2, MAPKs, NF-kappaB, and p300 in human tracheal smooth muscle cells. *J Cell Physiol* **226**(8): 2103-2114.

Lee, JY, DeBernardis, JF (1990) Alpha 2-adrenergic receptors and calcium: alpha 2-receptor blockade in vascular smooth muscle as an approach to the treatment of hypertension. *Methods Find Exp Clin Pharmacol* **12**(3): 213-225.

Lee, MR, Li, L, Kitazawa, T (1997) Cyclic GMP causes Ca2+ desensitization in vascular smooth muscle by activating the myosin light chain phosphatase. *J Biol Chem* **272**(8): 5063-5068.

Lee, SH, Gitas, J, Zafer, A, Lepage, P, Hudson, TJ, Belouchi, A, Vidal, SM (2001) Haplotype mapping indicates two independent origins for the Cmv1s susceptibility allele to cytomegalovirus infection and refines its localization within the Ly49 cluster. *Immunogenetics* **53**(6): 501-505.

Lekontseva, O, Chakrabarti, S, Jiang, Y, Cheung, CC, Davidge, ST (2011) Role of neuronal nitric-oxide synthase in estrogen-induced relaxation in rat resistance arteries. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **339**(2): 367-375.

Lemstrom, K, Sihvola, R, Bruggeman, C, Hayry, P, Koskinen, P (1997) Cytomegalovirus infection-enhanced cardiac allograft vasculopathy is abolished by DHPG prophylaxis in the rat. *Circulation* **95**(12): 2614-2616.

Lenzo, JC, Fairweather, D, Cull, V, Shellam, GR, James Lawson, CM (2002) Characterisation of murine cytomegalovirus myocarditis: cellular infiltration of the heart and virus persistence. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **34**(6): 629-640.

Levy, MN (1971) Sympathetic-parasympathetic interactions in the heart. *Circ Res* **29**(5): 437-445.

Li, L, Hsu, A, Moore, PK (2009) Actions and interactions of nitric oxide, carbon monoxide and hydrogen sulphide in the cardiovascular system and in inflammation--a tale of three gases! *Pharmacol Ther* **123**(3): 386-400.

Li, Y, Zheng, J, Bird, IM, Magness, RR (2003) Effects of pulsatile shear stress on nitric oxide production and endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase expression by ovine fetoplacental artery endothelial cells. *Biol Reprod* **69**(3): 1053-1059.

Lincoln, TM, Cornwell, TL (1991) Towards an understanding of the mechanism of action of cyclic AMP and cyclic GMP in smooth muscle relaxation. *Blood Vessels* **28**(1-3): 129-137.

Liu, H, Xiong, Z, Sperelakis, N (1997) Cyclic nucleotides regulate the activity of L-type calcium channels in smooth muscle cells from rat portal vein. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* **29**(5): 1411-1421.

Liu, P, Yin, K, Nagele, R, Wong, PY (1998) Inhibition of nitric oxide synthase attenuates peroxynitrite generation, but augments neutrophil accumulation in hepatic ischemia-reperfusion in rats. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **284**(3): 1139-1146.

Logothetis, DE, Kurachi, Y, Galper, J, Neer, EJ, Clapham, DE (1987) The beta gamma subunits of GTP-binding proteins activate the muscarinic K+ channel in heart. *Nature* **325**(6102): 321-326.

Loirand, G, Pacaud, P, Baron, A, Mironneau, C, Mironneau, J (1991) Large conductance calcium-activated non-selective cation channel in smooth muscle cells isolated from rat portal vein. *J Physiol* **437**: 461-475.

Lopper, M, Compton, T (2002) Disulfide bond configuration of human cytomegalovirus glycoprotein B. *J Virol* **76**(12): 6073-6082.

Lucke, S, Levkau, B (2010) Endothelial functions of sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Cell Physiol Biochem* **26**(1): 87-96.

Luscher, TF, Barton, M (1997) Biology of the endothelium. *Clin Cardiol* **20**(11 Suppl 2): II-3-10.

Maceyka, M, Sankala, H, Hait, NC, Le Stunff, H, Liu, H, Toman, R, Collier, C, Zhang, M, Satin, LS, Merrill, AH, Jr., Milstien, S, Spiegel, S (2005) SphK1 and SphK2, sphingosine kinase isoenzymes with opposing functions in sphingolipid metabolism. *J Biol Chem* **280**(44): 37118-37129.

Machesky, NJ, Zhang, G, Raghavan, B, Zimmerman, P, Kelly, SL, Merrill, AH, Jr., Waldman, WJ, Van Brocklyn, JR, Trgovcich, J (2008) Human cytomegalovirus regulates bioactive sphingolipids. *J Biol Chem*.

MacLennan, DH, Wong, PT (1971) Isolation of a calcium-sequestering protein from sarcoplasmic reticulum. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **68**(6): 1231-1235.

Magness, RR (1991) Endothelium-derived vasoactive substances and uterine blood vessels. *Semin Perinatol* **15**(1): 68-78.

Magness, RR (1998) Maternal cardiovascular and other physiologic responses to the endocrinology of pregnancy. In: *The Endocrinology of Pregnancy*, Bazer, F (ed), pp 507-539. Totowa NJ: Humana Press Inc.

Magness, RR, Gant, NF (1994) Control of vascular reactivity in pregnancy: the basis for therapeutic approaches to prevent pregnancy-induced hypertension. *Semin Perinatol* **18**(2): 45-69.

Magness, RR, Rosenfeld, CR (1986) Systemic and uterine responses to alphaadrenergic stimulation in pregnant and nonpregnant ewes. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **155**(4): 897-904. Magness, RR, Rosenfeld, CR, Faucher, DJ, Mitchell, MD (1992) Uterine prostaglandin production in ovine pregnancy: effects of angiotensin II and indomethacin. *Am J Physiol* **263**(1 Pt 2): H188-197.

Malysz, J, Donnelly, G, Huizinga, JD (2001) Regulation of slow wave frequency by IP(3)-sensitive calcium release in the murine small intestine. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* **280**(3): G439-448.

Marin, J, Encabo, A, Briones, A, Garcia-Cohen, EC, Alonso, MJ (1999) Mechanisms involved in the cellular calcium homeostasis in vascular smooth muscle: calcium pumps. *Life Sci* **64**(5): 279-303.

Markwald, RR, Kirby, BS, Crecelius, AR, Carlson, RE, Voyles, WF, Dinenno, FA (2011) Combined inhibition of nitric oxide and vasodilating prostaglandins abolishes forearm vasodilatation to systemic hypoxia in healthy humans. *J Physiol* **589**(Pt 8): 1979-1990.

Martonosi, AN (1996) Structure-function relationships in the Ca(2+)-ATPase of sarcoplasmic reticulum: facts, speculations and questions for the future. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1275**(1-2): 111-117.

Mathew, RJ, Ho, BT, Kralik, P, Taylor, D, Claghorn, JL (1980) MAO, DBH and COMT: the effect of anxiety. *J Clin Psychiatry* **41**(12 Pt 2): 25-28.

Maus, AD, Pereira, EF, Karachunski, PI, Horton, RM, Navaneetham, D, Macklin, K, Cortes, WS, Albuquerque, EX, Conti-Fine, BM (1998) Human and rodent bronchial epithelial cells express functional nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Mol Pharmacol* **54**(5): 779-788.

Maussang, D, Verzijl, D, van Walsum, M, Leurs, R, Holl, J, Pleskoff, O, Michel, D, van Dongen, GA, Smit, MJ (2006) Human cytomegalovirus-encoded chemokine receptor US28 promotes tumorigenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**(35): 13068-13073.

McCarthy, AL, Woolfson, RG, Raju, SK, Poston, L (1993) Abnormal endothelial cell function of resistance arteries from women with preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **168**(4): 1323-1330.

McCorry, LK (2007) Physiology of the autonomic nervous system. *Am J Pharm Educ* **71**(4): 78.

McDaniel, NL, Rembold, CM, Murphy, RA (1994) Cyclic nucleotide dependent relaxation in vascular smooth muscle. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* **72**(11): 1380-1385.

McLaughlin, MK, Keve, TM, Cooke, R (1989) Vascular catecholamine sensitivity during pregnancy in the ewe. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **160**(1): 47-53.

McVerry, BJ, Garcia, JG (2005) In vitro and in vivo modulation of vascular barrier integrity by sphingosine 1-phosphate: mechanistic insights. *Cell Signal* **17**(2): 131-139.

Meissner, G (1994) Ryanodine receptor/Ca2+ release channels and their regulation by endogenous effectors. *Annu Rev Physiol* **56**: 485-508.

Melendez, AJ, Carlos-Dias, E, Gosink, M, Allen, JM, Takacs, L (2000) Human sphingosine kinase: molecular cloning, functional characterization and tissue distribution. *Gene* **251**(1): 19-26.

Melnychuk, RM, Smith, P, Kreklywich, CN, Ruchti, F, Vomaske, J, Hall, L, Loh, L, Nelson, JA, Orloff, SL, Streblow, DN (2005) Mouse cytomegalovirus M33 is necessary and sufficient in virus-induced vascular smooth muscle cell migration. *J Virol* **79**(16): 10788-10795.

Mendez, GF, Cowie, MR (2001) The epidemiological features of heart failure in developing countries: a review of the literature. *Int J Cardiol* **80**(2-3): 213-219.

Mercer, JA, Spector, DH (1986) Pathogenesis of acute murine cytomegalovirus infection in resistant and susceptible strains of mice. *J Virol* **57**(2): 497-504.

Meyer zu Heringdorf, D, Lass, H, Kuchar, I, Alemany, R, Guo, Y, Schmidt, M, Jakobs, KH (1999) Role of sphingosine kinase in Ca(2+) signalling by epidermal growth factor receptor. *FEBS Lett* **461**(3): 217-222.

Michel, T, Feron, O (1997) Nitric oxide synthases: which, where, how, and why? *J Clin Invest* **100**(9): 2146-2152.

Michell, BJ, Griffiths, JE, Mitchelhill, KI, Rodriguez-Crespo, I, Tiganis, T, Bozinovski, S, de Montellano, PR, Kemp, BE, Pearson, RB (1999) The Akt kinase signals directly to endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Curr Biol* **9**(15): 845-848.

Mills, JL, DerSimonian, R, Raymond, E, Morrow, JD, Roberts, LJ, 2nd, Clemens, JD, Hauth, JC, Catalano, P, Sibai, B, Curet, LB, Levine, RJ (1999) Prostacyclin and thromboxane changes predating clinical onset of preeclampsia: a multicenter prospective study. *JAMA* **282**(4): 356-362.

Milner, RE, Baksh, S, Shemanko, C, Carpenter, MR, Smillie, L, Vance, JE, Opas, M, Michalak, M (1991) Calreticulin, and not calsequestrin, is the major calcium

binding protein of smooth muscle sarcoplasmic reticulum and liver endoplasmic reticulum. *J Biol Chem* **266**(11): 7155-7165.

Mocarski, ES (1996) Cytomegaloviruses and their replication. In: *Fields Virology*, Fields, BN, Knipe, DM, Howley, PM (eds), pp 2447-2492. Philadelphia: Lippencott-Raven.

Moll, W, Kunzel, W, Herberger, J (1975) Hemodynamic implications of hemochorial placentation. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* **5**(1-2): 67-74.

Mombouli, JV, Vanhoutte, PM (1997) Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor(s): updating the unknown. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **18**(7): 252-256.

Moncada, S, Higgs, EA, Vane, JR (1977) Human arterial and venous tissues generate prostacyclin (prostaglandin x), a potent inhibitor of platelet aggregation. *Lancet* 1(8001): 18-20.

Montezano, AC, Touyz, RM (2011) Reactive Oxygen Species and Endothelial Function - Role of NOS Uncoupling and Nox Family NADPH Oxidases. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol*.

Morgado, M, Cairrao, E, Santos-Silva, AJ, Verde, I (2011) Cyclic nucleotidedependent relaxation pathways in vascular smooth muscle. *Cell Mol Life Sci*.

Morita-Hoshi, Y, Heike, Y, Kawakami, M, Sugita, T, Miura, O, Kim, SW, Mori, SI, Fukuda, T, Tanosaki, R, Tobinai, K, Takaue, Y (2008) Functional analysis of cytomegalovirus-specific T lymphocytes compared to tetramer assay in patients undergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant* **41**(6): 515-521.

Mulvany, MJ, Aalkjaer, C (1990) Structure and function of small arteries. *Physiol Rev* **70**(4): 921-961.

Murakami, A, Takasugi, H, Ohnuma, S, Koide, Y, Sakurai, A, Takeda, S, Hasegawa, T, Sasamori, J, Konno, T, Hayashi, K, Watanabe, Y, Mori, K, Sato, Y, Takahashi, A, Mochizuki, N, Takakura, N (2010) Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) regulates vascular contraction via S1P3 receptor: investigation based on a new S1P3 receptor antagonist. *Mol Pharmacol* **77**(4): 704-713.

Murakami, M, Shimbara, S, Kambe, T, Kuwata, H, Winstead, MV, Tischfield, JA, Kudo, I (1998) The functions of five distinct mammalian phospholipase A2S in regulating arachidonic acid release. Type IIa and type V secretory phospholipase A2S are functionally redundant and act in concert with cytosolic phospholipase A2. *J Biol Chem* **273**(23): 14411-14423.

Murata, N, Sato, K, Kon, J, Tomura, H, Yanagita, M, Kuwabara, A, Ui, M, Okajima, F (2000) Interaction of sphingosine 1-phosphate with plasma components, including lipoproteins, regulates the lipid receptor-mediated actions. *Biochem J* **352 Pt 3**: 809-815.

Murayama, T, Mukaida, N, Khabar, KS, Matsushima, K (1998) Potential involvement of IL-8 in the pathogenesis of human cytomegalovirus infection. J Leukoc Biol 64(1): 62-67.

Murohara, T, Horowitz, JR, Silver, M, Tsurumi, Y, Chen, D, Sullivan, A, Isner, JM (1998) Vascular endothelial growth factor/vascular permeability factor enhances vascular permeability via nitric oxide and prostacyclin. *Circulation* **97**(1): 99-107.

Murthy, KS, Makhlouf, GM (1996) Opioid mu, delta, and kappa receptor-induced activation of phospholipase C-beta 3 and inhibition of adenylyl cyclase is mediated by Gi2 and G(o) in smooth muscle. *Mol Pharmacol* **50**(4): 870-877.

Myatt, L, Kossenjans, W, Sahay, R, Eis, A, Brockman, D (2000) Oxidative stress causes vascular dysfunction in the placenta. *J Matern Fetal Med* **9**(1): 79-82.

Nagao, T, Vanhoutte, PM (1993) Endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor and endothelium-dependent relaxations. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **8**(1): 1-6.

Nakamura, K, Koga, Y, Sakai, H, Homma, K, Ikebe, M (2007) cGMP-dependent relaxation of smooth muscle is coupled with the change in the phosphorylation of myosin phosphatase. *Circ Res* **101**(7): 712-722.

Narumiya, S, Sugimoto, Y, Ushikubi, F (1999) Prostanoid receptors: structures, properties, and functions. *Physiol Rev* **79**(4): 1193-1226.

Nelson, MT, Quayle, JM (1995) Physiological roles and properties of potassium channels in arterial smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol* **268**(4 Pt 1): C799-822.

Ng, PH, Walters, WA (1992) The effects of chronic maternal hypotension during pregnancy. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* **32**(1): 14-16.

Nigro, G, Adler, SP, La Torre, R, Best, AM (2005) Passive immunization during pregnancy for congenital cytomegalovirus infection. *N Engl J Med* **353**(13): 1350-1362.

Niiro, N, Koga, Y, Ikebe, M (2003) Agonist-induced changes in the phosphorylation of the myosin- binding subunit of myosin light chain phosphatase and CPI17, two regulatory factors of myosin light chain phosphatase, in smooth muscle. *Biochem J* **369**(Pt 1): 117-128.

Nixon, GF, Iizuka, K, Haystead, CM, Haystead, TA, Somlyo, AP, Somlyo, AV (1995) Phosphorylation of caldesmon by mitogen-activated protein kinase with no effect on Ca2+ sensitivity in rabbit smooth muscle. *J Physiol* **487** ( **Pt 2**): 283-289.

Nobles, M, Benians, A, Tinker, A (2005) Heterotrimeric G proteins precouple with G protein-coupled receptors in living cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**(51): 18706-18711.

Norel, X, Walch, L, Costantino, M, Labat, C, Gorenne, I, Dulmet, E, Rossi, F, Brink, C (1996) M1 and M3 muscarinic receptors in human pulmonary arteries. *Br J Pharmacol* **119**(1): 149-157.

Nyholm, JL, Schleiss, MR (2010) Prevention of maternal cytomegalovirus infection: current status and future prospects. *Int J Womens Health* **2**: 23-35.

Okamoto, H, Takuwa, N, Yokomizo, T, Sugimoto, N, Sakurada, S, Shigematsu, H, Takuwa, Y (2000) Inhibitory regulation of Rac activation, membrane ruffling, and cell migration by the G protein-coupled sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor EDG5 but not EDG1 or EDG3. *Mol Cell Biol* **20**(24): 9247-9261.

Okamoto, Y, Wang, F, Yoshioka, K, Takuwa, N, Takuwa, Y (2011) Sphingosine-1-phosphate-specific G protein-coupled receptors as novel therapeutic targets for atherosclerosis. *Pharmaceuticals* **4**: 117-137.

Olivera, A, Kohama, T, Edsall, L, Nava, V, Cuvillier, O, Poulton, S, Spiegel, S (1999) Sphingosine kinase expression increases intracellular sphingosine-1-phosphate and promotes cell growth and survival. *J Cell Biol* **147**(3): 545-558.

Ong, SS, Baker, PN, Mayhew, TM, Dunn, WR (2005) Remodeling of myometrial radial arteries in preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **192**(2): 572-579.

Ornoy, A, Diav-Citrin, O (2006) Fetal effects of primary and secondary cytomegalovirus infection in pregnancy. *Reprod Toxicol* **21**(4): 399-409.

Orshal, JM, Khalil, RA (2004) Gender, sex hormones, and vascular tone. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **286**(2): R233-249.

Osol, G, Cipolla, M (1993) Interaction of myogenic and adrenergic mechanisms in isolated, pressurized uterine radial arteries from late-pregnant and nonpregnant rats. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **168**(2): 697-705.

Osol, G, Mandala, M (2009) Maternal uterine vascular remodeling during pregnancy. *Physiology (Bethesda)* 24: 58-71.

Paller, MS (1984) Mechanism of decreased pressor responsiveness to ANG II, NE, and vasopressin in pregnant rats. *Am J Physiol* **247**(1 Pt 2): H100-108.

Paller, MS, Gregorini, G, Ferris, TF (1989) Pressor responsiveness in pseudopregnant and pregnant rats: role of maternal factors. *Am J Physiol* **257**(4 Pt 2): R866-871.

Pallotto, EK, Kilbride, HW (2006) Perinatal outcome and later implications of intrauterine growth restriction. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* **49**(2): 257-269.

Palmer, RM, Ashton, DS, Moncada, S (1988) Vascular endothelial cells synthesize nitric oxide from L-arginine. *Nature* **333**(6174): 664-666.

Palmer, SK, Zamudio, S, Coffin, C, Parker, S, Stamm, E, Moore, LG (1992) Quantitative estimation of human uterine artery blood flow and pelvic blood flow redistribution in pregnancy. *Obstet Gynecol* **80**(6): 1000-1006.

Pan, ZR, Lindheimer, MD, Bailin, J, Barron, WM (1990) Regulation of blood pressure in pregnancy: pressor system blockade and stimulation. *Am J Physiol* **258**(5 Pt 2): H1559-1572.

Pancholi, P, Wu, F, Della-Latta, P (2004) Rapid detection of cytomegalovirus infection in transplant patients. *Expert Rev Mol Diagn* **4**(2): 231-242.

Pass, RF, Zhang, C, Evans, A, Simpson, T, Andrews, W, Huang, ML, Corey, L, Hill, J, Davis, E, Flanigan, C, Cloud, G (2009) Vaccine prevention of maternal cytomegalovirus infection. *N Engl J Med* **360**(12): 1191-1199.

Paula, FM, Barbosa, HC, Carneiro, EM, Persaud, SJ, Gagliardino, JJ, Boschero, AC, Souza, KL (2010) Requirement of NF-kappaB signalling pathway for modulation of the cholinergic muscarinic M3 receptor expression by INGAP-PP in insulin-producing cells. *Eur J Pharmacol* **642**(1-3): 37-46.

Pavlov, VA, Tracey, KJ (2006) Controlling inflammation: the cholinergic antiinflammatory pathway. *Biochem Soc Trans* **34**(Pt 6): 1037-1040.

Pavlov, VA, Wang, H, Czura, CJ, Friedman, SG, Tracey, KJ (2003) The cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway: a missing link in neuroimmunomodulation. *Mol Med* **9**(5-8): 125-134.

Payne, SG, Milstien, S, Barbour, SE, Spiegel, S (2004) Modulation of adaptive immune responses by sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* **15**(5): 521-527.

Persoons, MC, Stals, FS, van dam Mieras, MC, Bruggeman, CA (1998) Multiple organ involvement during experimental cytomegalovirus infection is associated with disseminated vascular pathology. *J Pathol* **184**(1): 103-109.

Pesic, S, Grbovic, L, Stoiljkovic, M, Nikolic, V, Djokic, J (2009) Functional characterization of the muscarinic receptors involved in endothelium-dependent relaxation in isolated canine uterine artery. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther* **32**(2): 109-115.

Peters-Golden, M, Song, K, Marshall, T, Brock, T (1996) Translocation of cytosolic phospholipase A2 to the nuclear envelope elicits topographically localized phospholipid hydrolysis. *Biochem J* **318** ( **Pt 3**): 797-803.

Peters, SL, Alewijnse, AE (2007) Sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling in the cardiovascular system. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* **7**(2): 186-192.

Petrakopoulou, P, Kubrich, M, Pehlivanli, S, Meiser, B, Reichart, B, von Scheidt, W, Weis, M (2004) Cytomegalovirus infection in heart transplant recipients is associated with impaired endothelial function. *Circulation* **110**(11 Suppl 1): II207-212.

Pettus, BJ, Bielawski, J, Porcelli, AM, Reames, DL, Johnson, KR, Morrow, J, Chalfant, CE, Obeid, LM, Hannun, YA (2003) The sphingosine kinase 1/sphingosine-1-phosphate pathway mediates COX-2 induction and PGE2 production in response to TNF-alpha. *FASEB J* **17**(11): 1411-1421.

Pitson, SM, Moretti, PA, Zebol, JR, Lynn, HE, Xia, P, Vadas, MA, Wattenberg, BW (2003) Activation of sphingosine kinase 1 by ERK1/2-mediated phosphorylation. *EMBO J* **22**(20): 5491-5500.

Poon, BY, Raharjo, E, Patel, KD, Tavener, S, Kubes, P (2003) Complexity of inducible nitric oxide synthase: cellular source determines benefit versus toxicity. *Circulation* **108**(9): 1107-1112.

Potter, LR (2011) Guanylyl cyclase structure, function and regulation. *Cell Signal* **23**(12): 1921-1926.

Powers, C, Fruh, K (2008) Rhesus CMV: an emerging animal model for human CMV. *Med Microbiol Immunol* **197**(2): 109-115.

Presti, RM, Pollock, JL, Dal Canto, AJ, O'Guin, AK, Virgin, HWt (1998) Interferon gamma regulates acute and latent murine cytomegalovirus infection and chronic disease of the great vessels. *J Exp Med* **188**(3): 577-588.

Prosch, S, Wendt, CE, Reinke, P, Priemer, C, Oppert, M, Kruger, DH, Volk, HD, Docke, WD (2000) A novel link between stress and human cytomegalovirus

(HCMV) infection: sympathetic hyperactivity stimulates HCMV activation. *Virology* **272**(2): 357-365.

Pyne, NJ, Pyne, S (2010) Sphingosine 1-phosphate and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* **10**(7): 489-503.

Pyne, S, Chapman, J, Steele, L, Pyne, NJ (1996) Sphingomyelin-derived lipids differentially regulate the extracellular signal-regulated kinase 2 (ERK-2) and c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) signal cascades in airway smooth muscle. *Eur J Biochem* **237**(3): 819-826.

Pyne, S, Lee, SC, Long, J, Pyne, NJ (2009) Role of sphingosine kinases and lipid phosphate phosphatases in regulating spatial sphingosine 1-phosphate signalling in health and disease. *Cell Signal* **21**(1): 14-21.

Pyne, S, Pyne, NJ (2000) Sphingosine 1-phosphate signalling in mammalian cells. *Biochem J* **349**(Pt 2): 385-402.

Radomski, MW, Palmer, RM, Moncada, S (1990) An L-arginine/nitric oxide pathway present in human platelets regulates aggregation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **87**(13): 5193-5197.

Rahbar, A, Soderberg-Naucler, C (2005) Human cytomegalovirus infection of endothelial cells triggers platelet adhesion and aggregation. J Virol **79**(4): 2211-2220.

Rashatwar, SS, Cornwell, TL, Lincoln, TM (1987) Effects of 8-bromo-cGMP on Ca2+ levels in vascular smooth muscle cells: possible regulation of Ca2+-ATPase by cGMP-dependent protein kinase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **84**(16): 5685-5689.

Rawlinson, WD, Farrell, HE, Barrell, BG (1996) Analysis of the complete DNA sequence of murine cytomegalovirus. *J Virol* **70**(12): 8833-8849.

Raynor, BD (1993) Cytomegalovirus infection in pregnancy. *Semin Perinatol* **17**(6): 394-402.

Razani-Boroujerdi, S, Behl, M, Hahn, FF, Pena-Philippides, JC, Hutt, J, Sopori, ML (2008) Role of muscarinic receptors in the regulation of immune and inflammatory responses. *J Neuroimmunol* **194**(1-2): 83-88.

Reddehase, MJ, Balthesen, M, Rapp, M, Jonjic, S, Pavic, I, Koszinowski, UH (1994) The conditions of primary infection define the load of latent viral genome in organs and the risk of recurrent cytomegalovirus disease. *J Exp Med* **179**(1): 185-193.

Reddehase, MJ, Simon, CO, Seckert, CK, Lemmermann, N, Grzimek, NK (2008) Murine model of cytomegalovirus latency and reactivation. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* **325:** 315-331.

Reeves, M, Sinclair, J (2008) Aspects of human cytomegalovirus latency and reactivation. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* **325**: 297-313.

Rembold, CM (1992) Regulation of contraction and relaxation in arterial smooth muscle. *Hypertension* **20**(2): 129-137.

Revello, MG, Gerna, G (2002) Diagnosis and management of human cytomegalovirus infection in the mother, fetus, and newborn infant. *Clin Microbiol Rev* **15**(4): 680-715.

Reynolds, LP, Redmer, DA (1995) Utero-placental vascular development and placental function. *J Anim Sci* **73**(6): 1839-1851.

Rhodin, JAG (1980) Architecture of the vessel wall. In: *Handbook of Physiology*. *The Cardiovascular System: Vascular Smooth Muscle*. Vol. 2, pp 1-31: Bethesda, MD: Am. Physiol. Soc.

Rinner, I, Kawashima, K, Schauenstein, K (1998) Rat lymphocytes produce and secrete acetylcholine in dependence of differentiation and activation. J *Neuroimmunol* **81**(1-2): 31-37.

Rius, RA, Edsall, LC, Spiegel, S (1997) Activation of sphingosine kinase in pheochromocytoma PC12 neuronal cells in response to trophic factors. *FEBS Lett* **417**(2): 173-176.

Rizza, C, Leitinger, N, Yue, J, Fischer, DJ, Wang, DA, Shih, PT, Lee, H, Tigyi, G, Berliner, JA (1999) Lysophosphatidic acid as a regulator of endothelial/leukocyte interaction. *Lab Invest* **79**(10): 1227-1235.

Roberts, JM, Gammill, HS (2005) Preeclampsia: recent insights. *Hypertension* **46**(6): 1243-1249.

Roberts, JM, Lain, KY (2002) Recent Insights into the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Placenta* **23**(5): 359-372.

Roberts, JR, Greenberg, MI, Knaub, MA, Kendrick, ZV, Baskin, SI (1979) Blood levels following intravenous and endotracheal epinephrine administration. *JACEP* **8**(2): 53-56.

Roggensack, AM, Zhang, Y, Davidge, ST (1999) Evidence for peroxynitrite formation in the vasculature of women with preeclampsia. *Hypertension* **33**(1): 83-89.

Rossant, J, Cross, JC (2001) Placental development: lessons from mouse mutants. *Nat Rev Genet* **2**(7): 538-548.

Roth, J, LeRoith, D, Shiloach, J, Rosenzweig, JL, Lesniak, MA, Havrankova, J (1982) The evolutionary origins of hormones, neurotransmitters, and other extracellular chemical messengers: implications for mammalian biology. *N Engl J Med* **306**(9): 523-527.

Rousseau, T, Douvier, S, Reynaud, I, Laurent, N, Bour, JB, Durand, C, Spagnolo, G, Sagot, P (2000) Severe fetal cytomegalic inclusion disease after documented maternal reactivation of cytomegalovirus infection during pregnancy. *Prenat Diagn* **20**(4): 333-336.

Rubin, RH (2001) Cytomegalovirus in solid organ transplantation. *Transpl Infect Dis* **3 Suppl 2:** 1-5.

Rustveld, LO, Kelsey, SF, Sharma, R (2008) Association between maternal infections and preeclampsia: a systematic review of epidemiologic studies. *Matern Child Health J* **12**(2): 223-242.

Saba, JD, Hla, T (2004) Point-counterpoint of sphingosine 1-phosphate metabolism. *Circ Res* **94**(6): 724-734.

Sakurada, S, Takuwa, N, Sugimoto, N, Wang, Y, Seto, M, Sasaki, Y, Takuwa, Y (2003) Ca2+-dependent activation of Rho and Rho kinase in membrane depolarization-induced and receptor stimulation-induced vascular smooth muscle contraction. *Circ Res* **93**(6): 548-556.

Salomone, S, Yoshimura, S, Reuter, U, Foley, M, Thomas, SS, Moskowitz, MA, Waeber, C (2003) S1P3 receptors mediate the potent constriction of cerebral arteries by sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Eur J Pharmacol* **469**(1-3): 125-134.

Sanchez, T, Hla, T (2004) Structural and functional characteristics of S1P receptors. *J Cell Biochem* **92**(5): 913-922.

Sanchez, T, Skoura, A, Wu, MT, Casserly, B, Harrington, EO, Hla, T (2007) Induction of vascular permeability by the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor-2 (S1P2R) and its downstream effectors ROCK and PTEN. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **27**(6): 1312-1318.

Sauzeau, V, Le Jeune, H, Cario-Toumaniantz, C, Smolenski, A, Lohmann, SM, Bertoglio, J, Chardin, P, Pacaud, P, Loirand, G (2000) Cyclic GMP-dependent protein kinase signaling pathway inhibits RhoA-induced Ca2+ sensitization of contraction in vascular smooth muscle. *J Biol Chem* **275**(28): 21722-21729.

Scalzo, AA, Fitzgerald, NA, Simmons, A, La Vista, AB, Shellam, GR (1990) Cmv-1, a genetic locus that controls murine cytomegalovirus replication in the spleen. *J Exp Med* **171**(5): 1469-1483.

Scalzo, AA, Manzur, M, Forbes, CA, Brown, MG, Shellam, GR (2005) NK gene complex haplotype variability and host resistance alleles to murine cytomegalovirus in wild mouse populations. *Immunol Cell Biol* **83**(2): 144-149.

Schievella, AR, Regier, MK, Smith, WL, Lin, LL (1995) Calcium-mediated translocation of cytosolic phospholipase A2 to the nuclear envelope and endoplasmic reticulum. *J Biol Chem* **270**(51): 30749-30754.

Schildknecht, S, Bachschmid, M, Ullrich, V (2005) Peroxynitrite provides the peroxide tone for PGHS-2-dependent prostacyclin synthesis in vascular smooth muscle cells. *FASEB J* **19**(9): 1169-1171.

Schleiss, MR (2008) Comparison of vaccine strategies against congenital CMV infection in the guinea pig model. *J Clin Virol* **41**(3): 224-230.

Schleiss, MR, Bourne, N, Bernstein, DI (2003) Preconception vaccination with a glycoprotein B (gB) DNA vaccine protects against cytomegalovirus (CMV) transmission in the guinea pig model of congenital CMV infection. *J Infect Dis* **188**(12): 1868-1874.

Schleiss, MR, Bourne, N, Stroup, G, Bravo, FJ, Jensen, NJ, Bernstein, DI (2004) Protection against congenital cytomegalovirus infection and disease in guinea pigs, conferred by a purified recombinant glycoprotein B vaccine. *J Infect Dis* **189**(8): 1374-1381.

Schlossmann, J, Ammendola, A, Ashman, K, Zong, X, Huber, A, Neubauer, G, Wang, GX, Allescher, HD, Korth, M, Wilm, M, Hofmann, F, Ruth, P (2000) Regulation of intracellular calcium by a signalling complex of IRAG, IP3 receptor and cGMP kinase Ibeta. *Nature* **404**(6774): 197-201.

Schreck, R, Rieber, P, Baeuerle, PA (1991) Reactive oxygen intermediates as apparently widely used messengers in the activation of the NF-kappa B transcription factor and HIV-1. *EMBO J* **10**(8): 2247-2258.

Schubert, R, Serebryakov, VN, Engel, H, Hopp, HH (1996) Iloprost activates KCa channels of vascular smooth muscle cells: role of cAMP-dependent protein kinase. *Am J Physiol* **271**(4 Pt 1): C1203-1211.

Schuman, EM, Madison, DV (1991) A requirement for the intercellular messenger nitric oxide in long-term potentiation. *Science* **254**(5037): 1503-1506.

Schwarz, PM, Kleinert, H, Forstermann, U (1999) Potential functional significance of brain-type and muscle-type nitric oxide synthase I expressed in adventitia and media of rat aorta. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **19**(11): 2584-2590.

Scott, PA, Tremblay, A, Brochu, M, St-Louis, J (2007) Vasorelaxant action of 17 -estradiol in rat uterine arteries: role of nitric oxide synthases and estrogen receptors. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **293**(6): H3713-3719.

Shanley, JD, Morningstar, J, Jordan, MC (1985) Inhibition of murine cytomegalovirus lung infection and interstitial pneumonitis by acyclovir and 9-(1,3-dihydroxy-2-propoxymethyl)guanine. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **28**(2): 172-175.

Shen, YH, Zhang, L, Utama, B, Wang, J, Gan, Y, Wang, X, Chen, L, Vercellotti, GM, Coselli, JS, Mehta, JL, Wang, XL (2006) Human cytomegalovirus inhibits Akt-mediated eNOS activation through upregulating PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10). *Cardiovasc Res* **69**(2): 502-511.

Shikata, Y, Birukov, KG, Garcia, JG (2003) S1P induces FA remodeling in human pulmonary endothelial cells: role of Rac, GIT1, FAK, and paxillin. *J Appl Physiol* **94**(3): 1193-1203.

Sholook, MM, Gilbert, JS, Sedeek, MH, Huang, M, Hester, RL, Granger, JP (2007) Systemic hemodynamic and regional blood flow changes in response to chronic reductions in uterine perfusion pressure in pregnant rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **293**(4): H2080-2084.

Simmen, KA, Singh, J, Luukkonen, BG, Lopper, M, Bittner, A, Miller, NE, Jackson, MR, Compton, T, Fruh, K (2001) Global modulation of cellular transcription by human cytomegalovirus is initiated by viral glycoprotein B. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **98**(13): 7140-7145.

Singleton, PA, Dudek, SM, Ma, SF, Garcia, JG (2006) Transactivation of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors is essential for vascular barrier regulation. Novel role for hyaluronan and CD44 receptor family. *J Biol Chem* **281**(45): 34381-34393.

Sladek, SM, Magness, RR, Conrad, KP (1997) Nitric oxide and pregnancy. *Am J Physiol* **272**(2 Pt 2): R441-463.

Smith, WL, Dewitt, DL (1996) Prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthases-1 and -2. *Adv Immunol* **62:** 167-215.

Smith, WL, Marnett, LJ, DeWitt, DL (1991) Prostaglandin and thromboxane biosynthesis. *Pharmacol Ther* **49**(3): 153-179.

Smrcka, AV, Hepler, JR, Brown, KO, Sternweis, PC (1991) Regulation of polyphosphoinositide-specific phospholipase C activity by purified Gq. *Science* **251**(4995): 804-807.

Somlyo, AP, Kitazawa, T, Kobayashi, S, Gong, MC, Somlyo, AV (1991) Pharmacomechanical coupling: the membranes talk to the crossbridges. *Adv Exp Med Biol* **304**: 185-208.

Speir, E, Shibutani, T, Yu, ZX, Ferrans, V, Epstein, SE (1996) Role of reactive oxygen intermediates in cytomegalovirus gene expression and in the response of human smooth muscle cells to viral infection. *Circ Res* **79**(6): 1143-1152.

Speir, E, Yu, ZX, Ferrans, VJ, Huang, ES, Epstein, SE (1998) Aspirin attenuates cytomegalovirus infectivity and gene expression mediated by cyclooxygenase-2 in coronary artery smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* **83**(2): 210-216.

Spiegel, S, Milstien, S (2003a) Exogenous and intracellularly generated sphingosine 1-phosphate can regulate cellular processes by divergent pathways. *Biochem Soc Trans* **31**(Pt 6): 1216-1219.

Spiegel, S, Milstien, S (2003b) Sphingosine-1-phosphate: an enigmatic signalling lipid. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* **4**(5): 397-407.

Spiegel, S, Milstien, S (2002) Sphingosine 1-phosphate, a key cell signaling molecule. *J Biol Chem* **277**(29): 25851-25854.

Stagno, S, Pass, RF, Cloud, G, Britt, WJ, Henderson, RE, Walton, PD, Veren, DA, Page, F, Alford, CA (1986) Primary cytomegalovirus infection in pregnancy. Incidence, transmission to fetus, and clinical outcome. *JAMA* **256**(14): 1904-1908.

Stagno, S, Reynolds, DW, Huang, ES, Thames, SD, Smith, RJ, Alford, CA (1977) Congenital cytomegalovirus infection. *N Engl J Med* **296**(22): 1254-1258.

Standen, NB, Quayle, JM (1998) K+ channel modulation in arterial smooth muscle. *Acta Physiol Scand* **164**(4): 549-557.

Stankevicius, E, Kevelaitis, E, Vainorius, E, Simonsen, U (2003) [Role of nitric oxide and other endothelium-derived factors]. *Medicina (Kaunas)* **39**(4): 333-341.

Steffens, HP, Kurz, S, Holtappels, R, Reddehase, MJ (1998) Preemptive CD8 Tcell immunotherapy of acute cytomegalovirus infection prevents lethal disease, limits the burden of latent viral genomes, and reduces the risk of virus recurrence. *J Virol* **72**(3): 1797-1804.

Stennett, AK, Qiao, X, Falone, AE, Koledova, VV, Khalil, RA (2009) Increased vascular angiotensin type 2 receptor expression and NOS-mediated mechanisms of vascular relaxation in pregnant rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **296**(3): H745-755.

Stroud, RM, McCarthy, MP, Shuster, M (1990) Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor superfamily of ligand-gated ion channels. *Biochemistry* **29**(50): 11009-11023.

Stuehr, DJ (1999) Mammalian nitric oxide synthases. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1411**(2-3): 217-230.

Sugimoto, N, Takuwa, N, Okamoto, H, Sakurada, S, Takuwa, Y (2003) Inhibitory and stimulatory regulation of Rac and cell motility by the G12/13-Rho and Gi pathways integrated downstream of a single G protein-coupled sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor isoform. *Mol Cell Biol* **23**(5): 1534-1545.

Sugino, N, Karube-Harada, A, Taketani, T, Sakata, A, Nakamura, Y (2004) Withdrawal of ovarian steroids stimulates prostaglandin F2alpha production through nuclear factor-kappaB activation via oxygen radicals in human endometrial stromal cells: potential relevance to menstruation. *J Reprod Dev* **50**(2): 215-225.

Sward, K, Mita, M, Wilson, DP, Deng, JT, Susnjar, M, Walsh, MP (2003) The role of RhoA and Rho-associated kinase in vascular smooth muscle contraction. *Curr Hypertens Rep* **5**(1): 66-72.

Sweeney, HL, Yang, Z, Zhi, G, Stull, JT, Trybus, KM (1994) Charge replacement near the phosphorylatable serine of the myosin regulatory light chain mimics aspects of phosphorylation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **91**(4): 1490-1494.

Sweet, C (1999) The pathogenicity of cytomegalovirus. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* **23**(4): 457-482.

Szabo, C (1996) The pathophysiological role of peroxynitrite in shock, inflammation, and ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Shock* 6(2): 79-88.

Taguchi, K, Ueda, M, Kubo, T (1997) Effects of cAMP and cGMP on L-type calcium channel currents in rat mesenteric artery cells. *Jpn J Pharmacol* **74**(2): 179-186.

Tak, PP, Firestein, GS (2001) NF-kappaB: a key role in inflammatory diseases. *J Clin Invest* **107**(1): 7-11.

Takagi, Y, Nikaido, T, Toki, T, Kita, N, Kanai, M, Ashida, T, Ohira, S, Konishi, I (2004) Levels of oxidative stress and redox-related molecules in the placenta in preeclampsia and fetal growth restriction. *Virchows Arch* **444**(1): 49-55.

Takamura, Y, Shimokawa, H, Zhao, H, Igarashi, H, Egashira, K, Takeshita, A (1999) Important role of endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor in shear stress--induced endothelium-dependent relaxations in the rat mesenteric artery. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* **34**(3): 381-387.

Talman, WT, Snyder, D, Reis, DJ (1980) Chronic lability of arterial pressure produced by destruction of A2 catecholaminergic neurons in rat brainstem. *Circ Res* 46(6): 842-853.

Tan, X, Essengue, S, Talreja, J, Reese, J, Stechschulte, DJ, Dileepan, KN (2007) Histamine directly and synergistically with lipopolysaccharide stimulates cyclooxygenase-2 expression and prostaglandin I(2) and E(2) production in human coronary artery endothelial cells. *J Immunol* **179**(11): 7899-7906.

Tanaka, A, Hirota, K, Takahashi, K, Numazaki, Y (1983) Suppression of cell mediated immunity to cytomegalovirus and tuberculin in pregnancy employing the leukocyte migration inhibition test. *Microbiol Immunol* **27**(11): 937-943.

Tanaka, K, Nakazawa, H, Okada, K, Umezawa, K, Fukuyama, N, Koga, Y (1997) Nitric oxide mediates murine cytomegalovirus-associated pneumonitis in lungs that are free of the virus. *J Clin Invest* **100**(7): 1822-1830.

Tanaka, K, Noda, S (2001) Role of nitric oxide in murine cytomegalovirus (MCMV) infection. *Histol Histopathol* **16**(3): 937-944.

Tang-Feldman, YJ, Wojtowicz, A, Lochhead, GR, Hale, MA, Li, Y, Pomeroy, C (2006) Use of quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) to measure cytokine transcription and viral load in murine cytomegalovirus infection. *J Virol Methods* **131**(2): 122-129.

Tang, WJ, Gilman, AG (1991) Type-specific regulation of adenylyl cyclase by G protein beta gamma subunits. *Science* **254**(5037): 1500-1503.

Tani, M, Sano, T, Ito, M, Igarashi, Y (2005) Mechanisms of sphingosine and sphingosine 1-phosphate generation in human platelets. *J Lipid Res* **46**(11): 2458-2467.

Taniguchi, J, Furukawa, KI, Shigekawa, M (1993) Maxi K+ channels are stimulated by cyclic guanosine monophosphate-dependent protein kinase in canine coronary artery smooth muscle cells. *Pflugers Arch* **423**(3-4): 167-172.

Tarantal, AF, Salamat, MS, Britt, WJ, Luciw, PA, Hendrickx, AG, Barry, PA (1998) Neuropathogenesis induced by rhesus cytomegalovirus in fetal rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta). *J Infect Dis* **177**(2): 446-450.

Tazawa, R, Green, ED, Ohashi, K, Wu, KK, Wang, LH (1996) Characterization of the complete genomic structure of human thromboxane synthase gene and functional analysis of its promoter. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **334**(2): 349-356.

Thaler, I, Amit, A (2005) Doppler Velocimetry of the Uteroplacental Circulation During Early Pregnancy. In: *Doppler Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, Maulik, D (ed), 2 edn, pp 255-279. Berlin: Springer.

Thatcher, CD, Keith, JC, Jr. (1986) Pregnancy-induced hypertension: development of a model in the pregnant sheep. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **155**(1): 201-207.

Thornburg, KL, Jacobson, SL, Giraud, GD, Morton, MJ (2000) Hemodynamic changes in pregnancy. *Semin Perinatol* **24**(1): 11-14.

Toda, N (1983) Isolated human coronary arteries in response to vasoconstrictor substances. *Am J Physiol* **245**(6): H937-941.

Toth, A, Kiss, E, Gergely, P, Walsh, MP, Hartshorne, DJ, Erdodi, F (2000) Phosphorylation of MYPT1 by protein kinase C attenuates interaction with PP1 catalytic subunit and the 20 kDa light chain of myosin. *FEBS Lett* **484**(2): 113-117.

Traub, O, Berk, BC (1998) Laminar shear stress: mechanisms by which endothelial cells transduce an atheroprotective force. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **18**(5): 677-685.

Trogstad, LI, Eskild, A, Bruu, AL, Jeansson, S, Jenum, PA (2001) Is preeclampsia an infectious disease? *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* **80**(11): 1036-1038.

Trudinger, BJ, Giles, WB, Cook, CM, Bombardieri, J, Collins, L (1985) Fetal umbilical artery flow velocity waveforms and placental resistance: clinical significance. *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* **92**(1): 23-30.

Tu, W, Potena, L, Stepick-Biek, P, Liu, L, Dionis, KY, Luikart, H, Fearon, WF, Holmes, TH, Chin, C, Cooke, JP, Valantine, HA, Mocarski, ES, Lewis, DB (2006) T-cell immunity to subclinical cytomegalovirus infection reduces cardiac allograft disease. *Circulation* **114**(15): 1608-1615.

Van Brocklyn, JR, Behbahani, B, Lee, NH (2002) Homodimerization and heterodimerization of S1P/EDG sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1582**(1-3): 89-93.

Venkataraman, K, Lee, YM, Michaud, J, Thangada, S, Ai, Y, Bonkovsky, HL, Parikh, NS, Habrukowich, C, Hla, T (2008) Vascular endothelium as a contributor of plasma sphingosine 1-phosphate. *Circ Res* **102**(6): 669-676.

Verlohren, S, Niehoff, M, Hering, L, Geusens, N, Herse, F, Tintu, AN, Plagemann, A, LeNoble, F, Pijnenborg, R, Muller, DN, Luft, FC, Dudenhausen, JW, Gollasch, M, Dechend, R (2008) Uterine vascular function in a transgenic preeclampsia rat model. *Hypertension* **51**(2): 547-553.

Vernino, S, Amador, M, Luetje, CW, Patrick, J, Dani, JA (1992) Calcium modulation and high calcium permeability of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Neuron* **8**(1): 127-134.

Vezza, R, Mezzasoma, AM, Venditti, G, Gresele, P (2002) Prostaglandin endoperoxides and thromboxane A2 activate the same receptor isoforms in human platelets. *Thromb Haemost* **87**(1): 114-121.

von Dadelszen, P, Magee, LA, Krajden, M, Alasaly, K, Popovska, V, Devarakonda, RM, Money, DM, Patrick, DM, Brunham, RC (2003) Levels of antibodies against cytomegalovirus and Chlamydophila pneumoniae are increased in early onset pre-eclampsia. *BJOG* **110**(8): 725-730.

Walch, L, Brink, C, Norel, X (2001) The muscarinic receptor subtypes in human blood vessels. *Therapie* **56**(3): 223-226.

Walsh, SW (1994) The role of fatty acid peroxidation and antioxidant status in normal pregnancy and in pregnancy complicated by preeclampsia. *World Rev Nutr Diet* **76**: 114-118.

Wang, L, Dudek, SM (2009) Regulation of vascular permeability by sphingosine 1-phosphate. *Microvasc Res* **77**(1): 39-45.

Wang, X, Huang, DY, Huong, SM, Huang, ES (2005) Integrin alphavbeta3 is a coreceptor for human cytomegalovirus. *Nat Med* **11**(5): 515-521.

Wang, X, Huong, SM, Chiu, ML, Raab-Traub, N, Huang, ES (2003) Epidermal growth factor receptor is a cellular receptor for human cytomegalovirus. *Nature* **424**(6947): 456-461.

Wassink, AM, Olijhoek, JK, Visseren, FL (2007) The metabolic syndrome: metabolic changes with vascular consequences. *Eur J Clin Invest* **37**(1): 8-17.

Watterson, KR, Ratz, PH, Spiegel, S (2005) The role of sphingosine-1-phosphate in smooth muscle contraction. *Cell Signal* **17**(3): 289-298.

Weiner, C, Liu, KZ, Thompson, L, Herrig, J, Chestnut, D (1991) Effect of pregnancy on endothelium and smooth muscle: their role in reduced adrenergic sensitivity. *Am J Physiol* **261**(4 Pt 2): H1275-1283.

Weiner, C, Martinez, E, Zhu, LK, Ghodsi, A, Chestnut, D (1989) In vitro release of endothelium-derived relaxing factor by acetylcholine is increased during the guinea pig pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **161**(6 Pt 1): 1599-1605.

Weis, M, Cooke, JP (2003) Cardiac allograft vasculopathy and dysregulation of the NO synthase pathway. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **23**(4): 567-575.

Weis, M, Kledal, TN, Lin, KY, Panchal, SN, Gao, SZ, Valantine, HA, Mocarski, ES, Cooke, JP (2004) Cytomegalovirus infection impairs the nitric oxide synthase pathway: role of asymmetric dimethylarginine in transplant arteriosclerosis. *Circulation* **109**(4): 500-505.

Wessler, I, Kilbinger, H, Bittinger, F, Unger, R, Kirkpatrick, CJ (2003a) The nonneuronal cholinergic system in humans: expression, function and pathophysiology. *Life Sci* **72**(18-19): 2055-2061.

Wessler, I, Kirkpatrick, CJ, Racke, K (1999) The cholinergic 'pitfall': acetylcholine, a universal cell molecule in biological systems, including humans. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **26**(3): 198-205.

Wessler, I, Kirkpatrick, CJ, Racke, K (1998) Non-neuronal acetylcholine, a locally acting molecule, widely distributed in biological systems: expression and function in humans. *Pharmacol Ther* **77**(1): 59-79.

Wessler, I, Reinheimer, T, Kilbinger, H, Bittinger, F, Kirkpatrick, CJ, Saloga, J, Knop, J (2003b) Increased acetylcholine levels in skin biopsies of patients with atopic dermatitis. *Life Sci* **72**(18-19): 2169-2172.

West, GB, Brown, JH, Enquist, BJ (1997) A general model for the origin of allometric scaling laws in biology. *Science* **276**(5309): 122-126.

Weston, AH, Richards, GR, Burnham, MP, Feletou, M, Vanhoutte, PM, Edwards, G (2002) K+-induced hyperpolarization in rat mesenteric artery: identification, localization and role of Na+/K+-ATPases. *Br J Pharmacol* **136**(6): 918-926.

Wettschureck, N, Offermanns, S (2005) Mammalian G proteins and their cell type specific functions. *Physiol Rev* **85**(4): 1159-1204.

Williams, JA, Shacter, E (1997) Regulation of macrophage cytokine production by prostaglandin E2. Distinct roles of cyclooxygenase-1 and -2. *J Biol Chem* **272**(41): 25693-25699.

Wilson, DP, Susnjar, M, Kiss, E, Sutherland, C, Walsh, MP (2005) Thromboxane A2-induced contraction of rat caudal arterial smooth muscle involves activation of Ca2+ entry and Ca2+ sensitization: Rho-associated kinase-mediated phosphorylation of MYPT1 at Thr-855, but not Thr-697. *Biochem J* **389**(Pt 3): 763-774.

Wooldridge, AA, MacDonald, JA, Erdodi, F, Ma, C, Borman, MA, Hartshorne, DJ, Haystead, TA (2004) Smooth muscle phosphatase is regulated in vivo by exclusion of phosphorylation of threonine 696 of MYPT1 by phosphorylation of Serine 695 in response to cyclic nucleotides. *J Biol Chem* **279**(33): 34496-34504.

Wu, BN, Chen, CF, Hong, YR, Howng, SL, Lin, YL, Chen, IJ (2007) Activation of BKCa channels via cyclic AMP- and cyclic GMP-dependent protein kinases by eugenosedin-A in rat basilar artery myocytes. *Br J Pharmacol* **152**(3): 374-385.

Xia, P, Wang, L, Gamble, JR, Vadas, MA (1999) Activation of sphingosine kinase by tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibits apoptosis in human endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* **274**(48): 34499-34505.

Xie, F, Hu, Y, Magee, LA, Money, DM, Patrick, DM, Krajden, M, Thomas, E, von Dadelszen, P (2010) An association between cytomegalovirus infection and pre-eclampsia: a case-control study and data synthesis. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand* **89**(9): 1162-1167.

Xu, SZ, Beech, DJ (2001) TrpC1 is a membrane-spanning subunit of storeoperated Ca(2+) channels in native vascular smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* **88**(1): 84-87.

Yallampalli, C, Garfield, RE (1993) Inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis in rats during pregnancy produces signs similar to those of preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **169**(5): 1316-1320.

Yinon, Y, Farine, D, Yudin, MH, Gagnon, R, Hudon, L, Basso, M, Bos, H, Delisle, MF, Menticoglou, S, Mundle, W, Ouellet, A, Pressey, T, Roggensack, A,

Boucher, M, Castillo, E, Gruslin, A, Money, DM, Murphy, K, Ogilvie, G, Paquet, C, Van Eyk, N, van Schalkwyk, J (2010) Cytomegalovirus infection in pregnancy. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can* **32**(4): 348-354.

Yurochko, AD, Hwang, ES, Rasmussen, L, Keay, S, Pereira, L, Huang, ES (1997) The human cytomegalovirus UL55 (gB) and UL75 (gH) glycoprotein ligands initiate the rapid activation of Sp1 and NF-kappaB during infection. *J Virol* **71**(7): 5051-5059.

Zahumensky, J (2009) Doppler flowmetry in preeclampsia. *Bratisl Lek Listy* **110**(7): 432-435.

Zamudio, S, Palmer, SK, Droma, T, Stamm, E, Coffin, C, Moore, LG (1995) Effect of altitude on uterine artery blood flow during normal pregnancy. *J Appl Physiol* **79**(1): 7-14.

Zan, Y, Haag, JD, Chen, KS, Shepel, LA, Wigington, D, Wang, YR, Hu, R, Lopez-Guajardo, CC, Brose, HL, Porter, KI, Leonard, RA, Hitt, AA, Schommer, SL, Elegbede, AF, Gould, MN (2003) Production of knockout rats using ENU mutagenesis and a yeast-based screening assay. *Nat Biotechnol* **21**(6): 645-651.

Zanghellini, F, Boppana, SB, Emery, VC, Griffiths, PD, Pass, RF (1999) Asymptomatic primary cytomegalovirus infection: virologic and immunologic features. *J Infect Dis* **180**(3): 702-707.

Zehetgruber, M, Conforto, A, Bing, RJ (1993) Vascular smooth muscle and nitric oxide. *Life Sci* **52**(17): 1397-1406.

Zelis, R, Moore, R (1989) Recent insights into the calcium channels. *Circulation* **80**(6 Suppl): IV14-16.

Zeng, H, Zhao, D, Mukhopadhyay, D (2002) KDR stimulates endothelial cell migration through heterotrimeric G protein Gq/11-mediated activation of a small GTPase RhoA. *J Biol Chem* **277**(48): 46791-46798.

Zhang, C, Buchanan, H, Andrews, W, Evans, A, Pass, RF (2006) Detection of cytomegalovirus infection during a vaccine clinical trial in healthy young women: seroconversion and viral shedding. *J Clin Virol* **35**(3): 338-342.

Zhang, G, Xu, S, Qian, Y, He, P (2010) Sphingosine-1-phosphate prevents permeability increases via activation of endothelial sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 in rat venules. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **299**(5): H1494-1504.

Zhao, HY, Liu, Q, Chi, BR (2005) [Role of endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor in shear stress-induced endothelium-dependent relaxations of rats]. *Yao Xue Xue Bao* **40**(6): 491-495.

Zhou, Z, Misler, S (1995) Action potential-induced quantal secretion of catecholamines from rat adrenal chromaffin cells. *J Biol Chem* **270**(8): 3498-3505.

Zhu, H, Cong, JP, Shenk, T (1997) Use of differential display analysis to assess the effect of human cytomegalovirus infection on the accumulation of cellular RNAs: induction of interferon-responsive RNAs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **94**(25): 13985-13990.

Zhu, H, Cong, JP, Yu, D, Bresnahan, WA, Shenk, TE (2002) Inhibition of cyclooxygenase 2 blocks human cytomegalovirus replication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**(6): 3932-3937.

Ziche, M, Morbidelli, L, Choudhuri, R, Zhang, HT, Donnini, S, Granger, HJ, Bicknell, R (1997) Nitric oxide synthase lies downstream from vascular endothelial growth factor-induced but not basic fibroblast growth factor-induced angiogenesis. *J Clin Invest* **99**(11): 2625-2634.

## Chapter 2

## **Material and Methods**

## 2.1 GENERAL MATERIAL AND METHODS

## 2.1.1 Animal model and tissue collection

Virgin C57B1/6J female mice were purchased from Jackson laboratories and housed in Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services at the University of Alberta. Some of the mice (numbers indicated in each figure legend) were infected with 10<sup>6</sup> plaque-forming units (PFU) of mCMV (RM427+; gift from E. Mocarski, Stanford University, Stanford, CA) by intraperitoneal injection as described previously (Stoddart et al., 1994). RM427+ contains a lacZ gene insertion in the nonessential immediate early 2 gene to allow detection of infectious virus by assessing  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity. Following a 5-day observational period, infected NP mice were either: a) euthanized by cervical dislocation 5-21 days after injection or b) bred 5-12 days after injection to male C57Bl/6J mice. This ensured that all infected mice were studied within one month of infection. Since infectious virus is still detectible in this time frame (Walton et al., 2008), it is unlikely that the results of this study were influenced by differences in length of time between viral injection and euthanization. Breeding of both mCMV-infected and uninfected mice was done overnight and the presence of a vaginal plug was confirmed the next day (day 0.5 of gestation). Controls were age-matched uninfected NP or LP mice. LP mice were euthanized on day 18.5 of gestation (D18.5); delivery normally occurs on D19.5 in C57Bl/6J mice. In a few cases where two D18.5 pregnant mice arose on the same day one was euthanized on D17.5. Only five D17.5 LP mice were used in total and no differences were observed for any vascular response measured between D17.5 and D18.5 LP mice. These data were therefore combined.

The mesentery and uterine horns with associated vasculature were dissected from each mouse and immediately placed in cold HEPES-buffered
physiological saline solution (PSS; 10mM HEPES, 1.56mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 142mM NaCl, 4.7mM KCl, 1.18mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 1.17mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, and 5.5mM glucose at pH 7.5) (Figure 2.1). These animal protocols were approved by the University of Alberta Animal Welfare Committee and followed the guidelines outlined by the Canada Council of Animal Care.



http://www.informatics.jax.org/cookbook/figures/figure73.shtml

Figure 2.1: The second-order mesenteric (A) and main uterine (B) artery were isolated and used for the vascular experiments. Both are small resistance-sized arteries (150-300 $\mu$ M). Note that the illustration in (B) is that of pregnant mouse.

#### 2.1.2 Pressure myograph studies

Second-order mesenteric and main uterine arteries were dissected free of adipose and connective tissue (Figure 2.2). In some cases both artery types were isolated from the same animal; however, in other cases separate animals were used for each artery type. In an arteriograph (Living Systems Instrumentation, Burlington, VT.), one end of an artery was mounted and tied onto a glass cannula (80–100µm diameter) which was connected to a pressure transducer, to modulate the intraluminal pressure through a servo-controlled peristaltic pump, as previously described (Figure 2.3) (Halpern et al., 1984; Hemmings et al., 2004). Residual blood was flushed out of the artery with a low flow (15µL/min) of PSS. The opposite end of the artery was then mounted and tied onto a second cannula and closed off with a valve to hold pressure and prevent flow. The cannulated arteries were held in a 2.5mL bath containing PSS that was replaced every 10 minutes before and after the dose-response curves. The bath temperature was maintained at 37°C, and the arteries were pressurized to 60mmHg (mesenteric arteries) or 50mmHg (uterine arteries) for 30 minutes. These pressures have been previously reported as optimal for vascular responses in these arteries (Gros *et al.*, 2002; Osol et al., 2008; Veerareddy et al., 2002). Arteries unable to maintain pressure were discarded and new arteries from those same animals were isolated and mounted. Following equilibration, initial lumen diameter was measured via a CCD video camera module (Sony) connected to a compound microscope (Olympus). Lumen diameter was measured digitally using a video dimension analyzer (Halpern et al., 1984).



**Figure 2.2: Diagram of a dissected artery free of adipose and connective tissue (tunica adventitia).** The primary cell types within the vascular wall include the endothelial cells (EC) within the tunica intima and the vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) within the tunica media. Blood, containing agents that modulate vascular tone, passes through the lumen.



**Figure 2.3: The pressure myograph system.** After mounting and pressurizing an artery, drugs can be added to the bath to interact with the vascular smooth muscle directly (**extraluminal addition; A**) or infused into the artery to interact with the endothelium directly (**intraluminal addition; B**).

#### 2.2 MATERIAL AND METHODS SPECIFIC FOR CHAPTER 3

For this section, active mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP C57Bl/6J mice were used to determine if an active mCMV infection affects systemic and uterine vasoconstriction and/or vasodilation responses in NP and LP states.

#### 2.2.1 Immunofluorescence

The heart, kidney, liver, lung, and spleen were isolated from three mCMVinfected and uninfected NP mice and tissues containing mesenteric and uterine arteries from three mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice were fixed in 4% formaldehyde overnight, washed with three 5-minute washes of phosphate buffered saline (PBS), and further incubated in 30% sucrose overnight. Tissues were then embedded into Tissue-Tek O.C.T. embedding medium (VWR), snapfrozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C. The frozen tissues were sliced on a cryostat in 5-7µm sections, mounted onto glass slides, dried overnight and stored at -80°C. Prior to staining, slides were thawed and dried for 1-2 hours, and fixed in cold methanol for 10 minutes at -20°C. Slides were immediately rinsed with three 10-minute washes of PBS. Sections were then circled with a PAP pen and blocked with 50µL of 10% normal goat serum (NGS; Cedarlane) in PBS for 3 hours. After removing the blocking agent,  $50\mu$ L of the primary antibody solution or blocking agent was added to each section, and incubated at 4°C overnight. The primary antibodies used for co-staining were rabbit anti-von Willebrand factor (1µg/mL; Sigma-Aldrich), as an endothelial cell marker (Wagner et al., 1991), and chicken anti-β-galactosidase (1µg/mL; Abcam, Massachusetts, USA), as a marker of LacZ activity and an active CMV infection. Both antibodies were diluted in 10% NGS. Following three 5-minute washes with PBS, each section was co-stained with Alexa Fluor-594 goat anti-rabbit (10µg/mL) and Alexa Fluor-488 goat anti-chicken (4µg/mL) secondary antibodies (Molecular Probes, Oregon, USA) for 45 minutes in the dark. After three 5-minute washes with PBS, 4',6diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; 0.915mg/mL; Invitrogen) was added for 15

minutes in the dark to stain the nuclei. Slides were then washed again with three 5-minute washes of PBS and  $45\mu$ L of Vectashield H:1000 (Vector Laboratories, Burlington, CA) was applied to each section. Coverslips were sealed to the slides which were then stored in the dark at 4°C. Stained sections were viewed with an Olympus IX81 fluorescent microscope (Olympus, Ontario, Canada) using Slidebook 2D, 3D Timelapse Imaging Software (Intelligent Imaging Innovations Inc., Colorado, USA).

#### 2.2.2 LacZ expression

Salivary glands, fetuses and placentas from five mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice were fixed and stained using the LacZ Detection Kit for Tissues (Invivogen, San Diego, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The lacZ gene, inserted in the dispensable mCMV immediate early 2 gene, produces  $\beta$ -galactosidase when the virus is actively replicating, providing a reporter of a productive mCMV infection (Stoddart *et al.*, 1994).  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity was visualized by the conversion of its substrate, X-gal, to yield a bluestained tissue. Photomicrographs were immediately taken.

#### 2.2.3 Extraluminal pressure myograph experimental design

Vasoconstriction in equilibrated mesenteric and uterine arteries (section 2.1.3) was assessed using a dose-response to the following drugs: 10nM to 10 $\mu$ M of phenylephrine (PE; Sigma-Aldrich), an  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic agonist, or 0.01nM-1 $\mu$ M U46619, a TxA<sub>2</sub> mimetic (Calbiochem). Each drug was added directly to the bath of the dual-chamber arteriograph containing the mesenteric or uterine artery in increasing cumulative doses. Arteries which did not constrict to PE or U46619 were discarded and new arteries from the same animal were isolated and mounted. Vasodilation was assessed by preconstricting arteries to approximately 50% with U46619 (mesentery) or PE (uterine) (Table 2.1) followed by a dose-response to the endothelium-dependent vasodilator methacholine (ME; 1nM to 10 $\mu$ M; Sigma-Aldrich). Each dose of ME was incubated for 3 minutes before adding the next

and the bath was not replaced with fresh PSS between doses. I found that mesenteric arteries from LP mice, regardless of infection, did not maintain constriction to PE over the time required to complete a vasodilation experiment. Therefore, I used U46619 in mesenteric arteries and PE in uterine arteries for preconstriction. To confirm that the response to these two vasoconstrictors did not differ between mCMV-infected and uninfected mice, vasoconstriction responses to PE and U46619 in uterine arteries from a subset of animals (mCMV-infected and uninfected NP mice) were compared. PE- and U46619-induced vasoconstriction in uterine arteries showed consistent results between mCMVinfected and uninfected mice (Figure 2.4A,B). The passive lumen diameter was recorded after a thorough washout with Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free EGTA-PSS (10mM HEPES, 142mM NaCl, 4.7mM KCl, 1.18mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 1.17mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, 2mM EGTA) and a 10-minute incubation with 100µM of papaverine (Sigma-Aldrich). The percent constriction was calculated as 1-L2/L1 x 100; where L1 is the initial lumen diameter and L2 is the arterial lumen diameter post-drug addition. The percent dilation was calculated as L2-L1/L1 x 100 and normalized to the artery diameter when fully relaxed (passive lumen diameter). Distensibility of arteries was measured using 3-minute step-wise increases in intraluminal pressures from 4mmHg to 170mmHg. Distensibility was calculated as D2-D1/D1 x 100; where D1 is the initial lumen diameter at 4mmHg and D2 is the lumen diameter at each pressure step as previously described (Mateev et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2001). Arteries tend to collapse at pressures less than 4mmHg and it was not possible to consistently measure the lumen diameter accurately; therefore the lumen diameter at 4mmHg was used as the initial starting diameter.

	Mesenteric arteries (U46619)	Uterine arteries (PE)
Uninfected NP:		
Avg. dose (μM)	0.736±0.484	2.01±0.661
Preconstriction (%)	48.9±1.80	52.2±2.09
mCMV-infected NP:		
Avg. dose (μM)	0.115±0.0441	2.46±1.02
Preconstriction (%)	50.7±1.78	53.8±3.74
Uninfected LP:		
Avg. dose (μM)	0.246±0.102	1.61±0.937
Preconstriction (%)	50.4±2.45	53.5±1.22
mCMV-infected LP:		
Avg. dose (μM)	0.209±0.0875	0.540±0.134
Preconstriction (%)	49.4±0.539	53.4±1.14

Table 2.1: Preconstriction values and average drug dose used for each vascular bed during extraluminal pressure myograph experiments. Preconstriction values using U46619 or PE were similar in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM. No significant differences in average dose used or preconstriction values in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected or uninfected NP and LP mice or in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected or uninfected NP and LP mice or in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected or uninfected NP and LP mice were determined by two-way ANOVA and the Bonferroni post-hoc analysis (p>0.05). It is important to note that these values were not used in the calculation for percent dilation.



Figure 2.4: Vasoconstriction of uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP mice. No difference in vasoconstriction of uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP mice was detected after extraluminal addition of PE (A) or U46619 (B). Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM percent decrease in arterial lumen diameter at each dose of PE or U46619 compared to the lumen diameter prior to drug addition. No significant difference between the curves was determined by Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA and no significant difference between specific points on the curves was determined with Holm Sidak's post-hoc analysis (p>0.05). n=number of animals.

#### **2.2.4 Statistics**

Data collected were averaged by group (mCMV-infected and uninfected; NP and LP; mesenteric and uterine) and treatment (PE; U46619; ME). Data which were at least two standard deviations from the mean were not included in the analysis (<5% of all values). Vascular responses were compared with Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA followed by Holm-Sidak's post-hoc analysis to determine significance. Differences in fetal and placental weights and ratios were determined by taking the mean of the average values from each litter, and comparing the two groups with a Student's t-test. The EC<sub>50</sub> was calculated for each set of sigmoidal-shaped curves. The EC<sub>50</sub> values for the ME dose-response curves for mesenteric arteries could not be calculated as these curves were not sigmoidal. EC<sub>50s</sub> were compared using a Student's t-test. Significance was accepted at p<0.05.

#### 2.3 MATERIAL AND METHODS SPECIFIC FOR CHAPTER 4

For this section, active mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP C57Bl/6J mice were used to determine the intracellular vasodilatory pathways in systemic and uterine arteries affected by an active mCMV infection.

#### 2.3.1 Extraluminal pressure myograph experimental design

For each pair of mesenteric or uterine arteries mounted on the dualchamber pressure arteriograph, one artery was pre-treated with 100 $\mu$ M of the NOS-1/2/3 inhibitor N<sup>G</sup>-nitro-L-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME; Calbiochem) (Cicala *et al.*, 2003; Williams *et al.*, 2005), 1 $\mu$ M of the PGHS-1/2 inhibitor meclofenamate (meclo; Sigma-Aldrich) (Williams *et al.*, 2005), 10 $\mu$ M of the TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist SQ29548 (Cayman Chemical) (Monshizadegan *et al.*, 1992; Pannirselvam *et al.*, 2005), or the combinations of L-NAME with meclo or L-NAME with SQ29548 (Figure 2.5A,B). For each inhibitor tested, a second untreated artery was always tested simultaneously to provide a direct comparison of arteries taken from the same animal. Following measurement of the initial lumen diameter, one or a combination of inhibitors were incubated for 30 min in one of the two baths while the other artery remained untreated. I did not observe any differences in baseline vascular tone in response to the addition of any inhibitor or combination of inhibitors compared to untreated arteries. After recording the lumen diameters, both arteries were then preconstricted to approximately 50% with U46619 (mesenteric arteries) or PE (uterine arteries; mesenteric arteries with SQ29548) (Table 2.1). Endothelium-dependent vasodilation was then assessed in response to increasing concentrations of ME (1nM to 10µM). ME dose-response curves in the presence of SQ29548 following PE-induced preconstriction were completed within 20 minutes (2.5-minute incubation per dose of ME) to ensure PE-induced preconstricted arteries in response to sodium nitroprusside (SNP; 0.1nM to 10µM; Sigma-Aldrich) (Figure 2.5C). The percent dilation was calculated as described in section 2.2.3.



Figure 2.5: Diagram describing which signalling pathway each inhibitor affects. L-NAME is a competitive inhibitor for NOS in the vascular endothelium (A). Meclo blocks PGHS-1/2 activity in the endothelium whereas SQ29548 is a specific TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist which can block vasoconstriction in the vascular smooth muscle cells (B). SNP is a NO donor which induces vasodilation independent of the endothelium (C). EC: endothelial cells; VSMC: vascular smooth muscle cells; ME: methacholine; L-arg: L-arginine; NOS: nitric oxide synthase; GTP: guanine triphosphate; cGMP: cyclic guanine monophosphate; PGHS-1/2: prostaglandin H synthase 1/2; PGH<sub>2</sub>: prostaglandin H<sub>2</sub>; PGI<sub>2</sub>: prostacyclin; PGD<sub>2</sub>: prostaglandin D<sub>2</sub>; PGE<sub>2</sub>: prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>; PGF<sub>2α</sub>: prostaglandin F<sub>2α</sub>; TxA<sub>2</sub>: thromboxane; SNP: sodium nitroprusside.

#### 2.3.2. Quantitative Reverse Transcriptase (RT)-qPCR

Quantitative RT-qPCR was performed on dissected arteries immediately snap frozen following dissection and stored at -80°C. For each reaction, arteries were pooled from five to ten animals of the same status, and RNA was extracted with Trizol reagent. RNA was diluted in 10uL of RNAse-free sterile water and the concentration was determined with the Nanodrop (ND-1000 Spectrophotometer; Nanodrop Technologies Inc., Wilmington, DE) to ensure it was greater than or equal to 200ng/µL. RT was performed using the qScript cDNA supermix (Quanta Biosciences; Gaithersburg, MD) with 200ng/uL of extracted RNA. One tenth  $(20ng/\mu L)$  of cDNA samples were used for real-time PCR within 24 hours of the RT reaction. Real-time PCR was run using the Perfecta qPCR Fastmix (Quanta Biosciences), 20ng/µL of cDNA obtained from the RT reaction, and NOS-3specific (Fagan et al., 2001) and beta-actin (Maeda et al., 2007) specific primers and probes (20µL reaction). The forward NOS-3 primer (5' to 3') is TCTGCGGCGATGTCACTATG, the reverse NOS-3 primer (5' to 3') is CATGCCGCCCTCTGTTG, and the NOS-3 probe (5' to 3') is CCAGCGTCCTGCAAACCGTGC. The beta-actin probe and primers came predeveloped for TaqMan assays from Applied Biosystems (# 4352933E). The PCR conditions were 1 cycle at 45°C for 2 minutes, 1 cycle at 95°C for 30 seconds, and then 40 cycles of the amplification step (95°C for 10 seconds and 60°C (beta-actin) or 58°C (NOS-3) for 30 seconds) in the iCycler. To determine the amount of NOS-3 mRNA in each sample, levels were normalized to the positive control  $\beta$ -actin (did not differ between groups) as an mRNA ratio (Pfaffl *et al.*, 2002). PCR was repeated 3-4 times and samples that did not produce reliable  $\beta$ -actin results (cycle threshold > 29 cycles) were not included in the analysis.

#### 2.3.3 Immunofluorescence

Mesenteric and uterine tissues were isolated, fixed and embedded in Tissue-Tek O.C.T. embedding medium and slides were prepared as described in section 2.2.1. The primary antibodies used were rabbit polyclonal NOS-2 ( $2\mu$ g/mL; Abcam) and rabbit polyclonal NOS-1 (1:800 dilution of whole serum; Abcam). Rabbit polyclonal NOS-3 ( $2\mu$ g/mL and  $4\mu$ g/mL; Abcam) was also tried but following optimization and troubleshooting techniques, including antigen retrieval, specific staining was not successful on the fixed tissue. Following three 5-minute washes with PBS, each section was incubated with Alexa Fluor-488 goat anti-rabbit ( $10\mu$ g/mL) secondary antibody (Molecular Probes, Oregon, USA) for 45 minutes in the dark. After three 5-minute washes with PBS, DAPI (0.915mg/mL) was added for 15 minutes in the dark to stain the nuclei. Stained sections were prepared as described in section 2.2.1 for visualization on the fluorescent microscope.

#### 2.3.4 Statistics

Data collected from the extraluminal pressure myograph experiments were averaged by group (mCMV-infected and uninfected; NP and LP; mesenteric and uterine) and treatment (ME  $\pm$  L-NAME, meclo, or SQ29548; SNP) and then compared as described in section 2.2.4. The mean area under each dose-response curve was also calculated. The mean area under the inhibitor curve was subtracted from the mean area under the control curve for each data set. The single value generated for the arteries from uninfected mice was then compared with that generated for the mCMV-infected mice using a Student's t-test. The EC<sub>50s</sub> and IC<sub>50s</sub> were calculated for each set of sigmoidal-shaped curves. The EC<sub>50</sub>/IC<sub>50</sub> values for the ME  $\pm$  inhibitor dose-response curves for mesenteric arteries could not be calculated as these curves were not sigmoidal. EC<sub>50s</sub>/IC<sub>50s</sub> were compared using a Student's t-test. mRNA ratios from RT-qPCR were compared using a two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis to determine significance. Significance was accepted at p<0.05.

#### 2.4 MATERIAL AND METHODS SPECIFIC FOR CHAPTER 5

For this section, active mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP C57Bl/6J mice were used to determine how the bioactive sphingolipid S1P affects systemic and uterine vasconstriction and endothelium-dependent vasodilation responses during pregnancy, in the presence or absence of an active mCMV infection.

#### 2.4.1 Extraluminal pressure myograph experimental design

For each pair of mesenteric or uterine arteries mounted on the dualchamber pressure arteriograph, one artery was pre-treated with 100 $\mu$ M of L-NAME, 10 $\mu$ M of the S1P<sub>1/3</sub> antagonist VPC23019 (Avanti Polar Lipids) (Salomone *et al.*, 2008), or 1 $\mu$ M of the PGHS-1/2 inhibitor meclo for 30 minutes in PSS with 0.1% fatty acid-free Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA; Sigma-Aldrich), a carrier for S1P. The other artery was left untreated in 0.1% BSA-PSS for 30 minutes. To ensure the BSA used was fatty-acid free, as stated by the manufacturer, it was analyzed by high-pressure liquid chromatography to measure the absolute amount of fatty acid. The Sigma-Aldrich BSA was compared to fattyacid free BSA stocks from two other companies. The fatty-acid free BSA from Sigma-Aldrich contained 0.0005% fatty acid, very comparable to that from Akron and significantly lower to that from Equitech. Increasing concentrations (100nM to 10 $\mu$ M) of S1P (BioMol/Enzo Life Sciences) diluted in 0.1% BSA-PSS was added directly to the bath with or without the inhibitor/antagonist (extraluminal addition) and the corresponding change in lumen diameter was measured using a visual dimension analyzer as described in section 2.2.3. These results were calculated as percent constriction using 1-L2/L1 x 100; where L1 is the initial lumen diameter following the inhibitor addition in the 0.1% BSA-PSS bath and L2 is the arterial lumen diameter post-S1P addition as described in section 2.2.3. In some experiments, following the last dose of S1P (10 $\mu$ M) the ROCK kinase inhibitor Y27632 (10 $\mu$ M; Calbiochem) (Hemmings *et al.*, 2006; Wamhoff *et al.*, 2008) was added to the bath and incubated for 10 minutes. The reversal of constriction was calculated as S2-S1/S1 x 100; where S1 is the lumen diameter following the maximal dose of S1P (10 $\mu$ M) and S2 is the lumen diameter following the Y27632 incubation.

#### 2.4.2 Intraluminal pressure myograph experimental design

I developed a novel technique to measure vascular responses to drugs that interact directly with the endothelium using the pressure myograph system. Prior to mounting a single artery, the tubing connected to one cannula was loaded with 290µL of PSS followed by 2cm of air and a second solution of 200µL of 0.1% BSA-PSS or 0.1% BSA-S1P. The 2cm air bubble loaded between each solution was too small to pass through the transducer and reach the artery, but was large enough to prevent mixing of solutions prior to the transducer. The reagents were pumped through the tubing until the PSS lead solution reached the end of the glass cannula (no air). One end of the artery was mounted onto the opposite cannula to flush out the residual blood and then the other end was tied onto the cannula attached to the loaded tubing. Following the 30-minute pressurization steps, the artery was incubated for three 10-minute washes in 0.1% BSA-PSS with or without 100µM of L-NAME or 10µM VPC23019. Arteries were then preconstricted to approximately 50% with U46619 (Table 2.2). A low-flow (30µL/min) was administered to infuse the PSS (9 minutes) followed by 0.1% BSA-PSS, 0.1% BSA-0.1µM S1P or 0.1% BSA-1µM S1P (7 minutes) into the lumen of the pressurized artery. These S1P concentrations were chosen because they correspond to the physiological level of circulating S1P in the nanomolar to micromolar range (Igarashi *et al.*, 2009). After each flow step, the artery was allowed to equilibrate with no flow for 3 minutes and the lumen diameter was measured. In a separate group of arteries, the endothelium was removed by infusion of air prior to treatment with 0.1% BSA-S1P (0.1µM) to examine the endothelium-dependent effect. Addition of the endothelium-dependent vasodilator ME (10µM) to the bath was used to confirm the removal of the endothelium (no vasodilation response in constricted arteries). Percent dilation was calculated using L2-L1/L1 x 100; where L1 is the initial lumen diameter to infused PSS and L2 is the lumen diameter after infusion of 0.1% BSA-PSS or 0.1% BSA-S1P. The percent dilation was then normalized to the passive lumen diameter as described in section 2.2.3.

	Mesenteric arteries (U46619)	Uterine arteries (U46619)
Uninfected NP:		
Avg. dose (μM)	0.418±0.0856	0.309±0.0807
Preconstriction (%)	50.1±2.73	50.2±3.43
mCMV-infected NP:		
Avg. dose (µM)	0.827±0.311	0.755±0.334
Preconstriction (%)	50.5±2.55	50.6±2.38
Uninfected LP:		
Avg. dose (µM)	0.571±0.0485	0.787±0.198
Preconstriction (%)	49.8±2.25	62.9±1.74 *
mCMV-infected LP:		
Avg. dose (µM)	0.531±0.0313	0.505±0.0328
Preconstriction (%)	50.1±2.55	60.2±2.13 *

Table 2.2: Preconstriction values and average drug dose used for each vascular bed after flow-induced equilibration during intraluminal pressure myograph experiments. Preconstriction (~50%) following U46619 addition was maintained after flow in all groups except uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice (~60%). Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM. A significant difference between preconstriction values in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice following U46619-induced preconstriction was determined by two-way ANOVA and the Bonferroni post-hoc analysis and symbolized with an \* (p<0.05). It is important to note that these values were not used in the calculation for percent dilation.

#### 2.4.3 Statistics

Data collected from the extraluminal and intraluminal pressure myograph experiments were averaged by group (mCMV-infected and uninfected; NP and LP; mesenteric and uterine) and treatment (S1P  $\pm$  L-NAME or VPC23019, 0.1% BSA-PSS, and PSS; S1P concentration; S1P  $\pm$  endothelium). Extraluminal S1P responses were compared as described in sections 2.2.4 and 2.3.4. Y27632induced reversal of vasoconstriction induced by extraluminally applied S1P was compared between groups (mCMV-infected and uninfected) using a Student's ttest. Intraluminal S1P responses at  $0.1\mu M$  and  $1\mu M$  were also compared between groups (mCMV-infected and uninfected) using a Student's t-test. Intraluminal and extraluminal S1P responses in each group were compared between concentrations (0.1µM and 1µM S1P) using a two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post hoc analysis. Vascular responses in each group were compared between treatments (intraluminal and extraluminal PSS, 0.1% BSA-PSS, and 0.1% BSA-S1P) using a one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis. Intraluminal vascular responses were compared by group (NP and LP; mesenteric and uterine) and treatment (S1P  $\pm$  L-NAME or VPC23019, 0.1% BSA-PSS, and PSS; S1P  $\pm$ endothelium) using a two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis. Significance was accepted at p<0.05.

#### 2.5 MATERIAL AND METHODS SPECIFIC FOR CHAPTER 6

For this section, active mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP C57Bl/6J mice were used to determine how direct virus to endothelium interactions may contribute to altered systemic and uterine endothelium-dependent vasodilation responses in comparison to effects of a systemic infection.

#### 2.5.1 Intraluminal pressure myograph experimental design

The same infusion technique was used as described in section 2.4.2. For mesenteric and uterine arteries isolated from uninfected mice, the tubing connected to one cannula was loaded with 290µL of PSS with or without gB (1µg/mL) or infectious mCMV (~10 multiplicity of infection (MOI)) followed by 2cm of air and 200µL of a single dose of ME diluted in PSS, PSS alone (control) or the fibroblast cell culture medium obtained by filtering out the virus with a 0.1µM filter (filtered virus control). These concentrations of gB and mCMV were chosen because it has been previously demonstrated that similar activation of intracellular signalling and IFN-responsive gene expression occur at these doses of gB and CMV (Boyle et al., 1999). For mesenteric and uterine arteries isolated from mCMV-infected mice, the tubing was infused with 290µL of PSS followed by 2cm of air and 200µL of one dose of ME diluted in PSS or PSS alone (control). For all experiments, the artery was then mounted and following the 30minute pressurization steps, a low-flow  $(30\mu L/min)$  was administered to arteries for 20 seconds every 10 minutes over a 30-minute to 1-hour period to allow viral attachment/early entry (no significant difference at either time point). CMV is the largest member of the *Herpesviridae* family and as such has a long replication cycle (up to 48-72 hours) (Britt, 2010; Mocarski, 1996). Therefore, a 30-minute to 1-hour incubation with infectious mCMV is enough time for viral attachment and possibly early entry, but is not sufficient for CMV viral gene expression, replication, or egress (Mocarski, 1996). Arteries were then preconstricted to approximately 50% with the addition of U46619 to the bath (Table 2.2). Flow was resumed for 9 minutes (PSS solution), stopped for 3 minutes, and the lumen diameter was recorded. Flow was then again resumed for approximately 7 minutes (until the single dose of ME was reached), stopped for 3 minutes, and lumen diameter was again recorded. Multiple arteries from each animal were used to obtain results for each dose of ME (1nM to  $10\mu$ M). Because gB and infectious mCMV pre-treatment gave similar ME-induced vasodilation results in mesenteric and uterine arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice, the following inhibitor experiments were performed on arteries pre-treated with gB only. To determine the effect of vasoconstrictory prostanoids on vascular tone after ME infusion, some mesenteric arteries pre-treated with or without gB from uninfected mice or

some mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice were incubated in the bath with the PGHS-1/2 inhibitor meclo  $(1\mu M)$  or the TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist SQ29548 (10µM). These pre-treatments were followed by preconstriction with U46619 (meclo) or PE (SQ29548) (Table 2.3) followed by infusion of the vasodilator ME (1µM and 10µM). To confirm that there were no differences in ME-induced vasodilation with U46619- and PE-induced preconstriction as used with meclo and SQ29548, respectively, ME responses were measured after each in the absence of inhibitors (ME response obtained within 20 minutes of PEinduced preconstriction). There was no significant difference in ME-induced vasodilation between U46619- and PE-induced preconstriction (Figure 2.6). To determine if the increased vasodilation to infused ME in uterine arteries could be seen with other vasodilators, bradykinin (1µM; Sigma-Aldrich) was also tested on uterine arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice infused with or without gB or uterine arteries from mCMV-infected mice. The percent dilation was calculated as  $L2-L1/L1 \ge 100$ ; where L1 is the initial lumen diameter after flow into the PSS with or without gB or infectious mCMV pre-treatment and L2 is the lumen diameter after the ME, bradykinin, PSS control or filtered virus control. The percent dilation was then normalized to the passive lumen diameter as described in section 2.2.3.

	Mesenteric arteries (U46619)	Mesenteric arteries (PE)
Uninfected NP:		
Avg. dose (μM)	0.418±0.0856	25.8±6.48
Preconstriction (%)	50.1±2.73	35.0±4.52 *
mCMV-infected NP:		
Avg. dose (μM)	0.827±0.311	22.5±5.32
Preconstriction (%)	50.5±2.55	36.0±3.03 *
Uninfected LP:		
Avg. dose (µM)	0.571±0.0485	35.0±9.49
Preconstriction (%)	49.8±2.25	24.9±3.87 *
mCMV-infected LP:		
Avg. dose (µM)	0.531±0.0313	35.0±9.49
Preconstriction (%)	50.1±2.55	24.0±4.72 *

Table 2.3: Preconstriction values using U46619 versus PE (with SQ29548) and average drug dose used in mesenteric arteries after flow-induced equilibration during intraluminal pressure myograph experiments. Preconstriction values in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected or uninfected mice following U46619 or PE addition were compared in NP and LP groups. Preconstriction of mesenteric arteries with PE (maximal dose) was decreased compared to U46619-induced preconstriction in mCMV-infected and uninfected NP or LP mice. A significant difference was determined by two-way ANOVA and the Bonferroni post-hoc analysis and symbolized with an \* (p<0.05). It is important to note that these values were not used in the calculation for percent dilation.



Figure 2.6: ME (1µM) responses for mesenteric arteries following U46619- or PE-induced preconstriction. Arteries were isolated and compared from mCMV-infected (CMV) and uninfected (UN) NP and LP mice. Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM percent increase in arterial lumen diameter compared to the passive lumen diameter in the presence of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium and papaverine. No significant difference between the bars in each animal group was determined by Student's t-test (p>0.05). n=4-7 animals.

#### 2.5.2 Statistics

Intraluminal vascular responses were averaged and compared between groups (mCMV-infected and uninfected  $\pm$  gB or mCMV) and treatment (ME concentration: 1nM to 10µM) using multiple two-way ANOVAs followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis to determine significance. As described in section 2.4.2, intraluminal vascular responses with different treatments (ME  $\pm$  meclo or SQ29548; bradykinin) were averaged and compared between groups (mCMVinfected and uninfected  $\pm$  gB) using a one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis to determine significance. Significance was accepted at p<0.05.

#### 2.6 MATERIAL AND METHODS SPECIFIC FOR CHAPTER 7

For this section, active mCMV-infected and uninfected LP C57BI/6J and NP and LP Balb/cJ mice were used to determine if there were any effects of a maternal CMV infection on fetal or placental development, independent of a congenital CMV infection, in mice genotypically resistant (C57BI/6J) or susceptible (Balb/cJ) to CMV. Systemic and uterine cholinergic vasodilation responses were also measured in active mCMV-infected and uninfected NP Balb/cJ mice to compare with those responses observed in C57BI/6J mice.

#### 2.6.1 Fetal and placenta weights and fetal to placental ratios

The fetuses and placentas were isolated from pregnant mice only at D18.5. They were dissected free of fetal membranes and uterine tissue, blotted to remove excess liquid, and the wet weights were recorded for each fetus and placenta individually. The fetal to placental ratios were also determined.

#### 2.6.2 Balb/cJ mouse strain

Virgin Balb/cJ mice were purchased from Jackson laboratories and housed in Health Sciences Laboratory Animal Services at the University of Alberta. Half of the mice were infected with  $10^{6}$ PFU,  $5x10^{6}$ PFU, or  $10^{5}$ PFU of mCMV RM427+ and half of the mice remained uninfected as described in section 2.1.1. Breeding was performed with 10 uninfected and 15 mCMV-infected (5 mice/dose) mice. All mice were tested for vaginal plugs and weighed at midgestation to confirm the pregnancies. The pregnancy success rate was defined as confirmed pregnancies following the presence of a vaginal plug. Intraluminal pressure myograph vascular studies were completed on 5 mCMV-infected and 5 uninfected NP Balb/cJ mice.

#### 2.6.3 Intraluminal pressure myograph experimental design

Mesenteric and uterine arteries were isolated from NP Balb/cJ mice agematched to the NP C57Bl/6J mice. The tubing was loaded with 290µL of PSS followed by 2cm of air and 200 $\mu$ L of one dose of ME (10nM to 10 $\mu$ M) diluted in PSS or just PSS (control). Arteries were preconstricted with U46619 (Table 2.2) and reagents were infused, diameters were recorded, and the percent dilation was calculated as described in sections 2.4.2 and 2.5.1.

#### 2.6.4 Statistics

Intraluminal vascular responses were averaged and compared between groups (mCMV-infected and uninfected) and treatment (ME concentration: 10nM to 10 $\mu$ M) using a two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis to determine significance, as described in section 2.5.2. Significance was accepted at p<0.05.

#### **2.7 REFERENCES**

Boyle, KA, Pietropaolo, RL, Compton, T (1999) Engagement of the cellular receptor for glycoprotein B of human cytomegalovirus activates the interferon-responsive pathway. *Mol Cell Biol* **19**(5): 3607-3613.

Britt, WJ (2010) Human cytomegalovirus: propagation, quantification, and storage. *Curr Protoc Microbiol* Chapter 14: Unit 14E 13.

Cicala, C, Morello, S, Iorio, C, Capasso, R, Borrelli, F, Mascolo, N (2003) Vascular effects of caffeic acid phenethyl ester (CAPE) on isolated rat thoracic aorta. *Life Sci* **73**(1): 73-80.

Fagan, KA, Morrissey, B, Fouty, BW, Sato, K, Harral, JW, Morris, KG, Jr., Hoedt-Miller, M, Vidmar, S, McMurtry, IF, Rodman, DM (2001) Upregulation of nitric oxide synthase in mice with severe hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. *Respir Res* **2**(5): 306-313.

Gros, R, Van Wert, R, You, X, Thorin, E, Husain, M (2002) Effects of age, gender, and blood pressure on myogenic responses of mesenteric arteries from C57BL/6 mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **282**(1): H380-388.

Halpern, W, Osol, G, Coy, GS (1984) Mechanical behavior of pressurized in vitro prearteriolar vessels determined with a video system. *Ann Biomed Eng* **12**(5): 463-479.

Hemmings, DG, Hudson, NK, Halliday, D, O'Hara, M, Baker, PN, Davidge, ST, Taggart, MJ (2006) Sphingosine-1-phosphate acts via rho-associated kinase and nitric oxide to regulate human placental vascular tone. *Biol Reprod* **74**(1): 88-94.

Hemmings, DG, Xu, Y, Davidge, ST (2004) Sphingosine 1-phosphate-induced vasoconstriction is elevated in mesenteric resistance arteries from aged female rats. *Br J Pharmacol* **143**(2): 276-284.

Igarashi, J, Michel, T (2009) Sphingosine-1-phosphate and modulation of vascular tone. *Cardiovasc Res* **82**(2): 212-220.

Maeda, K, Lee, DS, Yanagimoto Ueta, Y, Suzuki, H (2007) Expression of uterine sensitization-associated gene-1 (USAG-1) in the mouse uterus during the periimplantation period. *J Reprod Dev* **53**(4): 931-936.

Mateev, SN, Mouser, R, Young, DA, Mecham, RP, Moore, LG (2006) Chronic hypoxia augments uterine artery distensibility and alters the circumferential wall stress-strain relationship during pregnancy. *J Appl Physiol* **100**(6): 1842-1850.

Mocarski, ES (1996) Cytomegaloviruses and their replication. In: *Fields Virology*, Fields, BN, Knipe, DM, Howley, PM (eds), pp 2447-2492. Philadelphia: Lippencott-Raven.

Monshizadegan, H, Hedberg, A, Webb, ML (1992) Characterization of binding of a specific antagonist, [3H]-SQ 29,548, to soluble thromboxane A2/prostaglandin H2 (TP) receptors in human platelet membranes. *Life Sci* **51**(6): 431-437.

Osol, G, Celia, G, Gokina, N, Barron, C, Chien, E, Mandala, M, Luksha, L, Kublickiene, K (2008) Placental growth factor is a potent vasodilator of rat and human resistance arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **294**(3): H1381-1387.

Pannirselvam, M, Wiehler, WB, Anderson, T, Triggle, CR (2005) Enhanced vascular reactivity of small mesenteric arteries from diabetic mice is associated with enhanced oxidative stress and cyclooxygenase products. *Br J Pharmacol* **144**(7): 953-960.

Pfaffl, MW, Horgan, GW, Dempfle, L (2002) Relative expression software tool (REST) for group-wise comparison and statistical analysis of relative expression results in real-time PCR. *Nucleic Acids Res* **30**(9): e36.

Salomone, S, Potts, EM, Tyndall, S, Ip, PC, Chun, J, Brinkmann, V, Waeber, C (2008) Analysis of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors involved in constriction of isolated cerebral arteries with receptor null mice and pharmacological tools. *Br J Pharmacol* **153**(1): 140-147.

Stoddart, CA, Cardin, RD, Boname, JM, Manning, WC, Abenes, GB, Mocarski, ES (1994) Peripheral blood mononuclear phagocytes mediate dissemination of murine cytomegalovirus. *J Virol* **68**(10): 6243-6253.

Veerareddy, S, Cooke, CL, Baker, PN, Davidge, ST (2002) Vascular adaptations to pregnancy in mice: effects on myogenic tone. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **283**(6): H2226-2233.

Wagner, DD, Bonfanti, R (1991) von Willebrand factor and the endothelium. *Mayo Clin Proc* **66**(6): 621-627.

Walton, SM, Wyrsch, P, Munks, MW, Zimmermann, A, Hengel, H, Hill, AB, Oxenius, A (2008) The dynamics of mouse cytomegalovirus-specific CD4 T cell responses during acute and latent infection. *J Immunol* **181**(2): 1128-1134.

Wamhoff, BR, Lynch, KR, Macdonald, TL, Owens, GK (2008) Sphingosine-1phosphate receptor subtypes differentially regulate smooth muscle cell phenotype. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **28**(8): 1454-1461.

Williams, SJ, Hemmings, DG, Mitchell, JM, McMillen, IC, Davidge, ST (2005) Effects of maternal hypoxia or nutrient restriction during pregnancy on endothelial function in adult male rat offspring. *J Physiol* **565**(Pt 1): 125-135.

Zhang, Y, Stewart, KG, Davidge, ST (2001) Endogenous estrogen mediates vascular reactivity and distensibility in pregnant rat mesenteric arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **280**(3): H956-961.

#### Chapter 3

### Vascular Function in Mice with an Active Cytomegalovirus Infection

(The majority of data presented in this chapter was published in 2009 in *American Journal of Physiology: Heart and Circulatory Physiology* 296: H937-H945 in an article entitled "Impaired vascular function in mice with an active Cytomegalovirus infection," by R.B. Gombos, V. Wolan, K. McDonald, and D.G. Hemmings. Although the majority of results in each of the figures I performed, V. Wolan and K. McDonald contributed equally to some of the results in Figure 3.5.)

#### **3.1 INTRODUCTION**

HCMV is associated with several vascular diseases including atherosclerosis and vasculopathy, particularly in immunosuppressed individuals who have reduced immune function, such as transplant recipients (Einsele et al., 2008; Freeman, 2009; Melnick et al., 1995; Persoons et al., 1998; Sweet, 1999). However, little is known about how a CMV infection affects vascular function under otherwise normal or mildly inflammatory conditions. It has been demonstrated that a fully active HCMV infection or viral attachment alone stimulates an inflammatory response involving cytokines, ROS, and prostanoids (Compton et al., 2003; Speir et al., 1996; Zhu et al., 1997). Viral-induced production of inflammatory cytokines (Koskinen et al., 1999) and increased expression of adhesion molecules on the surface of infected endothelial cells (Rahbar et al., 2005) implicate HCMV in endothelial dysfunction and consequent vascular inflammatory diseases, such as atherosclerosis and coronary heart disease (Espinola-Klein et al., 2002; Grahame-Clarke, 2005). Moreover, vascular dysfunction in the presence of a HCMV infection may also be attributed to altered NOS and/or PGHS activity (Hooks et al., 2006; Shen et al., 2006; Tanaka et al., 2001) or increased vasoconstrictors, such as catecholamines (Rubin, 2001).

Nevertheless, direct connections between HCMV, endothelial dysfunction and vascular diseases remain unknown.

HCMV is also associated with pregnancy complications including preeclampsia (Grahame-Clarke, 2005; von Dadelszen *et al.*, 2003) and IUGR (Brown *et al.*, 1998; von Dadelszen *et al.*, 2003). Preeclampsia is diagnosed as the *de novo* onset of hypertension (blood pressure >140/90 mmHg) with proteinuria after 20 weeks gestation. Other characteristics of preeclampsia include an enhanced inflammatory state, platelet activation, generalized vasoconstriction and reduced organ perfusion (Friedman *et al.*, 1991). IUGR occurs when fetuses do not reach their full growth potential (Danielian *et al.*, 1992). It may result from reduced uterine blood flow as described in both animal models and humans (Anderson *et al.*, 2005; Lang *et al.*, 2003; Sholook *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, normal vascular adaptations of the systemic and uterine vasculature during pregnancy are very important for maintenance of pregnancy and proper fetal growth and development (Carbillon *et al.*, 2000; Magness *et al.*, 1994).

Due to potential placental transmission of HCMV to the fetus, it is difficult to determine if IUGR results from a direct fetal infection or indirectly through maternal or placental HCMV-associated vascular complications. To circumvent this problem, I used a mouse model of CMV infection (mCMV) which reportedly does not cross the placenta (Johnson, 1969). Based on the association between HCMV and vascular dysfunction, I hypothesize that an active *in vivo* CMV infection will increase vasoconstriction and decrease vasodilation in systemic and uterine arteries from NP female mice. I further hypothesize that these impaired vascular responses will be more evident in pregnancy Mesenteric arteries contribute to peripheral vascular resistance and have been used extensively in the literature to represent the systemic vasculature (Christensen *et al.*, 1993). Uterine arteries play an important role in reproduction. I show for the first time that, contrary to my hypothesis, an acute mCMV infection in both NP and LP mice leads to decreased vasoconstriction and increased vasodilation in mesenteric arteries. Vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice is also increased. In contrast and in agreement with my hypothesis, I show increased vasoconstriction and decreased vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice.

#### **3.2 RESULTS**

# 3.2.1 LacZ expression in tissues from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice

The heart, kidney, liver, lung and spleen were strongly positive for the  $\beta$ -galactosidase enzyme in mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP mice (Figure 3.1A). In addition, the endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells of mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice were also positive for the  $\beta$ -galactosidase enzyme compared to uninfected NP and LP mice (Figure 3.1B).

In LP mice sacrificed on D18.5, no  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity was detected in any of the fetuses examined (Figure 3.2). However, there was greater  $\beta$ galactosidase activity detected on the maternal (Figure 3.2B) compared to fetal (inset) side of the placenta from mCMV-infected LP mice.

## **3.2.2** Passive lumen diameters of mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected mice

Passive lumen diameters in second-order mesenteric arteries from uninfected mice were significantly increased in LP compared to NP (LP:  $223\pm9.7\mu$ m, NP:  $189\pm5.1\mu$ m; p<0.01). This adaptive response to pregnancy in mesenteric arteries was absent in mCMV-infected mice (LP:  $217\pm4.7\mu$ m, NP:  $209\pm8.2\mu$ m; NS). In uterine arteries, passive lumen diameters were significantly increased in mCMV-infected LP versus NP mice (LP:  $287\pm18.3\mu$ m, NP:  $187\pm11.8\mu$ m; p<0.01) similarly to uninfected mice (LP:  $283\pm13.0\mu$ m, NP:  $173\pm5.9\mu$ m; p<0.01).

### **3.2.3 PE-induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric and uterine arteries from** mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice

In uterine arteries from NP mice, there was no difference in vasoconstriction to the  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic agonist PE between mCMV-infected and uninfected mice (Figure 3.3A). However, maximal PE-induced vasoconstriction in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice was significantly greater (p<0.05) than in uterine arteries from uninfected LP mice (Figure 3.3B). In this animal model, the PE response was not significantly reduced in uterine arteries from LP compared to NP mice, regardless of mCMV infection status (compare Figure 3.3A,B).

In contrast to the uterine arteries from mCMV-infected mice, the sensitivity to PE was significantly decreased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP (EC<sub>50</sub>: 545 $\pm$ 76.7nM) compared to uninfected NP (EC<sub>50</sub>: 239 $\pm$ 24.5nM) mice and in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected LP (EC<sub>50</sub>: 460 $\pm$ 83.5nM) compared to uninfected LP (EC<sub>50</sub>: 77.5 $\pm$ 14.2nM) mice (p<0.05; Figure 3.4A,B).

## 3.2.4 ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice

Although a dose-response to PE could be evaluated in mesenteric arteries, the vasoconstriction to a single dose was not stable for longer than 25 minutes and so could not be used for preconstriction in vasodilation studies. In addition, there was a significant difference in the PE dose required for 50% vasoconstriction in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice (Figure 3.4A,B). The TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub> mimetic U46619 was therefore used as a preconstrictor for mesenteric arteries. To determine whether mCMV affects responses to this vasoconstrictor, a dose-response curve for U46619 was done on the mesenteric arteries. In both NP and LP mice, there were no significant differences in U46619-induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected mice (Figures 3.4C,D).

The vasodilation response to increasing concentrations of the cholinergic endothelium-dependent vasodilator ME was measured in mesenteric and uterine arteries isolated from mCMV-infected or uninfected NP and LP mice. Interestingly, in mesenteric arteries, there was a significant increase (p<0.05) in ME-induced vasodilation to ME in mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP and LP mice (Figure 3.5A). In addition, an estimate of the concentration of ME causing 50% vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice was approximately 100nM whereas in mesenteric arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice it was approximately 750nM. This is indicative of an increase in sensitivity to ME in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice. Mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice showed the greatest MEinduced vasodilation (p<0.05). ME-induced vasodilation was lowest and not significantly different in mesenteric arteries from uninfected LP versus NP mice (Figure 3.5A).

Similarly, ME-induced vasodilation and sensitivity to ME in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected (EC<sub>50</sub>: 52.8±1.36nM) compared to uninfected (EC<sub>50</sub>: 102±11.1nM) NP mice was significantly increased (p<0.05; Figure 3.5B). In late pregnancy, sensitivity to ME was significantly decreased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected (EC<sub>50</sub>: 356±130nM) compared to uninfected (EC<sub>50</sub>: 109±28.9nM) mice (p<0.05). There was no significant difference in the normal ME response in uterine arteries from uninfected LP versus NP mice (Figure 3.5B); however, there was a dramatic reduction in maximal ME-induced vasodilation and sensitivity to ME in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP (EC<sub>50</sub>: 356±130nM) compared to NP (EC<sub>50</sub>: 52.8±1.36nM) mice (p<0.05; Figure 3.5B).

#### **3.3 SUMMARY OF RESULTS**

**3.3.1** A reporter of an active mCMV infection,  $\beta$ -galactosidase, was detected in heart, kidney, liver, lung, and spleen tissue from mCMV-infected NP mice and in

the endothelial and smooth muscle cells of mesenteric and uterine arteries isolated from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice (Figure 3.1).

**3.3.2** mCMV did not infect the fetus in mCMV-infected pregnant mice (Figure 3.2).

**3.3.3** Maximal PE-induced vasoconstriction was significantly increased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice (Figure 3.3).

**3.3.4** Sensitivity to PE was significantly decreased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice (Figure 3.4).

**3.3.5** Maximal ME-induced vasodilation and sensitivity to ME was significantly increased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice and in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice; however, sensitivity to ME was significantly decreased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice (Figure 3.5).



Α



Figure 3.1: Reporter of an active mCMV infection present in tissues isolated from mCMV-infected mice. To confirm an active mCMV infection, the mouse heart, kidney, liver, lung and spleen tissue from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP mice were stained for  $\beta$ -galactosidase (green) (A). The mesenteric and uterine arteries and surrounding tissue sections from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice were also stained for  $\beta$ -galactosidase (green) and Von Willebrand factor to detect endothelium (red) (B). All nuclei were stained with 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; blue). These images are representative of different sections taken from 3 mice in each group (n=3).


Figure 3.2: Reporter of an active mCMV infection present in placentas from mCMV-infected LP mice. LacZ expression detected through  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity (blue) was used to confirm an active mCMV infection. Staining was performed on the fetal (insets) and maternal side of the placentas in uninfected (A) and mCMV-infected (B) LP (D18.5) mice. These images are representative of different placentas and fetuses taken from 7 litters in each group (n=7).



Figure 3.3: Vasoconstriction to PE in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. Changes in lumen diameter were measured in response to increasing concentrations of PE in uterine arteries from mCMVinfected and uninfected NP (A) or LP (B) mice. Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM percent decrease in arterial lumen diameter at each dose of PE compared to the lumen diameter prior to drug addition. A significant difference between points on the curves was determined by Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA with Holm Sidak's post-hoc analysis and symbolized with an \* (p<0.05). n=number of animals.



Figure 3.4: Vasoconstriction to PE and U46619 in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. Changes in lumen diameter were measured in response to increasing concentrations of PE (A, B) or U46619 (C, D) in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP (A, C) or LP (B, D) mice. Data were summarized and compared as in Figure 3.3. \* = (p<0.05). n=number of animals.



Figure 3.5: Vasodilation to ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. Mesenteric arteries (A) were preconstricted with U46619. Uterine arteries (B) were preconstricted with PE. Changes in lumen diameter were measured in response to increasing concentrations of ME in arteries from NP and LP mCMV-infected and uninfected mice. Data were summarized and expressed as the mean ± SEM percent increase in arterial lumen diameter at each dose of ME compared to the lumen diameter following preconstriction in the absence of ME, and normalized to the arterial lumen diameter measured in the presence of calcium-free medium and papaverine. A significant difference between points on the curves was determined by Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA with Holm Sidak's post-hoc analysis and symbolized with an \* (mCMV-infected versus uninfected NP), # (mCMV-infected versus uninfected LP), or & (mCMV-infected LP versus mCMV-infected NP) (p<0.05). n=number of animals.

## **3.4 DISCUSSION**

The findings from this chapter are the first to illustrate that an active *in vivo* CMV infection results in vascular dysfunction in both NP and LP mice. As previously demonstrated (Johnson, 1969), I confirmed that mCMV does not infect the fetus, with an active mCMV infection more evident on the maternal compared to fetal side of the placenta. In addition, the reporter of an active mCMV infection,  $\beta$ -galactosidase, was found in the mesenteric and uterine arteries used in my *ex vivo* vascular response studies. Contrary to my hypothesis, mesenteric arteries, which are representative of systemic resistance arteries, showed decreased sensitivity to the  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic receptor agonist PE and increased cholinergic (ME)-induced vasodilation and sensitivity to ME when isolated from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP and LP mice. Similar ME results were found in uterine arteries from NP mice. In keeping with my hypothesis, uterine arteries from LP mice showed decreased sensitivity to ME and increased maximal vasoconstriction to PE. Thus, these data demonstrate that an active maternal CMV infection does affect maternal vascular function.

Much research has surrounded congenital CMV infections (Brown *et al.*, 1998); however, less is known about CMV-induced pregnancy complications independent of a congenital infection. An important aspect of this study in the mouse model is that it shows the effect of an active maternal infection without the influence of a congenital infection (Johnson, 1969). The lack of mCMV transmission to the fetus was confirmed by the absence of  $\beta$ -galactosidase expression in the fetus. The placental and fetal effects of a maternal mCMV infection are decribed in Chapter 7.

Mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice responded with greater vasodilation to ME than uninfected mice. It is interesting to contemplate a role for mCMV in hypotension since hypotension occurs in several diseases including diabetes (Maser *et al.*, 2007), autonomic neuropathy (Bouhanick *et al.*, 2007), septic shock (O'Brien *et al.*, 2007) and dementia in aging (Moretti *et al.*, 2008) in which CMV infections could play a part (Aiello *et*  *al.*, 2006; Leung Ki *et al.*, 2008; von Muller *et al.*, 2008). In pregnancy, the consequences of chronic hypotension are reduced birth weight and preterm delivery likely as a result of reduced uteroplacental blood flow from reduced perfusion pressure (Grunberger *et al.*, 1979; Ng *et al.*, 1992). In support of my hypothesis, uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice showed decreased sensitivity to ME and increased PE-induced vasoconstriction. This, in conjunction with the increased ME-induced vasodilation and decreased sensitivity to PE in mesenteric arteries and potential reduction in perfusion pressure, could lead to decreased blood flow to the placenta and fetus and IUGR. However, it is important to test other vascular mediators on arteries isolated from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice that may also contribute to overall systemic and/or uterine vascular resistance *in vivo* (Chapter 5).

The altered vascular responses observed in this study may be a direct effect of CMV infection in the vascular wall (Burnett et al., 2004), or an indirect effect via a viral-induced inflammatory response (Zhou et al., 1999). A fully productive infection or simply viral attachment alone (without internalization or viral replication) stimulates the cell to produce prostaglandins, ROS, and activates NF-kB leading to production of inflammatory cytokines, all of which can affect vascular responses (Compton et al., 2003; Speir et al., 1996; Zhu et al., 1997). I show that both endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells in mesenteric and uterine arteries are directly infected with mCMV. It is therefore likely that the impaired vascular responses in mCMV-infected mice involve direct viral-induced changes in endothelial function (Chapter 6). A seropositive status for HCMV is associated with endothelial dysfunction and an increased risk of adverse cardiovascular events (Espinola-Klein et al., 2002; Grahame-Clarke, 2005; Petrakopoulou et al., 2004). As well, CMV is associated with reduced phosphorylation activation of NOS-3 in aortic endothelial cells in vitro (Shen et al., 2006) and an increase in the plasma levels of the NOS-3 inhibitor asymmetric dimethylarginine (Weis et al., 2004). CMV also increases PGHS-2 activity which is important for viral replication (Zhu et al., 2002); this can lead to production of vasoconstrictory and/or vasodilatory prostanoids. It is important to note that the balance of factors contributing to endothelium-dependent vasodilation vary considerably among vascular beds and sometimes even within a vascular bed depending on the location (Campbell *et al.*, 2001; Hemmings *et al.*, 2004). Thus, it is essential to further investigate the relative roles of NO, prostanoids, and EDHF using inhibitors for these pathways to determine the mechanism by which mCMV is inducing differential vascular dysfunction in mesenteric compared to uterine arteries in this *ex vivo* model (Chapter 4).

Vascular adaptations to pregnancy include decreased sensitivity to vasoconstrictors (Hines et al., 1992; Magness et al., 1998; Paller et al., 1989) and increased vasodilation to accomodate increased blood volume and maintain peripheral blood pressure (Magness et al., 1998). In the mouse, Cooke and Davidge showed increased endothelium-dependent vasodilation in uterine and mesenteric arteries in pregnancy (Cooke et al., 2003). In addition, several studies in rats and guinea pigs have also found a decreased sensitivity to PE and an increased sensitivity to ME in uterine and mesenteric arteries during pregnancy (Davidge et al., 1992; Hermsteiner et al., 2001; Kim et al., 1994; Ni et al., 1997; Parent et al., 1990; Weiner et al., 1992), although one study showed an increased sensitivity to PE in uterine arteries (Chirayath et al., 2007). In my experiments in the uninfected mouse, however, no significant differences in PE or ME responses were found when LP were compared to NP mice in either mesenteric or uterine arteries. One explanation for these opposing results is the differing methodology to evaluate vascular function. Most studies used the wire myograph system (Cooke et al., 2003; Davidge et al., 1992; Kim et al., 1994; Ni et al., 1997; Parent et al., 1990; Weiner et al., 1992), which allows the drug to access both the endothelium and the vascular smooth muscle cells directly and simultaneously. In my study, the pressure myograph system was used in which drugs added to the bath must first pass through the vascular smooth muscle cells to interact with the endothelium (extraluminal addition). It is possible that extraluminally applied drugs in this system are less efficient at accessing the endothelium in arteries from

pregnant mice as readily as in the wire myograph system. Furthermore, contrasting vascular responses may be due to the stage of pregnancy vascular experiments were performed (ie. early versus late gestation (Hermsteiner *et al.*, 2001)), genetic and proteomic differences among rodent models, or differences in artery location (i.e. main compared to radial uterine arteries). For example, in the late pregnant rat, D'Angelo and Osol found increased sensitivity to PE in the main uterine artery (D'Angelo *et al.*, 1993) whereas Hermsteiner et al. found decreased sensitivity to PE in the radial uterine artery (Hermsteiner *et al.*, 2001). Although both studies used the pressure myograph system, different results were found.

Demonstration of a direct link between an active CMV infection and altered vascular responses suggests a new paradigm for understanding cardiovascular diseases stemming from vascular dysfunction. Nevertheless, further studies are essential to define the mechanisms by which CMV affects vascular function (Chapter 4). Determining which intracellular signalling pathway(s) a CMV infection affects and modulates vascular responses through will facilitate the development of valuable pharmacological and/or immunological agents for the effective treatment of HCMV-associated vascular dysfunction.

## **3.5 REFERENCES**

Aiello, AE, Haan, M, Blythe, L, Moore, K, Gonzalez, JM, Jagust, W (2006) The influence of latent viral infection on rate of cognitive decline over 4 years. *J Am Geriatr Soc* **54**(7): 1046-1054.

Anderson, CM, Lopez, F, Zhang, HY, Pavlish, K, Benoit, JN (2005) Reduced uteroplacental perfusion alters uterine arcuate artery function in the pregnant Sprague-Dawley rat. *Biol Reprod* **72**(3): 762-766.

Bouhanick, B, Chamontin, B (2007) Should pulse pressure and day/night variations in blood pressure be seen as independent risk factors requiring correction or simply as markers to be taken into account when evaluating overall vascular risk? *Diabetes Metab* **33**(5): 321-330.

Brown, HL, Abernathy, MP (1998) Cytomegalovirus infection. *Semin Perinatol* **22**(4): 260-266.

Burnett, MS, Durrani, S, Stabile, E, Saji, M, Lee, CW, Kinnaird, TD, Hoffman, EP, Epstein, SE (2004) Murine cytomegalovirus infection increases aortic expression of proatherosclerotic genes. *Circulation* **109**(7): 893-897.

Campbell, WB, Harder, DR (2001) Prologue: EDHF--what is it? Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 280(6): H2413-2416.

Carbillon, L, Uzan, M, Uzan, S (2000) Pregnancy, vascular tone, and maternal hemodynamics: a crucial adaptation. *Obstet Gynecol Surv* **55**(9): 574-581.

Chirayath, HH, Wareing, M, Taggart, MJ, Baker, PN (2007) Acute hyperglycemia in uterine arteries from pregnant, but not non-pregnant mice, enhances endothelium-dependent relaxation. *Vascul Pharmacol* **46**(2): 137-143.

Christensen, KL, Mulvany, MJ (1993) Mesenteric arcade arteries contribute substantially to vascular resistance in conscious rats. *J Vasc Res* **30**(2): 73-79.

Compton, T, Kurt-Jones, EA, Boehme, KW, Belko, J, Latz, E, Golenbock, DT, Finberg, RW (2003) Human cytomegalovirus activates inflammatory cytokine responses via CD14 and Toll-like receptor 2. *J Virol* **77**(8): 4588-4596.

Cooke, CL, Davidge, ST (2003) Pregnancy-induced alterations of vascular function in mouse mesenteric and uterine arteries. *Biol Reprod* **68**(3): 1072-1077.

D'Angelo, G, Osol, G (1993) Regional variation in resistance artery diameter responses to alpha-adrenergic stimulation during pregnancy. *Am J Physiol* **264**(1 Pt 2): H78-85.

Danielian, PJ, Allman, AC, Steer, PJ (1992) Is obstetric and neonatal outcome worse in fetuses who fail to reach their own growth potential? *Br J Obstet Gynaecol* 99(6): 452-454.

Davidge, ST, McLaughlin, MK (1992) Endogenous modulation of the blunted adrenergic response in resistance-sized mesenteric arteries from the pregnant rat. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **167**(6): 1691-1698.

Einsele, H, Kapp, M, Grigoleit, GU (2008) CMV-specific T cell therapy. *Blood Cells Mol Dis* **40**(1): 71-75.

Espinola-Klein, C, Rupprecht, HJ, Blankenberg, S, Bickel, C, Kopp, H, Rippin, G, Victor, A, Hafner, G, Schlumberger, W, Meyer, J (2002) Impact of infectious burden on extent and long-term prognosis of atherosclerosis. *Circulation* **105**(1): 15-21.

Freeman, RB, Jr. (2009) The 'indirect' effects of cytomegalovirus infection. *Am J Transplant* **9**(11): 2453-2458.

Friedman, SA, Taylor, RN, Roberts, JM (1991) Pathophysiology of preeclampsia. *Clin Perinatol* **18**(4): 661-682.

Grahame-Clarke, C (2005) Human cytomegalovirus, endothelial function and atherosclerosis. *Herpes* **12**(2): 42-45.

Grunberger, W, Leodolter, S, Parschalk, O (1979) Maternal hypotension: fetal outcome in treated and untreated cases. *Gynecol Obstet Invest* **10**(1): 32-38.

Hemmings, DG, Xu, Y, Davidge, ST (2004) Sphingosine 1-phosphate-induced vasoconstriction is elevated in mesenteric resistance arteries from aged female rats. *Br J Pharmacol* **143**(2): 276-284.

Hermsteiner, M, Zoltan, DR, Kunzel, W (2001) The vasoconstrictor response of uterine and mesenteric resistance arteries is differentially altered in the course of pregnancy. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* **100**(1): 29-35.

Hines, T, Barron, WM (1992) Effect of sinoaortic denervation on pressor responses in pregnant rats. *Am J Physiol* **262**(6 Pt 2): R1100-1105.

Hooks, JJ, Chin, MS, Srinivasan, K, Momma, Y, Hooper, LC, Nagineni, CN, Chan, CC, Detrick, B (2006) Human cytomegalovirus induced cyclooxygenase-2 in human retinal pigment epithelial cells augments viral replication through a prostaglandin pathway. *Microbes Infect* **8**(8): 2236-2244.

Johnson, KP (1969) Mouse cytomegalovirus: placental infection. J Infect Dis **120**(4): 445-450.

Kim, TH, Weiner, CP, Thompson, LP (1994) Effect of pregnancy on contraction and endothelium-mediated relaxation of renal and mesenteric arteries. *Am J Physiol* **267**(1 Pt 2): H41-47.

Koskinen, PK, Kallio, EA, Tikkanen, JM, Sihvola, RK, Hayry, PJ, Lemstrom, KB (1999) Cytomegalovirus infection and cardiac allograft vasculopathy. *Transpl Infect Dis* **1**(2): 115-126.

Lang, U, Baker, RS, Braems, G, Zygmunt, M, Kunzel, W, Clark, KE (2003) Uterine blood flow--a determinant of fetal growth. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* **110 Suppl 1:** S55-61.

Leung Ki, EL, Venetz, JP, Meylan, P, Lamoth, F, Ruiz, J, Pascual, M (2008) Cytomegalovirus infection and new-onset post-transplant diabetes mellitus. *Clin Transplant* **22**(2): 245-249.

Magness, RR, Gant, NF (1994) Control of vascular reactivity in pregnancy: the basis for therapeutic approaches to prevent pregnancy-induced hypertension. *Semin Perinatol* **18**(2): 45-69.

Magness, RR, Phernetton, TM, Zheng, J (1998) Systemic and uterine blood flow distribution during prolonged infusion of 17beta-estradiol. *Am J Physiol* **275**(3 Pt 2): H731-743.

Maser, RE, Lenhard, MJ (2007) An overview of the effect of weight loss on cardiovascular autonomic function. *Curr Diabetes Rev* **3**(3): 204-211.

Melnick, JL, Adam, E, DeBakey, ME (1995) Cytomegalovirus and atherosclerosis. *Bioessays* **17**(10): 899-903.

Moretti, R, Torre, P, Antonello, RM, Manganaro, D, Vilotti, C, Pizzolato, G (2008) Risk factors for vascular dementia: hypotension as a key point. *Vasc Health Risk Manag* **4**(2): 395-402.

Ng, PH, Walters, WA (1992) The effects of chronic maternal hypotension during pregnancy. *Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol* **32**(1): 14-16.

Ni, Y, Meyer, M, Osol, G (1997) Gestation increases nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in rat uterine arteries. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **176**(4): 856-864.

O'Brien, JM, Jr., Ali, NA, Aberegg, SK, Abraham, E (2007) Sepsis. *Am J Med* **120**(12): 1012-1022.

Paller, MS, Gregorini, G, Ferris, TF (1989) Pressor responsiveness in pseudopregnant and pregnant rats: role of maternal factors. *Am J Physiol* **257**(4 Pt 2): R866-871.

Parent, A, Schiffrin, EL, St-Louis, J (1990) Role of the endothelium in adrenergic responses of mesenteric artery rings of pregnant rats. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **163**(1 Pt 1): 229-234.

Persoons, MC, Stals, FS, van dam Mieras, MC, Bruggeman, CA (1998) Multiple organ involvement during experimental cytomegalovirus infection is associated with disseminated vascular pathology. *J Pathol* **184**(1): 103-109.

Petrakopoulou, P, Kubrich, M, Pehlivanli, S, Meiser, B, Reichart, B, von Scheidt, W, Weis, M (2004) Cytomegalovirus infection in heart transplant recipients is

associated with impaired endothelial function. *Circulation* **110**(11 Suppl 1): II207-212.

Rahbar, A, Soderberg-Naucler, C (2005) Human cytomegalovirus infection of endothelial cells triggers platelet adhesion and aggregation. J Virol **79**(4): 2211-2220.

Rubin, RH (2001) Cytomegalovirus in solid organ transplantation. *Transpl Infect Dis* **3 Suppl 2:** 1-5.

Shen, YH, Zhang, L, Utama, B, Wang, J, Gan, Y, Wang, X, Chen, L, Vercellotti, GM, Coselli, JS, Mehta, JL, Wang, XL (2006) Human cytomegalovirus inhibits Akt-mediated eNOS activation through upregulating PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10). *Cardiovasc Res* **69**(2): 502-511.

Sholook, MM, Gilbert, JS, Sedeek, MH, Huang, M, Hester, RL, Granger, JP (2007) Systemic hemodynamic and regional blood flow changes in response to chronic reductions in uterine perfusion pressure in pregnant rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **293**(4): H2080-2084.

Speir, E, Shibutani, T, Yu, ZX, Ferrans, V, Epstein, SE (1996) Role of reactive oxygen intermediates in cytomegalovirus gene expression and in the response of human smooth muscle cells to viral infection. *Circ Res* **79**(6): 1143-1152.

Sweet, C (1999) The pathogenicity of cytomegalovirus. *FEMS Microbiol Rev* **23**(4): 457-482.

Tanaka, K, Noda, S (2001) Role of nitric oxide in murine cytomegalovirus (MCMV) infection. *Histol Histopathol* **16**(3): 937-944.

von Dadelszen, P, Magee, LA, Krajden, M, Alasaly, K, Popovska, V, Devarakonda, RM, Money, DM, Patrick, DM, Brunham, RC (2003) Levels of antibodies against cytomegalovirus and Chlamydophila pneumoniae are increased in early onset pre-eclampsia. *BJOG* **110**(8): 725-730.

von Muller, L, Mertens, T (2008) Human cytomegalovirus infection and antiviral immunity in septic patients without canonical immunosuppression. *Med Microbiol Immunol* **197**(2): 75-82.

Weiner, CP, Thompson, LP, Liu, KZ, Herrig, JE (1992) Endothelium-derived relaxing factor and indomethacin-sensitive contracting factor alter arterial contractile responses to thromboxane during pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **166**(4): 1171-1178; discussion 1179-1181.

Weis, M, Kledal, TN, Lin, KY, Panchal, SN, Gao, SZ, Valantine, HA, Mocarski, ES, Cooke, JP (2004) Cytomegalovirus infection impairs the nitric oxide synthase pathway: role of asymmetric dimethylarginine in transplant arteriosclerosis. *Circulation* **109**(4): 500-505.

Zhou, YF, Shou, M, Guetta, E, Guzman, R, Unger, EF, Yu, ZX, Zhang, J, Finkel, T, Epstein, SE (1999) Cytomegalovirus infection of rats increases the neointimal response to vascular injury without consistent evidence of direct infection of the vascular wall. *Circulation* **100**(14): 1569-1575.

Zhu, H, Cong, JP, Shenk, T (1997) Use of differential display analysis to assess the effect of human cytomegalovirus infection on the accumulation of cellular RNAs: induction of interferon-responsive RNAs. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **94**(25): 13985-13990.

Zhu, H, Cong, JP, Yu, D, Bresnahan, WA, Shenk, TE (2002) Inhibition of cyclooxygenase 2 blocks human cytomegalovirus replication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**(6): 3932-3937.

## Chapter 4

## Differential Regulation of Endothelium-dependent and Endothelium-independent Vasodilation in Mesenteric and Uterine Arteries from Cytomegalovirus-infected Mice

(The majority of data presented in this chapter was published in 2010 in *American Journal of Physiology: Heart and Circulatory Physiology,* 299: H1124-1134 in an article entitled "Differential effects on nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in mesenteric and uterine arteries from cytomegalovirus-infected mice," by R.B. Gombos and D.G. Hemmings.)

## **4.1 INTRODUCTION**

In Chapter 3 I found increased cholinergic endothelium-dependent vasodilation in mesenteric and uterine arteries isolated from NP mice with an active mCMV infection. In late pregnancy, I continued to see increased endothelium-dependent vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected mice. In contrast, there was a dramatic decrease in sensitivity to the cholinergic agonist ME in the uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected LP mice (Gombos *et al.*, 2009). Thus, an active mCMV infection differentially affects cholinergic vascular responses in these two vascular beds and also in NP compared to LP mice. The intracellular vasodilatory pathways affected in mCMV-infected mice through which these differential effects occur are unknown and are the focus of this present chapter.

The balance of vasoactive factors contributing to vascular tone can vary greatly among or even within vascular beds (Campbell *et al.*, 2001; Hemmings *et al.*, 2004). In pregnancy, the uterine artery has greater capacity for vasodilation through increased NO and PGI<sub>2</sub> (Bird *et al.*, 2003) and also undergoes dramatic remodelling including hyperplasia and hypertrophy of the endothelial and/or smooth muscle cells within the vascular wall (Osol *et al.*, 2009). In addition, the

sensitivity to some vasoconstrictors, including angiotensin II and catecholamines, is decreased in uterine arteries during pregnancy (Thaler *et al.*, 2005; Weiner *et al.*, 1989b). Systemic arteries, such as those in the mesentery, do not increase in diameter to the same extent as uterine arteries during pregnancy (Osol *et al.*, 2009) but they do also show reduced sensitivity to vasoconstrictors and increased sensitivity to vasodilators (D'Angelo *et al.*, 1993; Dantas *et al.*, 1999; Harrison *et al.*, 1989). These vascular adaptations ensure sufficient blood flow reaches the placenta and fetus during gestation whilst simultaneously maintaining maternal blood pressure (Osol *et al.*, 2009).

A CMV infection affects the expression and activity of vasoactive factors such as NO and prostanoids. To date, these effects have only been shown in non-vascular tissues or in isolated endothelial cell cultures. A CMV infection can either increase (Tanaka *et al.*, 1997) or decrease (Shen *et al.*, 2006) NOS activity thereby affecting the levels of NO. In addition, PGHS-2 expression is increased during a CMV infection to facilitate viral replication in fibroblasts (Zhu *et al.*, 2002) and retinal epithelial cells (Hooks *et al.*, 2006). It is not yet known whether PGHS-2 activity is similarly affected in vascular cells. This is important since an increase in PGHS-2 activity can affect vascular tone through increased production of the vasodilator PGI<sub>2</sub> and/or the vasoconstrictors TxA<sub>2</sub> and PGH<sub>2</sub> (Davidge, 2001). However, the effects of an *in vivo* active CMV infection on the contribution of NO or prostanoids to endothelium-dependent vasodilation in isolated, intact blood vessels remain unknown.

To understand how an active CMV infection contributes to abnormal vascular responses shown in the mouse model (Chapter 3) and to cardiovascular disease in general, it is important to investigate the effects of infection on the vasoactive mediators that regulate vascular tone. I hypothesize that the increased endothelium-dependent vasodilation observed in mesenteric and uterine arteries from NP mice and mesenteric arteries of LP mice is mediated by an increase in NO contribution and/or an increase in the balance of vasodilator to vasoconstrictor prostanoids. I further hypothesize that the decreased sensitivity to

ME in uterine arteries of LP mice is mediated by a decrease in NO contribution and/or an increase in the balance of vasoconstrictor to vasodilator prostanoids. I show that increased ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMVinfected NP and LP mice and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice is mediated by increased smooth muscle cell sensitivity to NO and/or NO contribution. Decreased sensitivity to ME in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice cannot be explained by these mechanisms.

## **4.2 RESULTS**

## 4.2.1 Contribution of NO and prostanoids to endothelium-dependent MEinduced vasodilation responses in mesenteric arteries

In agreement with my previous findings in Chapter 3 (Gombos et al., 2009), there was increased endothelium-dependent vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP mice (Figure 4.1). I found that the contribution of NO to ME-induced vasodilation, as shown by NOS inhibition with L-NAME, was significantly greater (p < 0.05) in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP mice (Figure 4.1A,B). This is also demonstrated in Figure 4.1C where the difference between the two curves in Figure 4.1B was significantly greater than the difference between the curves from Figure 4.1A. Pre-treatment with the PGHS-1/2 inhibitor meclo (Figure 4.1D-F) or the TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist SQ29548 (Figure 4.1G-I) had no effect on MEinduced vasodilation. Combined pre-treatment with L-NAME and meclo in mesenteric arteries from uninfected NP mice (Figure 4.1J) inhibited vasodilation similarly to that seen with L-NAME pre-treatment alone (Figure 4.1A). This combined pre-treatment inhibited ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice (Figure 4.1K) to a significantly greater extent than in mesenteric arteries from uninfected NP mice (p<0.05, Figure 4.1J,L). Interestingly, however, the inhibition of endothelium-dependent vasodilation in the combined presence of L-NAME and meclo in mesenteric arteries from

mCMV-infected NP mice (Figure 4.1K) was significantly less (p<0.05) than that seen by pre-treatment with L-NAME alone in these arteries (Figure 4.1B). Thus, the remaining endothelium-dependent vasodilation due to EDHF in arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice was significantly increased compared to uninfected NP mice (Figure 4.1J,K).

To examine the possibility that the vasoconstrictors, TxA<sub>2</sub> or PGH<sub>2</sub> (they both act on the TxA<sub>2</sub> receptors (Vezza *et al.*, 2002)), were contributing to vascular responses in the mCMV-infected mice but were being masked by increased NOmediated vasodilation, these results were repeated using SQ29548 in the presence or absence of L-NAME. As shown previously, SQ29548 pre-treatment alone had no effect on ME-induced vasodilation (Figure 4.1G-I) whereas the combination of SQ29548 and L-NAME mimicked the results found with the combined meclo and L-NAME pre-treatment (Figure 4.2A,B).

In LP mice, pre-treatment of mesenteric arteries with L-NAME significantly inhibited ME-induced vasodilation only in mCMV-infected mice, although comparison of differences in area under curve between mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected mice did not reach significance (Figure 4.3A-C). Similarly to NP mice, meclo (Figure 4.3D-F) or SQ29548 (Figure 4.3G-I) pre-treatment alone had no effect on arteries from either LP group. Maximal ME-induced vasodilation was significantly decreased (p<0.05) in the presence of both L-NAME and meclo in arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice (Figure 4.3J-L). However, there were no significant differences in the contribution of EDHF to endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Figure 4.3J,K).

## 4.2.2 Contribution of NO and prostanoids to endothelium-dependent MEinduced vasodilation responses in uterine arteries

Overall, there was increased vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMVinfected NP mice and decreased sensitivity to ME in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice compared to uninfected mice, as previously shown (Chapter 3) (Gombos *et al.*, 2009). ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries was significantly inhibited by L-NAME pre-treatment in all mCMV-infected NP  $(IC_{50}: 224\pm15.8nM)$  and LP  $(IC_{50}: 642\pm77.5nM)$  and uninfected NP  $(IC_{50}: 642\pm77.5nM)$ 846±37.6nM) and LP (IC<sub>50</sub>: 1014±269nM) groups (Figures 4.4A-C; 4.5A-C). Although the overall difference in area under the curve was not significantly different between mCMV-infected and uninfected NP or LP mice, the L-NAME  $IC_{50}$  was significantly decreased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected (IC<sub>50</sub>: 224 $\pm$ 15.8nM) compared to uninfected (IC<sub>50</sub>: 846 $\pm$ 37.6nM) NP mice (p<0.05). This may be attributable to increased sensitivity to EDHF following ME addition in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice. Similarly to mesenteric arteries, meclo (Figures 4.4D-F; 4.5D-F) or SQ29548 (Figures 4.4G-I; 4.5G-I) pre-treatment alone had no significant effect on ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from any NP or LP group. In contrast to results found in mesenteric arteries, pre-treatment with the combination of L-NAME and meclo (Figures 4.4J-L; 4.5J-L) or L-NAME and SQ29548 (Figure 4.6A,B) inhibited ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP or LP mice to the same extent as that found with L-NAME pre-treatment alone (Figure 4.4A-C; 4.5A-C). L-NAME and meclo pre-treatment had an IC<sub>50</sub> of 299±18.5nM in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice and 238±30.1nM in mCMV-infected LP mice and an IC<sub>50</sub> of  $440\pm30.8$  nM in uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice and 722±27.4nM in uninfected LP mice.

# 4.2.3 Sensitivity of the vascular smooth muscle to NO in mesenteric and uterine arteries

The sensitivity of vascular smooth muscle to NO was measured using SNP, a NO donor, in preconstricted arteries. Increased vasodilation in response to SNP was observed in both mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP mice (Figure 4.7A,C). In addition, an estimate of the concentration of SNP causing 50% vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice was approximately 75nM whereas in mesenteric arteries from uninfected NP mice it was approximately 500nM. This is indicative

of an increase in sensitivity to SNP in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice (Figure 4.7A). However, the sensitivity to SNP was not significantly increased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected ( $EC_{50}$ : 81.2±10.7nM) compared to uninfected ( $EC_{50}$ : 113±16.1nM) NP mice (Figure 4.7C). In contrast, in LP mice there were no significant differences in SNP-induced vasodilation between groups in either artery type (Figure 4.7B,D). Interestingly, in mCMV-infected NP mice, vasodilation to SNP in both mesenteric and uterine arteries was similar to SNP-induced vasodilation in mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice.

#### 4.2.4 Distensibility of mesenteric and uterine arteries

The distensibility of mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice was not significantly different from uninfected NP mice (Figure 4.8A); however, it was significantly greater in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected LP mice (p<0.05; Figure 4.8B). The distensibility of uterine arteries from both mCMV-infected NP and LP mice was significantly greater than in uterine arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice, respectively (p<0.05; Figure 4.8C,D).

#### 4.2.5 Expression of NOS enzymes in mesenteric and uterine arteries

My functional studies were supported by evaluation of NOS enzyme expression by immunofluorescence and quantitative RT-qPCR. Given the limited quantity of vascular tissue available to study, I chose to quantitatively measure expression of the major endothelial NOS enzyme, NOS-3 by RT-qPCR (Figure 4.9). NOS-1 and NOS-2 expression was qualitatively assessed by immunofluorescence (Figure 4.10). NOS-3 mRNA was not significantly different in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected or uninfected NP and LP mice. In contrast, in mesenteric arteries, NOS-3 mRNA was significantly increased in mCMV-infected LP (p<0.05) and there was a trend towards an increase in mCMV-infected NP mice compared to the uninfected mice (Figure 4.9). NOS-2 but not NOS-1 expression was increased in mcMV-

infected compared to uninfected NP and LP mice (Figure 4.10A,C). The expression of NOS-1 and NOS-2 were increased in the uterine arteries from both mCMV-infected and uninfected LP when compared to uterine arteries from NP mice (Figure 4.10B,D). An increase in the expression of NOS-1 was also observed when uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice were compared to uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice (Figure 4.10B).

## **4.3 SUMMARY OF RESULTS**

**4.3.1** Increased ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMVinfected NP and LP mice was partially due to increased NO-mediated vasodilation, which overrode prostanoid-mediated vasoconstriction in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice (Figures 4.1, 4.3).

**4.3.2** The vasoactive prostanoid that mediated the vascular responses to ME in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice acts on the  $TxA_2$  receptor (Figure 4.2).

**4.3.3** Increased ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice was not due to increased NO- or prostanoid-mediated vasodilation (Figures 4.4, 4.6).

**4.3.4** Decreased ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMVinfected LP mice was not due to decreased NO- or prostanoid-mediated vasodilation or increased prostanoid-mediated vasoconstriction (Figure 4.5).

**4.3.5** Increased ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice was also mediated by increased smooth muscle sensitivity to NO (Figure 4.7).

**4.3.6** Distensibility of mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice was increased compared to uninfected NP and LP mice (Figure 4.8).

**4.3.7** NOS-3 mRNA expression was increased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice (Figure 4.9).

**4.3.8** NOS-1 protein expression was qualitatively increased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP mice (Figure 4.10).

**4.3.9** NOS-2 protein expression was qualitatively increased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP and LP mice (Figure 4.10).











Figure 4.1: Inhibition of ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP mice. ME-induced vasodilation was measured in mesenteric arteries from uninfected (A, D, G, J) and mCMV-infected (**B**, **E**, **H**, **K**) NP mice after preconstriction of mesenteric arteries using U46619 in the presence or absence of L-NAME (100µM) (A, B, C), meclofenamate (meclo; 1µM) (**D**, **E**, **F**), SQ29548 (10µM) (**G**, **H**, **I**), or L-NAME and meclo (**J**, **K**, **L**). Results for each curve were summarized and expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM percent increase in lumen diameter compared to the initial preconstricted diameter, and normalized to the passive lumen diameter. A significant difference between points on the curves was determined by Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak's post-hoc analysis. For each graph, the area under the curve was calculated and the difference between two curves on the same graph was obtained (C, F, I, L). These differences in area under the curve were compared between mCMV-infected and uninfected groups using a Student's ttest. Significant differences were symbolized with an \* (p<0.05). n = number of animals.



Figure 4.2: NO and TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub> contribution to ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice. ME-induced vasodilation was measured in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice after preconstriction of mesenteric arteries using U46619 in the presence or absence of L-NAME (100 $\mu$ M) and SQ29548 (10 $\mu$ M) (A). Changes in lumen diameter were measured in response to increasing concentrations of ME following preconstriction of mesenteric arteries. The area under the curve was calculated and the difference between the two curves on panel (A) was obtained. For comparison purposes, the difference in the area under the curve for L-NAME with meclo was taken from Figure 4.1L (B). Results were summarized and compared as in Figure 4.1. \* = p<0.05. n=number of animals.



mCMV-infected

152



mCMV-infected

Uninfected

153

Figure 4.3: Inhibition of ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice. ME-induced vasodilation was measured in mesenteric arteries from uninfected (A, D, G, J) and mCMV-infected (B, E, H, K) LP mice after preconstriction of mesenteric arteries using U46619 in the presence or absence of L-NAME (100 $\mu$ M) (A, B, C), meclo (1 $\mu$ M) (D, E, F), SQ29548 (10 $\mu$ M) (G, H, I), or L-NAME and meclo (J, K, L). For each graph, the area under the curve was calculated and the difference between two curves on the same graph was obtained (C, F, I, L). Results were summarized and compared as in Figure 4.1. \* = p<0.05. n=number of animals.



mCMV-infected

Uninfected

155





Figure 4.4: Inhibition of ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP mice. ME-induced vasodilation was measured in uterine arteries from uninfected (A, D, G, J) and mCMV-infected (B, E, H, K) NP mice after preconstriction of uterine arteries using PE in the presence or absence of L-NAME (100 $\mu$ M) (A, B, C), meclo (1 $\mu$ M) (D, E, F), SQ29548 (10 $\mu$ M) (G, H, I), or L-NAME and meclo (J, K, L). For each graph, the area under the curve was calculated and the difference between two curves on the same graph was obtained (C, F, I, L). Results were summarized and compared as in Figure 4.1. \* = p<0.05. n=number of animals.











Figure 4.5: Inhibition of ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice. ME-induced vasodilation was measured in uterine arteries from uninfected (A, D, G, J) and mCMV-infected (B, E, H, K) LP mice after preconstriction of uterine arteries using PE in the presence or absence of L-NAME (100 $\mu$ M) (A, B, C), meclo (1 $\mu$ M) (D, E, F), SQ29548 (10 $\mu$ M) (G, H, I), or L-NAME and meclo (J, K, L). For each graph, the area under the curve was calculated and the difference between two curves on the same graph was obtained (C, F, I, L). Results were summarized and compared as in Figure 4.1. \* = p<0.05. n=number of animals.



Figure 4.6: NO and TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub> contribution to ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice. ME-induced vasodilation was measured in uterine arteries mCMV-infected NP mice after preconstriction of uterine arteries using PE in the presence or absence of L-NAME (100µM) and SQ29548 (10µM) (A). Changes in lumen diameter were measured in response to increasing concentrations of ME following preconstriction of mesenteric arteries. The area under the curve was calculated and the difference between the two curves on panel (A) was obtained. For comparison purposes, the difference in the area under the curve for L-NAME with meclo was taken from Figure 4.4L (B). Results were summarized and compared as in Figure 4.1. \* = p<0.05. n=number of animals.


Figure 4.7: Endothelium-independent vasodilation to sodium nitroprusside (SNP) in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. Changes in lumen diameter were measured in response to increasing concentrations of SNP following preconstriction with U46619 or PE of mesenteric (A, B) and uterine (C, D) arteries, respectively, from NP (A, C) and LP (B, D) mice. Results were summarized and expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM percent increase in lumen diameter compared to the initial preconstricted diameter, and normalized to the passive lumen diameter. A significant difference between points on the curves was determined by Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak's post-hoc analysis. A significant difference between points on the curves was symbolized with an \* (p<0.05). n=number of animals.



Figure 4.8: Distensibility curves for mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. Changes in lumen diameter were measured in mesenteric (A, B) and uterine (C, D) arteries from NP (A, C) and LP (B, D) mice in response to step-wise increases in intraluminal pressure in calcium-free PSS in the presence of papaverine. Results were summarized and expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM percent increase in lumen diameter compared to the initial diameter, and normalized to the initial lumen diameter at 4mmHg. A significant difference between points on the curves was determined by Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak's post-hoc analysis. Where error bars are not visible, errors were too small to be seen. A significant difference was symbolized with an \* (p<0.05). n=number of animals.



Figure 4.9: NOS-3 mRNA expression in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. Following real-time RT-PCR, NOS-3 mRNA expression was normalized in each group to  $\beta$ -actin mRNA expression. Changes in the NOS-3: $\beta$ -actin mRNA ratio was compared in mesenteric and uterine arteries from uninfected and infected NP and LP mice. A significant difference between points on the curves was determined by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis. A significant difference was symbolized with an \* (p<0.05).



Figure 4.10: NOS-1 and NOS-2 expression in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. NOS-1 (A,B) and NOS-2 (C,D) expression in mesenteric (A,C) and uterine (B,D) arteries were assessed by immunofluorescence in sections of tissues isolated from uninfected and mCMV-infected NP and LP mice. Sections were stained with NOS-1 or NOS-2 (green). Nuclei were stained with 4,6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI; blue). Negative controls are shown in the insets for each photomicrograph. These images are representative of different sections taken from 3 mice in each group (n=3).

#### **4.4 DISCUSSION**

To further investigate the differences in cholinergic endotheliumdependent vasodilation seen in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMVinfected and uninfected NP and LP mice (Chapter 3), I measured the contribution of NO and prostanoids to ME-induced vasodilation and smooth muscle cell sensitivity to NO in these arteries. My previous findings of increased vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice (Chapter 3) (Gombos et al., 2009) can now be explained by an increased contribution by NO, increased NOS-2 protein and NOS-3 mRNA expression, and increased vascular smooth muscle sensitivity to NO. In contrast, the increased vasodilation previously observed in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice (Chapter 3) (Gombos et al., 2009) is likely in response to an increase in vascular smooth muscle sensitivity to NO. Although NOS-1 expression is increased in the arterial wall, NO production does not further contribute to this increased vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP mice. The situation in mCMVinfected LP mice differs from that of infected NP mice and again depends on the type of artery. In late pregnancy, an increase in NOS-2 protein and NOS-3 mRNA expression and an increase in the contribution of NO to vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice were observed. In uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice, neither the contribution of NO or prostanoids to MEinduced vasodilation nor the vascular smooth muscle sensitivity to NO was changed, although distensibility was greatly increased. NOS-1/2 protein and NOS-3 mRNA expression in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice was also similar to uninfected LP mice. Thus, the dramatic decrease in sensitivity to ME in these arteries (Chapter 3) (Gombos et al., 2009) remains unexplained and is likely due to reduced EDHF. Taken together, these results provide novel evidence for differential effects of an active mCMV infection on the NO pathway that contribute to regulation of vascular tone.

Interestingly, in contrast to my study using isolated intact arteries showing an increased contribution of NO to vasodilation and increased NOS-3 mRNA

expression, the majority of other studies that measure NOS-3 expression in cultured endothelial cells show that a CMV infection leads to decreased NOS-3 expression and activity (Bouwman et al., 2005; Shen et al., 2006). In addition, in the present study, the increased contribution by NO to vasodilation along with increased sensitivity of the vascular smooth muscle to NO and increased distensibility in the systemic vasculature are indicative of hypotension rather than hypertension; however, a recent study by Cheng et al. finds that an active CMV infection in young male and female mice increases arterial blood pressure and exacerbates atherosclerotic plaque formation in mice fed a high cholesterol diet (Cheng et al., 2009). Although I previously found reduced sensitivity to PE in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice (Chapter 3) (Gombos et al., 2009), Cheng et al. report increases in plasma and tissue expression of another vasoconstrictor, angiotensin II (Cheng et al., 2009). Thus, it is possible that the responses observed in my study may be part of an adaptive response to counteract overall increased vasoconstriction in the mCMV-infected mice. These discrepancies strongly support the need to study responses in the vasculature further using different levels of molecular complexity, such as with isolated cells, other intact ex vivo arteries, and whole animals, to fully evaluate the physiological vascular responses during an active CMV infection.

Although NOS-3 is considered an important source of NO in the vasculature, both NOS-1 and NOS-2 also contribute to the production of NO. Most studies investigating the relationship between CMV infections and NOS regulation *in vivo* have focused on the inflammation-induced NOS-2 enzyme. NOS-2 activation in response to a mCMV infection has been shown to be part of an important protective innate immune response (Noda *et al.*, 2001). However, NOS-2 expression and activity increased with an mCMV infection and the resultant increase in NO production in the lungs and the brain have also been shown to contribute to the inflammatory disease, pneumonitis (Tanaka *et al.*, 1997), and developmental brain disorders (Kosugi *et al.*, 2002). Increased NOS-2 expression and NOS-2 expression and solver also detected in aqueous humor samples of AIDS patients

with CMV retinitis (Hsu et al., 2003). It is therefore likely that a CMV infection in endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells could lead to increased NO through increased expression and activity of the NOS-2 enzyme. Indeed, I found increased expression of NOS-2 in mesenteric arteries from both NP and LP mCMV-infected mice. There is no information about the effect of CMV infection on NOS-1 expression in the vasculature but I have now shown that NOS-1 is increased in uterine arteries from NP but not LP mCMV-infected mice. Importantly, in conditions of oxidative stress (i.e. infection and to some extent pregnancy), excess NO may combine with superoxide to produce peroxynitrite, a potent and damaging pro-oxidant, thereby reducing the bioavailability of NO (Miles et al., 1996). It has been demonstrated that peroxynitrite nitrates several intracellular proteins and this can inactivate or enhance their catalytic activity (Myatt, 2010). Some of these proteins have important roles in vascular function. For example, nitration induces a loss of function in  $PGI_2$  synthase and a gain of function in PGHS-2, which has been shown to reduce arterial vasodilation (Landino et al., 1996; Zou et al., 1999). Furthermore, reduced NO bioavailability has also been implicated in the development of cardiovascular diseases, such as atherosclerosis (Higashi et al., 2009; Lubos et al., 2008).

Different prostanoids stimulate either vasodilation or vasoconstriction and are produced by the PGHS-1/2 enzymes. In uninfected mice, inhibition of PGHS-1/2 alone in either mesenteric or uterine arteries did not affect ME-induced vasodilation in my study, demonstrating that prostanoids were not involved in endothelium-dependent vasodilation in these vascular beds (Morton *et al.*, 2010). Surprisingly, although CMV increases PGHS-2 expression and activity in fibroblasts and epithelial cells where one of its products, prostaglandin E<sub>2</sub>, is important for viral replication (Hooks *et al.*, 2006; Zhu *et al.*, 2002), I found that there was still no contribution by prostanoids to endothelium-dependent vasodilation during a mCMV infection. Yet, when NOS and PGHS-1/2 or NOS and the TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor were simultaneously inhibited in mesenteric arteries only from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice, the residual vasodilation due to EDHF

was greater than that found with NOS inhibition alone. This suggests that during a CMV infection, PGHS-mediated production of vasoconstrictors, such as  $TxA_2$  or PGH<sub>2</sub>, is increased; however, when NOS remains active, it is able to compensate for and mask prostanoid-induced vasoconstriction (see also Chapter 6). Interestingly, NO itself has been shown to inhibit PGHS-2 and subsequent PGI<sub>2</sub> production, although the mechanism has not been defined (Onodera *et al.*, 2000). In addition, if oxidative stress is increased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice, increased vasoconstrictory prostanoid effects may be attributed to a potential increase in peroxynitrite-induced inactivation of PGI<sub>2</sub> synthase (Zou *et al.*, 1997) and upregulation of PGHS-2 activity (Landino *et al.*, 1996), as mentioned previously. A reduction in PGI<sub>2</sub> synthase activity could shift the balance towards an increased production of TxA<sub>2</sub> or an accumulation of PGH<sub>2</sub> (Davidge, 2001; Zou *et al.*, 1999).

The increased sensitivity to NO in the vascular smooth muscle in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice may be caused by an increase in vascular smooth muscle mass since CMV is known to increase smooth muscle cell proliferation (Kloppenburg et al., 2005; Yonemitsu et al., 1997). In Chapter 3 I showed that both mesenteric and uterine artery diameters increase in pregnancy (Gombos et al., 2009), reflecting other reports of pregnancy-induced remodelling and vascular smooth muscle cell hypertrophy and hyperplasia (Keyes et al., 1996; Osol et al., 2009; van der Heijden et al., 2005). This evidence supports the idea that an increase in vascular smooth muscle mass causes an increase in sensitivity to NO in arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice comparable to that seen in arteries from LP mice. The increased sensitivity to NO in vascular smooth muscle in either type of artery from mCMV-infected NP mice was lost in mCMV-infected LP mice, demonstrating differences in the effects of viral infection in NP and LP conditions. Interestingly, the increased sensitivity to NO found in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice mirrored the increased sensitivity in uninfected LP compared to NP mice. Another explanation for the infection-induced increase in vascular smooth muscle sensitivity to NO in

arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice could be an increase in cGMP or soluble guanylyl cyclase protein expression and activity, which also normally increase in pregnancy (Conrad *et al.*, 1989; Itoh *et al.*, 1998). More specifically, a recent study provides evidence for increased cGMP in uterine vascular smooth muscle in ovine pregnancy (Rosenfeld *et al.*, 2009) and infection with CMV also increases cellular cGMP (Albrecht *et al.*, 1990).

The results of this study demonstrate novel ways in which a CMV infection affects the vasculature. CMV infections have been previously shown to impair cellular responses in single cell cultures (Bissinger et al., 2002); however, the use of functional and molecular assays in isolated intact arteries from acute mCMV-infected mice to examine changes in vasoactive mediators and signalling pathways important to regulation of vascular responses is novel. Importantly, these results show dysregulation of the NO and prostanoid signalling pathways and suggest the importance for evaluation of the long-term effects of CMV infections. The differential effects of long-term infections on the vasoactive pathways that regulate vascular function in various vascular beds needs to be further investigated since it is clear that long-term CMV infections in humans are associated with endothelial dysfunction, impaired NO responses, and hypertensive vascular diseases (Grahame-Clarke et al., 2003; Simmonds et al., 2008; Streblow et al., 2008). Chronic increases in NO production in response to CMV infection has important long-term implications for conditions of increased oxidative stress such as atherosclerosis, where NO bioavailability is reduced and increased levels of peroxynitrite are produced.

### **4.5 REFERENCES**

Albrecht, T, Boldogh, I, Fons, M, AbuBakar, S, Deng, CZ (1990) Cell activation signals and the pathogenesis of human cytomegalovirus. *Intervirology* **31**(2-4): 68-75.

Bird, IM, Zhang, L, Magness, RR (2003) Possible mechanisms underlying pregnancy-induced changes in uterine artery endothelial function. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **284**(2): R245-258.

Bissinger, AL, Sinzger, C, Kaiserling, E, Jahn, G (2002) Human cytomegalovirus as a direct pathogen: correlation of multiorgan involvement and cell distribution with clinical and pathological findings in a case of congenital inclusion disease. *J Med Virol* **67**(2): 200-206.

Bouwman, JJ, Visseren, FL, Bevers, LM, van der Vlist, WE, Bouter, KP, Diepersloot, RJ (2005) Azithromycin reduces Chlamydia pneumoniae-induced attenuation of eNOS and cGMP production by endothelial cells. *Eur J Clin Invest* **35**(9): 573-582.

Campbell, WB, Harder, DR (2001) Prologue: EDHF--what is it? Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol **280**(6): H2413-2416.

Cheng, J, Ke, Q, Jin, Z, Wang, H, Kocher, O, Morgan, JP, Zhang, J, Crumpacker, CS (2009) Cytomegalovirus infection causes an increase of arterial blood pressure. *PLoS Pathog* **5**(5): e1000427.

Conrad, KP, Vernier, KA (1989) Plasma level, urinary excretion, and metabolic production of cGMP during gestation in rats. *Am J Physiol* **257**(4 Pt 2): R847-853.

D'Angelo, G, Osol, G (1993) Regional variation in resistance artery diameter responses to alpha-adrenergic stimulation during pregnancy. *Am J Physiol* **264**(1 Pt 2): H78-85.

Dantas, MF, Urban, M, Spray, D, Catelli De Carvalho, MH, Passaglia, RD (1999) Increased acetylcholine-induced vasodilation in pregnant rats: A role for gap junctional communication. *Hypertension* **34**(4 Pt 2): 937-942.

Davidge, ST (2001) Prostaglandin H synthase and vascular function. *Circ Res* **89**(8): 650-660.

Gombos, RB, Wolan, V, McDonald, K, Hemmings, DG (2009) Impaired vascular function in mice with an active cytomegalovirus infection. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **296**(4): H937-945.

Grahame-Clarke, C, Chan, NN, Andrew, D, Ridgway, GL, Betteridge, DJ, Emery, V, Colhoun, HM, Vallance, P (2003) Human cytomegalovirus seropositivity is associated with impaired vascular function. *Circulation* **108**(6): 678-683.

Harrison, GL, Moore, LG (1989) Blunted vasoreactivity in pregnant guinea pigs is not restored by meclofenamate. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **160**(1): 258-264.

Hemmings, DG, Xu, Y, Davidge, ST (2004) Sphingosine 1-phosphate-induced vasoconstriction is elevated in mesenteric resistance arteries from aged female rats. *Br J Pharmacol* **143**(2): 276-284.

Higashi, Y, Noma, K, Yoshizumi, M, Kihara, Y (2009) Endothelial function and oxidative stress in cardiovascular diseases. *Circ J* **73**(3): 411-418.

Hooks, JJ, Chin, MS, Srinivasan, K, Momma, Y, Hooper, LC, Nagineni, CN, Chan, CC, Detrick, B (2006) Human cytomegalovirus induced cyclooxygenase-2 in human retinal pigment epithelial cells augments viral replication through a prostaglandin pathway. *Microbes Infect* **8**(8): 2236-2244.

Hsu, WM, Chen, SS, Peng, CH, Chen, CF, Ko, YC, Tsai, DC, Chou, CK, Ho, LL, Chiou, SH, Liu, JH (2003) Elevated nitric oxide level in aqueous humor of AIDS patients with cytomegalovirus retinitis. *Ophthalmologica* **217**(4): 298-301.

Itoh, H, Bird, IM, Nakao, K, Magness, RR (1998) Pregnancy increases soluble and particulate guanylate cyclases and decreases the clearance receptor of natriuretic peptides in ovine uterine, but not systemic, arteries. *Endocrinology* **139**(7): 3329-3341.

Keyes, LE, Moore, LG, Walchak, SJ, Dempsey, EC (1996) Pregnancy-stimulated growth of vascular smooth muscle cells: importance of protein kinase C-dependent synergy between estrogen and platelet-derived growth factor. *J Cell Physiol* **166**(1): 22-32.

Kloppenburg, G, de Graaf, R, Herngreen, S, Grauls, G, Bruggeman, C, Stassen, F (2005) Cytomegalovirus aggravates intimal hyperplasia in rats by stimulating smooth muscle cell proliferation. *Microbes Infect* 7(2): 164-170.

Kosugi, I, Kawasaki, H, Arai, Y, Tsutsui, Y (2002) Innate immune responses to cytomegalovirus infection in the developing mouse brain and their evasion by virus-infected neurons. *Am J Pathol* **161**(3): 919-928.

Landino, LM, Crews, BC, Timmons, MD, Morrow, JD, Marnett, LJ (1996) Peroxynitrite, the coupling product of nitric oxide and superoxide, activates prostaglandin biosynthesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(26): 15069-15074.

Lubos, E, Handy, DE, Loscalzo, J (2008) Role of oxidative stress and nitric oxide in atherothrombosis. *Front Biosci* **13**: 5323-5344.

Miles, AM, Bohle, DS, Glassbrenner, PA, Hansert, B, Wink, DA, Grisham, MB (1996) Modulation of superoxide-dependent oxidation and hydroxylation reactions by nitric oxide. *J Biol Chem* **271**(1): 40-47.

Morton, JS, Rueda-Clausen, CF, Davidge, ST (2010) Mechanisms of endothelium-dependent vasodilation in male and female, young and aged offspring born growth restricted. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **298**(4): R930-938.

Myatt, L (2010) Review: Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species and functional adaptation of the placenta. *Placenta* **31 Suppl:** S66-69.

Noda, S, Tanaka, K, Sawamura, S, Sasaki, M, Matsumoto, T, Mikami, K, Aiba, Y, Hasegawa, H, Kawabe, N, Koga, Y (2001) Role of nitric oxide synthase type 2 in acute infection with murine cytomegalovirus. *J Immunol* **166**(5): 3533-3541.

Onodera, M, Morita, Mano, Y, Murota, S (2000) Differential effects of nitric oxide on the activity of prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthase-1 and -2 in vascular endothelial cells. *Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids* **62**(3): 161-167.

Osol, G, Mandala, M (2009) Maternal uterine vascular remodeling during pregnancy. *Physiology (Bethesda)* **24:** 58-71.

Rosenfeld, CR, Liu, XT, DeSpain, K (2009) Pregnancy modifies the large conductance Ca2+-activated K+ channel and cGMP-dependent signaling pathway in uterine vascular smooth muscle. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **296**(6): H1878-1887.

Shen, YH, Zhang, L, Utama, B, Wang, J, Gan, Y, Wang, X, Chen, L, Vercellotti, GM, Coselli, JS, Mehta, JL, Wang, XL (2006) Human cytomegalovirus inhibits Akt-mediated eNOS activation through upregulating PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10). *Cardiovasc Res* **69**(2): 502-511.

Simmonds, J, Fenton, M, Dewar, C, Ellins, E, Storry, C, Cubitt, D, Deanfield, J, Klein, N, Halcox, J, Burch, M (2008) Endothelial dysfunction and cytomegalovirus replication in pediatric heart transplantation. *Circulation* **117**(20): 2657-2661.

Streblow, DN, Dumortier, J, Moses, AV, Orloff, SL, Nelson, JA (2008) Mechanisms of cytomegalovirus-accelerated vascular disease: induction of paracrine factors that promote angiogenesis and wound healing. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol* **325**: 397-415.

Tanaka, K, Nakazawa, H, Okada, K, Umezawa, K, Fukuyama, N, Koga, Y (1997) Nitric oxide mediates murine cytomegalovirus-associated pneumonitis in lungs that are free of the virus. *J Clin Invest* **100**(7): 1822-1830.

Thaler, I, Amit, A (2005) Doppler Velocimetry of the Uteroplacental Circulation During Early Pregnancy. In: *Doppler Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, Maulik, D (ed), 2 edn, pp 255-279. Berlin: Springer.

van der Heijden, OW, Essers, YP, Spaanderman, ME, De Mey, JG, van Eys, GJ, Peeters, LL (2005) Uterine artery remodeling in pseudopregnancy is comparable to that in early pregnancy. *Biol Reprod* **73**(6): 1289-1293.

Vezza, R, Mezzasoma, AM, Venditti, G, Gresele, P (2002) Prostaglandin endoperoxides and thromboxane A2 activate the same receptor isoforms in human platelets. *Thromb Haemost* **87**(1): 114-121.

Weiner, CP, Martinez, E, Chestnut, DH, Ghodsi, A (1989) Effect of pregnancy on uterine and carotid artery response to norepinephrine, epinephrine, and phenylephrine in vessels with documented functional endothelium. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **161**(6 Pt 1): 1605-1610.

Yonemitsu, Y, Kaneda, Y, Komori, K, Hirai, K, Sugimachi, K, Sueishi, K (1997) The immediate early gene of human cytomegalovirus stimulates vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation in vitro and in vivo. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **231**(2): 447-451.

Zhu, H, Cong, JP, Yu, D, Bresnahan, WA, Shenk, TE (2002) Inhibition of cyclooxygenase 2 blocks human cytomegalovirus replication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA **99**(6): 3932-3937.

Zou, M, Martin, C, Ullrich, V (1997) Tyrosine nitration as a mechanism of selective inactivation of prostacyclin synthase by peroxynitrite. *Biol Chem* **378**(7): 707-713.

Zou, MH, Leist, M, Ullrich, V (1999) Selective nitration of prostacyclin synthase and defective vasorelaxation in atherosclerotic bovine coronary arteries. *Am J Pathol* **154**(5): 1359-1365.

### Chapter 5

### Effect of Pregnancy and a Cytomegalovirus Infection on the Regulation of Vascular Tone by Sphingosine 1-Phosphate

(The majority of data presented in this chapter was submitted to the British Journal of Pharmacology in November 2011 (Manuscript ID: 2011-BJP-1491-RP) in an article entitled "Effect of pregnancy and cytomegalovirus infection on regulation of vascular tone by sphingosine 1-phosphate in isolated mouse arteries," by R.B. Gombos and D.G. Hemmings.)

#### **5.1 INTRODUCTION**

I have previously shown that vasodilation and vasoconstriction responses to ME and PE, respectively, are differentially altered in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice (Chapter 3) (Gombos et al., 2009). ME-induced vasodilation was increased in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice and in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice due to increased smooth muscle cell sensitivity to NO and/or NO contribution (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009). In contrast, uterine arteries from LP mCMV-infected mice showed increased vasoconstriction to PE (Chapter 3) and decreased sensitivity to ME which was not attributed to changes in NO or prostanoid contribution or smooth muscle sensitivity to NO (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009). Endothelium-dependent vasodilation may also be regulated differently in systemic and uterine arteries from NP and LP mice in the presence or absence of a CMV infection by other signalling molecules that affect vascular responses, such as the bioactive sphingolipid, S1P. Stimulation of muscarinic receptors activates SK-1 (Meyer zu Heringdorf et al., 1998) and induces S1P-mediated NOS-3 activation (Mulders et al., 2009), supporting the regulatory role of S1P in endotheliumdependent vasodilation. There is also evidence demonstrating that HCMV

increases SK-1 expression and activity in cultured fibroblasts and endothelial cells and increases sphingolipid synthesis in fibroblasts (Machesky *et al.*, 2008). As such, I chose to study how S1P affects mesenteric and uterine vascular responses from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice.

S1P is a vasoactive sphingolipid that signals through five G-protein coupled receptors  $(S1P_1-S1P_5)$  (Sanchez *et al.*, 2004). In the microvasculature,  $S1P_1$  and  $S1P_3$  are expressed on the vascular endothelium and smooth muscle cells whereas S1P2 is found mainly on the vascular smooth muscle cells. S1P4 and S1P<sub>5</sub> are generally not detectable in the vasculature (Peters *et al.*, 2007); however, S1P<sub>4</sub> mRNA has recently been found in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (Heo et al., 2009). S1P is synthesized inside the cell from the sphingomyelin metabolic pathway whereby ceramide is produced and broken down into sphingosine which is converted to S1P via SK-1/2 (Alewijnse et al., 2004). S1P can then be transported out of the cell where it can act on the various S1P receptors in an autocrine or paracrine manner (Kim et al., 2009). Intracellular and extracellular S1P are involved in several cellular functions including growth and proliferation, differentiation, migration, survival and vascular regulation (Hemmings, 2006; Igarashi et al., 2009; Spiegel et al., 2003a). In smooth muscle cells, S1P stimulates contraction through Ca<sup>2+</sup> release and activation of ROCK via S1P2 and S1P3 (Sanchez et al., 2004). In endothelial cells, S1P activates NOS-3 via S1P<sub>1</sub> and S1P<sub>3</sub> (Watterson et al., 2005). This suggests that in intact arteries, S1P induces vasoconstriction when interacting with smooth muscle cells, and vasodilation when it interacts with the endothelium. Most studies investigating a vascular role for S1P have done so either in vivo in the context of many other vascular mediators (Bischoff et al., 2000; Salomone et al., 2003), ex vivo using the wire myograph technique where S1P is directly accessible to both the endothelium and the smooth muscle cells of intact arteries (Hedemann et al., 2004; Salomone et al., 2008; Salomone et al., 2003), or ex vivo using the pressure myograph with S1P only added to the bath where it directly interacts with the smooth muscle cells of intact arteries (Hemmings et al., 2004; Murakami et al.).

What is not yet known is the effect on overall vascular tone of S1P infused into isolated, pressurized arteries with an intact endothelium in normal physiological situations nor how this typical response is affected by normal pregnancy with or without the additional complication of an active viral infection.

During pregnancy, cardiac output increases and systemic vascular resistance decreases to maintain normal blood pressure in the face of increased plasma volume whereby blood flow to the uterine vascular bed in humans increases 50- to 70-fold over the gestational period (Assali *et al.*, 1960; Gant *et al.*, 1987; Magness *et al.*, 1986; Metcalfe *et al.*, 1974; Veille *et al.*, 1996). Endothelium-dependent vasodilation in the uterine artery is also increased during pregnancy by PGI<sub>2</sub>, NO and EDHF (Carbillon *et al.*, 2000; Sladek *et al.*, 1997). Although several vascular mediators have been linked to this pregnancy-associated increase in vasodilation and decrease in vascular resistance in systemic and uterine arteries, little is known about the role of S1P (Dantas *et al.*, 1999; Harrison *et al.*, 1989; Hemmings *et al.*, 2006; Knock *et al.*, 1996; Thaler *et al.*, 2005).

Studies with S1P receptor knockout mice support the importance of S1P vascular responses related to pregnancy success. S1P<sub>1</sub> knockouts (S1P<sub>1</sub><sup>-/-</sup>) are embryonically lethal due to incomplete cardiovascular development (Liu *et al.*, 1997a). Although S1P<sub>2</sub><sup>-/-</sup> and S1P<sub>3</sub><sup>-/-</sup> are viable with small but significant reductions of litter sizes (Ishii *et al.*, 2001; Ishii *et al.*, 2002), there are signs of vascular dysfunction in both. S1P<sub>3</sub><sup>-/-</sup> show complete loss of S1P-induced NO-dependent dilation in preconstricted aortas (Nofer *et al.*, 2004). These reports suggest that the normal increase in NO-mediated vasodilation in uterine arteries during pregnancy will be impaired in S1P<sub>3</sub><sup>-/-</sup> (S1P<sub>3</sub><sup>-/-</sup>) show severe pregnancy complications with greatly reduced numbers of live-born pups that die shortly after birth (Ishii *et al.*, 2002). This suggests a late pregnancy complication possibly related to impaired NO responses. However, increased S1P in plasma samples obtained in early human pregnancy has been identified as one of several

biomarkers in a multivariate predictive model for the pregnancy-specific vascular disorder, preeclampsia and for babies born small for gestational age (Horgan *et al.*, 2011; Kenny *et al.*, 2010). Collectively, the vascular responses and abnormal pregnancy phenotypes in genetically engineered mice and association of increased S1P plasma levels with pregnancy-related vascular diseases suggest that an intact S1P signalling system and tight regulation of S1P concentrations are important for proper vascular function during pregnancy.

The objectives of the experiments in this chapter are as follows: first, to investigate the effects of S1P and its signalling pathway on overall vascular tone when infused inside intact pressurized mesenteric and uterine arteries from normal mice using the pressure myograph system; second, to determine if S1P contributes to the increased vasodilation responses that occur during normal pregnancy; and finally to examine S1P-mediated responses in arteries from active mCMV-infected NP and LP mice. I hypothesize that addition of S1P to the smooth muscle side of isolated, pressurized mesenteric and uterine arteries (extraluminal) will induce vasoconstriction that will be unchanged in pregnancy. I further hypothesize that intraluminal infusion of S1P into isolated, pressurized, preconstricted mesenteric and uterine arteries will induce vasodilation that will be increased in pregnancy. Since CMV infections can increase muscarinic-induced NO-mediated vasodilation (Chapter 4) (Gombos et al., 2010) and potentially S1P receptor expression by activation of NF-kB (Liu et al., 1997a; Yurochko et al., 1995), I also hypothesize that an active mCMV infection will increase intraluminally infused S1P-induced vasodilation and vasoconstriction induced by extraluminally applied S1P in arteries from both LP and NP mice. In intact, pressurized arteries, I show that control of vascular responses by S1P interacting directly with endothelium is tightly regulated. Infusion of low concentrations leads to vasodilation that is abolished at higher concentrations. This is altered in pregnancy to favour increased vasodilatory capacity. Furthermore, a mCMV infection disrupts S1P-induced vasoconstriction and vasodilation responses in addition to S1P signalling pathways.

#### **5.2 RESULTS**

# 5.2.1 Vascular responses to extraluminal addition or intraluminal infusion of S1P in arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice

S1P added extraluminally to pressurized mesenteric and uterine arteries induced vasoconstriction in a dose-dependent manner. Uterine arteries from uninfected LP mice had significantly less S1P-induced vasoconstriction at  $5\mu$ M of S1P than those from uninfected NP mice. Responses did not differ in mesenteric arteries (Figure 5.1A,B). Uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice had significantly higher S1P-induced vasoconstriction compared to mesenteric arteries (p<0.05; Figure 5.1A compared to Figure 5.1B); however, there was no significant difference in vasoconstriction induced by extraluminal application of S1P in uterine compared to mesenteric arteries from LP mice (Figure 5.1A compared to Figure 5.1B).

Infusion of 0.1µM of S1P with 0.1% BSA intraluminally in pressurized arteries preconstricted with U46619 led to vasodilation in both mesenteric and uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice (Figure 5.2A,B). To ensure the low flow used in these experiments did not induce a flow-mediated vasodilation response, infusion of either PSS alone or the carrier control 0.1% BSA was also done. Infusion of S1P at higher concentrations including 1µM (Figure 5.2A,B) and  $10\mu M$  (mesenteric NP: 2.68±1.42%; uterine NP: -0.379±0.379%) produced no significant vasodilation response compared to either PSS (mesenteric NP: 0.102±0.771%; uterine NP: -1.41±0.597%) or BSA (mesenteric NP: 1.25±2.30%; uterine NP:  $0.265\pm1.88\%$ ) controls in either artery from uninfected NP mice. In contrast, arteries from uninfected LP mice showed significant vasodilation with infusion of both 0.1µM and 1µM of S1P (Figure 5.2C,D) which was lost at 10µM (mesenteric LP: 2.94±2.94%; uterine LP: 2.57±0.435). There were also no vasodilation responses to infused PSS (mesenteric LP:  $-2.23\pm1.45\%$ ; uterine LP: 0.182±1.47%) or BSA (mesenteric LP: 0.516±0.348%; uterine LP: -0.638±1.65%) controls in arteries from uninfected LP mice.

The vascular responses to  $0.1\mu$ M and  $1\mu$ M S1P applied extraluminally as measured in the dose-response curves in Figure 5.1 are shown for comparison. In contrast to the vasodilation responses to intraluminal infusion of S1P, addition of  $0.1\mu$ M S1P with 0.1% BSA to the bath where it interacted directly with uterine artery smooth muscle cells led to vasoconstriction which increased at  $1\mu$ M in uterine arteries from both NP and LP mice (Figure 5.2B,D). Extraluminal addition of  $0.1\mu$ M S1P to mesenteric arteries from either NP or LP mice had no significant effect; however, both constricted to extraluminal addition of  $1\mu$ M (Figure 5.2A,C). As shown in Figure 5.1, uterine arteries from NP and LP mice were more sensitive to vasoconstriction at  $1\mu$ M S1P than mesenteric arteries.

### 5.2.2 Role of the endothelium in vasodilation induced by S1P infusion

To determine if vasodilation induced by infusion of  $0.1\mu$ M S1P was dependent on the endothelium, I measured the response to intraluminally infused S1P in mesenteric and uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice following endothelium removal. S1P-induced vasodilation in endothelium-denuded arteries was completely abolished and replaced with an S1P-induced vasoconstriction response that was significantly greater in uterine compared to mesenteric arteries (Figure 5.3).

# 5.2.3 Effect of an active mCMV infection on vascular responses to intraluminally infused S1P

Mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice had significantly decreased vasodilation induced by infused S1P compared to mesenteric arteries from uninfected mice. Uterine arteries from both mCMVinfected NP and LP mice showed similar responses to intraluminally infused S1P as uninfected NP and LP mice at  $0.1\mu$ M and  $1\mu$ M (Figure 5.4A,B). At  $10\mu$ M S1P, similar to mesenteric and uterine arteries from uninfected mice, vasodilation was lost in all mCMV-infected NP and LP groups (mesenteric NP:  $-0.933\pm0.934\%$ ; mesenteric LP:  $0.119\pm1.07\%$ ; uterine NP:  $1.53\pm1.49\%$ ; uterine LP: 0.513±1.04%). In both mesenteric and uterine arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice, the vasodilation induced by intraluminal infusion of 0.1µM S1P was lost when vessels were pre-treated with the NOS inhibitor, L-NAME or with the S1P<sub>1/3</sub> antagonist, VPC23019 (Figure 5.5A,B). In mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice and in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice, pre-treatment with L-NAME or VPC23019 completely inhibited S1P-induced vasodilation similar to mesenteric and uterine arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice (Figure 5.5C,D). In contrast, while uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice continued to show loss of S1P-induced vasodilation in the presence of L-NAME, this vasodilation was no longer blocked by pre-treatment with VPC23019 (Figure 5.5D).

# 5.2.4 Effect of an active mCMV infection on vascular responses to extraluminal addition of S1P

There was no significant difference in S1P-induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric arteries isolated from mCMV-infected NP compared to uninfected mice (Figure 5.6A). However, in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected versus uninfected NP mice, S1P-induced vasoconstriction to S1P was significantly reduced (p<0.05; Figure 5.6B) from  $0.1\mu$ M to  $10\mu$ M of S1P. In LP mice, there were no significant differences in S1P-induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric or uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected mice (Figure 5.6C,D).

Since extraluminally applied S1P binds directly to smooth muscle cell receptors but may also access and bind to endothelial receptors, I investigated the role of endothelium-dependent responses in modulating S1P-induced vasoconstriction using three agents: L-NAME, VPC23019, and meclo. L-NAME, which inhibits NOS, did not affect S1P-induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric or uterine arteries from any animal group (Figures 5.7A-D; 5.8A-D). When the arteries were pre-treated with the S1P<sub>1/3</sub> receptor antagonist VPC23019, sensitivity to S1P-induced vasoconstriction was significantly increased (p<0.05)

only in uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice (S1P EC<sub>50</sub>:  $1.29\pm0.412\mu$ M; VPC23019 IC<sub>50</sub>:  $0.366\pm0.0431\mu$ M) (Figure 5.9B). In mesenteric and uterine arteries from all other NP and LP groups, this antagonist had no effect on S1P-induced vasoconstriction (Figures 5.9A,C,D; 5.10A-D). Meclo, the PGHS-1/2 inhibitor, had no effect on S1P vasoconstriction responses in any group (Figures 5.11A-D; 5.12A-D).

### 5.2.5 Role of ROCK in vasoconstriction induced by extraluminally applied S1P in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice

Since changes in endothelial function could not explain the reduced vasoconstriction observed in the uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice, I investigated a role for altered ROCK activity. Following the final dose of extraluminal S1P (10 $\mu$ M), the ROCK inhibitor Y27632 was added to the bath. S1P-induced vasoconstriction was significantly reversed in all groups (p<0.05). Mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP or LP mice and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice did not differ in Y27632-induced reversal of vasoconstriction. However, uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice had significantly decreased Y27632-induced reversal of vasoconstriction compared to arteries from uninfected NP mice (p<0.05; Figure 5.13A,B).

### **5.3 SUMMARY OF RESULTS**

5.3.1 Uterine arteries from NP mice were more sensitive to S1P-induced vasoconstriction than LP mice when S1P was applied extraluminally (Figure 5.1).
5.3.2 Vasoconstriction induced by extraluminally applied S1P was decreased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP mice (Figure 5.6).

**5.3.3** NO did not mediate vasoconstriction induced by extraluminally applied S1P in mesenteric or uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP or LP mice (Figures 5.7, 5.8).

**5.3.4** Inhibition of  $S1P_{1/3}$  increased sensitivity to extraluminal S1P in uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice but did not affect S1P-induced vasoconstriction in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice or mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected or uninfected NP mice (Figure 5.9).

**5.3.5** S1P<sub>1/3</sub> did not mediate vasoconstriction induced by extraluminally applied S1P in mesenteric or uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice (Figure 5.10).

**5.3.6** Prostanoids did not contribute to vasoconstriction induced by extraluminally applied S1P in mesenteric or uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP or LP mice (Figures 5.11, 5.12).

**5.3.7** ROCK activity was reduced in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP mice (Figure 5.13).

**5.3.8** Extraluminal S1P application induced vasoconstriction at  $0.1\mu$ M in uterine arteries from NP and LP mice and induced vasoconstriction at  $1\mu$ M in uterine and mesenteric arteries from NP and LP mice (Figure 5.2).

**5.3.9** Intraluminal infusion of S1P induced vasodilation at  $0.1\mu$ M in uterine and mesenteric arteries from NP and LP mice whereas intraluminal vasodilation was maintained at  $1\mu$ M only in uterine and mesenteric arteries from LP mice (Figure 5.2).

**5.3.10** Vasodilation induced by infused S1P was endothelium-dependent (Figure 5.3).

**5.3.11** Mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice had decreased vasodilation induced by infused S1P compared to uninfected NP and LP mice (Figure 5.4).

**5.3.12** Vasodilation induced by infused S1P was NO-dependent and mediated by the  $S1P_{1/3}$  receptors in mesenteric and uterine arteries from all groups except

uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice, where NO-dependent vasodilation was not mediated by the  $S1P_{1/3}$  receptors (Figure 5.5).



Figure 5.1: Extraluminal S1P dose-response curves for arteries from NP and LP mice. S1P was applied extraluminally to mesenteric (A) and uterine (B) arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice. Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM percent decrease in arterial lumen diameter compared to the initial equilibrated lumen diameter. A significant difference between points on the curves was determined by Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA with Holm Sidak's post-hoc analysis and symbolized with an \* (p<0.05). n=number of animals.



Figure 5.2: Intraluminal and extraluminal S1P responses at 0.1 $\mu$ M and 1 $\mu$ M. Mesenteric (A,C) and uterine (B,D) arteries from uninfected NP (A,B) and LP (C,D) mice were preconstricted to 50% with U46619 before intraluminal infusion of S1P. Intraluminal data were expressed as the mean ± SEM percent increase in arterial lumen diameter compared to the passive lumen diameter in the presence of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium and papaverine. Extraluminal data were taken from the curves in Figure 5.1 and expressed as the mean ± SEM percent decrease in arterial lumen diameter compared to the initial equilibrated lumen diameter. A significant difference between the bars was determined by two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis and symbolized with an a, b, c, or d (p<0.05). n=5-9 animals.



Figure 5.3: Vascular responses to intraluminally infused S1P at  $0.1\mu$ M in arteries with or without the endothelium from uninfected NP mice. Percent dilation was measured for preconstricted mesenteric arteries with or without the endothelium and preconstricted uterine arteries with or without the endothelium. Data were expressed and summarized as in Figure 5.2. a, b, c = p<0.05. n=3-5 animals.



Figure 5.4: Vascular responses to intraluminally infused S1P at  $0.1\mu$ M and  $1\mu$ M. Responses were compared in mesenteric (A) and uterine (B) arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. Data were expressed as in Figure 5.2, and at each S1P concentration the response of the mesenteric or uterine arteries from mCMV-infected mice was compared to that from uninfected mice with a Student's t-test (p<0.05). \* = p<0.05; \*\* = p<0.01. n=5-7 animals.



Figure 5.5: Vascular responses to intraluminally infused S1P at  $0.1\mu$ M with or without pre-treatment with L-NAME (100 $\mu$ M) or VPC23019 (10 $\mu$ M). Intraluminal infusion of S1P induced vasodilation responses in preconstricted mesenteric (A,C) and uterine (B,D) arteries from uninfected (A,B) and mCMVinfected (C,D) NP and LP mice. Data were expressed and summarized as in Figure 5.2. a,b = p<0.05. n=5-9 animals.



Figure 5.6: Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. Extraluminal application of S1P induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric (A,C) and uterine (B,D) arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP (A,B) and LP (C,D) mice. Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM percent decrease in arterial lumen diameter compared to the initial equilibrated lumen diameter. A significant difference between the points on the curves was determined by Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA and Holm-Sidak's post-hoc analysis and symbolized with an \* (p<0.05). n=number of animals.



Figure 5.7: Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with or without pre-treatment with L-NAME (100 $\mu$ M) in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP mice. Extraluminal application of S1P induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric (A,C) and uterine (B,D) arteries from uninfected (A,B) and mCMV-infected (C,D) NP mice. Data were summarized and compared as in Figure 5.6. n=number of animals.



Figure 5.8: Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with or without pre-treatment with L-NAME (100µM) in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice. Extraluminal application of S1P induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric (A,C) and uterine (B,D) arteries from uninfected (A,B) and mCMV-infected (C,D) LP mice. Data were summarized and compared as in Figure 5.6. n=number of animals.



Figure 5.9: Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with or without pre-treatment with VPC23019 (10 $\mu$ M) in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP mice. Extraluminal application of S1P induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric (A,C) and uterine (B,D) arteries from uninfected (A,B) and mCMV-infected (C,D) NP mice. Data were summarized and compared as in Figure 5.6. \* = p<0.05. n=number of animals.



Figure 5.10: Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with or without pre-treatment with VPC23019 ( $10\mu$ M) in arteries from mCMVinfected and uninfected LP mice. Extraluminal application of S1P induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric (A,C) and uterine (B,D) arteries from uninfected (A,B) and mCMV-infected (C,D) LP mice. Data were summarized and compared as in Figure 5.6. n=number of animals.



Figure 5.11: Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with or without pre-treatment with meclofenamate (meclo;  $1\mu$ M) in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP mice. Extraluminal application of S1P induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric (A,C) and uterine (B,D) arteries from uninfected (A,B) and mCMV-infected (C,D) NP mice. Data were summarized and compared as in Figure 5.6. n=number of animals.



Figure 5.12: Dose-response curves for extraluminal application of S1P with or without pre-treatment with meclo  $(1\mu M)$  in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice. Extraluminal application of S1P induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric (A,C) and uterine (B,D) arteries from uninfected (A,B) and mCMV-infected (C,D) LP mice. Data were summarized and compared as in Figure 5.6. n=number of animals.



Figure 5.13: Reversal of vasoconstriction induced by extraluminal application of S1P by pre-treatment with Y27632 (10 $\mu$ M) in arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. Y27632 reversed S1P-induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric (A) and uterine (B) arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice. Data were expressed as mean ± SEM percent increase in arterial lumen diameter compared to maximal S1P-induced vasoconstriction. A significant difference between mCMV-infected and uninfected mice in each group was determined using a Student's t-test and symbolized with an \* (p<0.05). n=5-7 animals.
### **5.4 DISCUSSION**

Although cholinergic stimulation plays a prominent role in the regulation of vascular tone (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009), there are several other circulating mediators that also induce endothelium-dependent vasodilation and may be affected by an active CMV infection. S1P is a bioactive sphingolipid that acts on three different receptors on the vasculature to induce either vasodilation or vasoconstriction. Interestingly, stimulation of muscarinic receptors can activate SK-1 and induce S1P production (Meyer zu Heringdorf et al., 1998). In pregnancy, the role S1P plays in the regulation of systemic and uterine vascular tone is unknown, although S1P has been demonstrated to induce vasoconstriction in human placental arteries (Hemmings et al., 2006). In addition, increased S1P in plasma samples obtained in early pregnancy is one of 14 metabolites that comprise a consistent, predictive metabolic signature of preeclampsia (Kenny et al., 2010). Furthermore, HCMV has also been shown to increase SK-1 expression and activity in cultured vascular endothelial cells (Machesky et al., 2008). As such, I chose to study how S1P affects vascular responses during pregnancy in both the presence and absence of a CMV infection.

My approach to the investigation of S1P-mediated vascular responses in pregnancy complicated by infection was unique. I infused S1P into the mesenteric resistance and main uterine arteries isolated and pressurized on a pressure myograph system and showed that low concentrations induced endothelium-dependent vasodilation, which was lost at higher concentrations in arteries from uninfected NP mice. In contrast, direct interaction of S1P with smooth muscle cells of intact arteries led to vasoconstriction that was significantly higher in uterine compared to mesenteric arteries from uninfected NP mice. This highlights a more physiological approach to the study of S1P effects on the vascular system compared to previous techniques and demonstrates the likely importance of S1P-mediated permeability to vascular tone. In pregnancy, vasodilation induced by infused S1P was sustained at a 10-fold higher concentration in LP than in NP mice in both mesenteric and uterine arteries, suggesting an important role for S1P

in pregnancy-associated vascular adaptations. Finally, I showed how a CMV infection affects the S1P signalling pathway in an artery-specific manner. In previous studies, I illustrated that cholinergic endothelium-dependent vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from NP and LP mice and uterine arteries from NP mice was increased but sensitivity to the cholinergic agonist ME was decreased in uterine arteries from LP mice during a CMV infection (Chapter 3) (Gombos *et al.*, 2009). I have now shown that, contrary to my hypothesis, infusion of S1P induced significantly reduced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP and LP mice. In addition, although infusion of S1P induced similar vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP or LP mice, the underlying regulation of this response by S1P<sub>1</sub> and/or S1P<sub>3</sub> in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice was lost and ROCK-dependent S1P-induced vasoconstriction was reduced.

The response of isolated arteries to vasoactive mediators has generally been studied using the wire or pressure myograph systems (previously described in Chapter 3). The wire myograph puts tension on the vessel and measures the force generated by the vessel in response to vasoactive drugs that have access to both the endothelium and smooth muscle simultaneously (Angus et al., 2000). The pressure myograph system is a closed system that maintains the vessel at a physiological pressure and allows separate initial access to either endothelial or smooth muscle cells (Halpern et al., 1984). This makes the pressure myograph system particularly useful to study several vasoactive drugs or circulating mediators that have different effects on smooth muscle cells versus the endothelium, including S1P. Previous use of this system has only involved addition of S1P directly to the smooth muscle side of the vessel (extraluminal addition) (Hemmings et al., 2004; Murakami et al., 2010). In this study, I used the pressure myograph system to infuse S1P directly inside the pressurized artery to interact with the endothelium (intraluminal) (also done in Chapters 6,7) and compared this to the vascular responses when S1P was only added to the bath to directly interact with the vascular smooth muscle cells (extraluminal), as done in my previous studies (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009).

S1P is one of several vascular mediators with differential effects depending on the expression level and distribution of receptors between endothelial and smooth muscle cells. Other important vascular mediators that act similarly to S1P include bradykinin (Tsutsui et al., 2000), endothelin (Shetty et al., 1993), and acetylcholine (Igarashi et al., 2009). S1P also regulates endothelial permeability depending on concentration, receptor engagement and location (Igarashi et al., 2009; Shikata et al., 2003). Previous studies measuring the effects of S1P on vascular regulation have not differentiated the direct role of S1P on the vascular endothelium versus the smooth muscle cells in intact isolated arteries (Bischoff et al., 2000; Hedemann et al., 2004; Hemmings et al., 2004; Murakami et al., 2010; Salomone et al., 2008; Salomone et al., 2003). I have now shown that although direct interaction of S1P with smooth muscle cells of intact arteries led to dose-dependent vasoconstriction, infusion of S1P inside preconstricted arteries from NP mice to interact directly with endothelial cells led to vasodilation at low concentrations. This vasodilation was NO-dependent and could be inhibited with an S1P<sub>1</sub> and S1P<sub>3</sub> antagonist. Vasodilation was likely mediated through both receptors since both can lead to the activation of NOS (Igarashi et al., 2009; Nofer et al., 2004). In contrast, vasodilation did not occur with infusion of higher S1P concentrations (1µM and 10µM) into preconstricted arteries from uninfected NP mice. A likely explanation for the loss of vasodilation response with infusion of S1P at the higher concentrations is an increase in endothelial permeability. S1P concentrations approaching and greater than 5µM increase endothelial permeability (McVerry et al., 2005; Shikata et al., 2003) through increased engagement of  $S1P_2$  and  $S1P_3$  (Sanchez et al., 2007; Singleton et al., 2006). It is important to note that these permeability studies were all performed in cell culture. Endothelial cells may be less sensitive to S1P-induced permeability effects in vitro than in intact arteries used in my experiments. Increased endothelial permeability would allow greater access of circulating S1P to smooth muscle cells inducing vasoconstriction that balances the vasodilation induced at

both S1P<sub>1</sub> and S1P<sub>3</sub>. At lower S1P concentrations (0.5  $\mu$ M), S1P reduces permeability (Shikata *et al.*, 2003) via signalling through the S1P<sub>1</sub> receptor and the barrier-promoting pathway (Wang *et al.*, 2009; Zhang *et al.*, 2010), thus promoting a vasodilation response. In addition, I removed the endothelium from intact arteries and showed that an intact endothelial barrier was essential for the vasodilation response to 0.1  $\mu$ M of infused S1P. In the absence of the endothelium, intraluminally infused S1P had direct access to the smooth muscle cells and induced a vasoconstriction response. Therefore, levels of S1P and S1P receptor expression are important determinants of vascular endothelial barrier function and tight regulation is important for control of vascular tone.

During pregnancy, the vasculature undergoes dramatic remodelling, particularly the uterine vasculature, with increased capacity for vasodilation (Carbillon et al., 2000; Magness et al., 1988; Sladek et al., 1997) and reduced sensitivity to vasoconstrictors (Gant et al., 1987; Magness et al., 1986). Interestingly, the infusion of a 10-fold higher concentration of S1P (1µM) into arteries from LP mice continued to show vasodilation in contrast to the complete lack of response in arteries from NP mice, suggesting reduced endothelial permeability possibly through increased expression of S1P<sub>1</sub>. In human pregnancies, S1P<sub>1</sub> mRNA expression was found in myometrial arteries taken from women at term (Hudson et al., 2007) and the Hemmings lab has previously shown that S1P<sub>3</sub> protein expression is increased in term compared to preterm human decidua (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2010). Human placental arteries also express  $S1P_1$  and S1P<sub>3</sub> mRNA at term (Hemmings et al., 2006). Little else is known with respect to S1P levels, S1P receptor expression and vascular function in human pregnancy; however, increased S1P<sub>1</sub> mRNA expression was found in the gravid horn compared to the non-gravid horn of a pregnant sheep uterus early in pregnancy (Dunlap et al., 2010). In addition, SK-1/2 expression and activity and S1P release are increased in the rat uterus during pregnancy (Jeng et al., 2007; Serrano-Sanchez et al., 2008). Therefore, S1P may play an important role in the vascular adaptations that occur in response to increased blood volume and cardiac output during pregnancy, including a reduction in vascular resistance (Adamova *et al.*, 2009; Assali *et al.*, 1960).

I previously showed that vascular dysfunction occurs during an active CMV infection in pregnancy (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009). Like S1P, CMV has also been associated with preeclampsia, a pregnancy disorder characterized by vascular dysfunction (Grahame-Clarke, 2005; Kenny et al., 2010; von Dadelszen et al., 2003). CMV and S1P affect similar signalling pathways and have similar effects on cell function; however, only limited evidence exists for a direct effect of CMV on S1P signalling and there are no studies in pregnancy. S1P and CMV each promote cell proliferation and migration (Rahaman et al., 2006; Spiegel et al., 2003a) and endothelial permeability (Bentz et al., 2006; Sanchez et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2009). More specifically, a CMV infection increases permeability in cultured microvascular endothelial cells (Bentz et al., 2006), as found in response to other acute inflammatory conditions (Wilhelm, 1973). Similarly, high concentrations of S1P stimulate the  $S1P_{2/3}$ receptors and decrease barrier function (Sanchez et al., 2007; Singleton et al., 2006). In addition, in fibroblasts a CMV infection also leads to an increased production of the transcription factor NF- $\kappa$ B (Yurochko *et al.*, 1995). The S1P<sub>1</sub> receptor (and potentially other homologous S1P receptors) contains a NF-κB response element (Liu et al., 1997a), suggesting that expression of S1P receptors is upregulated with a CMV infection. S1P and CMV also both regulate vasodilation via NO and prostanoid activity; S1P stimulates NOS-3 and PGHS-2 activation in the endothelium and/or vascular smooth muscle (Hemmings et al., 2006; Nodai et al., 2007; Pettus et al., 2003; Roviezzo et al., 2006) while CMV activates PGHS-2 and may up or down-regulate the expression and activity of NOS-2/3, respectively, depending on the vessel type studied (Chapter 4) (Gombos et al., 2010; Shen et al., 2006; Tanaka et al., 1997; Tanaka et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2002). With such interconnecting signalling pathways, it is likely that a direct relationship between a CMV infection and S1P activity exists in the vascular system but has not yet been investigated.

I have now demonstrated that an active mCMV infection affects S1Pinduced vasodilation and S1P signalling pathways. Mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice had reduced NO-dependent S1P-induced vasodilation mediated by S1P<sub>1</sub> and/or S1P<sub>3</sub> and compared to arteries from uninfected mice. This suggests that the basal permeability of these arteries is increased during a mCMV infection. Furthermore, a CMV infection may reduce systemic vascular tone via the S1P pathway. Systemic vascular dysfunction suggests that CMV infections contribute to vascular diseases such as hypertension and preeclampsia via the S1P pathway.

Uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice demonstrated decreased ROCK activity, which contributed to the decreased S1P-induced vasoconstriction. Moreover, my results suggest that S1P-induced vasoconstriction in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice is mediated by  $S1P_2$ , not  $S1P_1$  or  $S1P_3$ . Although there was no overall effect on responses to infused S1P in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice, the loss of dependence on S1P<sub>1</sub> and/or S1P<sub>3</sub> illustrates a change in regulation of the response. Signalling through  $S1P_1$  and  $S1P_3$  inhibits apoptosis, reduces vascular inflammation (Keul et al., 2007; Waeber et al., 2004), and increases PGHS-2 activation and PGI<sub>2</sub> production (Nodai *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, loss of  $S1P_1$  and S1P<sub>3</sub> on this vascular bed may increase apoptosis and vascular inflammation thereby increasing the spread of infection (Chan *et al.*, 2002). One explanation for the lack of overall effect on infused S1P-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice is that S1P is acting through S1P<sub>2</sub> on the endothelium to stimulate Ca<sup>2+</sup> release (Skoura et al., 2009), leading to the activation of NOS-3 and NO production (Balligand et al., 2009). Moreover, S1P<sub>2</sub> expression in isolated vascular endothelial cells is variable in several different studies and may also account for differences in S1P-induced vascular responses in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice (Kimura et al., 2000; Lee et al., 2000; Morales-Ruiz et al., 2001; Rizza et al., 1999).

Infection with CMV during pregnancy did not appear to affect the vasodilation observed at the 10-fold higher concentration (1 $\mu$ M) of infused S1P. This suggests that an increase in S1P<sub>1</sub> expression during late pregnancy may override the effects of a CMV infection in uterine arteries from NP mice. The study of vascular responses in early pregnancy of mCMV-infected mice will begin to elucidate its importance in early-onset diseases in pregnancy such as preeclampsia (Gaugler-Senden *et al.*, 2008).

Using the pressure myograph system, I showed that the effects of S1P on vascular responses in intact pressurized arteries are highly dependent on the compartment to which S1P is applied and on S1P concentration. Infusion of low concentrations led to an overall vasodilatory response, whereas higher S1P concentrations likely increased endothelial permeability which increased access of S1P to vascular smooth muscle cells and therefore increased vasoconstriction (Shikata et al., 2003). My results demonstrate the usefulness and reliability of the pressure myograph system to separately investigate the response of the endothelium versus smooth muscle cells in intact isolated arteries and begin to delineate the importance of permeability regulation on vascular tone. In pregnancy, however, infusion of S1P continued to induce vasodilation at a 10-fold higher S1P concentration demonstrating an important role for S1P in pregnancyinduced vascular adaptations. Finally, I illustrated that S1P-induced vasodilation and S1P-signalling pathways were affected by a CMV infection. A reduction in S1P-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries and loss in  $S1P_1$  and/or  $S1P_3$ mediation specifically in the uterine artery from CMV-infected NP mice implies that CMV infections affect vascular responses via the S1P pathway. Therefore, I showed that S1P is an important vascular regulator not only in normal physiological conditions, but also during normal pregnancy and viral infections.

### **5.5 REFERENCES**

Adamova, Z, Ozkan, S, Khalil, RA (2009) Vascular and cellular calcium in normal and hypertensive pregnancy. *Curr Clin Pharmacol* **4**(3): 172-190.

Alewijnse, AE, Peters, SL, Michel, MC (2004) Cardiovascular effects of sphingosine-1-phosphate and other sphingomyelin metabolites. *Br J Pharmacol* **143**(6): 666-684.

Angus, JA, Wright, CE (2000) Techniques to study the pharmacodynamics of isolated large and small blood vessels. *J Pharmacol Toxicol Methods* **44**(2): 395-407.

Assali, NS, Rauramo, L, Peltonen, T (1960) Measurement of uterine blood flow and uterine metabolism. VIII. Uterine and fetal blood flow and oxygen consumption in early human pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **79:** 86-98.

Balligand, JL, Feron, O, Dessy, C (2009) eNOS activation by physical forces: from short-term regulation of contraction to chronic remodeling of cardiovascular tissues. *Physiol Rev* **89**(2): 481-534.

Bentz, GL, Jarquin-Pardo, M, Chan, G, Smith, MS, Sinzger, C, Yurochko, AD (2006) Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) infection of endothelial cells promotes naive monocyte extravasation and transfer of productive virus to enhance hematogenous dissemination of HCMV. *J Virol* **80**(23): 11539-11555.

Bischoff, A, Czyborra, P, Meyer Zu Heringdorf, D, Jakobs, KH, Michel, MC (2000) Sphingosine-1-phosphate reduces rat renal and mesenteric blood flow in vivo in a pertussis toxin-sensitive manner. *Br J Pharmacol* **130**(8): 1878-1883.

Carbillon, L, Uzan, M, Uzan, S (2000) Pregnancy, vascular tone, and maternal hemodynamics: a crucial adaptation. *Obstet Gynecol Surv* **55**(9): 574-581.

Chan, G, Hemmings, DG, Yurochko, AD, Guilbert, LJ (2002) Human cytomegalovirus-caused damage to placental trophoblasts mediated by immediate-early gene-induced tumor necrosis factor-alpha. *Am J Pathol* **161**(4): 1371-1381.

Dantas, MF, Urban, M, Spray, D, Catelli De Carvalho, MH, Passaglia, RD (1999) Increased acetylcholine-induced vasodilation in pregnant rats: A role for gap junctional communication. *Hypertension* **34**(4 Pt 2): 937-942.

Dunlap, KA, Kwak, HI, Burghardt, RC, Bazer, FW, Magness, RR, Johnson, GA, Bayless, KJ (2010) The sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) signaling pathway is regulated during pregnancy in sheep. *Biol Reprod* **82**(5): 876-887.

Gant, NF, Whalley, PJ, Everett, RB, Worley, RJ, MacDonald, PC (1987) Control of vascular reactivity in pregnancy. *Am J Kidney Dis* **9**(4): 303-307.

Gaugler-Senden, IP, Berends, AL, de Groot, CJ, Steegers, EA (2008) Severe, very early onset preeclampsia: subsequent pregnancies and future parental cardiovascular health. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* **140**(2): 171-177.

Gombos, RB, Hemmings, DG (2010) Differential effects on nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in mesenteric and uterine arteries from cytomegalovirus-infected mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **299**(4): H1124-1134.

Gombos, RB, Wolan, V, McDonald, K, Hemmings, DG (2009) Impaired vascular function in mice with an active cytomegalovirus infection. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **296**(4): H937-945.

Grahame-Clarke, C (2005) Human cytomegalovirus, endothelial function and atherosclerosis. *Herpes* **12**(2): 42-45.

Halpern, W, Osol, G, Coy, GS (1984) Mechanical behavior of pressurized in vitro prearteriolar vessels determined with a video system. *Ann Biomed Eng* **12**(5): 463-479.

Harrison, GL, Moore, LG (1989) Blunted vasoreactivity in pregnant guinea pigs is not restored by meclofenamate. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **160**(1): 258-264.

Hedemann, J, Fetscher, C, Michel, MC (2004) Comparison of noradrenaline and lysosphingolipid-induced vasoconstriction in mouse and rat small mesenteric arteries. *Auton Autacoid Pharmacol* **24**(3): 77-85.

Hemmings, DG (2006) Signal transduction underlying the vascular effects of sphingosine 1-phosphate and sphingosylphosphorylcholine. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* **373**(1): 18-29.

Hemmings, DG, Hudson, NK, Halliday, D, O'Hara, M, Baker, PN, Davidge, ST, Taggart, MJ (2006) Sphingosine-1-phosphate acts via rho-associated kinase and nitric oxide to regulate human placental vascular tone. *Biol Reprod* **74**(1): 88-94.

Hemmings, DG, Xu, Y, Davidge, ST (2004) Sphingosine 1-phosphate-induced vasoconstriction is elevated in mesenteric resistance arteries from aged female rats. *Br J Pharmacol* **143**(2): 276-284.

Heo, K, Park, KA, Kim, YH, Kim, SH, Oh, YS, Kim, IH, Ryu, SH, Suh, PG (2009) Sphingosine 1-phosphate induces vascular endothelial growth factor expression in endothelial cells. *BMB Rep* **42**(10): 685-690.

Horgan, RP, Broadhurst, DI, Walsh, SK, Dunn, WB, Brown, M, Roberts, CT, North, RA, McCowan, LM, Kell, DB, Baker, PN, Kenny, LC (2011) Metabolic

profiling uncovers a phenotypic signature of small for gestational age in early pregnancy. *J Proteome Res* **10**(8): 3660-3673.

Hudson, NK, O'Hara, M, Lacey, HA, Corcoran, J, Hemmings, DG, Wareing, M, Baker, P, Taggart, MJ (2007) Modulation of human arterial tone during pregnancy: the effect of the bioactive metabolite sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Biol Reprod* **77**(1): 45-52.

Igarashi, J, Michel, T (2009) Sphingosine-1-phosphate and modulation of vascular tone. *Cardiovasc Res* **82**(2): 212-220.

Ishii, I, Friedman, B, Ye, X, Kawamura, S, McGiffert, C, Contos, JJ, Kingsbury, MA, Zhang, G, Brown, JH, Chun, J (2001) Selective loss of sphingosine 1-phosphate signaling with no obvious phenotypic abnormality in mice lacking its G protein-coupled receptor, LP(B3)/EDG-3. *J Biol Chem* **276**(36): 33697-33704.

Ishii, I, Ye, X, Friedman, B, Kawamura, S, Contos, JJ, Kingsbury, MA, Yang, AH, Zhang, G, Brown, JH, Chun, J (2002) Marked perinatal lethality and cellular signaling deficits in mice null for the two sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) receptors, S1P(2)/LP(B2)/EDG-5 and S1P(3)/LP(B3)/EDG-3. *J Biol Chem* **277**(28): 25152-25159.

Jeng, YJ, Suarez, VR, Izban, MG, Wang, HQ, Soloff, MS (2007) Progesteroneinduced sphingosine kinase-1 expression in the rat uterus during pregnancy and signaling consequences. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* **292**(4): E1110-1121.

Kenny, LC, Broadhurst, DI, Dunn, W, Brown, M, North, RA, McCowan, L, Roberts, C, Cooper, GJ, Kell, DB, Baker, PN (2010) Robust early pregnancy prediction of later preeclampsia using metabolomic biomarkers. *Hypertension* **56**(4): 741-749.

Keul, P, Tolle, M, Lucke, S, von Wnuck Lipinski, K, Heusch, G, Schuchardt, M, van der Giet, M, Levkau, B (2007) The sphingosine-1-phosphate analogue FTY720 reduces atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **27**(3): 607-613.

Kim, RH, Takabe, K, Milstien, S, Spiegel, S (2009) Export and functions of sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Biochim Biophys Acta* **1791**(7): 692-696.

Kimura, T, Watanabe, T, Sato, K, Kon, J, Tomura, H, Tamama, K, Kuwabara, A, Kanda, T, Kobayashi, I, Ohta, H, Ui, M, Okajima, F (2000) Sphingosine 1-phosphate stimulates proliferation and migration of human endothelial cells possibly through the lipid receptors, Edg-1 and Edg-3. *Biochem J* **348** Pt 1: 71-76.

Knock, GA, Poston, L (1996) Bradykinin-mediated relaxation of isolated maternal resistance arteries in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **175**(6): 1668-1674.

Lee, H, Goetzl, EJ, An, S (2000) Lysophosphatidic acid and sphingosine 1-phosphate stimulate endothelial cell wound healing. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **278**(3): C612-618.

Liu, CH, Hla, T (1997) The mouse gene for the inducible G-protein-coupled receptor edg-1. *Genomics* **43**(1): 15-24.

Machesky, NJ, Zhang, G, Raghavan, B, Zimmerman, P, Kelly, SL, Merrill, AH, Jr., Waldman, WJ, Van Brocklyn, JR, Trgovcich, J (2008) Human cytomegalovirus regulates bioactive sphingolipids. *J Biol Chem*.

Magness, RR, Rosenfeld, CR (1988) Mechanisms for attenuated pressor responses to alpha-agonists in ovine pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **159**(1): 252-261.

Magness, RR, Rosenfeld, CR (1986) Systemic and uterine responses to alphaadrenergic stimulation in pregnant and nonpregnant ewes. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **155**(4): 897-904.

McVerry, BJ, Garcia, JG (2005) In vitro and in vivo modulation of vascular barrier integrity by sphingosine 1-phosphate: mechanistic insights. *Cell Signal* **17**(2): 131-139.

Metcalfe, J, Ueland, K (1974) Maternal cardiovascular adjustments to pregnancy. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis* **16**(4): 363-374.

Meyer zu Heringdorf, D, Lass, H, Alemany, R, Laser, KT, Neumann, E, Zhang, C, Schmidt, M, Rauen, U, Jakobs, KH, van Koppen, CJ (1998) Sphingosine kinase-mediated Ca2+ signalling by G-protein-coupled receptors. *EMBO J* **17**(10): 2830-2837.

Morales-Ruiz, M, Lee, MJ, Zollner, S, Gratton, JP, Scotland, R, Shiojima, I, Walsh, K, Hla, T, Sessa, WC (2001) Sphingosine 1-phosphate activates Akt, nitric oxide production, and chemotaxis through a Gi protein/phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway in endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* **276**(22): 19672-19677.

Mulders, AC, Mathy, MJ, Meyer zu Heringdorf, D, ter Braak, M, Hajji, N, Olthof, DC, Michel, MC, Alewijnse, AE, Peters, SL (2009) Activation of sphingosine kinase by muscarinic receptors enhances NO-mediated and attenuates EDHF-mediated vasorelaxation. *Basic Res Cardiol* **104**(1): 50-59.

Murakami, A, Takasugi, H, Ohnuma, S, Koide, Y, Sakurai, A, Takeda, S, Hasegawa, T, Sasamori, J, Konno, T, Hayashi, K, Watanabe, Y, Mori, K, Sato, Y, Takahashi, A, Mochizuki, N, Takakura, N (2010) Sphingosine 1-phosphate (S1P) regulates vascular contraction via S1P3 receptor: investigation based on a new S1P3 receptor antagonist. *Mol Pharmacol* **77**(4): 704-713.

Nodai, A, Machida, T, Izumi, S, Hamaya, Y, Kohno, T, Igarashi, Y, Iizuka, K, Minami, M, Hirafuji, M (2007) Sphingosine 1-phosphate induces cyclooxygenase-2 via Ca2+-dependent, but MAPK-independent mechanism in rat vascular smooth muscle cells. *Life Sci* **80**(19): 1768-1776.

Nofer, JR, van der Giet, M, Tolle, M, Wolinska, I, von Wnuck Lipinski, K, Baba, HA, Tietge, UJ, Godecke, A, Ishii, I, Kleuser, B, Schafers, M, Fobker, M, Zidek, W, Assmann, G, Chun, J, Levkau, B (2004) HDL induces NO-dependent vasorelaxation via the lysophospholipid receptor S1P3. *J Clin Invest* **113**(4): 569-581.

Peters, SL, Alewijnse, AE (2007) Sphingosine-1-phosphate signaling in the cardiovascular system. *Curr Opin Pharmacol* **7**(2): 186-192.

Pettus, BJ, Bielawski, J, Porcelli, AM, Reames, DL, Johnson, KR, Morrow, J, Chalfant, CE, Obeid, LM, Hannun, YA (2003) The sphingosine kinase 1/sphingosine-1-phosphate pathway mediates COX-2 induction and PGE2 production in response to TNF-alpha. *FASEB J* **17**(11): 1411-1421.

Rahaman, M, Costello, RW, Belmonte, KE, Gendy, SS, Walsh, MT (2006) Neutrophil sphingosine 1-phosphate and lysophosphatidic acid receptors in pneumonia. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **34**(2): 233-241.

Rizza, C, Leitinger, N, Yue, J, Fischer, DJ, Wang, DA, Shih, PT, Lee, H, Tigyi, G, Berliner, JA (1999) Lysophosphatidic acid as a regulator of endothelial/leukocyte interaction. *Lab Invest* **79**(10): 1227-1235.

Roviezzo, F, Bucci, M, Delisle, C, Brancaleone, V, Di Lorenzo, A, Mayo, IP, Fiorucci, S, Fontana, A, Gratton, JP, Cirino, G (2006) Essential requirement for sphingosine kinase activity in eNOS-dependent NO release and vasorelaxation. *FASEB J* **20**(2): 340-342.

Salomone, S, Potts, EM, Tyndall, S, Ip, PC, Chun, J, Brinkmann, V, Waeber, C (2008) Analysis of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors involved in constriction of isolated cerebral arteries with receptor null mice and pharmacological tools. *Br J Pharmacol* **153**(1): 140-147.

Salomone, S, Yoshimura, S, Reuter, U, Foley, M, Thomas, SS, Moskowitz, MA, Waeber, C (2003) S1P3 receptors mediate the potent constriction of cerebral arteries by sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Eur J Pharmacol* **469**(1-3): 125-134.

Sanchez, T, Hla, T (2004) Structural and functional characteristics of S1P receptors. *J Cell Biochem* **92**(5): 913-922.

Sanchez, T, Skoura, A, Wu, MT, Casserly, B, Harrington, EO, Hla, T (2007) Induction of vascular permeability by the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor-2 (S1P2R) and its downstream effectors ROCK and PTEN. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* **27**(6): 1312-1318.

Serrano-Sanchez, M, Tanfin, Z, Leiber, D (2008) Signaling pathways involved in sphingosine kinase activation and sphingosine-1-phosphate release in rat myometrium in late pregnancy: role in the induction of cyclooxygenase 2. *Endocrinology* **149**(9): 4669-4679.

Shen, YH, Zhang, L, Utama, B, Wang, J, Gan, Y, Wang, X, Chen, L, Vercellotti, GM, Coselli, JS, Mehta, JL, Wang, XL (2006) Human cytomegalovirus inhibits Akt-mediated eNOS activation through upregulating PTEN (phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted on chromosome 10). *Cardiovasc Res* **69**(2): 502-511.

Shetty, SS, Okada, T, Webb, RL, DelGrande, D, Lappe, RW (1993) Functionally distinct endothelin B receptors in vascular endothelium and smooth muscle. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* **191**(2): 459-464.

Shikata, Y, Birukov, KG, Garcia, JG (2003) S1P induces FA remodeling in human pulmonary endothelial cells: role of Rac, GIT1, FAK, and paxillin. *J Appl Physiol* **94**(3): 1193-1203.

Singleton, PA, Dudek, SM, Ma, SF, Garcia, JG (2006) Transactivation of sphingosine 1-phosphate receptors is essential for vascular barrier regulation. Novel role for hyaluronan and CD44 receptor family. *J Biol Chem* **281**(45): 34381-34393.

Skoura, A, Hla, T (2009) Regulation of vascular physiology and pathology by the S1P2 receptor subtype. *Cardiovasc Res* **82**(2): 221-228.

Sladek, SM, Magness, RR, Conrad, KP (1997) Nitric oxide and pregnancy. *Am J Physiol* **272**(2 Pt 2): R441-463.

Spiegel, S, Milstien, S (2003) Exogenous and intracellularly generated sphingosine 1-phosphate can regulate cellular processes by divergent pathways. *Biochem Soc Trans* **31**(Pt 6): 1216-1219.

Tanaka, K, Nakazawa, H, Okada, K, Umezawa, K, Fukuyama, N, Koga, Y (1997) Nitric oxide mediates murine cytomegalovirus-associated pneumonitis in lungs that are free of the virus. *J Clin Invest* **100**(7): 1822-1830.

Tanaka, K, Noda, S (2001) Role of nitric oxide in murine cytomegalovirus (MCMV) infection. *Histol Histopathol* **16**(3): 937-944.

Thaler, I, Amit, A (2005) Doppler Velocimetry of the Uteroplacental Circulation During Early Pregnancy. In: *Doppler Ultrasound in Obstetrics and Gynecology*, Maulik, D (ed), 2 edn, pp 255-279. Berlin: Springer.

Tsutsui, M, Onoue, H, Iida, Y, Smith, L, O'Brien, T, Katusic, ZS (2000) B(1) and B(2) bradykinin receptors on adventitial fibroblasts of cerebral arteries are coupled to recombinant eNOS. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **278**(2): H367-372.

Veille, JC, Tatum, K, Zaccaro, D (1996) Maternal right hypogastric artery blood flow during normal pregnancy and 6 weeks postpartum. *J Soc Gynecol Investig* 3(4): 191-198.

von Dadelszen, P, Magee, LA, Krajden, M, Alasaly, K, Popovska, V, Devarakonda, RM, Money, DM, Patrick, DM, Brunham, RC (2003) Levels of antibodies against cytomegalovirus and Chlamydophila pneumoniae are increased in early onset pre-eclampsia. *BJOG* **110**(8): 725-730.

Waeber, C, Blondeau, N, Salomone, S (2004) Vascular sphingosine-1-phosphate S1P1 and S1P3 receptors. *Drug News Perspect* **17**(6): 365-382.

Wang, L, Dudek, SM (2009) Regulation of vascular permeability by sphingosine 1-phosphate. *Microvasc Res* **77**(1): 39-45.

Watterson, KR, Ratz, PH, Spiegel, S (2005) The role of sphingosine-1-phosphate in smooth muscle contraction. *Cell Signal* **17**(3): 289-298.

Wilhelm, DL (1973) Mechanisms responsible for increased vascular permeability in acute inflammation. *Agents Actions* **3**(5): 297-306.

Yamamoto, Y, Olson, DM, van Bennekom, M, Brindley, DN, Hemmings, DG (2010) Increased expression of enzymes for sphingosine 1-phosphate turnover and signaling in human decidua during late pregnancy. *Biol Reprod* **82**(3): 628-635.

Yurochko, AD, Kowalik, TF, Huong, SM, Huang, ES (1995) Human cytomegalovirus upregulates NF-kappa B activity by transactivating the NF-kappa B p105/p50 and p65 promoters. *J Virol* **69**(9): 5391-5400.

Zhang, G, Xu, S, Qian, Y, He, P (2010) Sphingosine-1-phosphate prevents permeability increases via activation of endothelial sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor 1 in rat venules. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **299**(5): H1494-1504.

Zhu, H, Cong, JP, Yu, D, Bresnahan, WA, Shenk, TE (2002) Inhibition of cyclooxygenase 2 blocks human cytomegalovirus replication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**(6): 3932-3937.

### Chapter 6

## Impact of Local Endothelial Challenge with Cytomegalovirus or Glycoprotein B on Vasodilation in Intact Pressurized Arteries from Non-pregnant and Pregnant Mice

(The majority of data presented in this chapter was submitted to the British Journal of Pharmacology in February 2012 (Manuscript ID: BIOLREPROD-2012-099168) in an article entitled "Impact of local endothelial challenge with cytomegalovirus or glycoprotein B on vasodilation in intact pressurized arteries from non-pregnant and pregnant mice," by R.B. Gombos, A. Lee, J. Teefy, and D.G. Hemmings. Although the majority of results in each of the figures I performed, A. Lee and J. Teefy contributed equally to some of the results in Figures 6.1A and 6.3A.)

### **6.1 INTRODUCTION**

I previously found differences in vasodilation and vasoconstriction responses to the  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic receptor agonist PE, the cholinergic endotheliumdependent vasodilator ME, the endothelium-independent NO donor SNP, and the bioactive sphingolipid S1P in isolated, pressurized mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP and LP mice (Chapters 3-5) (Gombos *et al.*, 2010; Gombos *et al.*, 2009). The sensitivity to PE was decreased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice and PE-induced vasoconstriction was increased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice (Chapter 3). In addition, ME-induced vasodilation was increased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice and in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice, whereas the sensitivity to ME was dramatically decreased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice (Chapters 3,4). SNPinduced vasodilation was also increased in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice (Chapter 4) (Gombos *et al.*, 2010; Gombos *et al.*, 2009). In contrast to these experiments, where the reagent was applied extraluminally to the artery, vascular responses to S1P were measured following both extraluminal and intraluminal S1P application. Vascular responses to extraluminally applied S1P did not differ in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP or LP mice or in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected LP mice; however, extraluminally applied S1P-induced vasoconstriction was significantly decreased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP mice. Infused S1P induced vasoconstriction was significantly decreased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP mice. Infused S1P induced vasodilation that was decreased only in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP and LP mice (Chapter 5). It remains yet to be shown if ME-induced vasodilation responses will also be different in isolated, intact arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice following intraluminal infusion of ME compared to extraluminal addition of ME (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos *et al.*, 2010; Gombos *et al.*, 2009).

In addition, the vascular effects that others and I have observed during a systemic infection may differ from those following direct viral attachment and/or early entry into vascular endothelial cells (Cheng *et al.*, 2009; Compton *et al.*, 2003; Gombos *et al.*, 2010; Gombos *et al.*, 2009; Melnick *et al.*, 1995; Sprague *et al.*, 2009). In Chapter 3 (Gombos *et al.*, 2009), I demonstrated that the vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells in mesenteric and uterine arteries are directly infected with mCMV during an active mCMV infection. Therefore, it is important to determine how direct virus to endothelium interactions may contribute to altered vascular responses in comparison to the overall effects of a systemic infection including inflammatory mediators.

The initial binding of CMV to the cell surface alone induces intracellular signals leading to activation of transcription factors and kinases and increased inflammatory cytokine gene expression, prostanoid synthesis, and ROS; all of which can affect vascular responses (Evers *et al.*, 2004; Fortunato *et al.*, 2000; Speir *et al.*, 1998). There are numerous viral envelope glycoproteins that have been implicated in CMV attachment and entry into the cell (Compton, 2004;

Lopper *et al.*, 2002). gB is required for the entry of the virus into the cell (Bender *et al.*, 2005; Isaacson *et al.*, 2009; Lopper *et al.*, 2002) and is specifically involved in viral attachment and fusion to the cell surface (Compton, 2004; Lopper *et al.*, 2002). Upon attachment, gB also triggers cellular transcription to prepare the cell for CMV infection (Lopper *et al.*, 2002; Simmen *et al.*, 2001). This includes an increase in NF- $\kappa$ B activity leading to an increase in inflammatory cytokine expression (Compton *et al.*, 2003; Fortunato *et al.*, 2000). With CMV replication and cell-to-cell spreading, the host immune response is activated. Several cytokines and inflammatory mediators are produced and released, such as TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$ , which can affect vascular responses and have been associated with vascular diseases (Sprague *et al.*, 2009; Tesauro *et al.*, 2008). Hence, it is still unknown if altered vascular responses in the presence of a CMV infection result directly from viral attachment/entry, indirectly from mediators of the immune response following a viral infection, or from a combination.

In this study, my objective is to investigate the vascular effects of viral attachment/early entry by measuring vasodilation induced by infusion of ME after a 1-hour incubation with either gB or infectious mCMV inside isolated, pressurized arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice. These responses will be compared to vasodilation responses to infused ME in arteries isolated from NP and LP mice actively infected in vivo with mCMV. Previous ME vascular studies (Chapters 3, 4) were done on the pressure myograph system with the addition of ME to the outside of the vessel (extraluminal addition). The current study is measuring ME-induced dilation after addition of the drug to the inside of the vessel (intraluminal addition), allowing interaction with the endothelium directly, as previously described (Chapter 5). This intraluminal technique will help deduce vascular response differences of direct or indirect viral interactions with the endothelium versus vascular smooth muscle cells of intact pressurized arteries. I hypothesize that exposure of the endothelium of pressurized, isolated, and intact arteries from uninfected NP mice to either gB protein or infectious virus will increase vasodilation to infused ME, which will account at least in part for my

previous findings in arteries from *in vivo* mCMV-infected mice (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos *et al.*, 2010; Gombos *et al.*, 2009). In addition, pre-treatments with gB or infectious virus in isolated, pressurized uterine arteries from uninfected LP mice will decrease sensitivity to infused ME similar to my previous findings in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos *et al.*, 2010; Gombos *et al.*, 2009). I show that extraluminal and intraluminal addition of ME induce different vascular responses in mesenteric and uterine arteries. In addition, I demonstrate that CMV attachment/entry alone increases sensitivity to infused ME in NP mice, but does not affect vasodilation in LP mice. Although a full mCMV infection exacerbates vasodilation in uterine arteries from NP mice, vasodilation to infused ME is significantly reduced in mCMV-infected LP mice.

### **6.2 RESULTS**

### 6.2.1 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric arteries from uninfected mice (pre-treated with/without gB or infectious mCMV) compared to mesenteric arteries from mice with an *in vivo* mCMV infection

In NP and LP mice, there were no significant differences in vasodilation induced by infused ME ( $0.1\mu$ M to  $10\mu$ M) among arteries from uninfected, uninfected with gB pre-treatment, uninfected with mCMV pre-treatment, or *in vivo* mCMV-infected mice. Vasodilation was absent in preconstricted arteries infused with PSS alone or filtered virus control (data not shown) at the same flow rate as ME infusion (Figures 6.1A,B). Because gB and infectious mCMV pretreatment gave similar ME-induced vasodilation results in mesenteric arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice, the following experiments were performed only on mesenteric arteries treated with gB.

# 6.2.2 Contribution of TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub> to vascular responses induced by infused ME in mesenteric arteries

My previously published results demonstrated an increase in vasodilation

induced by extraluminal treatment with ME on mesenteric arteries from mCMVinfected compared to uninfected NP and LP mice (Gombos *et al.*, 2010). However, in the current study when ME was infused inside the arteries, I did not see a difference among gB-treated, mCMV-treated or untreated arteries from uninfected mice compared to arteries from *in vivo* mCMV-infected NP and LP mice (Figure 6.1A,B).

To determine if the lack of increased vasodilation to infused ME compared to extraluminal ME treatment of mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice was due to an increased production of TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub>, I inhibited PGHS-1/2 or the TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor with meclo or SQ29548, respectively. Both meclo and SQ29548 pre-treatments led to increased ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from uninfected mice treated with gB and in arteries from mCMV-infected mice compared to untreated arteries from uninfected mice (Figure 6.2).

# 6.2.3 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in uterine arteries from uninfected mice (pre-treated with/without gB or infectious mCMV) compared to uterine arteries from mice with an *in vivo* mCMV infection

In uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice, pre-treatments with either gB or mCMV significantly increased vasodilation induced by infused ME at 0.1 $\mu$ M and 1 $\mu$ M by approximately 30% compared to no pre-treatment, indicative of increased sensitivity to ME. However, vasodilation at the maximum ME concentration did not differ among groups. Uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice also showed increased vasodilation to infused ME at 0.1 $\mu$ M compared to controls, similarly to the gB- or mCMV-treated groups, but showed significantly greater vasodilation at 1 $\mu$ M and 10 $\mu$ M of infused ME compared to treated arteries from uninfected mice. Vasodilation was absent in the preconstricted uterine arteries where only PSS or filtered virus culture were infused (Figure 6.3A; data not shown).

In LP mice, there were no differences in ME responses in uterine arteries treated with gB or infectious mCMV compared to untreated uterine arteries from

uninfected mice. However, in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice, ME-induced vasodilation was significantly reduced from 0.1 to  $10\mu$ M of ME. Vasodilation was absent with PSS alone or the filtered virus control (Figure 6.3B; data not shown).

### 6.2.4 Vasodilation to bradykinin in uterine arteries

To determine if the altered sensitivity to infused ME in response to gB pre-treatment of uterine arteries from uninfected mice or those from *in vivo* mCMV-infected mice is specific to muscarinic receptors or occurs with other vasodilators, bradykinin was infused into preconstricted arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice with or without gB pre-treatment or uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice. I found no increase in bradykinin-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from uninfected mice with gB pre-treatment or in uterine arteries from uninfected mice (Figure 6.4).

### **6.3 SUMMARY OF RESULTS**

**6.3.1** Vasodilation to infused ME was similar in mesenteric arteries treated with or without gB and mCMV from uninfected NP and LP mice and in arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice (Figure 6.1).

6.3.2 Vasodilation to infused ME in mesenteric arteries from NP and LP mice did not differ between treatment groups (Figure 6.1). In contrast, increased vasodilation to extraluminally applied ME was shown previously in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice (see Chapter 3: Figure 3.5).
6.3.3 PGHS-1/2 and TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor inhibition increased vasodilation to infused ME in gB-treated mesenteric arteries from uninfected mice and arteries from mCMV-infected mice (Figure 6.2).

**6.3.4** Sensitivity to infused ME was increased in gB- and mCMV-treated uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice and further increased along with increased

maximal vasodilation to infused ME in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice (Figure 6.3).

**6.3.5** Vasodilation to infused ME was decreased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice (Figure 6.3).

**6.3.6** Altered vasodilation responses to infused ME in gB-treated uterine arteries from uninfected mice and in arteries from mCMV-infected mice did not occur in response to bradykinin (Figure 6.4).

A Mesenteric Arteries from NP Mice



В

### Mesenteric Arteries from LP Mice



Figure 6.1: Vasodilation induced by infusion of ME into preconstricted mesenteric arteries isolated from mCMV-infected and uninfected mice. Mesenteric arteries isolated from uninfected NP (A) and LP (B) mice were infused with PSS, 1µg/mL of gB, or infectious mCMV at an MOI of 10 and mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice were infused with PSS. After a 30-minute to 1-hour incubation all arteries were preconstricted with U46619 followed by infusion of a single concentration of ME. This was repeated for each ME concentration from 10nM to 10µM. Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM percent increase in arterial lumen diameter compared to the passive lumen diameter in the presence of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium and papaverine. No significant difference among treatments at each dose was determined by two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis. n=3-8 animals.



Figure 6.2: Vasodilation induced by infusion of 1 $\mu$ M ME into preconstricted mesenteric arteries in the presence or absence of meclofenamate (meclo; 1 $\mu$ M) or SQ29548 (10 $\mu$ M) for 30 minutes to 1 hour. Arteries were isolated from uninfected NP (A) and LP (B) mice and treated with or without 1 $\mu$ g/mL gB or were isolated from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice as described in Figure 6.1. ME data were taken from the curves in Figure 6.1. Data were expressed as the mean ± SEM percent increase in arterial lumen diameter compared to the passive lumen diameter in the presence of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium and papaverine. A significant difference between the bars in each pre-treatment group was determined by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis and symbolized with an a, b, or c (p<0.05). n=4-5 animals.



В

### Uterine Arteries from LP Mice



Figure 6.3: Vasodilation induced by infusion of ME into preconstricted uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected mice. Uterine arteries isolated from NP (A) and LP (B) mice were treated as described in Figure 6.1. Data were expressed and summarized as in Figure 6.1. a; b; c = p<0.05. n=3-9 animals.



Figure 6.4: Vasodilation induced by infusion of  $1\mu$ M bradykinin into preconstricted uterine arteries. Arteries were isolated from uninfected NP and LP mice and treated with or without  $1\mu$ g/mL gB for 30 minutes to 1 hour or were isolated from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice as described in Figure 6.1. Data were expressed and summarized as in Figure 6.2. No significant difference between the bars in each NP and LP group was determined by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis.

### **6.4 DISCUSSION**

Previously I have demonstrated that systemic and uterine vascular responses to several different vascular mediators are affected by an active CMV infection in both NP and LP states (Chapters 3-5) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009). However, it remains unknown whether direct virus to endothelium interactions contribute to altered vascular responses during a systemic in vivo infection (ie. inflammatory mediators). CMV is the largest member of the *Herpesviridae* family and as such has a long replication cycle (up to 48-72 hours) (Britt, 2010; Mocarski, 1996). CMV attachment alone to cell surface receptors induces intracellular signalling pathways that may affect vascular function (Fortunato *et al.*, 2000). My results from this chapter confirm that in addition to a fully systemic infection, a 1-hour exposure of endothelial cells to infectious CMV or gB protein also impacts vascular responses. This short exposure time likely leads to viral attachment and possibly early entry, but is not sufficient time for CMV viral gene expression, replication, or egress (Mocarski, 1996). Vasodilation responses to infused ME differed from vasodilation responses to extraluminally applied ME in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009), suggesting diverse mechanistic effects following direct drug interactions with endothelial versus smooth muscle cells. However, although an *in vivo* mCMV infection or gB pretreatment did not affect overall vasodilation to infused ME in mesenteric arteries, the contribution of vasconstrictory prostanoids to these responses was significantly increased in these arteries, as shown previously (Chapter 4) (Gombos et al., 2010). In comparison, vasodilation to infused ME was favored in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice and in gB-treated uterine arteries from NP mice. These results mimic my previous findings using extraluminal ME application (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009). Also in agreement with my extraluminal studies, cholinergic vascular dysfunction was much more apparent in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice. Together, these findings demonstrate that viral attachment/early entry alone can differentially affect mesenteric and uterine arterial function in NP and LP mice through distinct mechanisms. As well, some vascular changes were only seen or were exacerbated with a full *in vivo* mCMV infection. This further suggests that although a fully systemic CMV infection may cause systemic and uterine vascular dysfunction, particularly during pregnancy, early viral attachment or gB-specific vaccinations may also have implications in hypertension.

In Chapters 3 and 4, where ME was added extraluminally, I showed an increase in ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice. This increase was mediated in part through an increased contribution of NO which masked TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub>-induced vasoconstriction that contributed to the vascular tone observed only in arteries from mCMV-infected mice (Chapter 4) (Gombos et al., 2010). This suggests that mesenteric arterial endothelial cells from mCMV-infected mice may have increased PGHS-1/2 expression and/or activity compared to untreated mesenteric arterial endothelial cells from uninfected mice (Gombos et al., 2010; Hooks et al., 2006; Zhu et al., 2002). In this current study, by blocking PGHS-1/2 or the  $TxA_2$  receptor, I observed increased vasodilation to infused ME in gB-treated mesenteric arteries from uninfected mice and in arteries from in vivo mCMV-infected mice compared to controls. This suggests that during a CMV infection individuals may be predisposed to hypertension. Although an increase in PGHS-1/2 expression and/or activity may affect mesenteric arteries from in vivo mCMV-infected mice, it is unlikely to occur in gB-treated arteries within 30 minutes to 1 hour. Another explanation may be that gB pre-treatment increases the production of ROS and oxidative stress within the endothelial cell (Evers et al., 2004; Fortunato et al., 2000). In turn, peroxynitrite may be produced from NO and superoxide, leading to the nitration of PGHS-2 and prostacyclin ( $PGI_2$ ) synthase. This nitration increases PGHS-2 activity and decreases PGI<sub>2</sub> synthase activity, increasing the PGH<sub>2</sub>/TxA<sub>2</sub> to PGI<sub>2</sub> balance and, effectively, reducing vasodilation (Landino et al., 1996; Zou et al., 1997).

In contrast to my previous extraluminal results (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009), my findings from this Chapter showed that vasodilation to infused ME was not different in mesenteric arteries from mCMVinfected compared to uninfected NP and LP mice. One explanation is that when ME is added extraluminally to the bath, there may be a decrease in muscarinic receptor interaction by ME on the endothelium (Figure 6.5). Therefore, intracellular calcium levels are reduced, activation of cPLA<sub>2</sub> is reduced, and secretion of arachidonic acid into the cytoplasm of endothelial cells is decreased, reducing prostanoid synthesis (Bonventre, 1992; Chen et al., 2008). Although NOS is still activated with low intracellular calcium levels leading to increased levels of NO, less TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub> will be produced leading to greater vasodilation and reduced vascular tone. In comparison, intraluminal infusion of ME may activate more muscarinic receptors on the endothelium leading to increased intracellular calcium concentrations and maximal cPLA<sub>2</sub> activity (Figure 6.5) (Bonventre, 1992). Using the TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist and PGHS-1/2 inhibitor, my study confirmed that intraluminal ME infusion increased TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub> production and vascular tone in gB-treated mesenteric arteries from uninfected mice and in arteries from mCMV-infected mice. The levels of vasodilation reached after inhibition were similar to that observed in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice in previous studies where ME was applied extraluminally (Chapters 3-5) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009). This suggests that opposing vascular responses following intraluminal versus extraluminal drug addition reflect differences in ligand-receptor interactions on the apical and basal side of the endothelium, respectively, leading to differences in intracellular signalling and vascular tone (Figure 6.5).



**Figure 6.5: Schematic representation of a mesenteric artery from a mCMVinfected mouse.** Potential mechanism for extraluminal and intraluminal ME response differences in mesenteric arteries. VSMC: vascular smooth muscle cells; EC: endothelial cells; AA: arachidonic acid; TxA<sub>2</sub>: thromboxane; NOS: nitric oxide synthase; NO: nitric oxide; cGMP: cyclic guanosine monophosphate.

Since the levels of vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected mice is similar, the finding of increased mCMV-specific TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub> activity suggests that increased NO production must be compensating for this vasoconstrictory effect during ME stimulation, as demonstrated previously (Chapter 4) (Gombos et al., 2010). Nevertheless, hypertensive conditions related to CMV infections (Cheng et al., 2009; Melnick et al., 1995; Persoons et al., 1998; von Dadelszen et al., 2003) may occur in vivo through increases in other mediators acting on vascular TxA<sub>2</sub> receptors, such as angiotensin II (Pfister et al., 2011), or when NO production is unable to compensate for prostanoid-induced vasoconstriction, such as with increased oxidative stress and/or NOS uncoupling (Cai et al., 2000; Szabo, 1996). Aspirin, an inhibitor of PGHS-1/2 activity, may be a potential treatment for prostanoid-mediated hypertension associated with a CMV infection. Speir et al. showed that treatment with aspirin decreases CMV infectivity and replication in coronary artery smooth muscle cells (Speir et al., 1998) and it has been used as an antiviral agent to treat symptoms of an active CMV infection (Axelrod et al., 2005). More commonly, aspirin also attenuates atherosclerosis, improves endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Husain et al., 1998; Paul et al., 2000) and, although controversial, low-dose aspirin is used by some clinicians to treat preeclampsia (Barth, 1998; Beilin, 1994). As CMV is associated with vascular diseases including atherosclerosis (Melnick et al., 1995) and preeclampsia (von Dadelszen *et al.*, 2003), aspirin may be a possible treatment for CMV-induced vascular dysfunction.

Surprisingly, uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice treated for 1 hour with gB or infectious mCMV showed a significant increase in sensitivity to infused ME. This increase was, however, less than the increase observed in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice. This difference in vasodilation may be due to the infection of underlying vascular smooth muscle cells that occurs during a full *in vivo* mCMV infection. We previously demonstrated that the sensitivity to NO is significantly increased in vascular smooth muscle cells from uterine arteries in mCMV-infected NP mice, increasing ME-induced vasodilation (Chapter 4) (Gombos et al., 2010). In contrast, vasodilation induced by infused ME was decreased only in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice, which may contribute to reduced placental perfusion and IUGR associated with a HCMV infection. These findings reflect those observed previously when ME was added extraluminally to isolated and pressurized uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009). Together, this suggests that although viral attachment/early entry alone is enough to induce changes that affect cholinergic vascular responses in uterine arteries, it is not to the same extent as a full systemic infection.

Further investigation into the mechanistic differences in cholinergic vasodilation in gB-treated and untreated uterine arteries and uterine arteries from *in vivo* mCMV-infected mice is required to identify which signalling molecules are affected. To begin to delineate the vasodilatory signalling pathway affected by gB treatment and/or a mCMV infection in uterine arteries, I infused another vasodilator known as bradykinin, a potent vasodilatory peptide produced in both the nervous and cardiovascular system (Furchgott, 1984; Rabelo *et al.*, 2008; Sharma, 2006; Valdes *et al.*, 2008; Walker *et al.*, 1995). The production and release of bradykinin, a pro-inflammatory mediator, is significantly increased at sites of tissue injury and inflammation and signals the production of pain-stimulating cytokines (Hamza *et al.*, 2010; Walker *et al.*, 1995). Like the muscarinic receptor M<sub>3</sub>, the constitutively expressed bradykinin receptor B<sub>2</sub> is present on both the vascular endothelial and smooth muscle cells and is also

coupled to the  $G\alpha_{q/11}$  protein. I found that the effects of gB and a mCMV infection on uterine vasodilation were specific to the cholinergic system and were not observed with infusion of bradykinin, The lack of change in bradykinin-induced vasodilation suggests that the increased vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice and decreased vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice is specific to cholinergic agonists and muscarinic receptors. Further experiments investigating cholinergic vasodilation in gBtreated and untreated uterine arteries and uterine arteries from *in vivo* mCMVinfected mice are shown in Appendix A.

This study is the first to demonstrate that a short-term exposure of endothelium to infectious CMV or gB leading to direct cell attachment/early entry has effects on the vasculature independent of a full CMV infection. However, a systemic mCMV infection exacerbates these direct viral effects and can cause further endothelial dysfunction, such as the significantly reduced endotheliumdependent vasodilation seen in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice. Indirect effects of an *in vivo* mCMV infection, such as production of immune response mediators, must still be studied. It is important to note that vascular responses differ based on the timing of infection, vascular origin, and receptor expression. Therefore, this must be considered for the development of potential therapeutics for specific vascular diseases that may be caused by a CMV infection. Finally, my findings suggest that a CMV or gB vaccine which permits cell attachment/early entry but prevents viral replication and infection may have potentially positive vasodilatory effects without negatively affecting vascular function during pregnancy.

### **6.5 REFERENCES**

Axelrod, D, Leventhal, JR, Gallon, LG, Parker, MA, Kaufman, DB (2005) Reduction of CMV disease with steroid-free immunosuppresssion in simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant recipients. *Am J Transplant* **5**(6): 1423-1429. Barth, W, Jr. (1998) Low-dose aspirin for preeclampsia--the unresolved question. *N Engl J Med* **338**(11): 756-757.

Beilin, L (1994) Aspirin and pre-eclampsia. BMJ 308(6939): 1250-1251.

Bender, FC, Whitbeck, JC, Lou, H, Cohen, GH, Eisenberg, RJ (2005) Herpes simplex virus glycoprotein B binds to cell surfaces independently of heparan sulfate and blocks virus entry. *J Virol* **79**(18): 11588-11597.

Bonventre, JV (1992) Phospholipase A2 and signal transduction. J Am Soc Nephrol **3**(2): 128-150.

Britt, WJ (2010) Human cytomegalovirus: propagation, quantification, and storage. *Curr Protoc Microbiol* Chapter 14: Unit 14E 13.

Cai, H, Harrison, DG (2000) Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular diseases: the role of oxidant stress. *Circ Res* **87**(10): 840-844.

Chen, LY, Woszczek, G, Nagineni, S, Logun, C, Shelhamer, JH (2008) Cytosolic phospholipase A2alpha activation induced by S1P is mediated by the S1P3 receptor in lung epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* **295**(2): L326-335.

Cheng, J, Ke, Q, Jin, Z, Wang, H, Kocher, O, Morgan, JP, Zhang, J, Crumpacker, CS (2009) Cytomegalovirus infection causes an increase of arterial blood pressure. *PLoS Pathog* **5**(5): e1000427.

Compton, T (2004) Receptors and immune sensors: the complex entry path of human cytomegalovirus. *Trends Cell Biol* **14**(1): 5-8.

Compton, T, Kurt-Jones, EA, Boehme, KW, Belko, J, Latz, E, Golenbock, DT, Finberg, RW (2003) Human cytomegalovirus activates inflammatory cytokine responses via CD14 and Toll-like receptor 2. *J Virol* **77**(8): 4588-4596.

Evers, DL, Wang, X, Huang, ES (2004) Cellular stress and signal transduction responses to human cytomegalovirus infection. *Microbes Infect* **6**(12): 1084-1093.

Fortunato, EA, McElroy, AK, Sanchez, I, Spector, DH (2000) Exploitation of cellular signaling and regulatory pathways by human cytomegalovirus. *Trends Microbiol* **8**(3): 111-119.

Furchgott, RF (1984) The role of endothelium in the responses of vascular smooth muscle to drugs. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol* **24:** 175-197.
Gombos, RB, Hemmings, DG (2010) Differential effects on nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in mesenteric and uterine arteries from cytomegalovirus-infected mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **299**(4): H1124-1134.

Gombos, RB, Wolan, V, McDonald, K, Hemmings, DG (2009) Impaired vascular function in mice with an active cytomegalovirus infection. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **296**(4): H937-945.

Hamza, M, Wang, XM, Adam, A, Brahim, JS, Rowan, JS, Carmona, GN, Dionne, RA (2010) Kinin B1 receptors contributes to acute pain following minor surgery in humans. *Mol Pain* **6**: 12.

Hooks, JJ, Chin, MS, Srinivasan, K, Momma, Y, Hooper, LC, Nagineni, CN, Chan, CC, Detrick, B (2006) Human cytomegalovirus induced cyclooxygenase-2 in human retinal pigment epithelial cells augments viral replication through a prostaglandin pathway. *Microbes Infect* **8**(8): 2236-2244.

Husain, S, Andrews, NP, Mulcahy, D, Panza, JA, Quyyumi, AA (1998) Aspirin improves endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis. *Circulation* **97**(8): 716-720.

Isaacson, MK, Compton, T (2009) Human cytomegalovirus glycoprotein B is required for virus entry and cell-to-cell spread but not for virion attachment, assembly, or egress. *J Virol* **83**(8): 3891-3903.

Landino, LM, Crews, BC, Timmons, MD, Morrow, JD, Marnett, LJ (1996) Peroxynitrite, the coupling product of nitric oxide and superoxide, activates prostaglandin biosynthesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(26): 15069-15074.

Lopper, M, Compton, T (2002) Disulfide bond configuration of human cytomegalovirus glycoprotein B. *J Virol* **76**(12): 6073-6082.

Melnick, JL, Adam, E, DeBakey, ME (1995) Cytomegalovirus and atherosclerosis. *Bioessays* **17**(10): 899-903.

Mocarski, ES (1996) Cytomegaloviruses and their replication. In: *Fields Virology*, Fields, BN, Knipe, DM, Howley, PM (eds), pp 2447-2492. Philadelphia: Lippencott-Raven.

Paul, A, Calleja, L, Camps, J, Osada, J, Vilella, E, Ferre, N, Mayayo, E, Joven, J (2000) The continuous administration of aspirin attenuates atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Life Sci* **68**(4): 457-465.

Persoons, MC, Stals, FS, van dam Mieras, MC, Bruggeman, CA (1998) Multiple organ involvement during experimental cytomegalovirus infection is associated with disseminated vascular pathology. *J Pathol* **184**(1): 103-109.

Pfister, SL, Nithipatikom, K, Campbell, WB (2011) Role of superoxide and thromboxane receptors in acute angiotensin II-induced vasoconstriction of rabbit vessels. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **300**(6): H2064-2071.

Rabelo, ER, Rohde, LE, Schaan, BD, Rubira, MC, Ruschel, KB, Plentz, RD, Consolim-Colombo, FM, Irigoyen, MC, Moreno Junior, H (2008) Bradykinin or acetylcholine as vasodilators to test endothelial venous function in healthy subjects. *Clinics (Sao Paulo)* **63**(5): 677-682.

Sharma, JN (2006) Role of tissue kallikrein-kininogen-kinin pathways in the cardiovascular system. *Arch Med Res* **37**(3): 299-306.

Simmen, KA, Singh, J, Luukkonen, BG, Lopper, M, Bittner, A, Miller, NE, Jackson, MR, Compton, T, Fruh, K (2001) Global modulation of cellular transcription by human cytomegalovirus is initiated by viral glycoprotein B. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **98**(13): 7140-7145.

Speir, E, Yu, ZX, Ferrans, VJ, Huang, ES, Epstein, SE (1998) Aspirin attenuates cytomegalovirus infectivity and gene expression mediated by cyclooxygenase-2 in coronary artery smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* **83**(2): 210-216.

Sprague, AH, Khalil, RA (2009) Inflammatory cytokines in vascular dysfunction and vascular disease. *Biochem Pharmacol* **78**(6): 539-552.

Szabo, C (1996) The pathophysiological role of peroxynitrite in shock, inflammation, and ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Shock* 6(2): 79-88.

Tesauro, M, Schinzari, F, Rovella, V, Melina, D, Mores, N, Barini, A, Mettimano, M, Lauro, D, Iantorno, M, Quon, MJ, Cardillo, C (2008) Tumor necrosis factoralpha antagonism improves vasodilation during hyperinsulinemia in metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Care* **31**(7): 1439-1441.

Valdes, G, Erices, R, Chacon, C, Corthorn, J (2008) Angiogenic, hyperpermeability and vasodilator network in utero-placental units along pregnancy in the guinea-pig (Cavia porcellus). *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* **6**: 13.

von Dadelszen, P, Magee, LA, Krajden, M, Alasaly, K, Popovska, V, Devarakonda, RM, Money, DM, Patrick, DM, Brunham, RC (2003) Levels of antibodies against cytomegalovirus and Chlamydophila pneumoniae are increased in early onset pre-eclampsia. *BJOG* **110**(8): 725-730.

Walker, K, Perkins, M, Dray, A (1995) Kinins and kinin receptors in the nervous system. *Neurochem Int* **26**(1): 1-16; discussion 17-26.

Zhu, H, Cong, JP, Yu, D, Bresnahan, WA, Shenk, TE (2002) Inhibition of cyclooxygenase 2 blocks human cytomegalovirus replication. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **99**(6): 3932-3937.

Zou, M, Martin, C, Ullrich, V (1997) Tyrosine nitration as a mechanism of selective inactivation of prostacyclin synthase by peroxynitrite. *Biol Chem* **378**(7): 707-713.

## Chapter 7

## **Pregnancy Outcome in Cytomegalovirus-infected Mice**

## 7.1 INTRODUCTION

Following my studies on vascular function in systemic and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP mice (Chapters 3-6) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009), I wanted to determine if there were any effects of a maternal CMV infection on fetal or placental development independent of a congenital CMV infection. In pregnant mice Gharavi et al. showed that fetal loss is increased following the maternal antibody response to the phospholipid-binding CMV-derived peptide (Gharavi et al., 2004). This occurs in the absence of CMV transmission to the fetus (Johnson, 1969). Furthermore, HCMV, in addition to preeclampsia, is also associated with IUGR (Brown et al., 1998; Grahame-Clarke, 2005; von Dadelszen et al., 2003). IUGR is a significant complication of pregnancy with both short-term and long-term consequences (Pallotto et al., 2006). Reduced uterine blood flow leads to IUGR in animal models (Anderson et al., 2005; Sholook et al., 2007) and in humans (Lang et al., 2003). Even modest reductions of uterine blood flow in a sheep model (<25%) leads to IUGR (Lang et al., 2003). My previous findings have illustrated that cholinergic endotheliumdependent vasodilation is decreased and vasoconstriction is increased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected LP mice (Chapters 3,4,6) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009). This suggests that uterine blood flow is reduced in mCMV-infected LP mice which may lead to problems in fetal development, such as IUGR.

Interestingly, a clinical study performed by Carreiras et al. suggested that HCMV-infected pregnant women with certain major histocompatibility complex alleles are at higher risk of developing preeclampsia (Carreiras *et al.*, 2002); however, a direct connection between genotypic variation, CMV, and pregnancy complications remains unknown. To determine the effect of a maternal CMV

infection and genotypic susceptibility on pregnancy outcome, two different mouse strains have been used in this chapter. These strains represent the genotype heterogeneity in the human population and the variability in susceptibility to CMV infections. C57Bl/6J mice, which I have used for all of my previous experiments, are more resistant to CMV whereas Balb/cJ mice are genotypically more susceptible to CMV (Geist *et al.*, 2001; Mercer *et al.*, 1986). I hypothesize that a CMV infection in both strains of LP mice will lead to IUGR, with a greater effect in the Balb/cJ strain. This will be evident by decreased placental and fetal weights. Contrary to my hypothesis, I show that in the C57Bl/6J strain there is no change in fetal weights but there is an increase in the fetal to placental ratio in mCMV-infected LP mice, suggesting an increase in placental efficiency. In contrast, mCMV-infected LP Balb/cJ mice are unable to carry their fetuses to term at three different doses of mCMV ( $10^6$ ,  $5x10^5$ , and  $10^5$  PFU).

Due to these findings, I further hypothesized that vasodilation induced by infused ME would be significantly more impaired in mCMV-infected NP Balb/cJ mice compared to uninfected Balb/cJ and mCMV-infected NP C75Bl/6J mice. However, again contrary to my hypothesis, endothelium-dependent vasodilation to infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries is increased in mCMV-infected NP Balb/cJ mice to a similar extent as that found in arteries from mCMV-infected NP C57Bl/6J mice.

### 7.2 RESULTS

# 7.2.1 Fetal and placental weights from mCMV-infected and uninfected LP C57Bl/6J mice

Litter size, fetal and placental weights were compared between mCMVinfected and uninfected LP (D18.5) C57Bl/6J mice. There was no significant difference in fetal or placental weights (Figure 7.1A,B); however, the fetal to placental ratio was significantly increased (p<0.05) in mCMV-infected LP mice (Figure 7.1C). There was no significant difference in litter size or maternal weights throughout pregnancy between mCMV-infected and uninfected LP mice.

## 7.2.2 Fetal and placental weights from uninfected LP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice

Litter size, fetal and placental weights were compared between uninfected LP C57B1/6J and Balb/cJ mice. There was no significant difference between fetal or placental weights (Figure 7.2A,B) or the fetal to placental ratio (Figure 7.2C). There was also no difference in litter size or maternal weights.

# 7.2.3 Pregnancy success rates in mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice

The mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J mice and uninfected Balb/cJ mice used in this study had a 100% pregnancy success rate. In contrast, none of the mCMV-infected Balb/cJ mice  $(10^6, 5x10^5, 10^5 \text{ PFU})$  that were plugged were able to hold their pregnancy until term. One pregnant mouse sacrificed on D15 gestation already showed 7 out of 8 resorptions (Table 7.1).

# 7.2.4 Vasodilation induced by infused ME in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected NP Balb/cJ mice

Similar to C57Bl/6J mice (Chapter 6), there was no significant difference in ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP Balb/cJ mice (Figure 7.3A). In addition, uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP Balb/cJ mice had significantly increased MEinduced vasodilation compared to uninfected NP mice (Figure 7.3B). Again, this increase was similar to uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP C57Bl/6J mice (Chapter 6).

## 7.3 SUMMARY OF RESULTS

**7.3.1** There were no differences in fetal or placental weights but the fetal to placental ratio was significantly increased in mCMV-infected compared to uninfected C57B1/6J mice (Figure 7.1).

**7.3.2** There were no differences in fetal or placental weights or the fetal to placental ratio between uninfected C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice (Figure 7.2).

**7.3.3** mCMV-infected Balb/cJ mice had a 0% pregnancy success rate compared to a 100% pregnancy success rate in mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J mice and uninfected Balb/cJ mice (Table 7.1).

**7.3.4** Vasodilation induced by infused ME was significantly increased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP Balb/cJ mice, similar to previous results in C57Bl/6J NP mice (Figure 7.3).





**Placental weights** 





## Fetal:Placental ratio



Uninfected n=18 mCMV n=15

Figure 7.1: Fetal weights, placental weights, and fetal to placental ratios from LP (D18.5) mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J mice. Weights were recorded for fetuses (A) and placentas (B) from mCMV-infected (n=112, 15 litters) and uninfected (n=119, 18 litters) mice. The fetal to placental ratio (C) was measured directly from the paired fetal and placental weights. The fetal and placental weights and ratios were averaged for each litter. The means of all the litters were then averaged for the mCMV-infected and uninfected D18.5 pregnant mice and expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM. A significant difference between the groups was determined by Student's t-test and symbolized with an \* (p<0.05).



**Figure 7.2: Fetal weights, placental weights, and fetal to placental ratios from LP (D18.5) C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ uninfected mice.** Weights were recorded for fetuses (**A**) and placentas (**B**) from C57Bl/6J (n=119, 18 litters) and Balb/cJ (n=69, 10 litters) uninfected mice. The fetal to placental ratio (**C**) was measured directly from the paired fetal and placental weights. Data were summarized and compared as in Figure 7.1.

	Uninfected C57BI/6J	mCMV- infected C57Bl/6J	Uninfected Balb/cJ	mCMV- infected Balb/cJ *
Successful pregnancies (>D18.5)	10 / 10	10/10	10 / 10	0/15

\* One presumed pregnant was sacrificed on D15 of gestation with 7 resorptions out of 8 fetuses.

**Table 7.1: Number of successful pregnancies from mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice following a vaginal plug.** Although mCMV-infected Balb/cJ mice could be plugged, no pregnancies were successfully carried to term. In one presumed pregnant mouse sacrificed at D15, 7 of 8 fetuses had been resorbed (\*). C57Bl/6J mice were infected with 10<sup>6</sup> PFU of mCMV. Balb/cJ mice were infected with 10<sup>6</sup> PFU (5 animals), 5x10<sup>5</sup> PFU (5 animals), and 10<sup>5</sup> PFU (5 animals) of mCMV.



Figure 7.3: Vasodilation induced by infused ME in NP Balb/cJ mice. Mesenteric (A) and uterine (B) arteries were isolated from mCMV-infected ( $10^5$  PFU) and uninfected mice. Data were expressed as the mean ± SEM percent increase in arterial lumen diameter compared to the passive lumen diameter in the presence of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium and papaverine. A significant difference between groups at each dose was determined by two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's posthoc analysis and symbolized with an a or b (p<0.05). n=3-4 animals.

## 7.4 DISCUSSION

To determine if the vascular dysfunction seen during an active maternal mCMV infection in pregnancy is associated with any adverse pregnancy outcomes, I measured the pregnancy success rates and placental and fetal weights in two different mouse strains. The C57Bl/6J strain was used for my previous vascular experiments (Chapters 3-6) (Gombos *et al.*, 2010; Gombos *et al.*, 2009) and is genotypically more resistant to CMV infections. The Balb/cJ strain, on the other hand, is genotypically more susceptible to CMV infections. Both strains were used to assess and compare the pregnancy outcomes caused by a maternal CMV infection in hosts that vary in genotype (Geist *et al.*, 2001; Mercer *et al.*, 1986). Genotype variations that determine susceptibility to CMV include major histocompatibility complex loci differences (Kekik *et al.*, 2009; Mercer *et al.*, 1986), cytokine expression (Geist *et al.*, 2001), and allelic differences in innate immune response genes (Lathbury *et al.*, 1996; Lee *et al.*, 2001; Scalzo *et al.*, 2007; Scalzo *et al.*, 2005).

My results in Chapter 7 demonstrate that the maternal immune genotype susceptibility to a CMV infection affects the outcome of pregnancy. There was no effect on fetal weights in these mCMV-infected LP C57BI/6J mice; however, the fetal to placental ratio was increased suggesting increased placental efficiency in nutrient and oxygen transport. Differences in placenta structure were further investigated in Appendix B. In contrast, mCMV-infected LP Balb/cJ mice, which are more susceptible to a mCMV infection, were unable to carry their pregnancies to term. These differences between mouse strains may reflect genotypic disparity in the human population as observed in opposing studies on CMV-associated pregnancy complications (Conde-Agudelo *et al.*, 2008; Gambarotto *et al.*, 1997; Grahame-Clarke, 2005; von Dadelszen *et al.*, 2003). Pregnant women genotypically more resistant to CMV infections may be able to compensate for maternal vascular dysfunction and prevent potential fetal complications, whereas other more susceptible women may be prone to more severe pregnancy complications, such as preeclampsia, IUGR, and intrauterine fetal death.

Previous increased ME-induced vasodilation and decreased PE-induced vasoconstriction responses in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected LP C57Bl/6J mice (Chapter 3) (Gombos *et al.*, 2009) suggested that perfusion pressure was reduced in these mice, which may result in IUGR. Conversely, in this study I showed that the fetal weights are unaffected in mCMV-infected LP C57Bl/6J mice. Although IUGR is not always seen with reduced placental perfusion during gestational hypertension in humans (Xiong *et al.*, 2002), it is important to note that I have not assessed uterine artery blood flow *in vivo* to directly measure uteroplacental perfusion in this mouse model. In addition, I have only measured vascular reponses to a limited number of individual vasoactive agents. It is possible that the overall vascular responses to several circulating vascular mediators in systemic and uterine vascular beds *in vivo* may actually not affect uteroplacental perfusion in mCMV-infected LP C57Bl/6J mice.

It remains unknown what causes infertility in the mCMV-infected Balb/cJ strain. HCMV infections have been associated with infertility (Kapranos et al., 2003; Tanaka et al., 2006; Yang et al., 1995); however, direct links between CMV and infertility have not been drawn. Severity of viral-associated diseases and/or viral titre can be significantly increased during pregnancy, including CMV (Gould et al., 1980; Weinberg, 1984). In pregnant CMV-infected guinea pigs, there is a higher death rate and more severe CMV-associated symptoms, such as splenomegaly, as compared to NP due to a delayed immune response (Griffith et al., 1983). Impaired pregnancy-associated vascular adaptations and reduced placental perfusion are also clearly associated with pregnancy loss (Norwitz et al., 2001). None of the mCMV-infected Balb/cJ mice were able to carry their fetuses to D17.5/18.5, and therefore measuring vascular function in arteries isolated from mCMV-infected LP Balb/cJ mice was not possible. Although there were no vasodilation response differences between mCMV-infected NP C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mice (see also Chapter 6), major CMV susceptibility differences between these strains, including exacerbated vascular dysfunction, may be more apparent

during early or mid-pregnancy. Therefore it is important to determine at which stage pregnancies fail in mCMV-infected Balb/cJ mice.

Although impaired vascular function early in gestation may contribute to infertility and loss of pregnancy, there may be several other causes for infectionassociated pregnancy problems that depend on the stage that pregnancy is lost (Roupa et al., 2009; Weinberg, 1984). I observed one mouse at D15 with 7 of 8 resorptions. Another four mice I observed at mid-gestation following a vaginal plug had no evidence of a pregnancy. Therefore, problems with pregnancy may occur as early as fertilization or implantation or during later stages of placental and fetal development (Roupa et al., 2009). In humans, diagnosis of a congenital infection has been associated with inadequate fetal development and fetal demise (Gaytant et al., 2003; Yinon et al., 2010). In mCMV-infected pregnant mice where CMV does not cross the placenta, congenital infections are not possible (Johnson, 1969). Gharavi et al. showed that the antibody response to a phospholipid-binding CMV-derived peptide during early to mid-pregnancy caused endothelial thrombus formation and fetal loss in Balb/c mice (Gharavi et al., 2004). These data along with my results indicate that fetal developmental problems may arise with a maternal CMV infection in the absence of a congenital infection in early to mid-gestation following implantation.

In addition to maternal vascular dysfunction, my results show that an active maternal CMV infection has placental and fetal effects. Differences in pregnancy outcomes were clearly demonstrated between the C57Bl/6J and Balb/cJ mouse strains. Each strain has different variations of specific immune response genes that determine how susceptible they are to a CMV infection. Therefore, disparities in pregnancy outcomes in the presence of a HCMV infection (independent of a congenital infection) may occur based on a woman's immune genotype. Further research into these CMV-associated placental and fetal effects is required to determine how a maternal CMV infection may cause such pregnancy complications.

### 7.5 REFERENCES

Anderson, CM, Lopez, F, Zhang, HY, Pavlish, K, Benoit, JN (2005) Reduced uteroplacental perfusion alters uterine arcuate artery function in the pregnant Sprague-Dawley rat. *Biol Reprod* **72**(3): 762-766.

Brown, HL, Abernathy, MP (1998) Cytomegalovirus infection. *Semin Perinatol* **22**(4): 260-266.

Carreiras, M, Montagnani, S, Layrisse, Z (2002) Preeclampsia: a multifactorial disease resulting from the interaction of the feto-maternal HLA genotype and HCMV infection. *Am J Reprod Immunol* **48**(3): 176-183.

Conde-Agudelo, A, Villar, J, Lindheimer, M (2008) Maternal infection and risk of preeclampsia: systematic review and metaanalysis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **198**(1): 7-22.

Gambarotto, K, Ranger-Rogez, S, Aubard, Y, Piver, P, Duffetelle, B, Delpeyroux, C, Roussanne, MC, Nicot, T, Denis, F (1997) [Primary cytomegalovirus infection and pregnant women: epidemiological study on 1100 women at Limoges]. *Pathol Biol (Paris)* **45**(6): 453-461.

Gaytant, MA, Rours, GI, Steegers, EA, Galama, JM, Semmekrot, BA (2003) Congenital cytomegalovirus infection after recurrent infection: case reports and review of the literature. *Eur J Pediatr* **162**(4): 248-253.

Geist, LJ, Hinde, SL (2001) Susceptibility to cytomegalovirus infection may be dependent on the cytokine response to the virus. *J Investig Med* **49**(5): 434-441.

Gharavi, AE, Vega-Ostertag, M, Espinola, RG, Liu, X, Cole, L, Cox, NT, Romagnoli, P, Labat, K, Pierangeli, SS (2004) Intrauterine fetal death in mice caused by cytomegalovirus-derived peptide induced aPL antibodies. *Lupus* **13**(1): 17-23.

Gombos, RB, Hemmings, DG (2010) Differential effects on nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in mesenteric and uterine arteries from cytomegalovirus-infected mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **299**(4): H1124-1134.

Gombos, RB, Wolan, V, McDonald, K, Hemmings, DG (2009) Impaired vascular function in mice with an active cytomegalovirus infection. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **296**(4): H937-945.

Gould, JJ, Mims, CA (1980) Murine cytomegalovirus: reactivation in pregnancy. *J Gen Virol* **51**(Pt 2): 397-400.

Grahame-Clarke, C (2005) Human cytomegalovirus, endothelial function and atherosclerosis. *Herpes* **12**(2): 42-45.

Griffith, BP, Lucia, HL, Tillbrook, JL, Hsiung, GD (1983) Enhancement of cytomegalovirus infection during pregnancy in guinea pig. *J Infect Dis* **147**(6): 990-998.

Johnson, KP (1969) Mouse cytomegalovirus: placental infection. J Infect Dis **120**(4): 445-450.

Kapranos, N, Petrakou, E, Anastasiadou, C, Kotronias, D (2003) Detection of herpes simplex virus, cytomegalovirus, and Epstein-Barr virus in the semen of men attending an infertility clinic. *Fertil Steril* **79 Suppl 3:** 1566-1570.

Kekik, C, Besisik, SK, Seyhun, Y, Oguz, FS, Sargin, D, Carin, MN (2009) Relationship between HLA tissue type, CMV infection, and acute graft-vs-host disease after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: single-center experience. *Transplant Proc* **41**(9): 3859-3862.

Lang, U, Baker, RS, Braems, G, Zygmunt, M, Kunzel, W, Clark, KE (2003) Uterine blood flow--a determinant of fetal growth. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* **110 Suppl 1:** S55-61.

Lathbury, LJ, Allan, JE, Shellam, GR, Scalzo, AA (1996) Effect of host genotype in determining the relative roles of natural killer cells and T cells in mediating protection against murine cytomegalovirus infection. *J Gen Virol* **77** ( **Pt 10**): 2605-2613.

Lee, SH, Gitas, J, Zafer, A, Lepage, P, Hudson, TJ, Belouchi, A, Vidal, SM (2001) Haplotype mapping indicates two independent origins for the Cmv1s susceptibility allele to cytomegalovirus infection and refines its localization within the Ly49 cluster. *Immunogenetics* **53**(6): 501-505.

Mercer, JA, Spector, DH (1986) Pathogenesis of acute murine cytomegalovirus infection in resistant and susceptible strains of mice. *J Virol* **57**(2): 497-504.

Norwitz, ER, Schust, DJ, Fisher, SJ (2001) Implantation and the survival of early pregnancy. *N Engl J Med* **345**(19): 1400-1408.

Pallotto, EK, Kilbride, HW (2006) Perinatal outcome and later implications of intrauterine growth restriction. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* **49**(2): 257-269.

Roupa, Z, Polikandrioti, M, Sotiropoulou, P, Faros, E, Koulouri, A, Wozniak, G, Gourni, M (2009) Causes of Infertility in Women at Reproductive Age. *Health Science Journal* **3**(2): 80-87.

Scalzo, AA, Corbett, AJ, Rawlinson, WD, Scott, GM, Degli-Esposti, MA (2007) The interplay between host and viral factors in shaping the outcome of cytomegalovirus infection. *Immunol Cell Biol* **85**(1): 46-54.

Scalzo, AA, Manzur, M, Forbes, CA, Brown, MG, Shellam, GR (2005) NK gene complex haplotype variability and host resistance alleles to murine cytomegalovirus in wild mouse populations. *Immunol Cell Biol* **83**(2): 144-149.

Sholook, MM, Gilbert, JS, Sedeek, MH, Huang, M, Hester, RL, Granger, JP (2007) Systemic hemodynamic and regional blood flow changes in response to chronic reductions in uterine perfusion pressure in pregnant rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*.

Tanaka, K, Yamada, H, Minami, M, Kataoka, S, Numazaki, K, Minakami, H, Tsutsumi, H (2006) Screening for vaginal shedding of cytomegalovirus in healthy pregnant women using real-time PCR: correlation of CMV in the vagina and adverse outcome of pregnancy. *J Med Virol* **78**(6): 757-759.

von Dadelszen, P, Magee, LA, Krajden, M, Alasaly, K, Popovska, V, Devarakonda, RM, Money, DM, Patrick, DM, Brunham, RC (2003) Levels of antibodies against cytomegalovirus and Chlamydophila pneumoniae are increased in early onset pre-eclampsia. *BJOG* **110**(8): 725-730.

Weinberg, ED (1984) Pregnancy-associated depression of cell-mediated immunity. *Rev Infect Dis* **6**(6): 814-831.

Xiong, X, Demianczuk, NN, Saunders, LD, Wang, FL, Fraser, WD (2002) Impact of preeclampsia and gestational hypertension on birth weight by gestational age. *Am J Epidemiol* **155**(3): 203-209.

Yang, YS, Ho, HN, Chen, HF, Chen, SU, Shen, CY, Chang, SF, Huang, ES, Wu, CW (1995) Cytomegalovirus infection and viral shedding in the genital tract of infertile couples. *J Med Virol* **45**(2): 179-182.

Yinon, Y, Farine, D, Yudin, MH, Gagnon, R, Hudon, L, Basso, M, Bos, H, Delisle, MF, Menticoglou, S, Mundle, W, Ouellet, A, Pressey, T, Roggensack, A, Boucher, M, Castillo, E, Gruslin, A, Money, DM, Murphy, K, Ogilvie, G, Paquet, C, Van Eyk, N, van Schalkwyk, J (2010) Cytomegalovirus infection in pregnancy. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can* **32**(4): 348-354.

## Chapter 8 General Discussion

## **8.1 PROLOGUE**

CMV infections have been associated with vascular diseases in both the general and pregnant population (Espinola-Klein *et al.*, 2002; Grahame-Clarke, 2005; Petrakopoulou *et al.*, 2004); however, a causal relationship between HCMV and vascular dysfunction has yet to be drawn. Most of the research that has studied the effects of CMV in pregnancy has focused on congenital infections that directly cause fetal and postnatal developmental complications, such as microcephaly and sensorineural hearing loss (Yinon *et al.*, 2010). Nevertheless, due to the lack of routine maternal screening for CMV, the effects of a maternal CMV infection on the maternal vascular function and the potential impact of this on fetal development, independent of a congenital infection, remain unknown (Hagay *et al.*, 1996; Munro *et al.*, 2005; Revello *et al.*, 2002).

My results have demonstrated that in agreement with my overall hypothesis, an active CMV infection affects systemic and uterine vascular function prior to and during pregnancy. Placental and/or fetal development are also negatively affected by a CMV infection, particularly in a mouse strain more genotypically susceptible to CMV. This chapter will summarize the most significant findings in all five data chapters (Chapters 3-7), discuss the clinical relevance of these findings, and outline my recommended future directions.

### **8.2 OVERVIEW AND SUMMARY**

In Chapter 3 (Gombos *et al.*, 2009), my results were somewhat surprising based on my initial hypothesis that an active *in vivo* CMV infection would reduce vasodilation of isolated arteries to the endothelium-dependent vasodilator ME and increase vasoconstriction to the  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic receptor agonist PE added

extraluminally, and that these CMV-induced changes would be accentuated in late pregnancy. Contrary to my hypothesis, decreased sensitivity to PE and increased endothelium-dependent vasodilation were found in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP and LP mice. Similarly, increased vasodilation was found in uterine arteries from infected versus uninfected NP mice. However, in agreement with my hypothesis, this was completely reversed in mCMV-infected compared to uninfected LP mice where sensitivity to ME in uterine arteries was significantly reduced. Uterine arteries from infected LP mice also showed increased vasoconstriction to PE. These novel data demonstrate abnormal systemic and uterine vascular responses during an active CMV infection in both NP and LP states and suggest that there may be compensatory mechanisms in arteries from CMV-infected NP mice to counteract reported increases in blood pressure (Cheng *et al.*, 2009) that are lacking in LP mice.

In an attempt to understand the mechanisms for these vascular changes in cholinergic endothelium-dependent vasodilation seen in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice (Chapter 3), I measured the contribution of NO, prostanoids, and smooth muscle cell sensitivity to NO to vasodilation induced by extraluminally applied ME in these arteries in Chapter 4 (Gombos et al., 2010). I found that the contribution by NO to ME-induced vasodilation was significantly increased in mesenteric, but not uterine, arteries isolated from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice. Prostanoid inhibition did not affect endothelium-dependent vasodilation in any group. Vasodilation responses to the NO donor SNP were increased in mesenteric and uterine arteries isolated only from mCMV-infected NP mice. These results explain the increased vasodilation responses observed in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice; however, the decreased sensitivity to ME in uterine arteries from LP mice could not be explained by these mechanisms. Thus, CMV infection affects the contribution of NO differently in endothelium-dependent vasodilation in LP compared to NP mice and also in the mesenteric compared to the uterine vascular bed.

Cholinergic stimulation plays an important role in the regulation of vascular tone; however, I was also interested in how other circulating mediators that induce endothelium-dependent vasodilation may be affected by pregnancy, in the presence or absence of an active CMV infection. In Chapter 5, I studied the vascular effects of S1P, a bioactive sphingolipid that can induce either vasodilation or vasoconstriction depending on which vascular cells it interacts with. To do this, I developed a technique using the pressure myograph system that enabled me to assess vascular responses to reagents that directly interact with the endothelium. In intact pressurized arteries, I showed that infusion of low S1P concentrations led to vasodilation in uterine and mesenteric arteries that was abolished at higher concentrations. This was altered in pregnancy to favour increased vasodilatory capacity, suggesting an important role for S1P in pregnancy-induced vascular adaptations. Infection with mCMV disrupted S1P signaling in uterine arteries and reduced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from and LP mice. Therefore, while cholinergic endothelium-dependent NP vasodilation was increased in mesenteric and uterine arteries in the presence of a CMV infection (Chapters 3,4) (Gombos et al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009), other vascular mediators such as S1P can reduce endothelium-dependent vasodilation during a CMV infection.

Although I showed that mesenteric and uterine vascular function was affected by an active CMV infection in NP and LP mice (Chapters 3-5) (Gombos *et al.*, 2010; Gombos *et al.*, 2009), it remained unknown how direct virus to endothelium interactions contributed to altered vascular responses in comparison to a systemic *in vivo* infection (Chapter 6). In Chapter 6, I measured the vascular responses in arteries isolated from mice infected with mCMV *in vivo* and compared them to responses in arteries isolated from uninfected mice but treated with gB, a necessary glycoprotein involved in CMV attachment and entry (Lopper *et al.*, 2002). To do this, I infused gB or CMV inside arteries to directly interact with the endothelium. Following this pre-treatment, I infused ME into the arteries rather than added it extraluminally as was done in Chapters 3 and 4 (Gombos *et* 

al., 2010; Gombos et al., 2009). In mesenteric arteries, neither gB pre-treatment nor an *in vivo* CMV infection significantly affected vasodilation to infused ME, unlike the increased vasodilation responses to extraluminally added ME in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice observed in Chapter 3. These opposing results are likely due to different drug and receptor interactions with extraluminal versus intraluminal addition of ME (see Figure 6.5). Nevertheless, I demonstrated increased TXA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub>-mediated vasoconstriction in the presence of CMV attachment alone or in the presence of a fully systemic infection that reduced ME-induced vasodilation, in accordance with Chapter 4. In uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice, the sensitivity to infused ME was significantly increased by both gB and mCMV pre-treatment but this increase was less than that found in uterine arteries from in vivo mCMV-infected NP mice. Maximal vasodilation to infused ME was also significantly increased in uterine arteries from *in vivo* mCMV-infected NP mice not seen with gB or mCMV pre-treatment of uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice. However, sensitivity and maximal vasodilation to infused ME was significantly reduced only in uterine arteries from in vivo mCMV-infected LP mice. Together, these results demonstrate that attachment or early entry of CMV in endothelial cells affects endotheliumdependent vasodilation in the absence of a fully systemic CMV infection. Nevertheless, at least in uterine arteries, a full infection exacerbates these vascular responses, possibly through inflammatory mediators generated during an activated inflammatory response.

In summary of Chapters 3-6, mesenteric arteries have a reduced sensitivity to  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic receptor agonists and a decreased vasodilation response to infused S1P. Furthermore, NOS-2 expression, NO contribution, and smooth muscle cell sensitivity to NO are increased upon cholinergic stimulation, likely as a compensatory mechanism for increased vasoconstrictory prostanoid synthesis in these mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice (Figure 8.1). This increase in vasoconstrictory prostanoid modulation of cholinergic vasodilation, also seen in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice, occurs as early as CMV/gB cell attachment or early entry. Although mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice respond to agonists similarly to mCMV-infected NP mice for the most part, there are a few differences. In addition to NOS-2 protein expression, NOS-3 mRNA expression is increased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice whereas smooth muscle sensitivity to NO is unaffected compared to uninfected LP mice (Figure 8.1).



Figure 8.1: Schematic representation of affected signalling pathways in a mesenteric artery from a mCMV-infected NP or LP mouse. S1P-induced vasodilation mediated by S1P<sub>1/3</sub> and NO is decreased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP and LP mice. In contrast, regulation of vasodilation induced by extraluminally or intraluminally applied ME showed that NO and TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub> production is increased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice. Further, vasodilation induced by extraluminally applied ME is increased in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice whereby NO-mediated vasodilation masks the TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub>-mediated constriction effects. All enzymes/pathways affected by a CMV infection are illustrated by a yellow arrow. The receptors on the endothelial cells (EC) and vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMC) involved in the signalling pathways I studied are also shown. ME: methacholine; S1P: sphingosine 1-phosphate; AA: arachidonic acid;  $TxA_2$ : thromboxane; PGH<sub>2</sub>: prostaglandin H<sub>2</sub>; NOS: nitric oxide synthase; NO: nitric oxide; EDHF: endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor; cGMP: cyclic guanosine monophosphate; ROCK: Rho kinase; M<sub>3</sub>: muscarinic 3 receptor.

The impact of a mCMV infection on vascular responses in uterine arteries differs from that found in mesenteric arteries. In mCMV-infected NP mice, vasodilation is increased in response to cholinergic stimulation which is likely due to an increase in smooth muscle cell sensitivity to NO. Although NOS-1 expression is also increased in these arteries, increased NO or prostanoid synthesis does not contribute to this increased cholinergic endothelium-dependent vasodilation. This suggests a reduction in the bioavailability of NO, possibly due to increased oxidative stress and peroxynitrite formation (see section 8.4). CMV/gB cell attachment or early entry increases sensitivity to the cholinergic agonist ME; however, a full infection and/or indirect mediators such as an activated inflammatory response exacerbate this response. S1P-induced vasoconstriction is also decreased in these arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice whereby ROCK activity is decreased and signalling through S1P<sub>1</sub> and/or S1P<sub>3</sub> is

downregulated (Figure 8.2). In uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice, on the other hand, S1P-induced vascular responses are unaffected whereas cholinergic vasodilation is reduced and vasoconstriction to  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic receptor agonists is increased. However, NO and prostanoid contribution to cholinergic vasodilation and smooth muscle sensitivity to NO are unaffected by a mCMV infection in uterine arteries from LP mice; therefore, this change in vasodilation is likely due to EDHF (Figure 8.2). Unlike the increased sensitivity to the cholinergic agonist ME in uterine arteries from NP mice, gB cell attachment/early entry does not affect cholinergic vasodilation in uterine arteries from uninfected LP mice. Hence in LP mice, a full infection is required for endotheliumdependent vascular dysfunction to occur.



Figure 8.2: Schematic representation of affected signalling pathways in a uterine artery from a mCMV-infected NP or LP mouse.  $S1P_{1/3}$  regulation of S1P-induced vasodilation is lost in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP mice. S1P-induced vasoconstriction, partially mediated by Rho kinase (ROCK), is decreased in uterine arteries from mCMVinfected mice. ME-induced vasodilation and sensitivity to ME (muscarinic receptor-specific) is also increased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice. It is partially mediated by increased vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) sensitivity to NO. ME-induced vasodilation is decreased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice likely by reduced EDHF. PE-induced vasoconstriction is also increased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice. All enzymes/pathways affected by a CMV infection are illustrated by a yellow arrow. The receptors on the ECs and VSMCs involved in the signalling pathways I studied are also listed. ME: methacholine; S1P: sphingosine 1-phosphate; NOS: nitric oxide synthase; NO: nitric oxide; EDHF: endothelium-derived hyperpolarizing factor; cGMP: cyclic guanosine monophosphate; M<sub>3</sub>: muscarinic 3 receptor.

Finally, my findings in Chapter 7 demonstrate that although fetal growth is unaffected in LP mice more immunologically resistant to CMV, mice more genotypically susceptible to a CMV infection are infertile. The fetal to placental ratio, and likely placental efficiency, is increased in mCMV-infected mice that are more resistant to CMV, suggesting that they are able to compensate for adverse effects associated with a CMV infection better than those genotypically more susceptible to CMV.

#### **8.3 CONCLUSIONS AND CLINICAL RELEVANCE**

In conclusion, I have shown that an active CMV infection affects systemic and uterine vascular function in both LP and NP states and pregnancy outcome, independent of a congenital infection. Although my studies have been performed in the mouse model, vascular dysfunction seen during an active mCMV infection has also been associated with HCMV pathogenesis (Dal Canto *et al.*, 2000). If an active HCMV infection affects normal vascular function during human pregnancy, as I have demonstrated in mice, it is a potential risk factor for vascular complications such as preeclampsia and IUGR, independent of direct fetal effects such as microcephaly, hepatosplenomegaly (Lazzarotto *et al.*, 2000). Genotypically susceptible HCMV-infected women may also be at a higher risk of negative placental and fetal developmental effects, as previously suggested (Carreiras *et al.*, 2002) and corroborated by my findings (Chapter 7). Consequently, my research supports the notion that routine maternal screening for CMV in early and mid-pregnancy should be implemented.

Screening for an active CMV infection, prior to or in early pregnancy, as a risk factor for vascular and fetal complications may enable doctors to prevent and/or treat them. Treatments may include low-dose aspirin (Garovic, 2000), ganciclovir (Spector *et al.*, 1996), and/or gB (vasodilatory effects demonstrated in Chapter 6). Although the efficacy of low-dose aspirin for pregnancy-related vascular complications is controversial, it may be more effective with CMV-associated vascular dysfunction during pregnancy (Barth, 1998; Beilin, 1994; Speir *et al.*, 1998). Further research into the precise mechanisms affected by a CMV infection during pregnancy will also help identify other potential therapeutic targets and treatments.

A CMV-specific vaccine given prior to pregnancy may also reduce the prevalence of acquiring an active CMV infection during pregnancy. Nevertheless, development of an effective CMV vaccine is still in clinical trials. The viral coat protein, gB, is a prime candidate for HCMV vaccine development studies and trials (Bernstein *et al.*, 2002; Pass, 2009; Pass *et al.*, 2002; Pass *et al.*, 2009). My

results support its use as a vaccine given that I demonstrated that gB pre-treatment does not negatively affect mesenteric or uterine cholinergic endotheliumdependent vasodilation in pregnancy and further, may actually be beneficial in NP individuals as it leads to increased sensitivity to cholinergic stimulation. However, these results were obtained using the mouse model and, therefore, must be repeated with human arteries to confirm the vascular effects and potential benefits of gB pre-treatment (section 8.4).

Lastly, using the pressure myograph system I was also able to differentiate between agonist-induced vascular effects caused by direct endothelial versus smooth muscle cell interactions. My findings highlight the important roles these agonists play in vascular function and generate novel insight into how vascular tone is regulated in LP compared to NP states. Understanding how this regulation is disrupted under pathological conditions in humans will contribute to the development of new therapeutic tools targeted toward CMV-associated vascular complications, not only in the pregnant but also in the general population.

## **8.4 LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

My vascular function experiments have focused on only some vascular mediators including the  $\alpha_1$ -adrenergic agonist PE, TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub> mimetic U46619, cholinergic agonist ME, NO donor SNP, peptide bradykinin, and the bioactive sphingolipid S1P. Furthermore, agonists that did not have CMV-induced differential vascular responses in murine mesenteric and/or uterine arteries from my study (ie. bradykinin) may affect responses in other blood vessel types, including veins (Inacio *et al.*, 1997), or vascular beds, such as the placenta (Kenny *et al.*, 2002). Cheng et al. have recently shown that the expression of angiotensin II, a vasoconstrictor, is significantly increased in aortic tissue from mCMV-infected mice (Cheng *et al.*, 2009). Grahame-Clarke et al. have also demonstrated that vasodilation responses to both the endothelium-independent vasodilator glyceryl trinitrate and peptide bradykinin are reduced in forearm arteries from CMV-seropositive individuals (Grahame-Clarke *et al.*, 2003). In addition, in my studies the contribution of NO and prostanoids to the vascular responses stimulated by the cholinergic agonist ME or S1P were investigated in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected mice. Mechanistic analysis has yet to be completed for other vascular agonists. Determining the intracellular signalling pathways for each vascular agonist affected by an active mCMV infection may deduce common players as therapeutic targets for CMV-associated diseases. Therefore, further vascular function studies that determine the mechanistic responses for a wider range of agonists in blood vessels isolated from both humans and animal models are necessary.

The inhibitors used in my experiments were used to determine the general signal transduction pathways affected by an active CMV infection. As such, several of them were not specific for a single protein. L-NAME blocks NOS activity as an L-arginine analogue but does not distinguish between NOS-1/2/3(Moncada et al., 1997). Meclo is a competitive inhibitor for both PGHS-1/2 (Laneuville et al., 1994; Smith et al., 1994). VPC23019 is a competitive antagonist for both S1P<sub>1</sub> and S1P<sub>3</sub> (Davis et al., 2005). To determine which isoforms and intracellular signalling pathways are mainly responsible for the vascular effects, vascular function studies should now be repeated with specific isoform inhibitors that are available, such as the PGHS-2 selective inhibitor NS398 (Futaki et al., 1994), the SK-1 inhibitor SKI-II (Yan et al., 2008), the soluble guanylyl cyclase inhibitor ODQ (Hwang et al., 1998), or specific potassium channel blockers apamin and TRAM-34 (Morton et al., 2010). In my experiments, SQ29548, the TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist, was used in addition to meclo to help deduce the specific prostanoids involved in vascular responses; however, this antagonist is unable to differentiate between TxA<sub>2</sub> versus PGH<sub>2</sub> agonistic effects (Vezza et al., 2002). Addition of a specific TxA<sub>2</sub> synthase inhibitor, such as ozagrel (Nakazawa et al., 1994; Virdis et al., 2007), in combination with the TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor antagonist will be very useful in

differentiating between TxA<sub>2</sub>- or PGH<sub>2</sub>-induced vasoconstriction (Gresele *et al.*, 1991). Specific NOS isoform inhibitors, such as with the competitive inhibitors 7nitroindazole for NOS-1 and 1400W for NOS-2, have also been used in some studies; however, their specificity has been questioned, particularly when used at higher concentrations (Arias-Salvatierra *et al.*, 2011; Babbedge *et al.*, 1993; Garvey *et al.*, 1997; Moore *et al.*, 1996; Rickard *et al.*, 1999). Moreover, although specific S1P receptor antagonists have become more commercially-available over the last few years (Jongsma *et al.*, 2006), knockout animals will be another useful resource. Studying vascular responses in CMV-infected and uninfected NP and LP knockout animals, including NOS-1<sup>-/-</sup>, NOS-2<sup>-/-</sup>, NOS-3<sup>-/-</sup>, S1P<sub>2</sub><sup>-/-</sup>, and S1P<sub>3</sub><sup>-/-</sup> mice (S1P<sub>1</sub><sup>-/-</sup> is lethal (Kono *et al.*, 2004)), in combination with specific inhibitors will help establish the specific effects of these enzymes and receptors on systemic and uterine vascular function.

Active CMV infections and cardiovascular diseases. such as atherosclerosis and hypertension, have been associated with increased ROS production within the vascular wall, potentially via NOS uncoupling (Cai et al., 2000; Landmesser et al., 2003; Miller et al., 1998; Speir et al., 1996; Speir et al., 1998). Increased ROS, specifically superoxide, may interact with NO released from NOS-1/2/3 to produce peroxynitrite, thereby reducing the bioavailability of NO (Szabo, 1996). As such, even if similar amounts of NO are being produced in CMV-infected and uninfected individuals, the amount of NO available to interact with the vascular smooth muscle cells to induce vasodilation may be significantly reduced in CMV-infected individuals. My immunofluorescence results demonstrated that an active mCMV infection causes an increase in NOS-1/2 protein and NOS-3 mRNA expression in mesenteric and/or uterine arteries. In uterine arteries, I also showed that modulation of vasodilation by changes in NO production did not significantly differ from mCMV-infected and uninfected mice, even in the presence of increased NOS-1 expression. This suggests there is reduced NO bioavailability in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected mice. Although I have shown that increased NO production contributes to increased

ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice, this does not rule out the possibility that basal NO bioavailability is reduced in the presence of a mCMV infection. Davidge et al. previously showed that the antioxidant superoxide dismutase (reduces superoxide levels) increases NOdependent vasorelaxation in mesenteric arteries from vitamin E-deficient compared to control rats albeit ME-induced vasodilation was not different between these groups. Thus, superoxide-induced NO inactivation (and peroxynitrite formation), though overcome by agonist-induced NO release, is still very apparent (Davidge et al., 1998). Similar to my results in mesenteric arteries from mCMV-infected mice, Davidge et al. also found that in mesenteric arteries from vitamin E-deficient rats PGHS-dependent production of the vasoconstrictory prostanoid(s) that binds the PGH<sub>2</sub>/TxA<sub>2</sub> receptor is increased following ME stimulation (Davidge et al., 1993). Therefore, PGH<sub>2</sub>/TxA<sub>2</sub> production may be favoured in the presence of peroxynitrite in mesenteric arteries from both vitamin-E deficient and CMV-infected rodent models. This is supported by the fact that peroxynitrite can increase PGHS-1/2 activity (Landino et al., 1996) and inhibit PGI<sub>2</sub> synthase activity (Zou *et al.*, 1997; Zou *et al.*, 1999). Together, this evidence illustrates the importance of measuring NO bioavailability and the level of oxidative and nitrative stress in arteries isolated in mCMV-infected mice as ROS play an important role in vascular function. This may include measuring peroxynitrite, nitrotyrosine (formed by peroxynitrite), or other ROS with specific markers (Carter et al., 1994; Collins, 2005; Roggensack et al., 1999; Roychowdhury et al., 2002; Wang et al., 1996), measuring tetrahydrobiopterin levels (necessary NOS cofactor that prevents uncoupling) (Landmesser et al., 2003), or using an antioxidant such as superoxide dismutase to determine its reversal effect on vasodilation in arteries from mCMV-infected mice (Davidge et al., 1998).

My intraluminal results suggest that muscarinic receptors are increased and  $S1P_1$  and/or  $S1P_3$  are decreased on endothelial cells in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice. In addition, my results demonstrating different vascular responses following extraluminal versus intraluminal ME or S1P addition suggest differential receptor expression on the apical and basolateral membranes of endothelial cells (ie. muscarinic receptors) or between endothelial and smooth muscle cells (ie. S1P<sub>1-3</sub> receptors) in arteries from mCMV-infected mice. It will be very important to measure the expression and localization of these receptors in these vascular cells to confirm these functional findings. Due to the differences between vascular beds, this technique requires one to isolate enough of the endothelial and smooth muscle cells specifically from murine mesenteric and uterine arteries to quantify receptor expression and localization differences for each cell type. Therefore, an appropriate isolation technique must be established with a high yield of these cells, such as laser capture microdissection (Frye *et al.*, 2002; Harris *et al.*, 2008; Moss *et al.*, 2007). This will also be useful to determine the receptor effects of a CMV infection on other arteries not specific to the murine model.

Most of my studies have focused on vascular responses in the presence of a CMV infection. This highlights some important questions: Does CMV have direct vascular effects? How big a role does the immune response play in these vascular responses? Are these vascular effects specific to a CMV infection or can they be attributed to other Herpes virus infections? Although I have measured some of the direct attachment/entry effects of CMV on the vasculature, the direct vascular effects of CMV replication and/or infection within endothelial and vascular smooth muscle cells remain undefined. Moreover, which immune response mediators affect vascular responses during a CMV infection are also unknown. TNF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  are two such mediators with known vascular effects that are upregulated during an active CMV infection (Boyle et al., 1999; Gamadia et al., 2003; Geist et al., 1994; Sprague et al., 2009; Tesauro et al., 2008). It will be very interesting to compare cytokine-induced vascular responses in arteries from uninfected hosts to the vascular responses observed in arteries from a CMVinfected host and determine how much of the vascular dysfunction can be attributed to these cytokines. Finally, though CMV is the major Herpes virus

associated with vascular diseases, other Herpes viruses with conserved, homologous proteins, such as gB, may also contribute to vascular dysfunction (Norais *et al.*, 1996). Herpes Simplex virus (HSV) increases platelet and peripheral blood mononuclear cell adhesion to vascular endothelial cells (Scheglovitova *et al.*, 2001; Visser *et al.*, 1988), suggesting a role for HSV in endothelial dysfunction. In addition, vascular diseases such as cardiac allograft vasculopathy (Bowles *et al.*, 2001; Shirali *et al.*, 2001; Valantine, 2004) and atherosclerosis (Alber *et al.*, 2000) have also been associated with the presence of Herpes viruses other than CMV. This suggests that other viruses may also affect vascular responses; however, direct evidence of this has not yet been demonstrated.

Placental function and fetal development are broad research areas and my thesis has only begun to exhibit how a CMV infection affects them. Based on an increased fetal to placental ratio in mCMV-infected C57Bl/6J mice, preliminary results suggest that placental efficiency is increased. Although I showed that fetal weights were unaffected in these resistant mCMV-infected LP mice (likely due to increased placental efficiency), placental viral infection and over-compensation can increase maternal susceptibility to a second hit (ie. bacterial infection). This second hit can lead to more severe pregnancy complications (Cardenas et al., 2011). A technique has been developed and is now being widely employed that measures solute transport across murine placentas into the fetus as a direct measurement of placental efficiency (Angiolini et al., 2006; Constancia et al., 2005). This technique will be extremely useful as a confirmation of my findings and will help determine if placental function should be investigated further. Additional perinatal studies on mCMV-infected Balb/cJ mice are also required. They are much more susceptible to mCMV infections and understanding how and when a mCMV infection causes pregnancy loss will be very important for understanding potential placental and/or fetal effects of a maternal CMV infection. This should include studying groups of mCMV-infected Balb/cJ mice at each day of pregnancy following vaginal plugging to determine at what stage
pregnancy is affected. Establishing the time-frame for when mCMV-infected LP Balb/cJ mice are affected will help deduce potential mechanisms disrupted by an active maternal mCMV infection, such as implantation, placentation, or angiogenesis (Norwitz *et al.*, 2001), and may highlight therapeutic areas to target.

Though I have shown that vascular responses are affected by a CMV infection, I have not yet shown how this may pertain to vascular function *in vivo*. Cheng et al. showed that blood pressure in mice infected with a mCMV infection is increased with angiotensin II levels (Cheng et al., 2009); however, I found that endothelium-dependent vasodilation is increased in mesenteric and uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice. This may be explained as a compensatory mechanism for increased vasoconstriction to mediators, such as TxA<sub>2</sub>, PGH<sub>2</sub>, or angiotensin II in vivo. It remains unknown how a CMV infection affects blood pressure and/or blood flow regulation in vivo during pregnancy. I demonstrated that endothelium-dependent vasodilation in uterine arteries is decreased while TxA<sub>2</sub>/PGH<sub>2</sub> modulation of vasodilation in mesenteric arteries is increased in mCMV-infected LP mice. This suggests that mCMV-infected LP mice are more susceptible to increased blood pressure and hypertension than NP mice but has yet to be confirmed in vivo. Moreover, in addition to evaluating the vascular effects of an acute, active CMV infection in mice at the reproductive stage, the mouse is a good model to study how a chronic CMV infection affects the vascular function over time (Appendix C). As such, in vivo vascular experiments will also be important to determine if and how a mCMV infection may contribute to vascular dysfunction and diseases with age, such as hypertension. Techniques that may be used to measure blood pressure in mice include the tail cuff method or implanted telemetry monitoring systems (Kurtz et al., 2005). The blood pressure measurements achieved with the tail cuff method are highly variable due to the effects of stress induced by confining mice in small cylinders to obtain a blood pressure reading. In addition, the equipment required to measure blood pressure by tail cuff cannot be taken into and used in the biocontainment animal facility where the mCMV-infected mice are housed. Therefore, telemetry is the preferred

method of choice. However, implanting telemetry systems into mice is a very expensive surgical technique which may affect the ability of these animals to become pregnant or maintain their pregnancies (Braga *et al.*, 2009; Kurtz *et al.*, 2005). Blood flow measurements will also be important to determine how the vascular tone of peripheral blood vessels is affected *in vivo*, such as with Doppler ultrasonic velocity measurements (Hartley *et al.*, 2011). Understanding what happens in animal models *in vivo* is critical to further elucidate how a CMV infection contributes to vascular diseases in humans.

Lastly, basic research with clinical application should always lead back to the human situation. In addition to my studies in the mouse model, there are several human studies that should be performed to establish the relevance of my findings to the human population. Human studies may include ex vivo and in vivo vascular experiments performed on a sample population of women who are positive or negative for an active HCMV infection. An active infection can be confirmed by the presence of CMV DNA in the saliva and urine in addition to seropositivity for IgG and IgM CMV antibodies. Similar to the vascular studies performed in mice, vascular ex vivo experiments using different agonists and inhibitors on human blood vessels obtained during surgery (ie. Caesarean sections, cardiac surgeries, or abdominal surgeries), such as placental and myometrial arteries (Hudson et al., 2007), mammary arteries (Henrion et al., 1998), omental arteries (Vedernikov et al., 1999), and mesenteric arteries (Dimitrova et al., 2010), will be important to determine how vascular tone and intracellular signalling pathways are affected by an active HCMV infection. This is not only important in pregnant women but also in NP HCMV-infected individuals who are at risk of HCMV-associated vascular diseases (ie. immunocompromised or aged populations; see Appendix C). Furthermore, blood pressure (ie. sphygmomanometry) and blood flow measurements (ie. Doppler ultrasonography) in active HCMV-infected compared to uninfected NP and LP women will be important to determine the risk of vascular dysfunction and disease in a genotypically diverse population (Naslund et al., 2006; Pickering et *al.*, 2005). Plethysmography is an additional non-invasive technique used to measure changes in arterial blood volume and vascular function among human sample groups that will be useful in establishing the *in vivo* vascular effects of an HCMV infection (Grahame-Clarke *et al.*, 2003; Naslund *et al.*, 2006). Results obtained from *in vivo* animal and human studies in addition to my *ex vivo* functional experiments will help identify important similarities to HCMV-associated effects and potential ways of treating HCMV-associated diseases.

## **8.5 REFERENCES**

Alber, DG, Powell, KL, Vallance, P, Goodwin, DA, Grahame-Clarke, C (2000) Herpesvirus infection accelerates atherosclerosis in the apolipoprotein E-deficient mouse. *Circulation* **102**(7): 779-785.

Angiolini, E, Fowden, A, Coan, P, Sandovici, I, Smith, P, Dean, W, Burton, G, Tycko, B, Reik, W, Sibley, C, Constancia, M (2006) Regulation of placental efficiency for nutrient transport by imprinted genes. *Placenta* **27 Suppl A:** S98-102.

Arias-Salvatierra, D, Silbergeld, EK, Acosta-Saavedra, LC, Calderon-Aranda, ES (2011) Role of nitric oxide produced by iNOS through NF-kappaB pathway in migration of cerebellar granule neurons induced by Lipopolysaccharide. *Cell Signal* **23**(2): 425-435.

Babbedge, RC, Bland-Ward, PA, Hart, SL, Moore, PK (1993) Inhibition of rat cerebellar nitric oxide synthase by 7-nitro indazole and related substituted indazoles. *Br J Pharmacol* **110**(1): 225-228.

Barth, W, Jr. (1998) Low-dose aspirin for preeclampsia--the unresolved question. *N Engl J Med* **338**(11): 756-757.

Beilin, L (1994) Aspirin and pre-eclampsia. *BMJ* **308**(6939): 1250-1251.

Bernstein, DI, Schleiss, MR, Berencsi, K, Gonczol, E, Dickey, M, Khoury, P, Cadoz, M, Meric, C, Zahradnik, J, Duliege, AM, Plotkin, S (2002) Effect of previous or simultaneous immunization with canarypox expressing cytomegalovirus (CMV) glycoprotein B (gB) on response to subunit gB vaccine plus MF59 in healthy CMV-seronegative adults. *J Infect Dis* **185**(5): 686-690.

Bowles, NE, Shirali, GS, Chinnock, RE, Rosenthal, GL, Towbin, JA (2001) Association of viral genome with transplant coronary arteriopathy and graft loss in children following cardiac transplantation. *J Heart Lung Transplant* **20**(2): 198.

Boyle, KA, Pietropaolo, RL, Compton, T (1999) Engagement of the cellular receptor for glycoprotein B of human cytomegalovirus activates the interferon-responsive pathway. *Mol Cell Biol* **19**(5): 3607-3613.

Braga, VA, Prabhakar, NR (2009) Refinement of telemetry for measuring blood pressure in conscious rats. *J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci* **48**(3): 268-271.

Cai, H, Harrison, DG (2000) Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular diseases: the role of oxidant stress. *Circ Res* **87**(10): 840-844.

Cardenas, I, Mor, G, Aldo, P, Lang, SM, Stabach, P, Sharp, A, Romero, R, Mazaki-Tovi, S, Gervasi, M, Means, RE (2011) Placental viral infection sensitizes to endotoxin-induced pre-term labor: a double hit hypothesis. *Am J Reprod Immunol* **65**(2): 110-117.

Carreiras, M, Montagnani, S, Layrisse, Z (2002) Preeclampsia: a multifactorial disease resulting from the interaction of the feto-maternal HLA genotype and HCMV infection. *Am J Reprod Immunol* **48**(3): 176-183.

Carter, WO, Narayanan, PK, Robinson, JP (1994) Intracellular hydrogen peroxide and superoxide anion detection in endothelial cells. *J Leukoc Biol* **55**(2): 253-258.

Cheng, J, Ke, Q, Jin, Z, Wang, H, Kocher, O, Morgan, JP, Zhang, J, Crumpacker, CS (2009) Cytomegalovirus infection causes an increase of arterial blood pressure. *PLoS Pathog* **5**(5): e1000427.

Collins, AR (2005) Assays for oxidative stress and antioxidant status: applications to research into the biological effectiveness of polyphenols. *Am J Clin Nutr* **81**(1 Suppl): 261S-267S.

Constancia, M, Angiolini, E, Sandovici, I, Smith, P, Smith, R, Kelsey, G, Dean, W, Ferguson-Smith, A, Sibley, CP, Reik, W, Fowden, A (2005) Adaptation of nutrient supply to fetal demand in the mouse involves interaction between the Igf2 gene and placental transporter systems. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**(52): 19219-19224.

Dal Canto, AJ, Virgin, HWt (2000) Animal models of infection-mediated vasculitis: implications for human disease. *Int J Cardiol* **75 Suppl 1:** S37-45; discussion S47-52.

Davidge, ST, Hubel, CA, McLaughlin, MK (1993) Cyclooxygenase-dependent vasoconstrictor alters vascular function in the vitamin E-deprived rat. *Circ Res* **73**(1): 79-88.

Davidge, ST, Ojimba, J, McLaughlin, MK (1998) Vascular function in the vitamin E-deprived rat: an interaction between nitric oxide and superoxide anions. *Hypertension* **31**(3): 830-835.

Davis, MD, Clemens, JJ, Macdonald, TL, Lynch, KR (2005) Sphingosine 1-phosphate analogs as receptor antagonists. *J Biol Chem* **280**(11): 9833-9841.

Dimitrova, DZ, Dimitrov, SD, Iliev, I, Mladenov, MI, Hristov, KL, Mihov, DN, Duridanova, DB, Gagov, HS (2010) Ghrelin signaling in human mesenteric arteries. *J Physiol Pharmacol* **61**(4): 383-390.

Espinola-Klein, C, Rupprecht, HJ, Blankenberg, S, Bickel, C, Kopp, H, Rippin, G, Victor, A, Hafner, G, Schlumberger, W, Meyer, J (2002) Impact of infectious burden on extent and long-term prognosis of atherosclerosis. *Circulation* **105**(1): 15-21.

Frye, CA, Patrick, CW, Jr. (2002) Isolation and culture of rat microvascular endothelial cells. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim* **38**(4): 208-212.

Futaki, N, Takahashi, S, Yokoyama, M, Arai, I, Higuchi, S, Otomo, S (1994) NS-398, a new anti-inflammatory agent, selectively inhibits prostaglandin G/H synthase/cyclooxygenase (COX-2) activity in vitro. *Prostaglandins* **47**(1): 55-59.

Gamadia, LE, Remmerswaal, EB, Weel, JF, Bemelman, F, van Lier, RA, Ten Berge, IJ (2003) Primary immune responses to human CMV: a critical role for IFN-gamma-producing CD4+ T cells in protection against CMV disease. *Blood* **101**(7): 2686-2692.

Garovic, VD (2000) Hypertension in pregnancy: diagnosis and treatment. *Mayo Clin Proc* **75**(10): 1071-1076.

Garvey, EP, Oplinger, JA, Furfine, ES, Kiff, RJ, Laszlo, F, Whittle, BJ, Knowles, RG (1997) 1400W is a slow, tight binding, and highly selective inhibitor of inducible nitric-oxide synthase in vitro and in vivo. *J Biol Chem* **272**(8): 4959-4963.

Geist, LJ, Monick, MM, Stinski, MF, Hunninghake, GW (1994) The immediate early genes of human cytomegalovirus upregulate tumor necrosis factor-alpha gene expression. *J Clin Invest* **93**(2): 474-478.

Gombos, RB, Hemmings, DG (2010) Differential effects on nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in mesenteric and uterine arteries from cytomegalovirus-infected mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **299**(4): H1124-1134.

Gombos, RB, Wolan, V, McDonald, K, Hemmings, DG (2009) Impaired vascular function in mice with an active cytomegalovirus infection. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **296**(4): H937-945.

Grahame-Clarke, C (2005) Human cytomegalovirus, endothelial function and atherosclerosis. *Herpes* 12(2): 42-45.

Grahame-Clarke, C, Chan, NN, Andrew, D, Ridgway, GL, Betteridge, DJ, Emery, V, Colhoun, HM, Vallance, P (2003) Human cytomegalovirus seropositivity is associated with impaired vascular function. *Circulation* **108**(6): 678-683.

Gresele, P, Deckmyn, H, Nenci, GG, Vermylen, J (1991) Thromboxane synthase inhibitors, thromboxane receptor antagonists and dual blockers in thrombotic disorders. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* **12**(4): 158-163.

Hagay, ZJ, Biran, G, Ornoy, A, Reece, EA (1996) Congenital cytomegalovirus infection: a long-standing problem still seeking a solution. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **174**(1 Pt 1): 241-245.

Harris, LW, Wayland, M, Lan, M, Ryan, M, Giger, T, Lockstone, H, Wuethrich, I, Mimmack, M, Wang, L, Kotter, M, Craddock, R, Bahn, S (2008) The cerebral microvasculature in schizophrenia: a laser capture microdissection study. *PLoS One* **3**(12): e3964.

Hartley, CJ, Reddy, AK, Madala, S, Entman, ML, Michael, LH, Taffet, GE (2011) Doppler velocity measurements from large and small arteries of mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **301**(2): H269-278.

Henrion, D, Amant, C, Benessiano, J, Philip, I, Plantefeve, G, Chatel, D, Hwas, U, Desmont, JM, Durand, G, Amouyel, P, Levy, BI (1998) Angiotensin II type 1 receptor gene polymorphism is associated with an increased vascular reactivity in the human mammary artery in vitro. *J Vasc Res* **35**(5): 356-362.

Hudson, NK, O'Hara, M, Lacey, HA, Corcoran, J, Hemmings, DG, Wareing, M, Baker, P, Taggart, MJ (2007) Modulation of human arterial tone during pregnancy: the effect of the bioactive metabolite sphingosine-1-phosphate. *Biol Reprod* **77**(1): 45-52.

Hwang, TL, Wu, CC, Teng, CM (1998) Comparison of two soluble guanylyl cyclase inhibitors, methylene blue and ODQ, on sodium nitroprusside-induced relaxation in guinea-pig trachea. *Br J Pharmacol* **125**(6): 1158-1163.

Inacio, C, Hillaire, S, Valla, D, Denninger, M, Casadevall, N, Erlinger, S (1997) Case report: Cytomegalovirus infection as a cause of acute portal vein thrombosis. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol* **12**(4): 287-288.

Jongsma, M, Hendriks-Balk, MC, Michel, MC, Peters, SL, Alewijnse, AE (2006) BML-241 fails to display selective antagonism at the sphingosine-1-phosphate receptor, S1P(3). *Br J Pharmacol* **149**(3): 277-282.

Kenny, LC, Baker, PN, Kendall, DA, Randall, MD, Dunn, WR (2002) Differential mechanisms of endothelium-dependent vasodilator responses in human myometrial small arteries in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. *Clin Sci* (*Lond*) **103**(1): 67-73.

Kono, M, Mi, Y, Liu, Y, Sasaki, T, Allende, ML, Wu, YP, Yamashita, T, Proia, RL (2004) The sphingosine-1-phosphate receptors S1P1, S1P2, and S1P3 function coordinately during embryonic angiogenesis. *J Biol Chem* **279**(28): 29367-29373.

Kurtz, TW, Griffin, KA, Bidani, AK, Davisson, RL, Hall, JE (2005) Recommendations for blood pressure measurement in humans and experimental animals. Part 2: Blood pressure measurement in experimental animals: a statement for professionals from the subcommittee of professional and public education of the American Heart Association council on high blood pressure research. *Hypertension* **45**(2): 299-310.

Landino, LM, Crews, BC, Timmons, MD, Morrow, JD, Marnett, LJ (1996) Peroxynitrite, the coupling product of nitric oxide and superoxide, activates prostaglandin biosynthesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(26): 15069-15074.

Landmesser, U, Dikalov, S, Price, SR, McCann, L, Fukai, T, Holland, SM, Mitch, WE, Harrison, DG (2003) Oxidation of tetrahydrobiopterin leads to uncoupling of endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase in hypertension. *J Clin Invest* **111**(8): 1201-1209.

Laneuville, O, Breuer, DK, Dewitt, DL, Hla, T, Funk, CD, Smith, WL (1994) Differential inhibition of human prostaglandin endoperoxide H synthases-1 and -2 by nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther* **271**(2): 927-934.

Lazzarotto, T, Varani, S, Guerra, B, Nicolosi, A, Lanari, M, Landini, MP (2000) Prenatal indicators of congenital cytomegalovirus infection. *J Pediatr* **137**(1): 90-95.

Lopper, M, Compton, T (2002) Disulfide bond configuration of human cytomegalovirus glycoprotein B. *J Virol* **76**(12): 6073-6082.

Miller, FJ, Jr., Gutterman, DD, Rios, CD, Heistad, DD, Davidson, BL (1998) Superoxide production in vascular smooth muscle contributes to oxidative stress and impaired relaxation in atherosclerosis. *Circ Res* **82**(12): 1298-1305.

Moncada, S, Higgs, A, Furchgott, R (1997) International Union of Pharmacology Nomenclature in Nitric Oxide Research. *Pharmacol Rev* **49**(2): 137-142.

Moore, PK, Bland-Ward, PA (1996) 7-nitroindazole: an inhibitor of nitric oxide synthase. *Methods Enzymol* **268**: 393-398.

Morton, JS, Rueda-Clausen, CF, Davidge, ST (2010) Mechanisms of endothelium-dependent vasodilation in male and female, young and aged offspring born growth restricted. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* **298**(4): R930-938.

Moss, SC, Bates, M, Parrino, PE, Woods, TC (2007) Isolation of endothelial cells and vascular smooth muscle cells from internal mammary artery tissue. *Ochsner J* **7**(3): 133-136.

Munro, SC, Hall, B, Whybin, LR, Leader, L, Robertson, P, Maine, GT, Rawlinson, WD (2005) Diagnosis of and screening for cytomegalovirus infection in pregnant women. *J Clin Microbiol* **43**(9): 4713-4718.

Nakazawa, M, Iizuka, K, Ujiie, A, Hiraku, S, Ohki, S (1994) [Research and development of ozagrel, a highly selective inhibitor of TXA2 synthase]. *Yakugaku Zasshi* **114**(12): 911-933.

Naslund, J, Pettersson, J, Lundeberg, T, Linnarsson, D, Lindberg, LG (2006) Non-invasive continuous estimation of blood flow changes in human patellar bone. *Med Biol Eng Comput* **44**(6): 501-509.

Norais, N, Tang, D, Kaur, S, Chamberlain, SH, Masiarz, FR, Burke, RL, Marcus, F (1996) Disulfide bonds of herpes simplex virus type 2 glycoprotein gB. *J Virol* **70**(11): 7379-7387.

Norwitz, ER, Schust, DJ, Fisher, SJ (2001) Implantation and the survival of early pregnancy. *N Engl J Med* **345**(19): 1400-1408.

Pass, RF (2009) Development and evidence for efficacy of CMV glycoprotein B vaccine with MF59 adjuvant. *J Clin Virol* **46 Suppl 4:** S73-76.

Pass, RF, Burke, RL (2002) Development of cytomegalovirus vaccines: prospects for prevention of congenital CMV infection. *Semin Pediatr Infect Dis* **13**(3): 196-204.

Pass, RF, Zhang, C, Evans, A, Simpson, T, Andrews, W, Huang, ML, Corey, L, Hill, J, Davis, E, Flanigan, C, Cloud, G (2009) Vaccine prevention of maternal cytomegalovirus infection. *N Engl J Med* **360**(12): 1191-1199.

Petrakopoulou, P, Kubrich, M, Pehlivanli, S, Meiser, B, Reichart, B, von Scheidt, W, Weis, M (2004) Cytomegalovirus infection in heart transplant recipients is associated with impaired endothelial function. *Circulation* **110**(11 Suppl 1): II207-212.

Pickering, TG, Hall, JE, Appel, LJ, Falkner, BE, Graves, J, Hill, MN, Jones, DW, Kurtz, T, Sheps, SG, Roccella, EJ (2005) Recommendations for blood pressure measurement in humans and experimental animals: Part 1: blood pressure measurement in humans: a statement for professionals from the Subcommittee of Professional and Public Education of the American Heart Association Council on High Blood Pressure Research. *Hypertension* **45**(1): 142-161.

Revello, MG, Gerna, G (2002) Diagnosis and management of human cytomegalovirus infection in the mother, fetus, and newborn infant. *Clin Microbiol Rev* **15**(4): 680-715.

Rickard, NS, Gibbs, ME, Ng, KT (1999) Inhibition of the endothelial isoform of nitric oxide synthase impairs long-term memory formation in the chick. *Learn Mem* 6(5): 458-466.

Roggensack, AM, Zhang, Y, Davidge, ST (1999) Evidence for peroxynitrite formation in the vasculature of women with preeclampsia. *Hypertension* **33**(1): 83-89.

Roychowdhury, S, Luthe, A, Keilhoff, G, Wolf, G, Horn, TF (2002) Oxidative stress in glial cultures: detection by DAF-2 fluorescence used as a tool to measure peroxynitrite rather than nitric oxide. *Glia* **38**(2): 103-114.

Scheglovitova, ON, Romanov, YA, Maksianina, EV, Kabaeva, NV, Pronin, AG (2001) Herpes Simplex Type I Virus Infection of Cultured Human Vascular Endothelial Cells: Expression of Cell Adhesion Molecules and Induction of Interferon and Cytokine Production by Blood Mononuclear Cells. *Russ J Immunol* **6**(4): 367-376.

Shirali, GS, Ni, J, Chinnock, RE, Johnston, JK, Rosenthal, GL, Bowles, NE, Towbin, JA (2001) Association of viral genome with graft loss in children after cardiac transplantation. *N Engl J Med* **344**(20): 1498-1503.

Smith, WL, Meade, EA, DeWitt, DL (1994) Interactions of PGH synthase isozymes-1 and -2 with NSAIDs. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* **744**: 50-57.

Spector, SA, McKinley, GF, Lalezari, JP, Samo, T, Andruczk, R, Follansbee, S, Sparti, PD, Havlir, DV, Simpson, G, Buhles, W, Wong, R, Stempien, M (1996) Oral ganciclovir for the prevention of cytomegalovirus disease in persons with AIDS. Roche Cooperative Oral Ganciclovir Study Group. *N Engl J Med* **334**(23): 1491-1497.

Speir, E, Shibutani, T, Yu, ZX, Ferrans, V, Epstein, SE (1996) Role of reactive oxygen intermediates in cytomegalovirus gene expression and in the response of human smooth muscle cells to viral infection. *Circ Res* **79**(6): 1143-1152.

Speir, E, Yu, ZX, Ferrans, VJ, Huang, ES, Epstein, SE (1998) Aspirin attenuates cytomegalovirus infectivity and gene expression mediated by cyclooxygenase-2 in coronary artery smooth muscle cells. *Circ Res* **83**(2): 210-216.

Sprague, AH, Khalil, RA (2009) Inflammatory cytokines in vascular dysfunction and vascular disease. *Biochem Pharmacol* **78**(6): 539-552.

Szabo, C (1996) The pathophysiological role of peroxynitrite in shock, inflammation, and ischemia-reperfusion injury. *Shock* 6(2): 79-88.

Tesauro, M, Schinzari, F, Rovella, V, Melina, D, Mores, N, Barini, A, Mettimano, M, Lauro, D, Iantorno, M, Quon, MJ, Cardillo, C (2008) Tumor necrosis factoralpha antagonism improves vasodilation during hyperinsulinemia in metabolic syndrome. *Diabetes Care* **31**(7): 1439-1441.

Valantine, HA (2004) The role of viruses in cardiac allograft vasculopathy. *Am J Transplant* **4**(2): 169-177.

Vedernikov, YP, Saade, GR, Zlatnik, M, Martin, E, Garfield, RE, Hankins, GD (1999) The effect of amniotic fluid on the human omental artery in vitro. *Am J Obstet Gynecol* **180**(2 Pt 1): 454-456.

Vezza, R, Mezzasoma, AM, Venditti, G, Gresele, P (2002) Prostaglandin endoperoxides and thromboxane A2 activate the same receptor isoforms in human platelets. *Thromb Haemost* **87**(1): 114-121.

Virdis, A, Colucci, R, Fornai, M, Duranti, E, Giannarelli, C, Bernardini, N, Segnani, C, Ippolito, C, Antonioli, L, Blandizzi, C, Taddei, S, Salvetti, A, Del Tacca, M (2007) Cyclooxygenase-1 is involved in endothelial dysfunction of mesenteric small arteries from angiotensin II-infused mice. *Hypertension* **49**(3): 679-686.

Visser, MR, Tracy, PB, Vercellotti, GM, Goodman, JL, White, JG, Jacob, HS (1988) Enhanced thrombin generation and platelet binding on herpes simplex virus-infected endothelium. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **85**(21): 8227-8230.

Wang, P, Zweier, JL (1996) Measurement of nitric oxide and peroxynitrite generation in the postischemic heart. Evidence for peroxynitrite-mediated reperfusion injury. *J Biol Chem* **271**(46): 29223-29230.

Yan, G, Chen, S, You, B, Sun, J (2008) Activation of sphingosine kinase-1 mediates induction of endothelial cell proliferation and angiogenesis by epoxyeicosatrienoic acids. *Cardiovasc Res* **78**(2): 308-314.

Yinon, Y, Farine, D, Yudin, MH, Gagnon, R, Hudon, L, Basso, M, Bos, H, Delisle, MF, Menticoglou, S, Mundle, W, Ouellet, A, Pressey, T, Roggensack, A, Boucher, M, Castillo, E, Gruslin, A, Money, DM, Murphy, K, Ogilvie, G, Paquet, C, Van Eyk, N, van Schalkwyk, J (2010) Cytomegalovirus infection in pregnancy. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can* **32**(4): 348-354.

Zou, M, Martin, C, Ullrich, V (1997) Tyrosine nitration as a mechanism of selective inactivation of prostacyclin synthase by peroxynitrite. *Biol Chem* **378**(7): 707-713.

Zou, MH, Leist, M, Ullrich, V (1999) Selective nitration of prostacyclin synthase and defective vasorelaxation in atherosclerotic bovine coronary arteries. *Am J Pathol* **154**(5): 1359-1365.

## **Appendix A**

## Role of NF-κB in Cholinergic Vasodilation in Uterine Arteries from Cytomegalovirus-infected Mice

## **A1.1 INTRODUCTION**

NF-κB is a transcription factor that is stimulated upon gB attachment to the cell (Compton *et al.*, 2003). Previously, I observed an increase in sensitivity to infused intraluminal ME in gB- and infectious mCMV-treated uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice and a further increase in arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice. However, in uninfected LP mice, sensitivity to ME is similar in gBtreated and untreated uterine arteries. In contrast, ME-induced vasodilation is significantly decreased in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice (Chapter 6). It is unknown if NF-κB plays a role in vascular responses in gB-treated or untreated uterine arteries from uninfected NP and LP mice or in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice. I show that blocking NF-κB translocation decreases vasodilation to infused ME in uterine arteries from all NP and LP groups except uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice (remains unchanged). However, it remains unknown how NF-κB translocation affects the cholinergic pathway.

## **A1.2 MATERIAL AND METHODS**

## A1.2.1 Intraluminal pressure myograph experimental design

The same infusion technique was used as described in Chapter 2 (section 2.5.1). To determine the role of NF- $\kappa$ B activation in vasodilation to infused ME, some uterine arteries pre-treated or untreated with gB from uninfected NP and LP mice and some uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice were incubated in the bath with the cell-permeable, selective NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitor JSH-23 (20 $\mu$ M; EMD Biosciences) for 30 minutes (Ogawa *et al.*, 2008; Sandberg *et al.*,

2009). It has been clearly demonstrated previously that JSH-23 (IC<sub>50</sub>: 7.1 $\mu$ M) inhibits the nuclear translocation and thus transcriptional activity of NF- $\kappa$ B without affecting degradation of I $\kappa$ B, the endogenous NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitor (Shin *et al.*, 2004). The percent dilation was calculated as L2-L1/L1 x 100; where L1 is the initial lumen diameter after flow into the PSS with or without gB pre-treatment and L2 is the lumen diameter after ME infusion. The percent dilation was then normalized to the passive lumen diameter as described in section 2.2.3.

## A1.2.2 Statistics

As described in section 2.4.2, intraluminal pressure myograph results with ME  $\pm$  JSH-23 were averaged and compared between groups (mCMV-infected and uninfected  $\pm$  gB) using a one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's *post-hoc* analysis to determine significance (p<0.05).

## A1.3 RESULTS

### A1.3.1 Vasodilation to infused ME and the role of NF-kB in uterine arteries

Increased ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMVinfected NP mice and gB-treated uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice was blocked by pre-treatment with the NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitor JSH-23 (Figure A1.1A). JSH-23 inhibits nuclear translocation of NF- $\kappa$ B without affecting degradation of I $\kappa$ B, the endogenous NF- $\kappa$ B inhibitor (Shin *et al.*, 2004). In contrast, reduced MEinduced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected LP mice was not changed in the presence of JSH-23; however, vasodilation in gB-treated and untreated uterine arteries from uninfected LP mice was partially reduced by JSH-23 (Figure A1.1B).

## A1.4 SUMMARY OF RESULTS

A1.4.1 Blocking NF- $\kappa$ B translocation inhibited increased ME-induced vasodilation in gB-treated uterine arteries from uninfected NP mice and in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice (Figure A1.1A).

A1.4.2 Blocking NF- $\kappa$ B translocation also decreased ME-induced vasodilation in gB-treated and untreated uterine arteries from uninfected LP mice (Figure A1.1B).



Figure A1.1: Vasodilation of uterine arteries induced by infusion of ME (1 $\mu$ M) or ME (1 $\mu$ M) with JSH-23 (20 $\mu$ M). Arteries were isolated from uninfected NP (A) and LP (B) mice and treated with or without 1 $\mu$ g/mL gB for 30 minutes to 1 hour or were isolated from mCMV-infected NP and LP mice. ME data were taken from the curves in Figure 6.3. Data were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  SEM percent increase in arterial lumen diameter compared to the passive lumen diameter in the presence of Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free medium and papaverine. A significant difference between the bars in each pre-treatment group was determined by one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni's post-hoc analysis and symbolized with an a or b (p<0.05). n=4-9 animals.

### A1.5 DISCUSSION

NF- $\kappa$ B, a transcription factor that promotes the expression of several proinflammatory and some anti-inflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , interleukin-2, interleukin-10, and the CMV immediate early genes (Cao et al., 2006; Cookson et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2004; McCracken et al., 2004; Prosch et al., 1995), is activated upon attachment of CMV to toll-like receptors on the cell surface (Compton et al., 2003; Fortunato et al., 2000; Murayama et al., 1997). In addition, NF- $\kappa$ B translocation occurs following activation of the cholinergic muscarinic 3 (M<sub>3</sub>) receptor (Choi et al., 2006; Guizzetti et al., 2003). In uterine arteries, M<sub>3</sub> is the primary cholinergic receptor responsible for vasodilation (Jovanovic et al., 1994; Pesic et al., 2009). My results demonstrate that an increase in ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries from mCMV-infected NP mice is blocked by inhibiting NF-KB translocation. I also showed that the increased ME sensitivity seen with gB pre-treatment of uterine arteries from uninfected mice is blocked by inhibiting NF-kB translocation. It has recently been illustrated that NF- $\kappa$ B is necessary for the expression of the M<sub>3</sub> in pancreatic islets (Paula et al., 2010) and a specific NF-kB DNA-binding site has been found on the human  $M_3$  gene (Forsythe *et al.*, 2002). However, the short time period (~1 hour) for the increased vasodilation I see following ME infusion argues against an NFκB-mediated increase in M<sub>3</sub> expression. Alternatively in the presence of a CMV infection and/or viral attachment, the cholinergic pathway (identified as a hostdefence mechanism in immune cells to prevent excessive inflammation), may signal through NF-KB in uterine endothelial cells and indirectly affect other intracellular mediators of vascular tone (Pavlov et al., 2006; Saeed et al., 2005; Tracey, 2002). For instance, Arias-Salvatierra et al. have shown that NF-KB activation following LPS treatment in neurons induces iNOS-mediated NO production (Arias-Salvatierra et al., 2011). This may also explain the increased uterine artery vasodilation seen in my study whereby a mCMV infection or gB pre-treatment in addition to ME addition may lead to NF-kB translocation and iNOS stimulation. Further studies must be performed to determine how NF- $\kappa$ B translocation inhibition affects other signalling molecules that mediate vascular responses.

Throughout pregnancy, it has been demonstrated that NF-kB expression, and the levels of the inflammatory mediators it promotes, are suppressed prior to term as a means of regulating the maternal immune system (Hadfield *et al.*, 2011; McCracken et al., 2004). As the uterus and myometrium prepare for labour at term, inflammation and contraction-associated proteins are significantly increased. In association, NF- $\kappa$ B activity and inflammatory gene expression are upregulated in the myometrium prior to the onset of labour at term (Choi et al., 2007; Khanjani et al., 2011). I observed that inhibition of NF-κB activity blocked the increased ME-induced vasodilation in gB-treated and untreated uterine arteries from LP uninfected mice, suggesting the increased vasodilation is dependent on NF-kB activity. Surprisingly, in the presence of an active mCMV infection during late pregnancy, ME-induced vasodilation was significantly reduced in the uterine artery and no longer affected by blocking NF- $\kappa$ B. This suggests that unlike NP mice, LP mCMV-infected mice are unable to increase cholinergic vasodilation during gestation. Consequently, an active maternal mCMV infection may cause uterine-specific vascular complications during pregnancy that may contribute to IUGR (Lang *et al.*, 2003).

### **A1.6 REFERENCES**

Arias-Salvatierra, D, Silbergeld, EK, Acosta-Saavedra, LC, Calderon-Aranda, ES (2011) Role of nitric oxide produced by iNOS through NF-kappaB pathway in migration of cerebellar granule neurons induced by Lipopolysaccharide. *Cell Signal* **23**(2): 425-435.

Cao, S, Zhang, X, Edwards, JP, Mosser, DM (2006) NF-kappaB1 (p50) homodimers differentially regulate pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines in macrophages. *J Biol Chem* **281**(36): 26041-26050.

Choi, S, Kim, JH, Roh, EJ, Ko, MJ, Jung, JE, Kim, HJ (2006) Nuclear factorkappaB activated by capacitative Ca2+ entry enhances muscarinic receptormediated soluble amyloid precursor protein (sAPPalpha) release in SH-SY5Y cells. *J Biol Chem* **281**(18): 12722-12728.

Choi, SJ, Oh, S, Kim, JH, Roh, CR (2007) Changes of nuclear factor kappa B (NF-kappaB), cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) and matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) in human myometrium before and during term labor. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* **132**(2): 182-188.

Compton, T, Kurt-Jones, EA, Boehme, KW, Belko, J, Latz, E, Golenbock, DT, Finberg, RW (2003) Human cytomegalovirus activates inflammatory cytokine responses via CD14 and Toll-like receptor 2. *J Virol* **77**(8): 4588-4596.

Cookson, VJ, Chapman, NR (2010) NF-kappaB function in the human myometrium during pregnancy and parturition. *Histol Histopathol* **25**(7): 945-956.

Forsythe, SM, Kogut, PC, McConville, JF, Fu, Y, McCauley, JA, Halayko, AJ, Liu, HW, Kao, A, Fernandes, DJ, Bellam, S, Fuchs, E, Sinha, S, Bell, GI, Camoretti-Mercado, B, Solway, J (2002) Structure and transcription of the human m3 muscarinic receptor gene. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* **26**(3): 298-305.

Fortunato, EA, McElroy, AK, Sanchez, I, Spector, DH (2000) Exploitation of cellular signaling and regulatory pathways by human cytomegalovirus. *Trends Microbiol* **8**(3): 111-119.

Guizzetti, M, Bordi, F, Dieguez-Acuna, FJ, Vitalone, A, Madia, F, Woods, JS, Costa, LG (2003) Nuclear factor kappaB activation by muscarinic receptors in astroglial cells: effect of ethanol. *Neuroscience* **120**(4): 941-950.

Hadfield, KA, McCracken, SA, Ashton, AW, Nguyen, TG, Morris, JM (2011) Regulated suppression of NF-kappaB throughout pregnancy maintains a favourable cytokine environment necessary for pregnancy success. *J Reprod Immunol* **89**(1): 1-9.

Jovanovic, A, Grbovic, L, Drekic, D, Novakovic, S (1994) Muscarinic receptor function in the guinea-pig uterine artery is not altered during pregnancy. *Eur J Pharmacol* **258**(3): 185-194.

Khanjani, S, Kandola, MK, Lindstrom, TM, Sooranna, SR, Melchionda, M, Lee, YS, Terzidou, V, Johnson, MR, Bennett, PR (2011) NF-kappaB regulates a cassette of immune/inflammatory genes in human pregnant myometrium at term. *J Cell Mol Med* **15**(4): 809-824.

Lang, U, Baker, RS, Braems, G, Zygmunt, M, Kunzel, W, Clark, KE (2003) Uterine blood flow--a determinant of fetal growth. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* **110 Suppl 1:** S55-61.

Lee, Y, Sohn, WJ, Kim, DS, Kwon, HJ (2004) NF-kappaB- and c-Jun-dependent regulation of human cytomegalovirus immediate-early gene enhancer/promoter in response to lipopolysaccharide and bacterial CpG-oligodeoxynucleotides in macrophage cell line RAW 264.7. *Eur J Biochem* **271**(6): 1094-1105.

McCracken, SA, Gallery, E, Morris, JM (2004) Pregnancy-specific downregulation of NF-kappa B expression in T cells in humans is essential for the maintenance of the cytokine profile required for pregnancy success. *J Immunol* **172**(7): 4583-4591.

Murayama, T, Ohara, Y, Obuchi, M, Khabar, KS, Higashi, H, Mukaida, N, Matsushima, K (1997) Human cytomegalovirus induces interleukin-8 production by a human monocytic cell line, THP-1, through acting concurrently on AP-1and NF-kappaB-binding sites of the interleukin-8 gene. *J Virol* **71**(7): 5692-5695.

Ogawa, A, Firth, AL, Yao, W, Rubin, LJ, Yuan, JX (2008) Prednisolone inhibits PDGF-induced nuclear translocation of NF-kappaB in human pulmonary artery smooth muscle cells. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* **295**(4): L648-657.

Paula, FM, Barbosa, HC, Carneiro, EM, Persaud, SJ, Gagliardino, JJ, Boschero, AC, Souza, KL (2010) Requirement of NF-kappaB signalling pathway for modulation of the cholinergic muscarinic M3 receptor expression by INGAP-PP in insulin-producing cells. *Eur J Pharmacol* **642**(1-3): 37-46.

Pavlov, VA, Tracey, KJ (2006) Controlling inflammation: the cholinergic antiinflammatory pathway. *Biochem Soc Trans* **34**(Pt 6): 1037-1040.

Pesic, S, Grbovic, L, Stoiljkovic, M, Nikolic, V, Djokic, J (2009) Functional characterization of the muscarinic receptors involved in endothelium-dependent relaxation in isolated canine uterine artery. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther* **32**(2): 109-115.

Prosch, S, Staak, K, Stein, J, Liebenthal, C, Stamminger, T, Volk, HD, Kruger, DH (1995) Stimulation of the human cytomegalovirus IE enhancer/promoter in HL-60 cells by TNFalpha is mediated via induction of NF-kappaB. *Virology* **208**(1): 197-206.

Saeed, RW, Varma, S, Peng-Nemeroff, T, Sherry, B, Balakhaneh, D, Huston, J, Tracey, KJ, Al-Abed, Y, Metz, CN (2005) Cholinergic stimulation blocks endothelial cell activation and leukocyte recruitment during inflammation. *J Exp Med* **201**(7): 1113-1123.

Sandberg, WJ, Halvorsen, B, Yndestad, A, Smith, C, Otterdal, K, Brosstad, FR, Froland, SS, Olofsson, PS, Damas, JK, Gullestad, L, Hansson, GK, Oie, E, Aukrust, P (2009) Inflammatory interaction between LIGHT and proteinase-activated receptor-2 in endothelial cells: potential role in atherogenesis. *Circ Res* **104**(1): 60-68.

Shin, HM, Kim, MH, Kim, BH, Jung, SH, Kim, YS, Park, HJ, Hong, JT, Min, KR, Kim, Y (2004) Inhibitory action of novel aromatic diamine compound on lipopolysaccharide-induced nuclear translocation of NF-kappaB without affecting IkappaB degradation. *FEBS Lett* **571**(1-3): 50-54.

Tracey, KJ (2002) The inflammatory reflex. *Nature* **420**(6917): 853-859.

## **Appendix B**

## Placental Structural Differences in Cytomegalovirus-infected Compared to Uninfected Late Pregnant Mice

## **B2.1 INTRODUCTION**

To determine if there are any obvious structural differences in placentas taken from mCMV-infected compared to uninfected LP C57Bl/6J mice, frozen placentas are stained with hematoxylin and eosin. I do not see any obvious structural or pathological differences; however, these results are preliminary and further studies must be performed to confirm these findings.

### **B2.2 MATERIAL AND METHODS**

### **B2.2.1 Placenta structure**

Cross-sections of fixed, frozen placentas taken from CMV-infected and uninfected D18.5 pregnant mice were sliced on a cryostat and mounted onto microscope slides as described in Chapter 2 (section 2.2.1). Slides were fixed in 10% formalin for 10 minutes in the fume hood. Slides were then placed in Gill-3 hematoxylin (Sigma-Aldrich) for 2 minutes, rinsed with double-distilled (dd)H<sub>2</sub>O and washed in warm tap water for 3-5 minutes. Slides were then placed in 1% Eosin Alcohol (Sigma-Aldrich) for 5 minutes and washed in ddH<sub>2</sub>O. Slides were dipped 20 times each in 70% EtOH, 95% EtOH, 100% EtOH followed by 3 times in Xylene. Permount (Sigma-Aldrich) was used to mount the cover slip. Slides were sealed with a clear nail polish. Qualitative observations of the placenta structure and general physiology were performed using the light microscope.

## **B2.3 RESULTS**

# **B2.3.1** Placenta structural/pathological differences from mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J mice

Using hematoxylin and eosin to stain for DNA and protein, respectively, I observed no obvious structural or pathological differences in mouse placenta cross-sections. There were more arteries in the placenta cross-sections from mCMV-infected mice (Figure B2.1); however, differences in vascularization can only be concluded after full placenta casts and appropriate analyses have been performed (Whiteley *et al.*, 2006).

## **B2.4 SUMMARY OF RESULTS**

**B2.4.1** There were no obvious structural or pathological differences in placentas from mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J mice (Figure B2.1).

## A Uninfected

## **B**mCMV-infected



magnification

Figure B2.1: Hematoxylin and eosin staining of placental sections from mCMV-infected and uninfected C57Bl/6J mice. Red staining is protein and blue staining is DNA. No differences in physiology or structure. These images are representative of different sections taken from 3 mice in each group (n=3).

## **B2.5 REFERENCES**

Whiteley, KJ, Pfarrer, CD, Adamson, SL (2006) Vascular corrosion casting of the uteroplacental and fetoplacental vasculature in mice. *Methods Mol Med* **121:** 371-392.

## **Appendix C**

## Vascular Dysfunction in Young, Mid-aged and Aged Mice with Latent Cytomegalovirus Infections

(The majority of data presented in this appendix will be submitted for publication in December 2011 in an article entitled "Vascular Dysfunction in Young, Midaged and Aged Mice with Latent Cytomegalovirus Infections," by R.B. Gombos, J. Brown, J. Teefy, R.L. Gibeault, K.L. Conn, L.M. Schang, D.G. Hemmings. The majority of results in each of the figures I performed.)

## **C3.1 INTRODUCTION**

Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) is a member of the  $\beta$ -Herpesviridae family (Roizmann *et al.*, 1992). In the human population, it infects 40 to 80 percent of individuals (Demmler, 1991). Although in the general population it is thought to be mostly asymptomatic, infection has been associated with tumorigenesis, latent rejection following transplants, vascular diseases such as atherosclerosis and restenosis, and increased mortality (Cobbs *et al.*, 2002; Hirabayashi *et al.*, 2003; Kalil *et al.*, 2009; Maussang *et al.*, 2006; Melnychuk *et al.*, 2005). The mechanisms by which HCMV infections result in vasculopathy are still unclear.

The prevalence of systemic cardiovascular diseases increases dramatically with age, particularly after age 50 (2007; Chow *et al.*, 2005; Mittelmark *et al.*, 1993). Increased vascular tone, endothelial dysfunction, and hypertension occur with age (Cooper *et al.*, 1994). Moreover, vasodilation is decreased and vasoconstriction is increased. NO production, bioavailability and smooth muscle sensitivity to it typically decrease whereas PGHS-1/2 expression and production of vasoconstrictor prostanoids is increased with age (Karaki *et al.*, 1985; Matz *et al.*, 2000; Smith *et al.*, 2006a; Smith *et al.*, 2006b; Soucy *et al.*, 2006). Infertility also greatly increases as women age, where between 30 to 45 years of age the

fertility rate drops by greater than 30% (Heffner, 2004). Potential causes of reduced fertility prior to menopause include chromosomal abnormalities, hormonal imbalances, uterine and ovarian malformations and hypertensive complications; all of which increase with age (Heffner, 2004; Roupa Z, 2009). Hypertensive complications, such as increased vascular resistance (Greene *et al.*, 1989) and decreased endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Cardillo *et al.*, 1998) may be increased in HCMV-infected individuals (Grahame-Clarke, 2005).

Like other herpesviruses, CMV is never cleared from the host following primary infection. It rather maintains a lifelong infection through cycles of latency (dormancy) and reactivation (Presti et al., 1998). Latency is defined as the presence of viral DNA in the absence of infectious, replicating virus (Presti et al., 1998). Reactivation of a CMV infection, and thus production of infectious, replicating virus, occurs in different tissues in response to various stimuli including stress, drug treatments and pregnancy (Cheung et al., 2007; Prosch et al., 2000; Tanaka et al., 1983). The number of reactivation cycles an individual undergoes in a lifetime is difficult to estimate because of the many stimuli that likely contribute to viral reactivation. Viral replication and the subsequent immune responses are likely necessary for the acceleration and/or establishment of vasculopathy (Lemstrom et al., 1997; Tu et al., 2006) and atherosclerosis (Grahame-Clarke, 2005). Previously, I have shown that an active mCMV infection impairs both mesenteric and uterine artery responses in both young NP and LP mice (Gombos et al., 2009). What is not yet known is whether these vascular changes are maintained once the active infection becomes latent.

During a lifelong CMV infection, periods of latency where infectious virus is undetectable are intermittent with periods of activation (Presti *et al.*, 1998). Whether or not vascular dysfunction persists when infectious virus is undetectable is unknown. To evaluate this, I measured vasoconstriction and vasodilation responses in mesenteric and uterine arteries isolated from uninfected young, midaged and aged female mice compared to age-matched mice with a latent mCMV infection where infectious virus was undetectable but mCMV DNA was present. My objectives were to investigate the effect of a latent CMV infection on vascular function and fertility with age. I therefore hypothesize that mesenteric and uterine arteries from uninfected aged mice will have a greater reduction in NO-mediated vasodilation compared to arteries from uninfected young or mid-aged mice. I further hypothesize that the oldest animals infected with CMV at a young age will experience the greatest vascular dysfunction compared to age-matched controls and all other animal groups. In addition, uterine arteries from mid-aged but not young latent infected mice will show decreased vasodilation compared to agematched uninfected controls and this will be associated with increased infertility.

### **C3.2 MATERIAL AND METHODS**

#### C3.2.1 Animal model and tissue collection

C57B1/6J female mice purchased from Jackson Laboratories were housed in Health Sciences Laboratory Services at the University of Alberta. They were infected with mCMV containing a lacZ insertion in the nonessential immediate early 2 gene (RM427+; gift from E. Mocarski, Stanford University, Stanford, CA) (Stoddart et al., 1994). RM427+ was propagated in mouse fibroblasts as previously described (Gombos et al., 2009). An active mCMV infection was detected by staining for  $\beta$ -galactosidase protein, expressed from the lacZ insertion. Young female mice were injected with 10<sup>6</sup> plaque forming units of RM427+ intraperitoneally and euthanized via cervical dislocation within 1-2 weeks post infection (acute mCMV infection) or 2-3 months post infection (latent mCMV infection). Young infected and uninfected mice ranged from 4-6 months of age. Latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mid-aged mice (7-10 months of age) were euthanized 5-8 months post infection and latent mCMV-infected and uninfected aged mice (18-30 months of age) were euthanized 16-28 months post infection. Some latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mid-aged female mice were bred to young uninfected males. Tissues including the heart, kidney, liver, lungs, spleen, uterus and the mesentery were collected from each animal. A latent infection was defined as the presence of viral DNA in the lung, spleen, or kidney as assessed by PCR but the absence of detectable infectious mCMV as assessed by lack of detection of  $\beta$ -galactosidase protein established in each animal a minimum of two months after receiving 10<sup>6</sup> plaque forming units of mCMV intraperitoneally.

### C3.2.2 Immunofluorescence

The heart, kidney, liver, lungs and spleen were immediately embedded in OCT (Tissue-Tek) and snap frozen. Tissues in OCT were cryo-sectioned into 7µm slices, mounted onto slides, dried overnight, and stored at -80°C. Slides were thawed for 1-2 hours at RT, fixed in cold methanol for 10 minutes at -20°C, and washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) three times for 10 minutes each. Tissue sections on the slides were circled with a PAP pen and blocked with 10% normal goat serum (NGS; Cedarlane) for 1 hour. After blocking, chicken anti-βgalactosidase primary antibody (1µg/mL; AbCam, Massachusetts, USA) diluted in 10% NGS was added to two of the three sections on the slide, with the remaining section receiving only 10% NGS as the negative control. The slides were incubated at 4°C overnight. Following three 5-minute washes with PBS, Alexa Fluor-488 goat anti-chicken (4µg/mL) secondary antibody was added to each section and incubated for 45 minutes at room temperature. After three 10minute washes in PBS, 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI, 0.915mg/mL; Invitrogen) was added for 15 minutes at room temperature and washed again three times for 5 minutes each with PBS. Vectashield H:1000 (Vector Laboratories, Burlington, CA) was applied and the section was then sealed with a coverslip and stored in the dark at 4°C. Stained sections were viewed with an Olympus X81 fluorescent microscope (Olympus, Ontario, Canada) using Slidebook 2, 3D Timelapse Imaging Software to normalize the images (Intelligent Imaging Innovations Inc., Colorado, USA).

#### C3.2.3 Extraluminal pressure myograph experimental design

The second-order mesenteric and main uterine arteries were dissected free of adipose and connective tissue in PSS (10mM HEPES, 1.56mM CaCl<sub>2</sub>, 142mM NaCl, 4.7mM KCl, 1.18mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 1.17mM MgSO<sub>4</sub>, and 5.5mM glucose at pH 7.5) and immediately used in myograph studies using a dual chamber arteriograph (Living Systems Instrumentation, Burlington, VT). In each chamber, one end of an artery was mounted and tied onto a glass cannula (80-100µm diameter) connected to a pressure transducer to modulate intraluminal pressure, as previously described (Halpern et al., 1984; Hemmings et al., 2004). Residual blood was removed from the artery with a low flow (10µL/min) of PSS and the other end of the vessel was mounted and tied onto the second cannula. Pressure was maintained by closing off the valve after pressurizing to 60mmHg (mesenteric arteries) or 50mmHg (uterine arteries) for 30 minutes (Gros et al., 2002; Osol et al., 2008; Veerareddy et al., 2002). Arteries unable to maintain pressure were discarded and not included in the data sets. In this situation, new arteries from the same animal were mounted. Each 2.5mL PSS bath containing the vessel was kept at a constant temperature of 37°C.

Following equilibration, a CCD video camera module (Sony) connected to a compound microscope was used to measure the initial lumen diameter with a video dimension analyzer as previously described (Gombos *et al.*, 2010; Halpern *et al.*, 1984). Vasoconstriction in mesenteric and uterine arteries was assessed following increasing concentrations of the  $\alpha$ 1 adrenergic agonist PE (10nM to 10µM; Sigma). Vasodilation was assessed to increasing concentrations of ME (1nM to 10µM; Sigma) after 50% preconstriction to PE with or without pretreatment with the NOS inhibitor L-NAME (100µM; Calbiochem) and/or the PGHS-1/2 inhibitor meclo (1µM; Sigma). Endothelium-independent dilation was assessed by adding the NO donor, SNP (0.1nM to 100µM, Sigma) to preconstricted arteries. The percent constriction was calculated as 1-L2/L1 x 100; where L1 is the initial lumen diameter and L2 is the arterial lumen diameter following drug addition. The percent dilation was calculated as L2-L1/L1 x 100 which was normalized to the artery diameter when fully relaxed. This was attained by measuring the passive lumen diameter following a thorough washout with Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free EGTA PSS (10mM HEPES, 142mM NaCl, 4.7mM KCl, 1.18mM KH2PO4, 1.17mM MgSO4, 2mM EGTA) and a ten-minute incubation with 100 $\mu$ M of papaverine (Sigma). After incubation in Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free EGTA PSS, a distensibility curve was performed on arteries with step increases in pressure from 4mmHg to 170mmHg. The lumen diameter was unable to be read at 0mmHg (collapsed vessel) and therefore pressure readings began at 4mmHg as previously described (Gombos *et al.*, 2010). The percent dilation for distensibility was calculated as D2-D1/D2 x 100; where D1 is the initial diameter and D2 is the lumen diameter post-pressure change.

## C3.2.4 Statistics

Results collected were averaged by group (mCMV-infected, uninfected, mesentery and uterine) and treatment and reported as the mean and standard error. Values for the PE, ME and SNP dose-response curves were compared for arteries from mCMV-infected and uninfected mice with the Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA to determine significance between curves (p<0.05). This was followed by Holm-Sidak's post-hoc analysis to determine significance between points within the curves. The EC<sub>50</sub> was calculated for each set of sigmoidal-shaped curves for the uterine arteries. The EC<sub>50</sub> values for mesenteric arteries could not be calculated as these curves were not sigmoidal. EC<sub>50s</sub> were compared using a Student's t-test (p<0.001; p<0.05).

#### **C3.3 RESULTS**

# C3.3.1 Detection of a reporter of infectious mCMV, $\beta$ -galactosidase, in young, mid-aged, and aged mice

To evaluate the status of infection in active versus latent infected mice, I assessed  $\beta$ -galactosidase protein in the heart, kidney, liver, lung and spleen.

Detection of  $\beta$ -galactosidase produced from the LacZ gene insertion into the nonessential IE2 gene in the mCMV RM427+ virus represents the presence of active, replicating virus. In contrast, a latent infection was defined as undetectable  $\beta$ galactosidase protein expression in mCMV-infected mice. In the young, acute mCMV-infected mice,  $\beta$ -galactosidase was detected in all five tissues (active infection) (Figure C3.1A). In contrast, no tissues tested from the uninfected or mCMV-infected young mice 2 months post infection (latent infection) expressed  $\beta$ -galactosidase (Figure C3.1A). Similarly, tissues from mid-aged (Figure C3.1B) or aged (Figure C3.1C) uninfected or latent mCMV-infected mice did not express  $\beta$ -galactosidase.

# C3.3.2 Latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mid-aged pregnancy success rate

Latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mid-aged mice were bred. Seven of fifteen uninfected mid-aged mice (46.7%) but only three of eighteen latent mCMV-infected mid-aged mice (16.7%) were plugged and carried their pregnancies to term. This is low in comparison to young active mCMV-infected mice with 90.0% completed pregnancies after plugging (nine of ten) and the young uninfected mice with an 83.3% completed pregnancies after plugging (ten of twelve).

# C3.3.3 PE-induced vasoconstriction in arteries from young, mid-aged, and aged latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mice

Vasoconstriction to the  $\alpha$ 1-adrenergic agonist PE in mesenteric arteries significantly increased (p<0.05) in latent mCMV-infected young mice compared to uninfected mice (Figure C3.2A). No differences were seen in mesenteric arteries from latent infected mid-aged and aged mice compared to age-matched uninfected mice (Figure C3.2B,C). Similar to mesenteric arteries, PE-induced vasoconstriction of uterine arteries significantly increased (p<0.05) in latent mCMV-infected young mice compared to uninfected vasoconstriction of uterine arteries significantly increased (p<0.05) in latent mCMV-infected young mice compared to uninfected young mice C3.2D).

Overall, PE-induced vasoconstriction was significantly more sensitive (p<0.001) between curves in uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected mid-aged mice (EC<sub>50</sub>: 88.9±5.82nM) compared to uninfected mid-aged mice (EC<sub>50</sub>: 706±79.1nM) (Figure C3.2E). PE-induced vasoconstriction did not differ between uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected and uninfected aged mice (Figure C3.2F).

## **C3.3.4** Endothelium-dependent ME-induced vasodilation in arteries from young, mid-aged, and aged latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mice

Vasodilation curves significantly differed (p<0.01) in mesenteric arteries from young and aged mice; however, vasodilation at specific doses of the endothelium-dependent vasodilator ME in mesenteric arteries from latent mCMVinfected and uninfected mice significantly differed only in mid-aged and aged mice (Figure C3.3A-C). At the maximum ME concentration, vasodilation was significantly decreased (p<0.05) in mesenteric arteries from latent mCMVinfected compared to uninfected mid-aged mice. In contrast, maximal MEinduced vasodilation was significantly increased (p < 0.05) in mesenteric arteries from latent mCMV-infected compared to uninfected aged mice (Figure C3.3B,C). Only uterine arteries from young latent mCMV-infected (EC<sub>50</sub>: 74.0 $\pm$ 2.77nM) compared to young uninfected mice (EC<sub>50</sub>: 111±7.13nM) showed a significantly increased sensitivity to ME (p<0.001) (Figure C3.3D). Overall, ME-induced vasodilation was significantly more sensitive between curves in uterine arteries from young, mid-aged and aged mCMV-infected compared to uninfected mice (p<0.05) (Figure C3.3D,E,F); however, uterine arteries from latent mCMVinfected and uninfected mid-aged and aged mice did not differ at specific doses of ME (Figure C3.3E,F).

## C3.3.5 Contribution of NO and prostanoids to endothelium-dependent MEinduced vasodilation in arteries from young, mid-aged, and aged latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mice

To determine if the contribution of NO and prostanoids to ME-induced vasodilation is altered with age and latent mCMV infection, I measured the difference in vasodilation with and without NO and/or PGHS inhibitors between latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mice. There were no differences in NO contribution to ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from latent mCMV-infected compared to uninfected mice at any age (Figure C3.4A-C,G-I,M-O). In addition, PGHS inhibition did not alter ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries in any group (Figure C3.4D-F,J-L,P-R). Additionally, simultaneous inhibition of NOS and PGHS-1/2 did not alter ME-induced dilation differently than inhibition of NO alone in any group (data not shown). Similar results were found in uterine arteries (data not shown).

# C3.3.6 Endothelium-independent SNP-induced vasodilation in arteries from young, mid-aged, and aged latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mice

Mesenteric arteries from latent mCMV-infected young mice had significantly increased vasodilation to the NO donor SNP at only one physiologically relevant dose,  $0.5\mu$ M (p<0.05) compared to age-matched uninfected mice (Figure C3.5A). Mesenteric arteries from latent mCMV-infected mid-aged mice had significantly decreased SNP-induced vasodilation (p<0.05) compared to uninfected age-matched mice (Figure C3.5B). Mesenteric arteries from latent mCMV-infected and uninfected aged mice did not differ in response to SNP (Figure C3.5C). In contrast to mesenteric arteries, uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected young and mid-aged mice did not differ in response to SNP compared to age-matched uninfected mice (Figure C3.5D,E). In uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected aged mice, however, SNP-induced dilation was significantly decreased (p<0.05) compared to uninfected age-matched mice (Figure C3.5F).

# C3.3.7 Distensibility of arteries from young, mid-aged, and aged latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mice

Mesenteric arteries from young latent mCMV-infected had significantly decreased passive distensibility (p<0.05) compared to young uninfected mice (Figure C3.6A). Mesenteric arteries from mid-aged and aged latent mCMV-infected mice (Figure C3.6B,C) and uterine arteries from young, mid-aged and aged latent mCMV-infected mice showed no differences in passive distensibility compared to age-matched controls (Figure C3.6D-F).

## C3.3.8 Vascular responses in arteries from young, mid-aged, and aged uninfected mice independent of a mCMV infection

Mesenteric and uterine arteries from young, mid-aged and aged uninfected mice did not differ in response to PE-induced vasoconstriction (Figure C3.7A,D). Although mesenteric arteries also did not differ in response to ME (Figure C3.7B), uterine arteries from mid-aged uninfected mice ( $EC_{50}$ : 63.4±2.60nM) were significantly more sensitive (p<0.001) to ME than both young ( $EC_{50}$ : 110±7.13nM) and aged ( $EC_{50}$ : 153±16.6nM) uninfected mice (Figure C3.7E). Mesenteric arteries from mid-aged and aged uninfected mice had significantly increased endothelium-independent SNP-induced vasodilation (p<0.05) compared to young uninfected mice (Figure C3.7C). Uterine arteries from young, mid-aged and aged uninfected mice (3.7F). There were no differences in distensibility for either mesenteric or uterine arteries between any of these age groups (data not shown).



Figure C3.1: Immunofluorescence staining for  $\beta$ -galactosidase protein expression in tissues from mCMV-infected and uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice. Heart, kidney, liver, lung and spleen tissues from young (A), mid-aged (B), and aged (C) mice that were uninfected or infected at 1-2 months of age were collected 2 weeks post infection (acute infection; A) or >2 months post infection (latent infection; A (young), B (mid-aged), C (aged)). Tissues were stained for  $\beta$ -galactosidase protein expression (green) to test for an active infection. Nuclei were stained with 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI, blue). Insets represent negative controls.


Figure C3.2: Responses to PE by mesenteric and uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected and uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice. PE-induced vasoconstriction was measured in mesenteric (A,B,C) and uterine (D,E,F) arteries from latent mCMV-infected and age-matched uninfected young (A,D), mid-aged (B,E), and aged (C,F) mice. Results for each curve were summarized and expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM percent decrease in lumen diameter compared with the initial equilibrated diameter at each PE concentration. A significant difference between points on the curves was calculated using a Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA (p<0.05). This was followed by Holm-Sidak's post-hoc analysis to determine significance between points within the curves (p<0.05). \* = significant differences (p<0.05). n = number of animals.



Figure C3.3: Responses to ME by mesenteric and uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected and uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice. ME-induced vasodilation was measured in mesenteric (A,B,C) and uterine (D,E,F) arteries from latent mCMV-infected and age-matched uninfected young (A,D), mid-aged (B,E), and aged (C,F) mice. Results for each curve were summarized and expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM percent increase in lumen diameter compared with the initial preconstricted diameter and normalized to the passive lumen diameter. Significance was assessed as for Figure C3.2. \* = significant differences (p<0.05). n = number of animals.





Figure C3.4: NO and prostanoid contribution to ME-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from latent mCMV-infected and uninfected young, midaged, and aged mice. ME-induced vasodilation was measured in mesenteric arteries from young (A-F), mid-aged (G-L), and aged (M-R) latent mCMVinfected (B,E,H,K,N,Q) and uninfected (A,D,G,J,M,P) mice in the presence and absence of L-NAME (100 $\mu$ M) (A-C,G-I,M-O) or meclo (1 $\mu$ M) (D-F,J-L,P-R). Results for each curve were expressed as mean ± SEM and the dose-response curves were compared as in Figure C3.2. For the ME dose-response curves with L-NAME (C,I,O) or meclo (F,L,R) inhibition, the area under the curve was calculated and the difference between 2 curves on the same graph was obtained. These differences in area under the curve were compared between latent mCMVinfected and uninfected groups with a Student's t-test. \* = significant differences (p<0.05). n = number of animals.



Figure C3.5: Responses to SNP by mesenteric and uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected and uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice. SNP-induced vasodilation was measured in mesenteric (A,B,C) and uterine (D,E,F) arteries from latent mCMV-infected and age-matched uninfected young (A,D), mid-aged (B,E), and aged (C,F) mice. Results were summarized and presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM and significant differences were assessed as for Figure C3.2. \* = significant differences (p<0.05). n = number of animals.



Figure C3.6: Distensibility curves for mesenteric and uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected and uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice. Changes in lumen diameter were measured after stepwise increases in intraluminal pressure in Ca<sup>2+</sup>-free EGTA PSS in the presence of papaverine, in mesenteric (A,B,C) and uterine (D,E,F) arteries from latent mCMV-infected and age-matched uninfected young (A,D), mid-aged (B,E), and aged (C,F) mice. Results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM percent increase in lumen diameter in comparison with the initial diameter at 4 mmHg. Significant differences were assessed as for Figure C3.2. Where error bars are not visible the errors were too small to be seen. \* = significant differences (p<0.05). n = number of animals.



Figure C3.7: Comparison of vascular responses in mesenteric and uterine arteries from uninfected young, mid-aged, and aged mice. PE-induced vasoconstriction for mesenteric (A) and uterine (D) arteries, ME-induced vasodilation for mesenteric (B) and uterine (E) arteries, and SNP-induced vasodilation for mesenteric (C) and uterine (F) arteries were measured and compared among the three age groups. Results were summarized and presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM and significant differences between points on the curves was calculated using a Repeated Measures two-way ANOVA with Holm-Sidak's posthoc analysis (p<0.05). Significant differences (p<0.05): \*, mid-aged compared to young; #, aged compared to young.

## **C3.4 DISCUSSION**

Active infections by viruses from the Herpesviridae family, with detection of infectious virus and specific immune response mediators, have largely been associated with impaired physiological responses and several diseases (Compton et al., 2003; Gombos et al., 2009; Grefte et al., 1993; Hislop et al., 2007; O'Reilly et al., 1977; Soldan et al., 1997). My study shows that vascular dysfunction occurs in mice infected with mCMV, a  $\beta$ -Herpesviridae virus, even after the active infection has progressed to the latent stage with no detectable infectious virus. However, the specific vascular changes depend greatly on the origin of the vascular bed and in some cases worsen with age. In young mice, mesenteric and uterine arteries showed increased vasoconstriction and increased vasodilation in latent mCMV-infected compared to uninfected age-matched mice. In mid-aged latent infected mice, vasodilation was reduced in mesenteric arteries and vasoconstriction was increased in uterine arteries. Interestingly, infertility was increased in mid-aged latent mCMV-infected compared to uninfected mice, indicating that a mCMV infection also affects reproductive capacity. Finally, in aged mCMV-infected mice, mesenteric arteries showed increased vasodilation while uterine arteries showed decreased vasodilation.

Viral latency has been operationally defined as the absence of infectious, replicating virus with maintenance of the viral genome in the tissues of the host (Presti *et al.*, 1998). Most organs in the body can be sites of both active and latent CMV, where only lymphocytes and neutrophils do not support CMV replication (Pancholi *et al.*, 2004). While viral latency may be occurring in one organ or cell type, viral replication (ie. reactivation) may be occurring in another organ or cell type within the same host (Balthesen *et al.*, 1993). It is also difficult to predict when reactivation of a latent CMV infection will occur (Morita-Hoshi *et al.*, 2008). Components of the immune system, particularly CMV-specific T-cells, are important for resolving active infections and maintaining a latent infection (Steffens *et al.*, 1998). Effectively reducing the load of viral genomes within the host and particular organs, as occurs in fully immunocompetent hosts, accelerates

the establishment of latency and reduces the incidence of reactivation (Reddehase *et al.*, 1994). In the murine model, the lung is a predominant site where viral genome load is high and reactivation is frequent (Balthesen *et al.*, 1993). In my study, I detected mCMV DNA in lungs, spleens and kidneys and were unable to detect a reporter of productive infection,  $\beta$ -galactosidase, in any of the five different organs in my latent mCMV-infected mouse model, including the lung, in any of the three age groups with a minimum of two months post infection. Therefore, although viral replication could be occurring elsewhere in the latent infected mice, the presence of viral DNA with the lack of detectable reporter of active replication in five organs, together with evidence from many other studies, implies a latent infection (Yuhasz *et al.*, 1994).

Mesenteric arteries from young latent mCMV-infected mice showed increased PE-induced vasoconstriction, slightly increased SNP-induced vasodilation and no change in ME-induced vasodilation. These surprising results indicate that in young latent infected mice, vascular responses are dysfunctional even in the absence of detectable virus. Sensitivity of smooth muscle cells to NO is likely increased to compensate for increased vasoconstriction, similar to what I showed previously in NP active CMV-infected mice (Gombos et al., 2010). In the mice from this previous study, mesenteric arteries showed increased vasodilation due to increased sensitivity of the vascular smooth muscle to NO and increased NOS activity. Given that Cheng at al. showed that acute CMV-infected mice had increased blood pressure (Cheng et al., 2009), the increased dilation observed in my previous studies may also be compensatory for increased vasoconstriction activity. It is important to note that I have tested only three vasoactive mediators out of many available candidates. Other studies have shown that angiotensin II (Cheng et al., 2009) and bradykinin (Grahame-Clarke et al., 2003) are up- or downregulated with an active CMV infection, respectively, and induce a hypertensive phenotype. My results showing increased vasoconstriction in isolated mesenteric arteries with little change in dilation from latent mCMV-

infected mice suggest possible hypertension. These results suggest ongoing vascular effects are maintained when an active CMV infection is undetectable.

Inhibition of NOS significantly reduced ME-induced vasodilation in both mesenteric and uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected young, mid-aged and aged mice. However, in contrast to the increased contribution of NO to MEinduced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries from young active mCMV-infected mice compared to uninfected controls (Gombos et al., 2010), the contribution of NO to the ME responses in arteries from latent mCMV-infected young mice was not different from their uninfected controls. Mesenteric arteries from latent mCMV-infected young and mid-aged mice had minimally but significantly reduced ME-induced endothelium-dependent and SNP-induced endotheliumindependent vasodilation. In contrast and contrary to my hypothesis, those from latent mCMV-infected aged mice showed increased ME-induced vasodilation. It is known that aging (Duprez, 2008; Soucy et al., 2006) and a CMV infection (Cheng et al., 2009; Grahame-Clarke et al., 2003) are associated with increased blood pressure, vascular stiffness and vascular dysfunction. Thus the systemic vasculature may compensate for this combined phenotype with increased endothelium-dependent vasodilation, even in the presence of a latent, not active, mCMV infection.

Uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected mice responded differently to PE, SNP, and ME than mesenteric arteries. In uterine arteries from young latent mCMV-infected compared to uninfected mice, the vasoconstriction induced by PE and the sensitivity to ME were increased. The increase in sensitivity, but not maximal vasodilation, to ME in uterine arteries from young latent mCMV-infected mice compared to uninfected mice may be explained by an increase in muscarinic receptor expression (Eglen *et al.*, 1990; Pesic *et al.*, 2009). The increase in vasodilation capacity to compensate for increased vasoconstriction of uterine arteries, as was observed in young and aged latent mCMV-infected mice, was reduced in uterine arteries from mid-aged latent mCMV-infected mice. The increase in sensitivity to PE-induced vasoconstriction in the absence of a

compensatory increase in vasodilation could lead to reduced uterine blood flow and contribute to the reduced number of completed pregnancies in latent CMVinfected compared to uninfected mid-aged mice (16.7% versus 46.7%, respectively). Although C57BL/6J mice are fertile until 12 months of age, the frequency of gestational complications, including embryo resorptions, increase with age (Holinka et al., 1979). Knowing that hypertensive conditions increase pregnancy complications among women in their forties, reduced fertility in the uninfected mid-aged animals is not unexpected (Heffner, 2004). However, it is surprising that a latent mCMV infection with no detectable reporter for an active infection can exacerbate vascular dysfunction and infertility. Although aging alone reduces reproductive success, a latent CMV infection that increases vasoconstriction in uterine arteries may further contribute to reproductive complications in mid-aged women. In contrast, in aged mice, uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected and uninfected mice did not differ in response to PE. However, smooth muscle sensitivity to NO was decreased in uterine arteries from latent mCMV-infected aged mice. This suggests that compensatory vasodilation mechanisms are reduced in uterine arteries compared to mesenteric arteries with age. As aged mice are no longer reproductively active (Holinka et al., 1979), increased uterine artery blood flow is much less important than in young and midaged mice. In contrast, it is essential to compensate for vascular dysfunction in systemic (mesenteric) vascular beds that regulate blood pressure and cardiovascular function (Mohammed et al., 2007).

CMV latency is established in the host as a life-long infection. Reactivated CMV is associated with several vascular diseases that occur with age, including atherosclerosis (Melnick *et al.*, 1995). During a CMV infection, several cytokines, such as IFN- $\gamma$ , are produced by immune cells, which are important in clearing CMV and inhibiting lytic replication (Presti *et al.*, 1998). Cytokine production is reduced in immunosuppressed individuals who are highly susceptible to CMV disease (Gamadia *et al.*, 2003). IFN- $\gamma$  also inhibits reactivation of mCMV and sustains latency (Presti *et al.*, 1998). Interestingly, IFN- $\gamma$  causes vascular

dysfunction itself (Skaro *et al.*, 2005). It reduces sensitivity to NO, decreases endothelial NOS and increases inducible NOS expression in human coronary artery allografts (Koh *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, immune response mediators that increase during active and latent mCMV infections may contribute to the vascular dysfunction and vasculopathies. Measuring circulating levels and testing the effects of several inflammatory cytokines, including IFN- $\gamma$  and TNF- $\alpha$ , on vascular function to compare the direct and indirect effects of a CMV infection will be important.

Finally, it is perhaps surprising that I found few differences in vascular responses with age, independent of infection status. Moreover, the changes involved increased rather than decreased vasodilation, as would perhaps have been predicted by previously observed decreases in NO production, bioavailability and smooth muscle sensitivity with age (Karaki et al., 1985; Smith et al., 2006a; Smith et al., 2006b; Soucy et al., 2006). SNP-induced vasodilation in mesenteric arteries was increased in uninfected mid-aged and aged compared to uninfected young mice and ME-induced vasodilation in uterine arteries was increased in uninfected mid-aged mice compared to uninfected young and aged mice. The increased mesenteric endothelium-independent dilation may be a compensatory mechanism for the increased vascular dysfunction that occurs with aging in the absence of a CMV-infection (Labinskyy et al., 2006). Increased capacity for vasodilation could perhaps explain the finding that myogenic tone is reduced in mesenteric arteries from both male and female mid-aged and aged mice compared to young mice (Gros et al., 2002). Although there were no differences observed in PE-induced vasoconstriction with aging alone in this study, in contrast to the increases seen using the rat model (Muller-Delp et al., 2002), my findings are consistent with other C57BL/6 mouse studies (Gros et al., 2002).

We are the first to show that both active and latent mCMV infections can cause vascular dysfunction in two different types of arteries at several different ages. Determining what mediators are involved in vascular dysfunction during a CMV infection will be very important in targeting factors that contribute to vascular-specific complications that occur with age. Understanding CMV-induced vascular dysfunction will increase our knowledge on the development of cardiovascular diseases associated with a CMV infection, and the vascular complications that may contribute to infertility in CMV-infected mid-aged women.

## **C3.5 REFERENCES**

(2007) Prevalence of heart disease--United States, 2005. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* **56**(6): 113-118.

Balthesen, M, Messerle, M, Reddehase, MJ (1993) Lungs are a major organ site of cytomegalovirus latency and recurrence. *J Virol* **67**(9): 5360-5366.

Cardillo, C, Kilcoyne, CM, Quyyumi, AA, Cannon, RO, 3rd, Panza, JA (1998) Selective defect in nitric oxide synthesis may explain the impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation in patients with essential hypertension. *Circulation* **97**(9): 851-856.

Cheng, J, Ke, Q, Jin, Z, Wang, H, Kocher, O, Morgan, JP, Zhang, J, Crumpacker, CS (2009) Cytomegalovirus infection causes an increase of arterial blood pressure. *PLoS Pathog* **5**(5): e1000427.

Cheung, WW, Tse, E, Leung, AY, Yuen, KY, Kwong, YL (2007) Regular virologic surveillance showed very frequent cytomegalovirus reactivation in patients treated with alemtuzumab. *Am J Hematol* **82**(2): 108-111.

Chow, CM, Donovan, L, Manuel, D, Johansen, H, Tu, JV (2005) Regional variation in self-reported heart disease prevalence in Canada. *Can J Cardiol* **21**(14): 1265-1271.

Cobbs, CS, Harkins, L, Samanta, M, Gillespie, GY, Bharara, S, King, PH, Nabors, LB, Cobbs, CG, Britt, WJ (2002) Human cytomegalovirus infection and expression in human malignant glioma. *Cancer Res* **62**(12): 3347-3350.

Compton, T, Kurt-Jones, EA, Boehme, KW, Belko, J, Latz, E, Golenbock, DT, Finberg, RW (2003) Human cytomegalovirus activates inflammatory cytokine responses via CD14 and Toll-like receptor 2. *J Virol* **77**(8): 4588-4596.

Cooper, LT, Cooke, JP, Dzau, VJ (1994) The vasculopathy of aging. *J Gerontol* **49**(5): B191-196.

Demmler, GJ (1991) Infectious Diseases Society of America and Centers for Disease Control. Summary of a workshop on surveillance for congenital cytomegalovirus disease. *Rev Infect Dis* **13**(2): 315-329.

Duprez, DA (2008) Systolic hypertension in the elderly: addressing an unmet need. *Am J Med* **121**(3): 179-184 e173.

Eglen, RM, Whiting, RL (1990) Heterogeneity of vascular muscarinic receptors. *J Auton Pharmacol* **10**(4): 233-245.

Gamadia, LE, Remmerswaal, EB, Weel, JF, Bemelman, F, van Lier, RA, Ten Berge, IJ (2003) Primary immune responses to human CMV: a critical role for IFN-gamma-producing CD4+ T cells in protection against CMV disease. *Blood* **101**(7): 2686-2692.

Gombos, RB, Hemmings, DG (2010) Differential effects on nitric oxide-mediated vasodilation in mesenteric and uterine arteries from cytomegalovirus-infected mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **299**(4): H1124-1134.

Gombos, RB, Wolan, V, McDonald, K, Hemmings, DG (2009) Impaired vascular function in mice with an active cytomegalovirus infection. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **296**(4): H937-945.

Grahame-Clarke, C (2005) Human cytomegalovirus, endothelial function and atherosclerosis. *Herpes* **12**(2): 42-45.

Grahame-Clarke, C, Chan, NN, Andrew, D, Ridgway, GL, Betteridge, DJ, Emery, V, Colhoun, HM, Vallance, P (2003) Human cytomegalovirus seropositivity is associated with impaired vascular function. *Circulation* **108**(6): 678-683.

Greene, AS, Tonellato, PJ, Lui, J, Lombard, JH, Cowley, AW, Jr. (1989) Microvascular rarefaction and tissue vascular resistance in hypertension. *Am J Physiol* **256**(1 Pt 2): H126-131.

Grefte, A, van der Giessen, M, van Son, W, The, TH (1993) Circulating cytomegalovirus (CMV)-infected endothelial cells in patients with an active CMV infection. *J Infect Dis* **167**(2): 270-277.

Gros, R, Van Wert, R, You, X, Thorin, E, Husain, M (2002) Effects of age, gender, and blood pressure on myogenic responses of mesenteric arteries from C57BL/6 mice. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **282**(1): H380-388.

Halpern, W, Osol, G, Coy, GS (1984) Mechanical behavior of pressurized in vitro prearteriolar vessels determined with a video system. *Ann Biomed Eng* **12**(5): 463-479.

Heffner, LJ (2004) Advanced maternal age--how old is too old? *N Engl J Med* **351**(19): 1927-1929.

Hemmings, DG, Xu, Y, Davidge, ST (2004) Sphingosine 1-phosphate-induced vasoconstriction is elevated in mesenteric resistance arteries from aged female rats. *Br J Pharmacol* **143**(2): 276-284.

Hirabayashi, Y, Ishii, T, Kodera, T, Fujii, H, Munakata, Y, Sasaki, T (2003) Acute cytomegalovirus infection and transient carotid intimal-medial thickening in a young, otherwise healthy woman. *J Clin Microbiol* **41**(8): 3978-3980.

Hislop, AD, Taylor, GS, Sauce, D, Rickinson, AB (2007) Cellular responses to viral infection in humans: lessons from Epstein-Barr virus. *Annu Rev Immunol* **25**: 587-617.

Holinka, CF, Tseng, YC, Finch, CE (1979) Reproductive aging in C57BL/6J mice: plasma progesterone, viable embryos and resorption frequency throughout pregnancy. *Biol Reprod* **20**(5): 1201-1211.

Kalil, AC, Florescu, DF (2009) Prevalence and mortality associated with cytomegalovirus infection in nonimmunosuppressed patients in the intensive care unit. *Crit Care Med* **37**(8): 2350-2358.

Karaki, H, Nakagawa, H, Urakawa, N (1985) Age-related changes in the sensitivity to verapamil and sodium nitroprusside of vascular smooth muscle of rabbit aorta. *Br J Pharmacol* **85**(1): 223-228.

Koh, KP, Wang, Y, Yi, T, Shiao, SL, Lorber, MI, Sessa, WC, Tellides, G, Pober, JS (2004) T cell-mediated vascular dysfunction of human allografts results from IFN-gamma dysregulation of NO synthase. *J Clin Invest* **114**(6): 846-856.

Labinskyy, N, Csiszar, A, Veress, G, Stef, G, Pacher, P, Oroszi, G, Wu, J, Ungvari, Z (2006) Vascular dysfunction in aging: potential effects of resveratrol, an anti-inflammatory phytoestrogen. *Curr Med Chem* **13**(9): 989-996.

Lemstrom, K, Sihvola, R, Bruggeman, C, Hayry, P, Koskinen, P (1997) Cytomegalovirus infection-enhanced cardiac allograft vasculopathy is abolished by DHPG prophylaxis in the rat. *Circulation* **95**(12): 2614-2616.

Matz, RL, de Sotomayor, MA, Schott, C, Stoclet, JC, Andriantsitohaina, R (2000) Vascular bed heterogeneity in age-related endothelial dysfunction with respect to NO and eicosanoids. *Br J Pharmacol* **131**(2): 303-311.

Maussang, D, Verzijl, D, van Walsum, M, Leurs, R, Holl, J, Pleskoff, O, Michel, D, van Dongen, GA, Smit, MJ (2006) Human cytomegalovirus-encoded chemokine receptor US28 promotes tumorigenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **103**(35): 13068-13073.

Melnick, JL, Adam, E, DeBakey, ME (1995) Cytomegalovirus and atherosclerosis. *Bioessays* **17**(10): 899-903.

Melnychuk, RM, Smith, P, Kreklywich, CN, Ruchti, F, Vomaske, J, Hall, L, Loh, L, Nelson, JA, Orloff, SL, Streblow, DN (2005) Mouse cytomegalovirus M33 is necessary and sufficient in virus-induced vascular smooth muscle cell migration. *J Virol* **79**(16): 10788-10795.

Mittelmark, MB, Psaty, BM, Rautaharju, PM, Fried, LP, Borhani, NO, Tracy, RP, Gardin, JM, O'Leary, DH (1993) Prevalence of cardiovascular diseases among older adults. The Cardiovascular Health Study. *Am J Epidemiol* **137**(3): 311-317.

Mohammed, MM, Myers, DS, Sofola, OA, Hainsworth, R, Drinkhill, MJ (2007) Vasodilator effects of leptin on canine isolated mesenteric arteries and veins. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol* **34**(8): 771-774.

Morita-Hoshi, Y, Heike, Y, Kawakami, M, Sugita, T, Miura, O, Kim, SW, Mori, SI, Fukuda, T, Tanosaki, R, Tobinai, K, Takaue, Y (2008) Functional analysis of cytomegalovirus-specific T lymphocytes compared to tetramer assay in patients undergoing hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant* **41**(6): 515-521.

Muller-Delp, J, Spier, SA, Ramsey, MW, Lesniewski, LA, Papadopoulos, A, Humphrey, JD, Delp, MD (2002) Effects of aging on vasoconstrictor and mechanical properties of rat skeletal muscle arterioles. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **282**(5): H1843-1854.

O'Reilly, RJ, Chibbaro, A, Anger, E, Lopez, C (1977) Cell-mediated immune responses in patients with recurrent Herpes Simplex infections. II. Infection-associated deficiency of lymphokine production in patients with recurrent herpes labialis or herpes progenitalis. *J Immunol* **118**(3): 1095-1102.

Osol, G, Celia, G, Gokina, N, Barron, C, Chien, E, Mandala, M, Luksha, L, Kublickiene, K (2008) Placental growth factor is a potent vasodilator of rat and human resistance arteries. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **294**(3): H1381-1387.

Pancholi, P, Wu, F, Della-Latta, P (2004) Rapid detection of cytomegalovirus infection in transplant patients. *Expert Rev Mol Diagn* **4**(2): 231-242.

Pesic, S, Grbovic, L, Stoiljkovic, M, Nikolic, V, Djokic, J (2009) Functional characterization of the muscarinic receptors involved in endothelium-dependent relaxation in isolated canine uterine artery. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther* **32**(2): 109-115.

Presti, RM, Pollock, JL, Dal Canto, AJ, O'Guin, AK, Virgin, HWt (1998) Interferon gamma regulates acute and latent murine cytomegalovirus infection and chronic disease of the great vessels. *J Exp Med* **188**(3): 577-588.

Prosch, S, Wendt, CE, Reinke, P, Priemer, C, Oppert, M, Kruger, DH, Volk, HD, Docke, WD (2000) A novel link between stress and human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) infection: sympathetic hyperactivity stimulates HCMV activation. *Virology* **272**(2): 357-365.

Reddehase, MJ, Balthesen, M, Rapp, M, Jonjic, S, Pavic, I, Koszinowski, UH (1994) The conditions of primary infection define the load of latent viral genome in organs and the risk of recurrent cytomegalovirus disease. *J Exp Med* **179**(1): 185-193.

Roizmann, B, Desrosiers, RC, Fleckenstein, B, Lopez, C, Minson, AC, Studdert, MJ (1992) The family Herpesviridae: an update. The Herpesvirus Study Group of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. *Arch Virol* **123**(3-4): 425-449.

Roupa Z, PM, Sotiropoulou P., Faros E., Koulouri A., Wozniak G., Gourni M. (2009) Causes of Infertility in Women at Reproductive Age. *Health Science Journal* **3**(2): 80-87.

Skaro, AI, Liwski, RS, Zhou, J, Vessie, EL, Lee, TD, Hirsch, GM (2005) CD8+ T cells mediate aortic allograft vasculopathy by direct killing and an interferongamma-dependent indirect pathway. *Cardiovasc Res* **65**(1): 283-291.

Smith, AR, Visioli, F, Frei, B, Hagen, TM (2006a) Age-related changes in endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation and nitric oxide dependent vasodilation: evidence for a novel mechanism involving sphingomyelinase and ceramide-activated phosphatase 2A. *Aging Cell* **5**(5): 391-400.

Smith, AR, Visioli, F, Hagen, TM (2006b) Plasma membrane-associated endothelial nitric oxide synthase and activity in aging rat aortic vascular endothelia markedly decline with age. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **454**(1): 100-105.

Soldan, SS, Berti, R, Salem, N, Secchiero, P, Flamand, L, Calabresi, PA, Brennan, MB, Maloni, HW, McFarland, HF, Lin, HC, Patnaik, M, Jacobson, S

(1997) Association of human herpes virus 6 (HHV-6) with multiple sclerosis: increased IgM response to HHV-6 early antigen and detection of serum HHV-6 DNA. *Nat Med* 3(12): 1394-1397.

Soucy, KG, Ryoo, S, Benjo, A, Lim, HK, Gupta, G, Sohi, JS, Elser, J, Aon, MA, Nyhan, D, Shoukas, AA, Berkowitz, DE (2006) Impaired shear stress-induced nitric oxide production through decreased NOS phosphorylation contributes to age-related vascular stiffness. *J Appl Physiol* **101**(6): 1751-1759.

Steffens, HP, Kurz, S, Holtappels, R, Reddehase, MJ (1998) Preemptive CD8 Tcell immunotherapy of acute cytomegalovirus infection prevents lethal disease, limits the burden of latent viral genomes, and reduces the risk of virus recurrence. *J Virol* **72**(3): 1797-1804.

Stoddart, CA, Cardin, RD, Boname, JM, Manning, WC, Abenes, GB, Mocarski, ES (1994) Peripheral blood mononuclear phagocytes mediate dissemination of murine cytomegalovirus. *J Virol* **68**(10): 6243-6253.

Tanaka, A, Hirota, K, Takahashi, K, Numazaki, Y (1983) Suppression of cell mediated immunity to cytomegalovirus and tuberculin in pregnancy employing the leukocyte migration inhibition test. *Microbiol Immunol* **27**(11): 937-943.

Tu, W, Potena, L, Stepick-Biek, P, Liu, L, Dionis, KY, Luikart, H, Fearon, WF, Holmes, TH, Chin, C, Cooke, JP, Valantine, HA, Mocarski, ES, Lewis, DB (2006) T-cell immunity to subclinical cytomegalovirus infection reduces cardiac allograft disease. *Circulation* **114**(15): 1608-1615.

Veerareddy, S, Cooke, CL, Baker, PN, Davidge, ST (2002) Vascular adaptations to pregnancy in mice: effects on myogenic tone. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* **283**(6): H2226-2233.

Yuhasz, SA, Dissette, VB, Cook, ML, Stevens, JG (1994) Murine cytomegalovirus is present in both chronic active and latent states in persistently infected mice. *Virology* **202**(1): 272-280.